
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

AGENDA       

 
This meeting will be webcast live and the video archive published on our 

website 
 
 

Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
Thursday, 12th December, 2024 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall, Marshall's Yard, Gainsborough, DN21 2NA 
 
 
Members: Councillor Trevor Young (Chairman) 

Councillor Mrs Lesley Rollings (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Paul Swift (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Owen Bierley 
Councillor Matthew Boles 
Councillor Frazer Brown 
Councillor Stephen Bunney 
Councillor Ian Fleetwood 
Councillor Paul Key 
Councillor Roger Patterson 
Councillor Tom Smith 
Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee 

 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.  Public Participation Period 
Up to 15 minutes are allowed for public participation.  Participants 
are restricted to 3 minutes each. 
 

 

3.  Minutes of Previous Meeting/s 
To confirm and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting 
of the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee held on 
Thursday, 14 November 2024. 
 

(TO FOLLOW) 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
Members may make declarations of Interest at this point or may 
make them at any point in the meeting. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



5.  Matters Arising Schedule 
Setting out current position of previously agreed actions as at 4 
December 2024 
 

(PAGE 3) 

6.  Public Reports for Approval:   

i)  Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 
 

(PAGES 4 - 17) 

ii)  Recommendation from Prosperous Communities 
Committee: Response to Motion - Increased Street 
Sweeping Capacity 
 

(PAGES 18 - 25) 

iii)  Wellbeing Lincs Service 
 

(PAGES 26 - 333) 

iv)  Review of Cultural Events 2024 and Provision for 
2025/26 
 

(PAGES 334 - 357) 

v)  Amendment to Approved Committee Timetable: Change 
of Time for Governance & Audit Committee 21 January 
2025 
 

(PAGES 358 - 361) 

vi)  Committee Work Plan 
 

(PAGES 362 - 364) 

7.  Exclusion of Public and Press 
To resolve that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from 
the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 5 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 

 

8.  Exempt Reports   

i)  Council Debts for Write Off 2024/25 
 

(PAGES 365 - 434) 

ii)  Amendment to Building Control Fees and Charges 
2024/2025 and 2025/2026 
 

(PAGES 435 - 440) 

iii)  Thurrock/APSE Litigation Update 
 

(TO FOLLOW) 

iv)  Scampton Update 
 

(PAGES 441 - 534) 

 
Ian Knowles 

Head of Paid Service 
The Guildhall 

Gainsborough 
 

Wednesday, 4 December 2024 



   

Corporate Policy & Resources Committee Matters Arising Schedule                                                       
 
Purpose: To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Corporate Policy & Resources Committee meetings. 
 

Recommendation: That Members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary. 
 

Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated To 

Black Committee Report 

Required: Review 

of Lea Fields 

Crematorium 

Item to be added to the forward plan for 

CP&R Committee, suggest 13 March 

2025 

CP&R 17.10.24: discussion re detailed update to be received approx. 6 

months times to look at usage / financial data for Lea Fields 

Crematorium (minute to be included) 

 

Update: added to work plan 

31/12/24 Cara 

Markham 

 
 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 5



 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 

Thursday 12 December 
2024 

 

     
Subject: Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Change Management, ICT & 
Regulatory Services 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Angela Matthews, Benefits Manager 
Alison McCulloch, Revenues Manager 
 
angela.matthews@west-lindsey.gov.uk, 
alison.mcculloch@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

To adopt a Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
for 2025/26 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): that members; 
 

1. Note the content of the report; and 
 

2. Recommend to Full Council the adoption of Option 1 of the report for the 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme for West Lindsey District Council for 
2025/26.  That being; 
 
to make no changes to the current council tax support scheme apart from 
to apply any new legislative requirements and the uprating of the non-
dependent charges, applicable amounts, and household allowances and 
deductions, used in the calculation of the reduction in accordance with the 
Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) annual ‘up-ratings’ 
 
to apply any additional changes to government welfare benefit regulations 
during the year which are intended to increase the income of benefit 
recipients to avoid unintended consequences to customers and 
 
to accept a Full Universal Credit claim received via the Department for 
Work and Pensions as a claim for Council Tax Support.  

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 6a



Legal: 

The Council has to determine a local scheme for council tax reduction by 31 
January 2025. 

 

Financial : FIN Ref – FIN/104/25/MT/SSc 

The cost of the Local Council Tax Support scheme (LCTS) is shared between 
Lincolnshire County Council (75%), West Lindsey District Council (WLDC) 
(12.5%) and Lincolnshire Police (12.5%).  
 

 

Recommendation is Option1, to apply uprating. 

To make no changes to the current council tax support scheme apart from to 
apply any new legislative requirements and the uprating of the non-dependent 
charges, applicable amounts, and household allowances and deductions, used 
in the calculation of the reduction in accordance with the Department for Works 
and Pensions (DWP) annual ‘Up-ratings’ 

Option 2 do not apply uprating.   

If we do not apply the applicable amount up-ratings to working age claimants 
their Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) income will exceed their 
applicable amount, and they will be entitled to less council tax support.  This in 
turns means their council tax bills will increase which will require more council 
tax to be collected. 

 

 

Staffing : 

The changes are minimal and therefore should not impact on staff. 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

Please see appendix A – Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 Equality 
Impact Assessment. 

 

Data Protection Implications : 

None arising from this report. 

 

Year Total
LCC  

75%

PCC 

12.5%

WLDC 

12.5%
2024/25 6,996,533       5,247,399  874,567       874,567       

2025/26 Option 1 7,206,429       5,404,821  900,804       900,804       

2025/26 Option 2 6,996,533       5,247,399  874,567       874,567       

Page 5



Climate Related Risks and Opportunities : 

There will be no impact from this report  in respect of environmental terms as 
this is a financial reduction in the council tax liability for those on low incomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations : 

None arising from this report. 

 

Health Implications: 

None arising from this report. 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

 Local Government Finance Act 2012 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/contents/enacted 

 

Risk Assessment :   

a. If Council Tax Support caseloads rise or fall, then WLDC and the other major 
precepting authorities will have to absorb those expenditure variations 
through the Collection Fund.  It is therefore vital that the financial implications 
of the scheme decisions made are realistic in terms of bridging the funding 
gap. 

 
b. If there is a downturn in the local economy or where there have been major 

redundancies if a major company ceases trading, Council Tax Support 
caseloads could rise significantly. 

 
c. Each Council must approve their local Council Tax Support scheme by 31st 

January otherwise a default scheme, similar to the current Council Tax 
Support default scheme applied to customers of pension age, will have to be 
implemented. Applying a similar scheme to all working age customers would 
increase the annual expenditure on Council Tax Support.  

Buildings

(↓↑ 0)

Business

(↓↑ 0)

Energy

(↓↑ 0)

Influence

(↓↑ 0)
Internal 

Resources

(↓↑ 0)

Land use

(↓↑ 0)

Goods & 

Services

(↓↑ 0)

Transport

(↓↑ 0)

Waste

(↓↑ 0)

Adaptat ion

(↓↑ 0)

+0

West Lindsey District Council will be net zero by 2050 (26 

years and 2 months away).

Generated 
13/10/23 

v1.36

Preview 

Page 6

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/contents/enacted


 
d. The amount of council tax support awarded last year was £6.6 million; 

however, this is estimated to increase slightly to £6.9 million by the end of 
the financial year. 

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No X  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes X  No   

Page 7



Executive Summary 
 

Council Tax Benefit was a national scheme providing means-tested financial help for 
low-income households to pay their Council Tax liability.  This was abolished on 31 
March 2013 by the Local Government Finance Act 2012 which placed a legal 
requirement on every billing authority to adopt a Localised Council Tax Support 
(LCTS) scheme. 
 
Since the inception of the LCTS scheme on 1st April 2013 relatively minor changes 
have been made which has enabled claimants to receive a similar level of support 
each year and enabled the council to maintain an annual council tax collection rate 
of around 98%. 
 
In 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023, following the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government 
awarded a grant to all local authorities for a payment to be paid to all working aged 
council tax support claimants.  This was paid directly to council tax accounts and it 
also permitted the use of any surplus to support economically vulnerable people and 
households.  No such grant has been made available for 2024/25 and therefore those 
struggling financially have not had this assistance during the current financial year. 
 
A significant change to the LCTS scheme for 2025/26 is likely to have a negative 
impact on the collection rate and reduce the yield over the year.   
 
Full Council must approve and adopt the finalised LCTS scheme by 31st January 
2025 at the latest. 
 

Page 8



 
 

6 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 replaced Council Tax Benefit with a 

Council Tax support scheme. Unlike Council Tax Benefit (CTB) which is set by 
Central Government, the new Council Tax support scheme must be defined by 
individual Local Authorities (albeit with much central prescription). 

 

1.2 Pensioners are protected by legislation which means ‘local schemes must give 
the same pre-2013 level of assistance to pensioners’. West Lindsey District 
Council also made the decision in 2013/14 to protect those in receipt of a War 
Pension and those claimants receiving a Disability Benefit. 

 

2 Current Situation 

 
 We currently have 5,918 council tax support claimants and of these 2,428 are 

pensioners and 3,490 are working age claimants.  This equates to 59% of our 
total caseload who would be impacted by any changes to the scheme. 

 
Our council tax collection rate for 2023/24 was 97.73% which, although was 
lower than the previous year, was in the top quartile performance being 74th 
position out of 296 local authority reported outturns.  The national average was 
only 96.17% so this is considerably higher.  Some of this success can be 
attributed to the Government’s hardship award and to the council tax 
discretionary hardship relief scheme which enabled our most financially 
vulnerable residents to receive some financial support from the Council. 

 
The Council recognise that many of our residents are feeling the effects of the 
increased cost of energy, petrol, and food prices. We are working with our 
partners across the public and voluntary sectors to support our residents, and 
particularly those who are vulnerable and hardest hit by the cost-of-living crisis. 
The current West Lindsey scheme is one of the most generous in Lincolnshire 
and if we were to look at changing the scheme, we may be impacting on those 
most affected by the cost-of-living increases and adding to their financial 
burden.  

 
 
3. Consultation 
 

3.1 Consultation was undertaken between 2nd September and 14th  October 2024.  

To undertake this work we used different routes to consult with our 

stakeholders.  The consultation was undertaken using an online survey which 

was distributed through the Citizen Panel and online through our website and 

social media.   

To ensure we got a wide spread of responses the survey was directly sent to 

all those currently on the West Lindsey Citizen Panel who emails are held for 

and we advertised the consultation through social media, a press release and 

on our website. 

Page 9



 
 

7 

 
3.2 The questions and responses asked are detailed below: 
 
1. Do you agree that the only change that should be made to the scheme is the 

up rating of all allowances and premiums in line with the Department for Work 
and Pensions allowances?  
 

Yes No Don’t Know 

79% 8% 13% 

 
 
2. Are you currently in receipt of Council Tax Support? 

 

Yes No Don’t Know 

10% 88% 2% 

 
 
3. Any other comments you wish to make regarding the Local Council Tax Support 

Scheme 
 

 
 
 

 
 

3.3 Responses 
 

The survey had 214 responses received through 2 routes.  The breakdown of 

these responses are: 

 Sent out Received 

back 

Percentage 

response 

Online  55  

Citizen Panel 975 159 16% 

Total  214  

 
 
3.4 Comments from the consultation 
 

During the analysis of this consultation, the comments have been summarised. 
A full list of the 45 comments received will be available separately upon request. 

The main comments received during this consultation are: 

 Ensure this does not affect the vulnerable 

Page 10



 
 

8 

 Extensions and changes to property should make changes to Council Tax 

levels to ensure fair for all 

 Stop the service 

 Increase the single person discount 

 Vital service 

 Should be a national scheme not local 

 What about those who need help but are outside the boundaries of this  

support? 

 Should be simpler to understand how this affects other benefits 

 Will this have an effect on the level of Council Tax for everyone else? 

 More should be eligible 

 Can additional payments be made for those losing the winter payments? 

 Wasn’t aware there was a scheme/Needs to be more widely publicised 

 Too difficult to apply 

 The allowance is too low 

 
3.4 The results 

 

These results show that more than three quarters of those who responded 

believe that the allowances and premiums should be uprated in line with 

Department for Work and Pensions allowances. 

 

4. Consultation with major preceptors 

Before a Council can determine to revise or replace its LCTS scheme it must 
consult with any major precepting authority which have the powers to issue a 
precept to it. 
 
Consultation has taken place with both the Lincolnshire County Council and the 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire and both have submitted 

responses agreeing to make no change to the scheme for 2024/25 but both 

would agree to increasing the uprating of all allowances and premiums in line 

with Department for Work and Pensions allowances (option 1 of this report). 

 

Page 11



 
 

9 

5. Costings 

The current estimates for the 2024/25 scheme are £6,996,533 being split as 
below:   
 

 

Total LCC – 75% PCC – 12.5% WLDC – 12.5% 

£6,996,533 £5,247,399 £874,567 £874,567 

 
 
6. Options 

  

Two options have been considered for the 2025/26 scheme being to maintain 

or slightly reduce the level of financial support as detailed below: 

 

6.1 Option 1 (Preferred) 
 

To make no changes to the current council tax support scheme apart from to 
apply any new legislative requirements and the uprating of the non-dependent 
charges, applicable amounts, and household allowances and deductions, used 
in the calculation of the reduction in accordance with the Department for Works 
and Pensions (DWP) annual ‘Up-ratings’. 

 
To also apply any additional changes to government welfare benefit regulations 
during the year which are intended to increase the income of benefit recipients 
to avoid unintended consequences to customers. 
 
To treat a claim for Universal Credit sent to West Lindsey from the Department 
for Work And Pensions as a claim for assistance with Council Tax  

 
 Costs/Savings 
 

Initial estimates for 2025/26 show that there would be no direct saving to the 
council under this option as it would just maintain the current scheme.  Any 
reductions in the cost of the scheme would be due to a reduction in council tax 
support claimants. 

 
Based on a 3% increase in council tax this equates to an approximate cost of: 
 

Total LCC – 75% PCC – 12.5% WLDC – 12.5% 

£7,206,429 £5,404,821 £900,804 £900,804 

 
 
 By treating a claim for Universal Credit as a claim for Council Tax assistance 

we would save administrative time for the assessment team and possible 
recovery action by the Council Tax Team – customers ‘believe’ that they already 
receive help with their Council Tax because they are entitled to Universal Credit 

Page 12



 
 

10 

and are often very late applying for assistance which normally can only be 
backdated one month if the customer shows good cause.  

 
 
 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

The financial modelling shows that 
West Lindsey District Council can still 
bridge the funding by continuing with 
the current scheme for a further year. 

 

The existing scheme works well and 
offers a high level of support for low-
income families who may otherwise find 
themselves in debt. 

 

There has been a slight decrease this 
year in the number of households 
claiming LCTS which suggests that the 
situation is improving gradually as more 
claimants return to work or are 
receiving private pensions that reduces 
their CTR entitlement. 

 

This option ensures the LCTS rules 
stay consistent with the DWP rules 
which avoids confusion for claimants. 

 

Retaining existing policy principles of 
keeping LCTS in line with other key 
welfare benefits promotes equality. 

 

The LA will be able to assess anybody 
in receipt of Universal Credit at the 
earliest opportunity and update their 
Council Tax liability accordingly.  

 

 
 
6.2 Option 2 
 

To make no changes to the current scheme for 2025/26 i.e.: do not apply the 
up-rate household allowances and deductions. 

 
 

Costs/Savings 
 

Initial estimates for 2024/25 show that there would be a slight saving to the 
council under this option however, it would effectively create a reduction in 
income for those affected.   

 
If we do not apply the applicable amount up-ratings to working age claimants 
their Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) income will exceed their 
applicable amount and they will be entitled to less council tax support.  This in 

Page 13



 
 

11 

turns means their council tax bills will increase which will require more council 
tax to be collected. 

 
Based on no increase in up-ratings this equates to an approximate cost of: 

 

Total LCC – 75% PCC – 12.5% WLDC – 12.5% 

£6,996,533 £5,247,399 £874,567 £874,567 

 
  

Advantages Disadvantages 

Slight reduction in costs to the council The Council would have three 

sets of rules to apply for families 

applying for financial help.  This 

will cause confusion for the 

claimants, will lead to increased 

modification to ICT, additional 

training for the Benefits Team 

and an additional set of 

regulations to be prepared and 

implemented. 

 Loss of reputation to the council 

in that it would show a lack of 

support to those in most financial 

hardship during the cost-of-living 

crisis. 

 It would set the West Lindsey 

scheme outside the schemes 

adopted by the rest of 

Lincolnshire in respect to non-

uprated incomes – almost all LAs 

uprate their incomes in line with 

the Government levels each 

April.  

 
 
7. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26  
 

It is recognised that whatever decision is reached this would only be a scheme 
for 2025/26.  A review of the scheme is undertaken annually when more 
knowledge of the impact of that year’s scheme and collection rates are 
available.  Monitoring will also take place to analyse the impact and any 
unintended consequences it has had on council taxpayers and benefit 
recipients. 

Page 14



 12 

Appendix A – Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Name, brief description and objectives 
of policy, procedure, function?  

For Council to agree the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for West Lindsey DC for 2025/26. 
 
To ensure that all council tax payers are treated fairly under the local scheme. 
 
To ensure that council tax support is payable to the most vulnerable residents of the district. 
 

Have you consulted on the policy, 
procedure, function and if so, what were 
the outcomes? 

Consultation has taken place with Lincolnshire County Council and the Crime and Police 
Commissioner for Lincolnshire who have both agreed to the recommendation. 
 
Consultation has taken place digitally with the residents of West Lindsey and the majority of people 
who completed the consultation agreed with the process of applying the 2025-26 up-ratings of 
income and allowances. 
  

What barriers may these individuals or groups face, and how can you promote equality (where possible) 

Gender There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Age Working age claimants of Council Tax Support may receive a reduced level of assistance as 
compared with the former Council Tax Benefit Scheme.  This scheme aims to redistribute support 
and be more generous to those applicants on the lowest incomes. 
 
The government has stated that council tax support for older people will not be reduced as a result 
of the introduction of the council tax reduction scheme reform.  This is because the government 
wants to ensure that low-income pensioners, who would struggle to pay council tax without 
additional support, and whom the government does not expect to work to increase their income, will 
continue to receive support for their council tax.  
Pensioner protection will be achieved by keeping in place national rules which broadly replicate the 
former council tax benefit scheme.  

P
age 15



 13 

Disability There is no evidence that this scheme would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic except in the case of War Pension and those claimants receiving a Disability Benefit 
who are protected by the Government. 

Race There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Religion or Belief There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Sexual Orientation There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Gender Reassignment There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Pregnancy, maternity or paternity There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Rural Isolation There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic. 

Socio-economic factors There is no evidence that this scheme would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic.  However, any person unable to complete the application form will be offered 
assistance from the Benefits Teams in completing the application form and also be signposted to 
outside agencies such as Citizens Advice and Money Advice Service  

Other (e.g. those with 
dependants/caring responsibilities, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, children in the care 
system etc) 

There is no evidence that this scheme would impact on people in any way because of this 
characteristic.  However, any person unable to complete the local council tax support application 
form will be offered assistance from the Benefits Team in completing the form and also be 
signposted to outside agencies such as Citizens Advice, Stepchange and Money Advice Service 

Is there any evidence or research that 
demonstrates why some individuals or 
groups are, or are not, affected? 

There is no evidence or research available.  This policy is based on nationally applicable legislation 
and it covers all applicants who must all meet a set of standards and criteria intended to ensure 
that evidence of hardship justifies a reduction in council tax liability. 

P
age 16



 14 

If there is a potential adverse impact, 
please state why and whether this is 
justifiable. 

There is no potential adverse impact from this policy.  

Outcome of EIA No major change needed                            Adverse impact but continue      
                               
Adjust the policy /proposal                         Stop and remove the policy/proposal                        
 

How will you monitor your policy, 
procedure, function to ensure there is 
no adverse effect on the protected 
characteristics (e.g. gender, age, etc) in 
the future? 

Due to the nature of the reductions in the level of support, all working age claimants have the 
potential to have reductions in their support, however, they can be considered for further assistance 
under the exceptional hardship policy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

X  

  

P
age 17



 
 
 
 

Corporate Policy & 
Resources Committee 

Thursday, 12 December 
2024 

 

     
Subject: Recommendation from Prosperous Communities Committee: 

Response to Motion - Increased Street Sweeping Capacity 
 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director, Change Management, ICT and 
Regulatory Services 
 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Robert Gilliot 
Operational Services Manager 
 
robert.gilliot@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

  
The report sets out information in response to a 
Motion presented to Council on 4 March 2024 
regarding exploring the financial implications and 
feasibility of increasing road sweeping capability, 
including the subsequent recommendation from 
the Prosperous Communities Committee held on 
3 December 2024. 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
Members are asked to approve the implementation of option three within the 
report, that being: to employ an additional HGV Driver to work a four day on, four 
day off rota with current sweeper driver. 

 

 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6b



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 West Lindsey District Council has 
a statutory duty to keep public highways free from litter and detritus. 

 

 

Financial : FIN/107/25/MT/SSc 

Members have requested increased street sweeping capacity options be 
provided. There are three options for consideration. Full financial details can be 
found in section 3.3. 

Option 1 - Do nothing, carry on ‘as is’ 
Option 2 - Hire another sweeper vehicle and another driver 
Option 3 - Employ an additional HGV Driver to work a four day on, four day off 
rota with current sweeper driver 

The comparison of options 2 and 3 to the current position (option 1) are shown 
in the tables below. Over a 5-year period option 2 would result in a pressure of 
£279.6k and option 3 would result in a saving of £9.6k. There are no funds 
available to cover any pressures. 

 

. * The table are updated for the new NI rate of 15% (was 13.8%) and reduced allowance of £5000 (was £9100). 

 

Staffing:  HR ref: HR223-11-04 

Each option has been considered for each option and the Service Manager 
would work with HR to plan and implement the approved changes. 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights: 

None  

 

Data Protection Implications: 

None 

 

Financial impact of option 2 2025-26 2025-26 2026-27 2026-27 2027-28 Total

Option 1 -  Current Option 114,800 118,300 121,700 125,200 129,000 609,000

Alternative Options 2 167,300 172,600 177,600 182,700 188,400 888,600

Pressure/(Saving) 52,500 54,300 55,900 57,500 59,400 279,600

Financial impact of option 3 2025-26 2025-26 2026-27 2026-27 2027-28 Total

Option 1 -  Current Option 114,800 118,300 121,700 125,200 129,000 609,000

Alternative Options 3 112,800 116,500 119,800 123,200 127,100 599,400

Pressure/(Saving) (2,000) (1,800) (1,900) (2,000) (1,900) (9,600)

Page 19



Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 West Lindsey District Council has 
a statutory duty to keep public highways free from litter and detritus. 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

None 

 

Health Implications: 

None 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

Motion to Council on 4th March 2024 and Minutes from meeting on the Council 
website:  

https://democracy.west-
lindsey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=3396&Ver=4 

 

Risk Assessment :   

To be fully assessed and completed following committee decision 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes x  No   

Buildings

(↓↑ 0)

Business

(↓↑ 0)

Energy

(-1)

Influence

(+1)
Internal 

Resources

(+1)

Land use

(↓↑ 0)

Goods & 

Services

(↓↑ 0)

Transport

(-1)

Waste

(↓↑ 0)

Adaptat ion

(↓↑ 0)

+0

West Lindsey District Council will be net zero by 2050 (25 years 

and 1 months away).

Generated 
05/11/24 

v1.36
Preview 

Page 20

https://democracy.west-lindsey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=3396&Ver=4
https://democracy.west-lindsey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=3396&Ver=4


 4 

Executive Summary 
 
The following report contains the information as it was presented at the meeting 
of the Prosperous Communities Committee held on Tuesday, 3 December 
2024.  
 
The resolutions made by the Prosperous Communities Committee were that: 

 

 the Motion be supported and capacity increased; and 
 

 option three, to employ an additional HGV Driver to work a four day on, 
four day off rota with current sweeper driver, be recommended to the 
Corporate Policy and Resources Committee for approval.  

 
Whilst there are no financial implications in terms of increased costs associated 
with option three, in fact there is a small amount of savings, it was considered 
prudent for the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee to maintain the final 
approval level, in view of recent, and upcoming, budget discussions. 
 
The Corporate Policy and Resources Committee are asked to: 
 

 approve the implementation of option three within the report, that being: 
to employ an additional HGV Driver to work a four day on, four day off 
rota with current sweeper driver. 

  

Page 21



 5 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 Council at its meeting on 4 March 2024 received the following motion: - 
 

“The street cleansing team at West Lindsey have always done 
a fantastic job of keeping our streets clean and safe, however 
due to the increasing number of storms and occurrences of 
high winds, there is now far more debris in the roadside gutters 
than we used to get in the past. 
 
In Nettleham, and other rural areas outside of Gainsborough, 
many roadside gutters are thick with mud, twigs, leaves, and 
other debris. After moderate rainfall this ends up in the drains 
and ultimately, they end up blocked. After storms or heavy 
rainfall, this exacerbates flooding issues and has created 
flooding in areas where we would not normally expect it. 
 
West Lindsey currently has one HGV road sweeper operating 
on a 24–26-week schedule to cover all the towns and villages 
in the district. An additional HGV road sweeper is hired in 
November and December to deal with Autumn leaf fall, but 
footways are not touched. 
 
Ad-hoc sweeping requests can be made to the street 
cleansing team, but the request-list extends the normal 
schedule, and where issues are caused by adverse weather 
events, the probability is that some wards could have to wait 
up to 5 months for road sweeping. 
 
If the kerbside debris is not removed quickly then many drains 
could become blocked. 
 
Given that we are told to expect a higher frequency of adverse 
weather events over the coming years, and flooding effects so 
many of our wards, it is important we do everything we can, 
within our remit, to try keep the drains clear. 
 
I therefore call upon this Council to support me in 
requesting that the Prosperous Communities Committee 
explore options to increase our road sweeping capability, 
including the feasibility and financial implications. 
 
I so move 
Councillor Frazer Brown” 

 
1.2 Having been seconded, under Council Procedure Rule 10.4: - 
 

 “ If the subject of a motion comes within the remit of any 
committee(s), it shall, upon being moved and seconded, stand 
referred without discussion to such committee(s) for 
consideration and determination.”  

 

Page 22



 6 

Council was advised the matter would stand referred to the Prosperous 
Communities Committee, for consideration and determination, with the 
motion submitter invited to attend and address the meeting at which the 
matter was to be considered.  

 
1.3 This report explores some potential options to increase our road 

sweeping capability, including the feasibility and financial implications, 
therefore allowing Committee to consider the options, debate and 
determine whether they wish to apply a change to the Road Sweeping 
Policy. 

 
1.4 It should be noted certain options, those with financial implications, 

would require a recommendation from Prosperous Communities 
Committee to the Corporate Policy and Resources for approval of the 
appropriate funding.  

 
 
2 Current Position and Service Provision Level  
 
2.1 Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 West Lindsey District 

Council has a statutory duty to keep public highways free from litter and 
detritus. 

 
2.2 Currently Operational Services hires in one HGV road sweeper on a 

hire maintenance contract at the cost of £36,000 (plus £8.3k fuel) per 
annum. 

 
2.3 This road sweeper is required to be operated by a Class 2 HGV driver 

at the cost of £37,200 per annum. 
 
2.4 Currently, within West Lindsey, the HGV road sweeper covers every 

village in the district at least once annually (towns are done more 
frequently). The road sweeper is operated Monday to Friday (with 
Thursday as a day off) for 9.25 hours per day (plus attendance at  
Gainsborough Town Centre most Sundays on overtime at a cost of 
£16,700pa). 

 
2.5 The HGV sweeper has a schedule of works it undertakes but may also 

be required to attend to ad hoc requests or private work at any time, 
such as occasional building site sweeps. Table 1 shows the volume 
and type of additional ad hoc requests, handled in 2023/24 
 
Table 1 – Sweeper taken from normal duties 23/24 

Operation Numbers in 23/24 

Private work 4 

Reported service requests (on 
system) 

40 

Complaints 0 

 
2.6 During the months of November to December the Council hires in 

another HGV sweeper and driver to undertake seasonal sweeping for 
leaf fall at a cost of £14,500 for the 2 months. 

Page 23



 7 

 
3 Potential Options for Consideration  

 
3.1 Three options are presented below for consideration and to aide 

discussions.   This is not an exhaustive list; however any alternative 
options would need to be fully costed before a recommendation could be 
made to the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee.  
 

Option Pro’s Con’s 
1. Do nothing, 

carry on ‘as 
is’. 

 No contract changes 
or amendments  

 The requirement for 
the continuation of 
overtime being paid 

 Only 4 days’ standard 
operational work a 
week 

 No increase in 
capacity  
 

2. Hire another 
sweeper 
vehicle and 
another driver  

 Reduction in 
overtime 

 More coverage of the 
district 

 No requirement to 
hire an additional 
sweeper for 2 months 
each year 

 8 days a week 
sweeping (currently 
4) 
 

 Financial implications 
of an additional £53k 
for 25/26 

 

3. Employ an 
additional 
HGV Driver to 
work a four 
day on, four 
day off rota 
with current 
sweeper 
driver 

 Reduction in 
overtime 

 7 day a week 
coverage of the 
district (currently 4 
plus overtime) 

 More coverage of the 
district 

 Reduction in annual 
costs (£1.6k for 
25/26) 

 

 
 

 
  

Page 24



 8 

 
3.3 The financial comparison for each Option is set out below for 2025/26, 

where Option 1 represents the current cost of the service.  
 

 
 
 

4. Conclusion  
 
4.1 Committee are asked to consider the information provided in response to 
 the Motion to Council and determine whether capacity should be 
 increased, and the Motion is supported. 
 
4.2 Should the Motion be supported, Committee will need to determine to 

what extent, capacity is increased, (Option 2, Option 3 or an alternative) 
and make an appropriate recommendation to the Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee if necessary (where additional funding is required).  

 

Option 1 2025-26 2025-26 2026-27 2026-27 2027-28

HGV Sweeper hire for 12 months x1 37,300 38,400 39,600 40,800 42,000

HGV Sweeper hire for 2 months 6,200 6,400 6,600 6,800 7,000

Fuel for Sweeper 12 months x1 8,500 8,800 9,100 9,400 9,700

Fuel for Sweeper 2 months 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400

Overtime for 12 months x1 17,200 17,700 18,200 18,700 19,300

Band5 driver with oncost & Market Supplement 12 months 37,900 39,100 40,100 41,200 42,500

Band5 driver with oncost & Market Supplement 2 months 6,300 6,500 6,700 6,900 7,100

Total 114,800 118,300 121,700 125,200 129,000

Option 2 2025-26 2025-26 2026-27 2026-27 2027-28

HGV Sweeper hire for 12 months x2 74,600 76,800 79,200 81,600 84,000

Fuel for Sweeper 12 months x2 17,000 17,600 18,200 18,800 19,400

Band5 driver with oncost & Market Supplement 12 months x2 75,700 78,200 80,200 82,300 85,000

Total 167,300 172,600 177,600 182,700 188,400

Option 3 2025-26 2025-26 2026-27 2026-27 2027-28

Fuel for Sweeper 12 months x2 17,000 17,600 18,200 18,800 19,400

HGV Sweeper hire for 12 months x1 37,300 38,400 39,600 40,800 42,000

Band5 driver with oncost & Market Supplement 12 months x2 75,700 78,200 80,200 82,300 85,000

Less Overtime with oncosts currently worked (17,200) (17,700) (18,200) (18,700) (19,300)

Total 112,800 116,500 119,800 123,200 127,100

Page 25



 
 
 
 

Corporate Policy and 
Resource Committee  

Thursday 12th December 
2024 

 

     
Subject: Wellbeing Lincs Service 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Planning, Regeneration & 
Communities 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Sarah Elvin 
Homes, Health & Wellbeing Team Manager 
 
sarah.elvin@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

  
To seek approval for the establishment of the 
budget for the new Wellbeing Lincs service.  

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

1. CP&R Committee approve the establishment of the revenue budget in the 

MTFP for the delivery of the Wellbeing Lincs Service to commence on 13th 

January 2025.  

 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6c



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: 

Lincs Legal Services are currently reviewing the existing Collaboration 
Agreement to update for the new contract.  This is in draft and included at 
appendix 2 

(N.B.) Where there are legal implications the report MUST be seen by the MO 

 

Financial :   FIN/108/25/MT/MK 

  Jan-Mar         Apr-Dec 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Description £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Salaries 104,500 499,700 513,300 523,100 536,700 455,900 

Pension 24,500 117,600 125,400 129,300 131,300 109,800 

NI 6,800 45,800 47,700 49,700 51,600 41,700 

Mileage 8,700 41,900 41,900 41,900 41,900 33,200 

Mobile 
Phones 3,900 2,300 2,400 2,500 2,600 2100 

Internal 
Charge 15,600 77,000 79,000 81,000 83,100 67,400 

Contributions 
-

164,000 
-

784,300 
-

809,700 
-

827,500 
-

847,200 
-

710,100 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 

              

Internal 
Charge -15,600 -77,000 -79,000 -81,000 -83,100 -67,400 

              

  -15,600 -77,000 -79,000 -81,000 -83,100 -67,400 

The table above shows the budget required in the MTFP for the Responder 
Wellbeing Service contract which is due to start on 13th January 2025.  There 
will be a net contribution to the Council in 2024/25 of £15,600, 2025/26 £77,000 
and so on until 2029/30.  This scheme is fully funded with costs to be re-claimed 
from East Lindsey District Council. 

(N.B.) All committee reports MUST have a Fin Ref 

 

Page 27



Staffing : 

None as a result of this report, but for clarity, the following arrangements are in 
place for staffing under the new service.  

The Responder Service- existing 18 staff members will be TUPE’d over from 
East Lindsey to West Lindsey under their existing terms and conditions.  

The new role in the service of Responder Team Leader will be recruited to in 
the mobilisation of the new contract.  

In line with existing arrangements, the Homes & Health Manager will line 
manage the Responder Team Leader with HR and budget matters and the 
Wellbeing Lincs Service Manager will manage the role operationally.  

(N.B.) Where there are staffing implications the report MUST have a HR Ref 

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

None  

 

Data Protection Implications : 

None as a result of this report  

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities : 

 
All Responders and the Responder Team Leader will require essential car user 
to be able to undertake their roles. This service being transferred to West 
Lindsey will increase the numbers of miles claimed by our employees impacting 
on carbon footprint. This is not additional as this service is currently in 
existence, but this is an increase for West Lindsey.  

 

Buildings
(↓↑ 0)

Business
(↓↑ 0)

Energy
(↓↑ 0)

Influence
(↓↑ 0)

Internal 
Resources

(↓↑ 0)

Land use
(↓↑ 0)

Goods & 
Services
(↓↑ 0)

Transport
(-2)

Waste
(↓↑ 0)

Adaptation
(↓↑ 0)

-2

West Lindsey District Council will be net zero by 2050 (25 years and 

Generated 
30/10/24 

v1.36

Page 28



Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations : 

None  

 

Health Implications: 

Wellbeing Lincs offers support for vulnerable people to remain living 
independently within their own homes and in turn improves their health and 
wellbeing.  

The delivery of this service aligns with the Lincolnshire wide District Health and 
Well-being Strategy  

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report:   

Wellbeing Lincs Partnership Bid.pdf 

 

Risk Assessment :   

 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No x  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes x  No   

  

Page 29

https://democracy.west-lindsey.gov.uk/documents/s40446/Wellbeing%20Lincs%20Partnership%20Bid.pdf


 5 

1. Background 

 
1.1  A decision was made by West Lindsey Corporate Policy and 

Resources committee on 11th April 2024 to submit a Partnership bid for 
the new Wellbeing Service contract with East Lindsey as host 
organisation and North Kesteven and City of Lincoln also making up 
the partnership.  

 
1.2 A bid was submitted to Lincolnshire County Council for the new 

contracted Wellbeing Service on 15th July 2024. After a number of 
delays through the system a decision was received on 24th August 
2024 that the partnership have been successful in obtaining the new 
Wellbeing  Service contract.  

 
1.3 The contract is due to start on 13th January 2025 and will run for a 

period of 5 years with potential extensions thereafter of up to a further 
5 years.    

 
2. New proposal 

 
2.1  The new Wellbeing Lincs service now requires the following core 

elements of work under the new specification set by LCC: 
 

 A Digital Offer: (or sometimes called a Universal Offer) available 
to all to access on Lincolnshire County Council’s Connect to 
Support website. This offer will be solely website information 
managed and updated by connect to support.   

 Assessment: A person-centred and strength-based assessment of 
all eligible individuals referred into the service.  

 Generic Support: Generally, no more than 12 weeks of generic 
support based on the individual service users’ outcomes and needs 
identified through their assessment, and always fixed term. 

 Small Aids and Minor Alterations: Provision and/or installation of 
items of small aids to support daily living, and completing minor 
alterations which are supportive to the wellbeing and independence 
of the service user. 

 Telecare Response Service: Provision of a visit to the home of a 
service user in response to a request from a telecare monitoring 
provider.  Call out reasons will include non-injury falls and no 
response from the telecare user when an alarm is triggered. 

 
2.2 There are several aspects which differ from the existing contractual 

arrangements including: 
 

 Assessment and generic support was originally specified as two 
separate functions to be delivered by separate teams. This is no 
longer the case and efficiency savings can be made as a result of 
joining those two elements of the current service together. 

 Hospital outreach is no longer required which was a service 
delivered by West Lindsey 

Page 30



 6 

 The Partnerships and Network Development Officers requirement 
has been removed and this is another function that was delivered 
by West Lindsey. The need to work in partnership with statutory 
services remains important; however, LCC expect this to be more 
targeted and demonstrable, with the use of promotional materials 
/ events and targeted comms and run through the service as a 
thread as opposed to sitting separately within a different team.   

 The initial referral management has been absorbed into the 
Lincolnshire County Council adult social care customer service 
centre as a way of streamlining processes. The referral process 
has to date been managed by East Lindsey District Council 
through a hub which will no longer be required.  

 Response service times to increase to 1 hour from 45 minutes, 
and the fee to increase by a small amount with the response 
service providing a more enhanced offer, including a simple falls 
assessment, outward referrals for follow on services as well as an 
outcome report for every call attended. 

 
3. West Lindsey implications  

 
3.1 As detailed above, two of the functions which were hosted by West 

Lindsey are no longer part of the new service due to reorganisation of 

how the services will be delivered as a result of a change in service 

specification and a reduction in the available budget.  

 

3.2 The Wellbeing Lincs Management Board were keen for West Lindsey 

to continue to be involved in the partnership as a hosting authority. Due 

to the amended structure providing a clear split in function of the 

Telecare Response Service it was considered as a practical approach 

to offer the opportunity to host the responder service to West Lindsey.  

 

3.3 Members were clear when a report was brought to CP&R on 11th April 

of a desire to continue to be actively involved of the delivery of the 

Wellbeing Lincs service and so a decision was made by Management 

Team to continue with a hosting role in the Wellbeing Service and 

deliver the Telecare Response Service at West Lindsey.  

 

3.4 A structure chart for the new service can be found at appendix 1 setting 

out the structure for the new service and detailing West Lindsey’s new 

hosting role in the service.  

 

3.5 The Telecare Response Service consists of 18 responders working 

over three fire station locations across Lincolnshire responding to 

lifeline calls received at Lincare (which is managed by Lincoln City 

Council) and working on a shift basis. There are currently over 1800 

people signed up to this valuable service across the county. 

 

Page 31



 7 

3.6 The team has a dedicated Team Leader in the new structure which will 

oversee the response officers at all three locations and report 

operationally directly to the Service Manager.  

 

3.7 This proposal is an increase in staff number for West Lindsey from 10 

to 19 and will see West Lindsey hosting a larger proportion of the staff 

than currently offered making West Lindsey a more equitable partner in 

the service. The split of staff across the partner organisations would be 

as follows:  

West Lindsey  19 

North Kesteven  19 

East Lindsey  25 

Total 63 

 
3.8 City of Lincoln host the Lincare call centre element of the Telecare 

Response Service which is managed in house by Lincoln and do not 
directly employ anyone under this service.  

 
4. Financial implications  

 

4.1 The LCC indicative budget for delivering the service is £3.269m per 

annum which is less than the existing contract and is based on a 

reduced specification of work and streamlined assessment 

requirements. 

 

4.2 The Partnership’s tender submission is based on the indicative budget 

and all partners costs are fully recoverable within the projected budget 

for the lifetime of the contract.  

 

4.3 The profit element as detailed below will remain in a project fund to 

ensure risk of redundancies at the end of the contract can be covered 

by the project fund.  

 

4.4 A summary of income and expenditure under the contract is set out 

below: 

 
Yr 1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5 

 
Salaries Inc On-Costs £2,914,260 £2,950,998 £2,973,348 £2,995,083 £3,016,156  
District Council recharges   £3,298,652 £3,346,290 £3,379,533 £3,412,490 £3,445,363  
Profit Margin 5.25% 3.85% 3.00% 2.15% 1.30%  
Profit Amount £173,179 £128,832 £101,386 £73,369 £44,790  
Income £203,673 £207,746 £211,901 £216,139 £220,462  
Net Cost of Service £3,268,159 £3,267,376 £3,269,018 £3,269,720 £3,269,691  
Amount over budget -£841 -£1,624 £18 £720 £691  
Percentage over budget -0.03% -0.05% 0.00% 0.02% 0.02%  

  

Page 32



 8 

4.5 West Lindsey District Council portion of overall scheme is below: 
 

  Jan-Mar         Apr-Dec 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Description £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Salaries 104,500 499,700 513,300 523,100 536,700 455,900 

Pension 24,500 117,600 125,400 129,300 131,300 109,800 

NI 6,800 45,800 47,700 49,700 51,600 41,700 

Mileage 8,700 41,900 41,900 41,900 41,900 33,200 

Mobile Phones 3,900 2,300 2,400 2,500 2,600 2100 

Internal 
Charge 15,600 77,000 79,000 81,000 83,100 67,400 

Contributions -164,000 -784,300 -809,700 -827,500 -847,200 -710,100 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 

              

Internal 
Charge -15,600 -77,000 -79,000 -81,000 -83,100 -67,400 

              

  -15,600 -77,000 -79,000 -81,000 -83,100 -67,400 

  
 
5 Collaboration Agreement  
 
5.1 There is currently a collaboration agreement between East Lindsey, 

West Lindsey, North Kesteven and City of Lincoln, signed by West 
Lindsey in 2018 to deliver the existing contract.  

 
5.2 This agreement is in the process of being updated through Legal 

Services Lincolnshire. This is only being updated to reflect the new 
contractual agreement and will not be having any fundamental changes 
to contractual requirements.  

 
5.3  Schedule 3 of the draft collaboration agreement attached at appendix 2 

gives assurance on the risks identified and their agreed treatment. The 
paragraphs to draw attention to for risk mitigation for West Lindsey are 
as follows:  
Page 36 - Redundancy during and at contract cessation will be met 
from the retained project fund. Assessment to be carried out by 
delivery partners with a prudent financial commitment held against 
the retained project fund. 

 Page 33- The project fund retained is the balance built up from: 
- Profit element within contract – 3.5% 

- Retained Gain Share 

- Additional volume payments (where no additional costs are 
demonstrated) 

Page 34/35 - FTE creep - Any additional staffing costs due to increases 
in volume included in the core contract can be put forward as a claim to 
the Management Board who may agree to reimburse them from the 
Project Fund. 
 

5.4  Schedule 4 of the collaboration agreement includes the whole contract 

Page 33



 9 

and within that documents at appendix A details the overarching 
budget for the whole service which also includes the profit element to 
sit within the project fund. 

 For transparency an overview of the project fund provided by the 
Wellbeing Lincs Service Manager is detailed below:  

 

WBL Reserves held by East Lindsey at 
end of contract 2025  £430,267 

Projected profit 

Yr1 £173,189 

Yr 2 £128,832 

Yr 3 £101,386 

Yr 4  £73,369 

Yr 5  £44,789 

Total at end of new 5-year contract 2030 £951,832 

 
 

6. Governance  

6.1.  The collaboration agreement requires approval by Prosperous 
Communities Committee. For transparency for this committee, 
Prosperous Communities Committee have received this report on the 
3rd December 2024 with the following recommendation approved: 

 Prosperous Communities Committee note the revised delivery 
arrangements under the new contract and delegate authority for 
signing of the final Collaboration Agreement to the Director of 
Planning, Regeneration and Communities in consultation with the 
Chair of this committee. 

 
7. Recommendation 
 
7.1 CP&R Committee approve the establishment of the revenue budget in 

the MTFP for the delivery of the Wellbeing Lincs Service to commence 
on 13th January 2025.  

 

Page 34



Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 8

Service ManagerService Manager

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (South) #2

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (South) #2

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (North) #2

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (North) #2

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (North) #1

Team Leader - Case  

Officers (North) #1

Team Leader – Case 

Officers (South) #1

Team Leader – Case 

Officers (South) #1

Team Leader - 

Responders

Team Leader - 

Responders

Team Leader - 

Compliance & 

Service 

Development Officer

Team Leader - 

Compliance & 

Service 

Development Officer

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 6

Wellbeing Case 

Officers x 6

Assistive 

Equipment 

Administrator

Assistive 

Equipment 

Administrator

Assistive 

Equipment

 Installers x 2

Assistive 

Equipment

 Installers x 2

Responders x 18Responders x 18

Link to Monitoring 

Centre funding 3 x 

FTE Call Handlers

Link to Monitoring 

Centre funding 3 x 

FTE Call Handlers

Business Support 

Officers x 3 

Business Support 

Officers x 3 

Communications & 

Engagement 

Officer

Communications & 

Engagement 

Officer

Compliance and 

Data Officer

Compliance and 

Data Officer
North Kesteven District Council

East Lindsey District Council

West Lindsey District Council Roles are FTE single officer unless stated otherwise

Schedule 2 – Staffing Structure

Lincoln City Council 

Page 35



 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Dated  2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) City of Lincoln Council 

(2) East Lindsey District Council 

(3) North Kesteven District Council 

(4) West Lindsey District Council 

 
 
 
 

Collaboration Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

 
 

Page 37



 

 

Contents 

1 Interpretation 1 

2 Commencement and Term 5 

3 Collaboration and compliance with the Contract 6 

4 Existing arrangements 6 

5 Roles 6 

6 The Project Fund and Payments 7 

7 Underspends 7 

8 Service Credits 7 

9 Invoicing 7 

10 Set-off 8 

11 Governance 8 

12 Confidentiality 9 

13 Freedom of information 10 

14 Data protection 11 

15 Publications and Announcements 11 

16 Intellectual property 11 

17 Employees and associated costs 12 

18 Absence of Employees 12 

19 Unforeseen Costs 13 

20 Gain Share 13 

21 Additional Volume Payments 13 

22 Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 14 

23 Prevention of Bribery 15 

24 Warranties 16 

25 Indemnity 16 

26 Insurance 17 

27 Limitation and exclusion of liability 18 

Page 38



 

 

28 Dispute Resolution 18 

29 Mediation 19 

30 Termination of Agreement 19 

31 Consequences of termination 20 

32 Force majeure 21 

33 Assignment and other dealings 21 

34 Variation 22 

35 Notices 22 

36 Severance 22 

37 No partnership or agency 23 

38 Rights and remedies 23 

39 Inadequacy of damages 23 

40 Waiver 23 

41 Third party rights 23 

42 Further assurance 24 

43 Costs 24 

44 Entire Agreement 24 

45 Governing law 24 

46 Jurisdiction 24 

Schedule 1 Delivery Partner Roles 25 

Schedule 2 Staffing Structure 27 

Schedule 3 Partnership Financial Model 28 

Schedule 4 The Services 33 

Schedule 5 Governance 34 

Schedule 6 Data Protection 35 

Page 39



 

 

Date: 
 

Parties 
 

(1) City of Lincoln Council whose principal place of business is City Hall, Beaumont 
Fee, Lincoln LN1 1DD (“CLC”) 

 

(2) East Lindsey District Council whose principal place of business is Tedder Hall, 
Manby Park, Louth, Lincolnshire LN11 8UP (“ELDC”) 

 

(3) North Kesteven District Council whose principal place of business is District 
Council Offices. Kesteven Street, Sleaford, Lincs NG34 7EF (“NKDC”) 

 

(4) West Lindsey District Council whose principal place of business is Guildhall, 
Marshall’s Yard, Gainsborough, Lincolnshire DN21 2NA (“WLDC”) 

 

(each a ‘Party and together the “Parties”). 
 

Introduction 
 

A The Parties have worked together to develop a bid to provide wellbeing services as 
tendered by Lincolnshire County Council (Contract Ref: CO792) (the “Contract”) with 
ELDC acting as the Lead Council. 

 

B The Parties have submitted their Final Tender to Lincolnshire County Council (“LCC”) 
outlining how they will provide the wellbeing services (the “Services”) and were 
awarded the Contract to provide the Services on [insert date] 

 

C The Parties will now work together to provide the Services under the Contract in 
accordance with this collaboration agreement (the “Agreement”). 

 

Agreed terms 
 

1 Interpretation 
 

1.1 The definitions and rules of interpretation in this clause apply in this 
Agreement. 

 

Additional 
Volume Payments 

means the payment to be made by LCC in any Payment Period 
to which the Additional Volume Payment applies in 
accordance with paragraphs 4.4 to 4.7 of the Contract. 

 

Commencement 
Date 

means the date of this Agreement. 

 

Contract means the contract for the provision of wellbeing services 
(Contract Ref: CO792) entered in to between (1) LCC and 
(2) ELDC as Lead Council for the Delivery Partner Councils 
and dated [insert date new contract was signed]  

E 

Created IPR means all Intellectual Property Rights developed or created 
by a Party pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

Commercially means information of a commercially sensitive nature 
 
 

Commented [PC1]: New Contract award date to be 
inserted   

Page 40



 

 

Sensitive 
Information 

 

 
Communications 
Lead 

relating to any Party, its Intellectual Property Rights or its 
business or which a Party has indicated that, if disclosed, 
would cause that Party significant commercial disadvantage 
or material financial loss. 

 

means the person or persons appointed by the Parties to act 
as the communications lead and who will implement the 
communications plan in accordance with Clause 15. 

 

Data Processor shall have the same meaning as  set  out  in  the  Data  Protection 
Act 1998 or the EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(Regulation EU 2016/679) when in force. 

 

Data Protection 
Legislation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Delivery Partner 
Council 

. means all applicable Law relating to the processing of 
personal data and privacy, including UK GDPR, the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the guidance and codes of practice 
issued by the Information Commissioner. 

 

means East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District 
Council, West Lindsey District Council and City of Lincoln 
Council. 

 

EIRs the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (SI 
2004/3391) together with any guidance and/or codes of 
practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant 
government department in relation to such regulations. 

 

First Stage 
Redundancy Costs 

the statutory and contractual redundancy pay payable to 
employees following the initial TUPE transfer and subsequent 
restructure. 

 

FOIA the Freedom of Information Act 2000, and any subordinate 
legislation made under the Act from time to time, together 
with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the 
Information Commissioner or relevant government 
department in relation to such legislation. 

 

Gain Share the amount by which the Forecast Costs exceed the Actual 
Costs as at each Balance Sheet Date less the Profit Margin 
allowed by LCC 

 

 
Implementation 
Group 

 
means the group as set out in section 6.1 of Part A and Part 
B of Schedule 5. 

Page 41



 

 

 

Information has the meaning given under section 84 of FOIA. 

Page 42



 

 

Intellectual 
Property Rights 

means patents, utility models, rights to inventions, copyright 
and neighbouring and related rights, trademarks and service 
marks, business names and domain names, rights in get-up 
and trade dress, goodwill and the right to sue for passing off 
or unfair competition, rights in designs, database rights, 
rights to use, and protect the confidentiality of, confidential 
information (including know- how and trade secrets), and all 
other intellectual property rights, in each case whether 
registered or unregistered and including all applications and 
rights to apply for and be granted, renewals or extensions of, 
and rights to claim priority from, such rights and all similar 
or equivalent rights or forms of protection which subsist or 
will subsist now or in the future in any part of the world. 

 

KPI means the key performance indicators as defined in the 
Contract. 

 

Law any law, statute, subordinate legislation within the meaning 
of section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, 
enforceable right within the meaning of section 2 of the 
European Communities Act 1972, regulation, order, 
mandatory guidance or code of practice, judgment of a 
relevant court of law, or directives or requirements of any 
regulatory body with which the Parties are bound to comply. 

 

LCC means Lincolnshire County Council. 
 

Lead Council means East Lindsey District Council or such other Party as 
agreed by the Parties. 

 

Management 
Board 

means the board as set out in Clause 11.2. 

 

Material Breach means a breach of Clause 3.3, 23.3 and as defined in Clause 
30.3. 

 

Partnership 
Financial Model 

means the financial model set out in Schedule 3. 

 

Payment means a payment to the Delivery Partner Council from the 
Project Fund as set out in the Partnership Financial Model 
and/or under the terms of this Agreement. 

 

Personal Data  shall have the same meaning  as  set  out  in  the  UKGDPR 
 

Profit means the Profit Margin within the Contract (3.5%). 
 

Project Fund means the money held by the Lead Council and ring-fenced 
for use in accordance with this Agreement. 

Page 43



 

 

Proportionately      means in relation to any cost, loss or liability to be paid or   
met by the Parties pursuant to this Agreement, in such 
proportions as the Parties shall agree or, in the absence of 
agreement between the Parties within 10 Working Days of 
the date on which the Parties become liable to pay or meet 
such cost, loss or liability, in proportion to the Payments due 
to be received by each Party in the relevant year. 

 

Reference Group means the reference group as set out in Clause 11.3. 
 

Regulated Activity   means in relation to children shall have the same meaning  as 
set out in Part 1 of Schedule 4 to the Safeguarding Vulnerable 
Groups Act 2006 and in relation to vulnerable adults shall 
have the same meaning as set out in Part 2 of Schedule 4 to 
the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 

 

Regulated Activity 
Provider 

shall have the same meaning as set out in section 6 of the 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 

 

Representative means a Party or its employees, officers, representatives, 
advisers or Sub-Contractors. 

 

Requests for 
Information 

means a request for information or an apparent request 
under the Code of Practice on Access to Government 
Information, FOIA or the EIRs; 

 

Services means the wellbeing services as set out in Schedule 4. 
 

Service Charges        means the service charges payable by LCC to ELDC under    
the Contract as defined in part A1 of the Contract. 

 

Service Credits       means the service credits as defined in part A1 of  the  
Contract. 

 

Sub-Contract any contract between a Party and a third party pursuant to 
which the Party agrees to source the provision of any of the 
goods or services in relation to this Agreement from that 
third party. 

 

Sub-Contractor the contractors or suppliers that enter into a Sub-Contract. 
 

Term the term as set out in Clause 2. 
 

 

UKGDPR             has the meaning given to it in section 3(10) (as supplemented 
by section 205(4)) of the Data Protection Act 2018. 

 
Working Day Monday to Friday, excluding any public holidays in England 

and Wales. 
 

1.2 Clause, Schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation 
of this Agreement. 

 

1.3 The Schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have effect as if set out 
in full in the body of this Agreement. Any reference to this Agreement includes 
the Schedules. 

Page 44



2 Commencement and Term 

 

 

1.4 References to Clauses and Schedules are to the clauses and schedules of this 
Agreement and references to paragraphs are to paragraphs of the Schedule. 

 

1.5 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body 
(whether or not having separate legal personality) and that person's personal 
representatives, successors and permitted assigns. 

 

1.6 A reference to a company shall include any company, corporation or other 
body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established. 

 

1.7 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include  the 
plural and in the plural shall include the singular. 

 

1.8 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include 
a reference to the other genders. 

 

1.9 A reference to any Party shall include that Party's personal representatives, 
successors and permitted assigns. 

 

1.10 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, 
extended or re-enacted from time to time. 

 

1.11 A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate 
legislation made from time to time under that statute or statutory provision. 

 

1.12 A reference to writing or written excludes fax but includes email subject to 
compliance with the provisions of Clause 35. 

 

1.13 Any obligation on a Party not to do something includes an obligation not to 
allow that thing to be done. 

 

1.14 A reference to this Agreement or to any other agreement or document 
referred to in this Agreement is a reference to this Agreement or such other 
agreement or document as varied or novated (in each case, other than in 
breach of the provisions of this Agreement) from time to time. 

 

1.15 Where any statement is qualified by the expression so far as a Party is aware 
or to a Party's knowledge (or any similar expression), that statement shall be 
deemed to include an additional statement that it has been made after due 
and careful enquiry. 

 

1.16 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example 
or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit 
the sense of the words, description, definition, phrase or term preceding 
those terms. 

 

1.17 Where there is a conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
and the Contract, the Contract shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency. 

Page 45



 

 

2.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall continue 
in force for the duration of the Contract for Services unless terminated earlier 
in accordance with the Law or the provisions of this Agreement.  

 

3 Collaboration and compliance with the Contract 
 

3.1 The Parties agree to work together in good faith and to use their reasonable 
endeavours to offer their support and assistance to each other to provide the 
Services in accordance with Schedule 1. 

 

3.2 The Parties shall contribute time, effort and facilities/resources as required 
to support the provision of the Services in accordance with Schedule 1. 

 

3.3 The Parties shall not take any action or fail to take any action, or (insofar as 
it is reasonably within their power) permit anything to occur which would 
cause the Lead Council to be in breach of its obligations under the Contract. 

 

3.4 Failure to comply with Clause 3.3 constitutes a Material Breach of this 
Agreement. 

 

4 Existing arrangements 
 

4.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall restrict any Party's right to continue to 
conduct its business activities or arrangements that existed on the 
Commencement Date or that otherwise come into being outside the scope of 
this Agreement. 

 

5 Roles 
 

5.1 The Parties agree to undertake the following roles: 
 

5.1.1 The Lead Council shall: 
 

(a) enter into the Contract with LCC and shall be accountable 
under the Contract to LCC for the delivery of the Services; 

 

(b) undertake all contract management requirements under the 
Contract, with the assistance of the other Parties where 
required in accordance with this Agreement; 

 

(c) manage and account for the Project Fund on an open book 
accounting basis, and provide financial updates to all Parties 
quarterly, or within 10 Working Days of following the 
provision of the same information to LCC in accordance with 
the Contract, and 

 

(d) make the Payments to the Delivery Partner Councils in 
accordance with the Partnership Financial Model and the 
terms of this Agreement. 

 

5.1.2 The Delivery Partner Councils shall: 
 

(a) Undertake their roles as set out in Schedule 1 in return for 
the Payment. 

Page 46



9 Invoicing 

 

 

6 The Project Fund and Payments 
 

6.1 The Lead Council shall receive the Service Charges under the Contract and 
will hold these in the Project Fund. 

 

6.2 The Lead Council shall make the Payments to the Delivery Partner Councils in 
accordance with the Partnership Financial Model. 

 

6.3 Service Charges received under the Contract which are not immediately 
required to make Payments, including but not limited to amounts representing 
Profit, Additional Volume Payment and Gain Share, shall be held in the Project 
Fund. 

 

6.4 Any reinvestment of the Project Fund reserves shall be subject to the balance 
of the Project Fund being sufficient to make all future foreseeable payments. 

 

6.5 Other than in accordance Clause 6.2 above or otherwise set out in this 
Agreement or the Partnership Financial Model, payments shall only be made 
out of the Project Fund where the payment is agreed by majority at the 
Management Board. Where there is an excess in the Project Fund payments 
shall be made to the Parties for reinvestment in to the Services. Any such 
payment shall be agreed in accordance with Clause 6.4. 

 

7 Underspends 
 

7.1 All underspends shall be handled in accordance with the Partnership Financial 
Model. 

 

8 Service Credits 
 

8.1 Subject to any alternative unanimous agreement between the Parties, where 
Service Credits are levied under the Contract they shall be dealt with as 
follows: 

 

8.1.1 if the KPI to which the Service Credit relates falls solely within the 
control of one of the Delivery Partner Council’s roles it shall be 
deducted from the next Payment due to that Delivery Partner 
Council; 

 

8.1.2 if the KPI to which the Service Credit relates falls within the control 
of two or more Delivery Partner Councils’ roles it shall be deducted 
proportionately in proportion to the relevant Delivery Partner 
Council’s control of the KPI from the next Payment due to each 
relevant Delivery Partner Council. 

 

8.2 If the Parties cannot agree who holds the control of the KPI then the payment 
shall be deducted Proportionately from the next Payment due to each Delivery 
Partner Council. 

Page 47



 

 

9.1 If the Partnership Financial Model provides that the Lead Council will pay a 
Delivery Partner Council any Payments, the Delivery Partner Council may issue 
invoices for such Payments at the end of each quarter for the same. 

 

9.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Partnership Financial Model, the Payments 
specified in the Partnership Financial Model are exclusive of VAT which shall 
be included in invoices and payable, if applicable, in addition to the 
Payments. 

 

9.3 A Party shall pay an invoice issued to it in accordance with this Agreement 
within 30 days of the date of receiving the invoice. 

 

9.4 If a Party fails to make a payment due to the other Party under this Agreement 
by the due date, then, without limiting the other Party's remedies under 
Clause 21 or Clause 22, the defaulting Party shall pay interest on the overdue 
sum from the due date until payment of the overdue sum, whether before or 
after judgment. 

 

9.5 Interest under this clause will accrue each day at 4% a year above the Bank of 
England's base rate from time to time, but at 4% a year for any period when 
that base rate is below 0%. 

 

9.6 Any disputes relating to invoices shall be dealt with in accordance with Clause 
28. In relation to payments disputed in good faith, interest under this clause 
is payable only after the dispute is resolved, on sums found or agreed to be 
due, from 30 days after the dispute is resolved until payment. 

 

10 Set-off 
 

All amounts due under this Agreement shall be paid in full without any set-off, 
counterclaim, deduction or withholding (other than any deduction or withholding of 
tax as required by law). 

 

11 Governance 
 

11.1 The Parties agree to manage the provision of the Services in accordance  
with this Clause 11 and Schedule 5. 

 

11.2 Management Board 
 

The Management Board shall: 
 

11.2.1 include Representatives from all Parties and shall be quorate when 
one Representative from each Party is present; 

 

11.2.2 make decisions by simple majority with one Party receiving one vote, 
regardless of the number of Representatives that Party has at the 
meeting. All representatives of one Party shall vote collectively. If a 
decision is tied that decision may be referred to the Reference Group 
for determination; 

 

11.2.3 focus on the day to day running of the Services and the operation of 
this Agreement and operate in accordance with the terms of 
reference contained in Part 1 of Schedule 5. 

Page 48



 

 

11.3 Reference Group 
 

The Reference Group shall: 
 

11.3.1 include Representatives from all Parties and shall be quorate when 
one Representative from each Party is present; 

 

11.3.2 make decisions unanimously with one Party receiving one vote, 
regardless of the number of Representatives that Party has at the 
meeting; 

 

11.4 focus on the strategic delivery of the Services and any changes to service 
delivery, and operate in accordance with the terms of reference contained in 
Part 2 of Schedule 5. 

 

11.5 Decisions reserved to the Parties: 
 

11.5.1 Any decision that would or would be likely to increase the financial 
or other liability of a Party, or would substantially increase 
commercial or operational or other risk for one or more of the Parties 
must be referred to each Party’s internal decision making process 
for approval before that decision is considered by the Management 
Board. Such a decision will only be approved if every Party adversely 
affected by the decision approves it in accordance with its internal 
decision making process. 

 

11.5.2 Any Party, acting reasonably, may request that a decision be 
referred to each affected Party's internal decision making structure 
for approval. 

 

11.5.3 In no circumstances shall a Party exercise, or seek to pursue, its 
rights under Clause 11.4 when a referral is or has become artificial. 
For these purposes, a referral is artificial where there is no 
reasonable reason for making such referral. 

 

11.5.4 The Parties agree to use all reasonable endeavours to refer the 
decision (with a view to achieving a decision) to their internal 
decision making structure as soon as is practicable. 

 

11.6 Representatives 
 

11.6.1 Representatives attending meetings in accordance with this Clause 
must have the necessary authority to make the decisions which may 
be put before the relevant board or group. 

 

11.6.2 Save where notified in writing before any act or instruction, each 
Party shall be entitled to treat any act or instruction of another 
Party’s Representative as an act or instruction of that Party. 

 

 
12 Confidentiality 

 

12.1 Subject to Clause 12.2, the Parties shall keep confidential all matters relating 
to this Agreement and the Contract and shall use all reasonable 

Page 49



 

 

endeavours to prevent their Representatives from making any disclosure to 
any person of any matters relating hereto. 

 

12.2 Clause 12.1 shall not apply to any disclosure of information: 
 

12.2.1 required by any applicable law, provided that Clause 13.2 shall apply 
to any disclosures required under the FOIA or the EIRs; 

 

12.2.2 that is reasonably required by persons engaged by a Party in the 
performance of such Party's obligations under this agreement; 

 

12.2.3 where a Party can demonstrate that such information is already 
generally available and in the public domain otherwise than as a 
result of a breach of Clause 12.1; 

 

12.2.4 by any Party of any document to which the Parties to this Agreement 
have agreed contains no Commercially Sensitive Information; 

 

12.2.5 to enable a determination to be made under Clause 24 (Dispute 
Resolution); 

 

12.2.6 which is already lawfully in the possession of the receiving Party, 
prior to its disclosure by the disclosing Party; 

 

12.2.7 by a Party to any other department, office or agency of the 
Government; and 

 

12.2.8 by a Party relating to this Agreement and in respect of which the 
other Parties have given their prior written consent to disclosure. 

 

12.3 Subject to any legal or regulatory requirements to retain relevant 
information, on or before the termination of this Agreement, all Parties shall 
ensure that all documents and/or computer records in their possession, 
custody or control which relate to personal information of another Party’s 
employees, rate-payers or service users, are delivered up to that Party or 
securely destroyed. 

 

13 Freedom of information 
 

13.1 The Parties acknowledge that they are each subject to the requirements of 
the FOIA and the EIRs. Each Party shall at its own cost: 

 

13.1.1 provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably 
requested by another Party to enable that Party to comply with its 
obligations under the FOIA and EIRs; 

 

13.1.2 transfer to the relevant Party (Disclosing Party) all Requests for 
Information relating to this Agreement that it receives as soon as 
practicable and in any event within 2 Working Days of receipt; 

 

13.1.3 provide the Disclosing Party with a copy of all Information belonging 
to that Party as requested in the Request For Information which is in 
its possession or control in the form that the Disclosing Party requires 
within 5 Working Days (or such other period as the 

Page 50



 

 

Disclosing Party may reasonably specify) of the Disclosing Party’s 
request for such Information; and 

 

13.1.4 not respond directly to a Request For Information except and 
unless they are the correct body to make the response. 

 

13.2 The Parties acknowledges that other of the Parties may be required under the 
FOIA and EIRs to disclose Information (including Commercially Sensitive 
Information) without consulting or obtaining consent from them. The 
Disclosing Party shall take reasonable steps to notify the other Parties of a 
Request For Information (in accordance with the Secretary of State's section 
45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of the Functions of Public Authorities 
under Part 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and reasonably 
practical for it to do so and shall afford the other affected Parties an 
opportunity to make any comments or representations in respect of the 
disclosure or information sought within 5 Business Days of receipt of such 
notification. The Disclosing Party shall take into account any such comments 
or representations and shall not respond to the request until the 5 Business 
Days has passed but (notwithstanding any other provision in this agreement) 
the Disclosing Party shall be responsible for determining in its absolute 
discretion whether any Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other 
information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the FOIA and/or the 
EIRs. 

 

14 Data protection 
 

14.1 Each Party shall comply with Schedule 6 (Data Protection). 
 

15 Publications and Announcements 
 

15.1 Subject to Clause 15.2, no Party shall make, or permit any person to make, 
any public announcement, communication or circular (announcement) 
concerning the existence, subject matter or terms of this Agreement, the 
wider transactions contemplated by it including the Contract, or the 
relationship between the Parties, without the prior written consent of the 
Management Board. 

 

15.2 The Management Board shall approve a communications plan including a list 
of pre-agreed messages and a set press release template. The communications 
plan will be implemented by the Communications Lead. The communications 
plan shall be reviewed and revised regularly by the Management Board and 
the Communications Lead in order to properly manage the communications in 
respect of this Agreement. 

 

15.3 Where an announcement is required by law or any governmental or regulatory 
authority (including, without limitation, any relevant securities exchange), or 
by any court or other authority of competent jurisdiction, the Party required 
to make the announcement shall promptly notify the other Parties. The Party 
concerned shall make all reasonable attempts to agree the contents of the 
announcement with the other Parties before making it. 

 

16 Intellectual property 

Page 51



 

 

16.1 Subject to Clause 16.2, this Agreement does not transfer any interest in 
Intellectual Property Rights. Created IPR shall be owned by the Party creating 
them (Owning Party). 

 

16.2 Where any Created IPR is prepared by any Party on behalf of LCC under the 
Contract, for use or intended use in relation to the performance by ELDC of 
its obligations under the Contract, then this shall be immediately assigned to 
ELDC for onward assignment to LCC in accordance with clause E6 of the 
Contract. 

 

16.3 For Created IPR other than that described at Clause 16.2, each Party grants 
to the other Parties (Using Parties) a non-exclusive, personal, royalty-free 
licence during the Term to use its Created IPR in relation to this Agreement 
to the extent necessary for the other Party to carry out its obligations in 
relation to this Agreement. 

 

16.4 At the end of the Term, all Using Parties under Clause 16.3 shall cease to use 
that Created IPR and shall return any physical embodiment of the Created IPR 
(including any copies) in its possession or control to the Owning Party. 

 

16.5 Each Party shall immediately give written notice to the other Party of any 
actual, threatened or suspected infringement of any Party's Intellectual 
Property Rights (including Created IPR) used in connection with this 
Agreement of which it becomes aware. 

 

17 Employees and associated costs 
 

17.1 Except as set out in Clause 17.2, employment costs for the Parties’ employees 
involved in the provision of the Services shall be met by the respective Party. 

 

17.2 Any First Stage Redundancy Costs shall be paid for equally by ELDC and NKDC 
and ELDC and NKDC shall jointly and severally indemnify all other Parties 
against all direct liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses suffered or 
incurred by the other Parties arising out of or in connection with the First 
Stage Redundancy Costs. 

 

17.3 Any redundancy costs (including statutory and contractual redundancy costs 
payable to the relevant employees) incurred as a result of the Parties 
providing the Services under the Contract, that are not First Stage Redundancy 
Costs shall be split Proportionately between the Parties. 

 

17.4 Nothing in this clause shall restrict or limit a Party's general obligation at law 
to mitigate a loss it may suffer or incur as a result of an event that may give 
rise to a claim under the indemnity in Clause 25. 

 

18 Absence of Employees 
 

18.1 If the provision of Services by any Delivery Partner Council is affected by the 
absence of any of their employees, that Delivery Partner Council agrees to use 
all reasonable endeavours to minimise the impact of such absence by, where 
possible, sharing the work required to provide such Services, throughout their 
existing staff. 

Page 52



 

 

18.2 Where the impact of such absence cannot be minimised in accordance with 
Clause 18.1 the Delivery Partner Council suffering such absence of employee 
shall request further resources to be provided by the Management Board by 
notice in writing to the Management Board, to enable the continued provision 
of Services. 

 

18.3 Any costs of the additional resources shall be met from the Project Fund and 
recouped from the receiving Party in the first instance through efficiencies in 
providing the Services and where such efficiencies cannot be made, shall be 
met by way of the Project Fund. 

 

18.4 The provisions of this Clause 18 are to provide assistance only and does not 
release any Party from performing their obligations under this Agreement in 
full. 

 

19 Unforeseen Costs 
 

19.1 If a Party incurs unforeseen costs in providing the Services it may request,  by 
notice in writing to the Management Board, that the Management Board 
review the provision of Services by all Delivery Partner Councils to assess 
whether any efficiencies can be made and such unforeseen costs mitigated. If 
efficiencies can be made, the Management Board shall agree a plan for  the 
amendment of the provision of Services, which shall be implemented upon all 
Parties agreeing to the plan. If the Management Board determines that 
efficiencies cannot be made, the Party incurring such unforeseen costs shall 
be entitled to claim a refund of such costs from the Management Board, who 
shall pay such sums as agreed by the Parties. 

 

19.2 If the cost of providing the Services is higher than predicted and as such the 
profits derived are less than forecast, the Parties shall take all reasonable 
steps to mitigate any such reductions in income to achieve the forecast 
profits. If this is not possible, any shortfall incurred by the Parties will be met 
by the Project Fund, where possible. 

 

19.3 Nothing in this Clause 19 shall restrict or limit a Party's general obligation at 
law to mitigate a loss or expense it may suffer or incur that may give rise to 
a claim from the Project Fund. 

 

20 Gain Share 
 

20.1 The provisions governing Gain Share shall apply where the actual cost of 
providing the Services is less than original estimated and set out in the 
Contract. Any amounts accrued as a result of Gain Share will be held in the 
Project Fund and dealt with in accordance with Clause 6. Any payments due 
to LCC under the Contract in connection with Gain Share shall be paid by the 
Lead Council from the Project Fund. Any Gain Share accrued shall be notified 
by each Delivery Partner Council to the Lead Council following a review of 
their quarterly financial reports. 

 

21 Additional Volume Payments 
 

21.1 If the volume of Services provided by the Delivery Partner Councils exceeds 
levels originally estimated under the Contract, an additional payment shall be 
made for the provision of such additional Services to the Project Fund in 

Page 53



 

 

accordance with the terms of the Contract and shall be dealt with in 
accordance with Clause 6. 

 

21.2 If a Delivery Partner Council has incurred additional costs in providing the 
increased volume of Services, it shall provide evidence of such costs to the 
Management Board and, subject to the Management Board's consent, shall be 
refunded such costs from the Project Fund, limited to the amount of 
Additional Volume Payments received from LCC. 

 

21.3 Any overspend incurred by the Delivery Partner Councils as a result of the 
amount of Additional Volume Payments received from LCC being less than the 
additional costs incurred by the Delivery Partner Councils in providing the 
increased volume of Services shall be met Proportionally by the Delivery 
Partner Councils. 

 

21.4 If additional full time employees are required as a result of an increase in the 
volume of Services, the cost of employing such additional employees shall be 
paid by NKDC and the Lead Council directly and NKDC and the Lead Council 
shall jointly and severally indemnify all other Parties against all direct 
liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses suffered or incurred by the 
other Parties arising out of or in connection with the requirement for such 
additional full time employees. 

 

22 Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 
 

22.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Services may include Regulated Activity and 
the Parties may constitute a Regulated Activity Provider. Where a Party is a 
Regulated Activity Provider with ultimate responsibility for the management 
and control of a Regulated Activity provided under the Contract for the 
purposes of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 then that Party 
shall: 

 

22.1.1 ensure that all individuals engaged in Regulated Activity are 
subject to a valid enhanced disclosure check for Regulated 
Activity undertaken through the Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS); and 

 

22.1.2 monitor the level and validity of the checks under this Clause 
22 for each member of staff; 

 

22.1.3 not employ or use the services of any person who is barred 
from, or whose previous conduct or records indicate that he 
or she would not be suitable to carry out Regulated Activity or 
who may otherwise present a risk to service users. 

 

22.2 The Party who is a Regulated Activity Provider shall immediately notify the 
other Parties of any information that they may reasonably request to enable 
them to be satisfied that the obligations of this Clause 22 have been met. 

 

22.3 The Party shall refer information about any person carrying out the Services 
to the DBS where it removes permission for such person to carry out the 
Services (or would have, if such person had not otherwise ceased to carry out 
the Services) because, in its opinion, such person has harmed or poses a risk 
of harm to the service users. 

Page 54



 

 

22.4 The Parties shall adopt suitable, agreed, policies and procedures to ensure 
each Party’s compliance with the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 
and this Clause 22. Until such policies and procedures are agreed and adopted, 
the Parties shall have and shall maintain in place its own policies and 
procedures, to ensure compliance with the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups 
Act 2006 and this Clause 22.4 and will enforce then where appropriate. 

 

23 Prevention of Bribery 
 

23.1 Each Party shall in relation to this Agreement: 
 

23.1.1 comply with all applicable laws, statutes, regulations, and codes 
relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption including but not limited 
to the Bribery Act 2010 (“Relevant Requirements”); 

 

23.1.2 not engage in any activity, practice or conduct which would 
constitute an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 of the Bribery Act 2010 
if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK; 

 

23.1.3 have and shall maintain in place throughout the Term its own policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to adequate procedures 
under the Bribery Act 2010, to ensure compliance with the Relevant 
Requirements and this Clause 23.1.2, and will enforce them where 
appropriate; 

 

23.1.4 promptly report to all other Parties any request or demand for any 
undue financial or other advantage of any kind received by it in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement; 

 

23.1.5 immediately notify any of the other Parties (in writing) if a foreign 
public official becomes an officer or employee of it and warrants 
that it has no foreign public officials as officers or employees at the 
Commencement Date; 

 

23.1.6 within 3 (three) months of the Commencement Date, and annually 
thereafter, each Party shall certify to all other Parties in writing 
signed by one of its officers, compliance with this Clause 20 by it and 
all persons associated with it under Clause 23.2. Each Party shall 
provide such supporting evidence of compliance as another Party 
may reasonably request. 

 

23.2 Each Party shall ensure that any person associated with it who is performing 
obligations in connection with this Agreement or the Contract does so only on 
the basis of a written contract which imposes on and secures from such person 
terms equivalent to those imposed on that Party in this Clause 23.2 (“Relevant 
Terms”). Such Party shall be responsible for the observance and performance 
by such persons of the Relevant Terms, and shall be directly liable to the other 
Parties for any breach by such persons of any of the Relevant Terms. 

 

23.3 Breach of this Clause 17.1 shall be deemed a Material Breach. 

Page 55



 

 

23.4 For the purpose of this Clause 17.1, the meaning of adequate procedures and 
foreign public official and whether a person is associated with another person 
shall be determined in accordance with section 7(2) of the Bribery Act 2010 
(and any guidance issued under section 9 of that Act), sections 6(5) and 6(6) 
of that Act and section 8 of that Act respectively. For the purposes of this 
Clause 17.1, a person associated with a Party includes but is not limited to 
any subcontractor of that Party. 

 

24 Warranties 
 

24.1 Each Party warrants that: 
 

24.1.1 it has full power and authority to carry out the actions contemplated 
under this Agreement; 

 

24.1.2 its entry into and performance under the terms of this Agreement 
will not infringe the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party 
or cause it to be in breach of any obligations to a third party; and 

 

24.1.3 so far as it is aware, all information, data and materials provided by 
it under this Agreement will be accurate and complete in all material 
respects, and it is entitled to provide the same to the other without 
recourse to any third party; 

 

24.2 Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, there are no conditions, 
warranties or other terms binding on the Parties with respect to the actions 
contemplated by this Agreement. Any condition, warranty or other term in 
this regard that might otherwise be implied or incorporated into this 
Agreement, whether by statute, common law or otherwise, is, to the extent 
that it is lawful to do so, excluded by this Agreement. 

 

25 Indemnity 
 

25.1 Each Party (Indemnifying Party) shall indemnify all other Parties (Indemnified 
Party) against all direct liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses 
(including but not limited to any direct, , penalties and legal  costs (calculated 
on a full indemnity basis) and all other reasonable professional costs and 
expenses) suffered or incurred by the Indemnified Party arising out of or in 
connection with: 

 

25.1.1 any claim made against the Indemnified Party for actual or alleged 
infringement of a third party's Intellectual Property Rights arising out 
of or in connection with the Indemnified Party’s use in accordance 
with this Agreement of Intellectual Property Rights licensed to it by 
the Indemnifying Party under Clause 16.2; 

 

25.1.2 any claim (to the extent such claim had not resulted in a Service 
Credit pursuant to Clause 8 of this Agreement) made against the 
Lead Council for actual or alleged breach of the Contract arising out 
of the Indemnifying Party’s role under this Agreement; 

 

25.1.3 any claim made against the Indemnified Party as a result of the 
Indemnifying Party’s failure to comply with Data Protection 
Legislation. 

Page 56



 

 

25.2 This indemnity shall not cover the Indemnified Party to the extent that a claim 
under it results from the Indemnified Party's negligence or wilful misconduct. 

 

25.3 Liability under this indemnity is conditional on the Indemnified Party 
discharging the following obligations. If any third party makes a claim, or 
notifies an intention to make a claim, against the Indemnified Party which 
may reasonably be considered likely to give rise to a liability under this 
indemnity (Claim), the Indemnified Party shall: 

 

25.3.1 as soon as reasonably practicable, give written notice of the Claim 
to the Indemnifying Party, specifying the nature of the Claim in 
reasonable detail; 

 

25.3.2 not make any admission of liability, agreement or compromise in 
relation to the Claim without the prior written consent of the 
Indemnifying Party, provided that the Indemnified Party may settle 
the Claim (after giving prior written notice of the terms of 
settlement (to the extent legally possible) to the Indemnifying Party, 
but without obtaining the Indemnifying Party's consent) if the 
Indemnified Party reasonably believes that failure to settle the Claim 
would be prejudicial to it in any material respect; 

 

25.3.3 give the Indemnifying Party and its professional advisers access at 
reasonable times (on reasonable prior notice) to its premises and its 
officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives or advisers, 
and to any relevant assets, accounts, documents and records within 
the power or control of the Indemnified Party, so as to enable the 
Indemnifying Party and its professional advisers to examine them and 
to take copies (at the indemnifying Party's expense) for the purpose 
of assessing the Claim; and 

 

25.3.4 subject to the Indemnifying Party providing security to the 
Indemnified Party to the Indemnified Party's reasonable satisfaction 
against any claim, liability, costs, expenses, damages or losses which 
may be incurred, take such action as the Indemnifying Party may 
reasonably request to avoid, dispute, compromise or defend the 
Claim. 

 

25.4 If a payment due from the Indemnifying Party under this clause is subject to 
tax (whether by way of direct assessment or withholding at its source), the 
Indemnified Party shall be entitled to receive from the Indemnifying Party 
such amounts as shall ensure that the net receipt, after tax, to the 
Indemnified Party in respect of the payment is the same as it would have been 
were the payment not subject to tax. 

 

25.5 Nothing in this clause shall restrict or limit the Indemnified Party's general 
obligation at law to mitigate a loss it may suffer or incur as a result of an 
event that may give rise to a claim under this indemnity. 

 

26 Insurance 
 

During the term of this Agreement and for a period of six years thereafter, each Party shall 
maintain in force, with a reputable insurance company, professional indemnity insurance, 
employer’s liability and public liability insurance in an amount not less than 

Page 57



 

 

£10,000,000 and shall, on the other Party's request, produce both the insurance certificate 
giving details of cover and the receipt for the current year's premium. 

 

27 Limitation and exclusion of liability 
 

27.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or exclude a Party's liability: 
 

27.1.1 for death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its 
employees, agents or Sub-Contractors; 

 

27.1.2 for fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation; 
 

27.1.3 for breach of any obligation as to title or quiet possession implied by 
statute; 

 

27.1.4 for any other act, omission, or liability which may not be limited or 
excluded by law; or 

 

27.1.5 the indemnity given in Clause 25. 
 

27.2 Subject to Clause 27.1, none of the Parties shall have any liability to any of 
the other Parties, whether in contract, tort (including negligence), breach of 
statutory duty, or otherwise, for any loss of profit, or for any indirect or 
consequential loss arising under or in connection with the Agreement. 

 

27.3 Subject to Clause 27.1, a Party's total liability to any of the other Parties, 
whether in contract, tort (including negligence), breach of statutory duty, or 
otherwise, arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be limited 
to 100% of the Payments received by that Party, or in the case of the Lead 
Party, 100% of the value of the Services provided by the Lead Party. 

 

27.4 The Parties expressly agree that if any limitation or provision contained or 
expressly referred to in this Clause 27 is held to be invalid under any 
applicable statute or rule of law, it shall, to that extent, be deemed omitted 
in accordance with Clause 36. 

 

28 Dispute Resolution 
 

28.1 If a dispute arises out of or in connection with this Agreement or the 
performance, validity or enforceability of it (Dispute) then the Parties shall 
follow the procedure set out in this clause: 

 

28.1.1 each Party shall give written notice of the Dispute to the 
Management Board, setting out the nature of the Dispute and full 
particulars (Dispute Notice), together with relevant supporting 
documents. On service of the Dispute Notice, the Parties shall 
attempt in good faith to resolve the Dispute; 

 

28.1.2 if the Parties are for any reason unable to resolve the Dispute within 
30 days of service of the Dispute Notice, the Dispute shall be referred 
to the Parties’ Head of Paid Service (or alternative senior 
Representative) who shall attempt in good faith to resolve it; and 

 

28.1.3 if the Parties’ Head of Paid Service are for any reason unable to 
resolve the Dispute within 30 days of it being referred to them, the 

Page 58



 

 

Parties will attempt to settle it by mediation in accordance with 
Clause 29 (Mediation). 

 

28.2 The commencement of mediation shall not prevent the Parties commencing 
or continuing court or arbitration proceedings in relation to the Dispute. 

 

29 Mediation 
 

29.1 If any dispute arises in connection with this Agreement that is not settled in 
accordance with Clause 28, the Parties will attempt to settle it by mediation 
in accordance with the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR) Model 
Mediation Procedure. Unless otherwise agreed between the Parties, the 
mediator will be nominated by CEDR. To initiate the mediation a Party must 
give notice in writing (ADR notice) to the other Parties to the dispute 
requesting mediation. A copy of the request should be sent to CEDR. 

 

29.2 The mediation will start not later than 30 days after the date of the ADR 
notice. The commencement of mediation will not prevent the Parties 
commencing or continuing court proceedings or arbitration. 

 

30 Termination of Agreement 
 

30.1 Without affecting any other right or remedy available to it, ELDC may remove 
one Party (Breaching Party) from this Agreement by giving written notice to 
all Parties: 

 

30.1.1 if the Breaching Party commits a Material Breach of this Agreement 
which breach is irremediable or (if such breach is remediable) fails 
to remedy that breach within a period of thirty days or other 
reasonable period after being notified in writing to do so; 

 

30.1.2 if the Breaching Party does or fails to do, anything which puts ELDC 
in breach of the Contract and would give LCC the right to terminate 
the Contract; or 

 

30.1.3 in accordance with Clause 32 (Force Majeure) where the Breaching 
Party suffers a Force Majeure Event. 

 

30.2 Without affecting any other right or remedy available to it, the non- breaching 
Parties may together terminate this Agreement with immediate effect or 
remove a Breaching Party from this Agreement by giving written notice to all 
Parties if a Breaching Party repeatedly breaches any of the terms of this 
Agreement in such a manner as to reasonably justify the opinion that its 
conduct is inconsistent with it having the intention or ability to give effect to 
the terms of this Agreement. The non-breaching Parties may only exercise this 
right if they have first followed the Dispute Resolution Process set out in 
Clause 24 and the Mediation process set out in Clause 25: 

 

30.3 For the purposes of Clause 30.1.1, Material Breach means a breach (including 
an anticipatory breach) that is serious in the widest sense of having a serious 
effect on the benefit which the terminating Party would otherwise derive 
from: 

 

30.3.1 a substantial portion of this Agreement; or 

Page 59



 

 

30.3.2 as described in Clause 3.3 and 19.3 or elsewhere in this Agreement. 
 

 

30.4      This Agreement shall terminate automatically upon expiry of the Contract for the Services.  

 

 

31 Consequences of termination 
 

31.1 On termination of this Agreement, the following clauses shall continue in 
force: 

 

31.1.1 Clause 1 (Interpretation); 
 

31.1.2 Clause 9 (Invoicing); 
 

31.1.3 Clause 10 (Set-off); 
 

31.1.4 Clause 12 (Confidentiality) (subject to Clause 13 Freedom of 
Information; 

 

31.1.5 Clause 14 (Data protection); 
 

31.1.6 Clause 16 (Intellectual property); 
 

31.1.7 Clause 24.1.2 and Clause 24.2 (Warranties); 
 

31.1.8 Clause 25 (Indemnity); 
 

31.1.9 Clause 26 (Insurance); 
 

31.1.10 Clause 27 (Limitation and exclusion of liability); 
 

31.1.11 Clause 29 (Mediation); 
 

31.1.12 Clause 31 (Consequences of termination); 
 

31.1.13 Clause 32 (Force majeure); 
 

31.1.14 Clause 35 (Notices); 
 

31.1.15 Clause 36 (Severance); 
 

31.1.16 Clause 37 (No partnership or agency); 
 

31.1.17 Clause 38 (Rights and remedies); 
 

31.1.18 Clause 39 (Inadequacy of damages); 
 

31.1.19 Clause 40 (Waiver); 
 

31.1.20 Clause 41 (Third party rights); 
 

31.1.21 Clause 44 (Entire Agreement); 
 

31.1.22 Clause 45 (Governing law); and 
 

31.1.23 Clause 46 (Jurisdiction). 
 

31.2 Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights, remedies, 
obligations or liabilities of the Parties that have accrued up to the date of 

Commented [PC2]: As instructed  

Page 60



 

 

termination, including the right to claim damages in respect of any breach 
of the Agreement which existed at or before the date of termination. 

 

31.3 On termination of this Agreement, each Party shall as soon as reasonably 
practicable and where reasonably required: 

 

31.3.1 return or destroy all documents, handbooks, or other information or 
data provided to it by the another Party for the purposes of this 
Agreement; and 

 

31.3.2 return all equipment and materials belonging to another Party, 
failing which, the owning Party may enter the relevant premises and 
take possession of them. 

 

32 Force majeure 
 

32.1 No Party shall be in breach of this Agreement nor liable for delay in 
performing, or failure to perform, any of its obligations under this Agreement 
if such delay or failure result from events, circumstances or causes beyond its 
reasonable control (Force Majeure Event). In such circumstances the affected 
Party shall give notice to all other Parties immediately upon becoming aware 
of the Force Majeure Event and shall use all reasonable endeavours to mitigate 
the effect of the Force Majeure Event on the performance of its obligations. 

 

32.2 Where a Force Majeure Event effects the provision of the Services for more 
than three (3) months and the Contract is terminated, this Collaboration 
Agreement may also be terminated by any Party serving written notice on all 
Parties. 

 

32.3 Where a Force Majeure Event effects the provision of the Services by a Party 
for more than two (2) months so that the Party is unable to perform the 
majority of their obligations under this Agreement or where ELDC reasonably 
believe the continuance of the Force Majeure Event and the related failure of 
the Party to provide the Services will result in the Contract being terminated, 
ELDC may temporarily replace the Party suffering the Force Majeure Event 
with a supplier of its choice until the Party can again provide the Services in 
accordance with this Agreement. Where ELDC reasonably believes the Party 
will be unable to again provide the Services, ELDC may replace the Party with 
an alternative supplier and remove the Party suffering the Force Majeure 
Event from this Agreement by written notice to that Party. 

 

32.4 Where a Party is suffering a Force Majeure Event and as such is temporarily 
replaced in accordance with Clause 32.3, the Lead Council shall indemnify 
that Party suffering the Force Majeure Event against all direct liabilities, 
costs, expenses, damaged and losses suffered or incurred by that Party arising 
out of or in connection with the provision of the relevant Services by the 
temporary supplier. 

 

33 Assignment and other dealings 
 

33.1 No Party shall assign, transfer, mortgage, charge, subcontract, declare a trust 
over or deal in any other manner with any or all of its rights and 

Page 61



 

 

obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 
other Parties. 

 

34 Variation 
 

34.1 No variation of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and 
signed by all of the Parties (or their authorised representatives). 
 

34.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Schedules in this Agreement shall be updated 
from time to time by the Management Board, such changes shall be effective 
once in writing and signed by all of the Parties (or their authorised 
representatives).  

A 

35 Notices 
 

35.1 A notice given to a Party under or in connection with this Agreement shall be 
in writing and sent to the Party at the postal address or DX number or to the 
email address given in this Agreement or as otherwise notified in writing to 
other Party. 

 

35.2 The following table sets out methods by which a notice may be sent and, if 
sent by that method, the corresponding deemed delivery date and time: 

 

Delivery method Deemed delivery date and time 

Delivery by hand. On signature of a delivery receipt or at 
the time the notice is left at the 
address. 

Pre-paid first class recorded delivery 
post or other next working day delivery 
service providing proof of delivery. 

At the time recorded by the delivery 

service. 

Email At the time of transmission subject to 
the sender either (i) receiving a valid 
read receipt sent by the recipient of the 
notice or (ii) no notice is sent to the 
sender notifying them of any failure in 
the sending of the email. 

Document exchange (DX). 9.00 am on the second Working Day 
after being put into the DX. 

35.3 For the purpose of Clause 31.2 and calculating deemed receipt: 
 

35.3.1 all references to time are to local time in the place of deemed 
receipt; and 

 

35.3.2 if deemed receipt would occur in the place of deemed receipt on a 
Saturday or Sunday or a public holiday when banks are not open for 
business, deemed receipt is deemed to take place at 9.00 am on the 
day when business next starts in the place of receipt. 

 

35.4 This Clause does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other 
documents in any legal action or, where applicable, any arbitration or other 
method of dispute resolution. 

 

35.5 A notice given under this Agreement is not valid if sent by fax. 
 

Commented [PC3]: As instructed  

Page 62



 

 

36 Severance 

Page 63



 

 

36.1 If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable, it shall be deemed modified to the minimum extent 
necessary to make it valid, legal and enforceable. If such modification is not 
possible, the relevant provision or part-provision shall be deemed deleted. 
Any modification to or deletion of a provision or part-provision under this 
Clause shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the rest of this 
Agreement. 

 

36.2 If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to amend such 
provision so that, as amended, it is legal, valid and enforceable, and, to the 
greatest extent possible, achieves the intended commercial result of the 
original provision. 

 

37 No partnership or agency 
 

37.1 Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any 
partnership between any of the Parties, constitute any Party the agent of 
another Party, or authorise any party to make or enter into any commitments 
for or on behalf of any other Party. 

 

37.2 Each Party confirms it is acting on its own behalf and not for the benefit of 
any other person. 

 

37.3 Each Party is responsible for its own tax and accounting obligations. 
 

38 Rights and remedies 
 

The rights and remedies provided under this Agreement are in addition to, and not 
exclusive of, any rights or remedies provided by law. 

 

39 Inadequacy of damages 
 

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies that any Party may have, each 
Party acknowledges and agrees that damages alone may not be an adequate remedy 
for a breach of the terms of this Agreement. Accordingly, the non-defaulting Parties 
shall be entitled to the remedies of injunction, specific performance or other 
equitable relief for any threatened or actual breach of the terms of this Agreement. 

 

40 Waiver 
 

40.1 A waiver of any right or remedy under this Agreement or by law is only 
effective if given in writing and shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
subsequent breach or default. 

 

40.2 A failure or delay by a Party to exercise any right or remedy provided under 
this Agreement or by law shall not constitute a waiver of that or any other 
right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict any further exercise of that or 
any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy 
provided under this Agreement or by law shall prevent or restrict the further 
exercise of that or any other right or remedy. 

 

 
41 Third party rights 

Page 64



 

 

41.1 Except as expressly provided elsewhere in this Agreement, a person who is 
not a party to this Agreement shall not have any rights under the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Agreement. 

 

41.2 Unless it expressly states otherwise, this Agreement does not give rise to any 
rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any 
term of this Agreement. 

 

41.3 The rights of the Parties to rescind or vary this Agreement are not subject to 
the consent of any other person. 

 

42 Further assurance 
 

Each Party shall, and shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that any 
necessary third party shall, promptly execute and deliver such documents and 
perform such acts as may reasonably be required for the purpose of giving full effect 
to this Agreement. 

 

43 Costs 
 

Costs incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this 
Agreement shall be borne Proportionately by the Parties. 

 

Each Party shall pay its own costs incurred in connection with the negotiation, 
preparation, and execution of any other documents or advice taken in respect of this 
Agreement or throughout the duration of this Agreement. 

 

44 Entire Agreement 
 

44.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the Parties and 
supersedes and extinguishes all previous drafts, agreements, arrangements 
and understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its 
subject matter. 

 

44.2 Each Party agrees that it shall have no remedies in respect of any 
representation or warranty (whether made innocently or negligently) that is 
not set out in this Agreement. No Party shall have any claim for innocent or 
negligent misrepresentation based on any statement in this Agreement. 

 

45 Governing law 
 

This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its 
subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England. 

 

46 Jurisdiction 
 

Each Party irrevocably agrees that, subject to Clause 42 (Mediation), the courts of 
England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim arising out of 
or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation (including 
non-contractual disputes or claims). 

Page 65



 

 

Schedule 1 Delivery Partner Roles 
 

Commented [PC4]: To be substituted with your 
updated Schedule 1 

Page 66



 

 

Schedule 2 Staffing Structure 

Starts over the page 

Commented [PC5]: To be substituted with your new 
Schedule 2  

Page 67



 

 

 

Draft Staffing Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Service Integration Lead    
NKDC – Fiona Jones 

Wellbeing Service Manager 
SCP 44-49 £40-£45k, ELDC 

post 

Service Integration Lead 
ELDC – Jason Oxby 

Service Integration Lead 
WLDC – Michelle Howard 

 
 
 

  NKDC   WLDC  

 

Senior Assessment & 
Intervention Officers (South) 

x 2 SCP 29-31 
£26-£31k 

Senior Assessment & 
Intervention Officers (North) 

x 2 SCP 29-34 
£26-£31k 

Senior Operations Officer x 1 
SCP 24-29 
£22-26k 

Senior Partnerships & 
Network Officer x 1 

SCP 29-33 
£26-£30k 

 
 
 
 

Trusted Assessors (South) x 6 
SCP 24-29 
£22-26k 

Trusted Assessors (North) x 6 
SCP 24-29 
£22-£26k 

Orchard System Admin 
X 1 

SCP 24-29 
£22-26k 

Partnerships and Network 
Development Officers x 4 

SCP 25-28 
£23-£25k 

 
 

Generic Support Officers 
(South) x 10 
SCP 14-19 
£18-19k 

Generic Support Officers 
(North) x 9 
SCP 14-19 
£18-£19k 

 

Compliance Support Officer 
x 1 

SCP 19-24 
£19-£22k 

 

Hospital In-Reach 
   Development Officers x 2 

SCP 25-28 
£23-£25k 

 
 
 

SADL & Minor Adaptation 
Officers x 2.5 

SCP 14-17 
£17-18k 

 
 

 
Wellbeing Hub Assistants 

x 1 
SCP 9-14 
£17-18k 

 
Response & Resettlement 

Officers x 20 (including 
some permanent nights, 

numbers to be determined) 
SCP 9-14 
£17-£18k 

Single countywide delivery 

Wellbeing Hub Assistants 
x 5 

SCP 9-14 
£17-18k 

 
 
 

 
Wellbeing Apprenticeships 

2 Post based on £14.5K 

 

Insight & Trend Analyst x 1 
   SCP 25-28 

£23-25k 
 
 
 

 
Wellbeing Apprenticeships 

1 Post based on £14.5K 

ELDC 
 

Call Centre Operators 
3 FTE on SCP21 (CofL) 

  CofL  

KEY 
SCP = Spinal Column Point 

 

= Enhanced DBS Required 
 

= Standard DBS Required (Scottish) 

P
age 68



 

 

Schedule 3 Partnership Financial Model 
 

Project fund 
 

ELDC shall receive the Service Charges under the Contract and will hold these in the Project 
Fund. 

 

Payments will be made from LCC to ELDC on a monthly basis, payment based on 1/12 of 
contract value for the year. These payments will be made in arrears (see payment schedule 
for details). 

 

Payments to Delivery Partners to be made by ELDC on a quarterly basis in arrears. Payment 
to be made 13 working days post end of the quarter, this is based on actual information 
from delivery partners been with ELDC within 8 working days of quarter end (see payment 
schedule for details of dates). 

 

All Payments to be made by bacs transfer. All payments are standard rated for VAT purposes 
(the amounts within the schedule are net of VAT). 

 

Payments to Delivery Partners (on a quarterly basis) will be the lower of the contractual 
amount (as per the payments schedule) and actual costs. This will be done on an 
accumulative basis, for example, lower of net actual costs to end of quarter 2 and net 
contract value to end of quarter 2 (as per figures within schedule). This process is on an 
annual basis, no carry over to future years. 

 

Where actuals are higher or lower than the contractually anticipated amounts (as per 
payment schedule) the delivery partners needs to provide an explanation. This is so we can 
establish if the over/under spend against the contractual value is due to profiling, 
legitimate under spend (which will form part of the Gain share) or envisaged overspend. 
This will also form part of the quarterly analysis provided to the Management Board. 

 

In instances where there the difference is due to: 
 

- Profiling: 

There will be no further action required over and above explanation. 
 

- Legitimate underspends: 

Details will be required to ascertain where underspend has been generated from. 
 

If the underspend relates to staff costs due to appointment of officers at lower salary scale 
points then envisaged then underspend will be retained within project fund and delivered 
100% directly to LCC. 

 

All other underspend will form part of the Gain share arrangements. Payment to LCC in 
relation to will be based on the contracted percentages (as set out within contract with 
LCC). Partnership Gain shares will be retained within the Project fund for reinvestment. 

 

- Legitimate overspends: 

Details will be required to ascertain where, how and why overspend has occurred. 
 

If the overspend relates to ‘unforeseen costs’ then this will be reported to Management 
Board: 

Commented [PC6]: To be substituted with your new 
Schedule 3  

Page 69



 

 

Management board will then review to establish if these additional costs can be mitigated 
by efficiencies elsewhere within contract. 

 

If the additional costs cannot be mitigated the Management Board would have to agree to 
and make an allocation from the retained project fund (Profit + Gain Share) for the period 
of overspend (backdated and also provision made for future costs). Please see scenarios 
where by this would not be possible within financial risks. 

 

Project fund retained 
 

The project fund retained is the balance built up from: 
 

- Profit element within contract – 3.5% 

- Retained Gain Share 

- Additional volume payments (where no additional costs are demonstrated) 

These amounts are to be retained for investment purposes within the service. Any 
investments proposals are to be agreed at the Management Board. 

 

No investments can be made until financial risks within the service are identified and a 
prudent provision has been made within the project fund to offset. 

 

Investments cannot be to the detriment of the balance on the Project fund. In simple terms 
the levels of investment required must not exceed the balance retained at any point in time 
on the project (see payment schedule for anticipated balance). 

 

If delivery partners wish to accelerate investment beyond profiled balances within the 
project fund (see payment schedule for estimated balances) the required funding gap must 
be forthcoming from delivery partners and will be repaid when the project fund balance is 
sufficient to pay. This would be a Management Board decision, followed by a Management 
Board request to delivery partners. 

 

Any balances within the project fund retained at the end of the life of the contract will be: 
 

- Reinvested into the borough, decision to be made by Management Board 

- If no agreement for reinvestment can be found within 90 days of end of the 

contract the balance is to be shared amongst deliver partners based on the 

percentages split for the gross contract value. Please see Gross contractual Value 

addendum. 

Gain Share 
 

Gain share applies to any underspends against the contractual values that we are working 
to within the schedule of payments & LCC contract. The Gain shares will be held within 
project fund (delivery partners paid on actuals). Any payments to LCC in respect of Gain 
share will be paid to LCC by ELDC from the project fund. 

 

Payments to LCC in relation to Gain share will be split using the percentages as prescribed 
within the contract with LCC. Gain Shares that relates to staff costs due to appointment of 
officers at lower salary scale points then envisaged the underspend will be retained within 
project fund and delivered 100% directly to LCC. 

 

Delivery partners will identify gain share within their quarterly financial reports to ELDC. 

Page 70



 

 

Additional Volume Payments 
 

If the delivery partnership exceed estimated volumes within the contract with LCC an 
additional payment will be made to the partnership based on the additional volumes rates 
applicable. 

 

Where a delivery partner can demonstrate additional costs as a direct result of increased 
volumes above estimated they will have the right to make a claim for those additional actual 
costs they have suffered. 

 

The claim will be made to the Management Board who will have to make the decision as to 
whether to make any additional payment to the delivery partner. The payment to the 
delivery partner will be limited to a maximum of the actual additional volumes payment 
made by LCC. 

 

Any monies that is not required/agreed to be pass ported to delivery partners as a result of 
the additional volumes will be retained with the Project fund to be allocated to investments 
(post assessment of financial risks as with all elements of the retained project fund). 

 

 
Risks identified and their agreed treatment 

 

Below are the financial risks identified within the contract, these risks are to be quantified 
financially so that a prudent assessment can be made of each. 

 

The financial assessment of risks will have to be mitigated (committed to) from the retained 
project fund before any monies can be released for investment purposes. 

 

In the scenario whereby the retained project fund has been exhausted risks that have below 
been identified as having a call on the retained project fund will be shared between delivery 
partners based on the Gross contractual value percentage splits (see Gross contractual value 
addendum for splits) 

 

Risks and how they will be dealt with are broken down below: 
 

- Redundancy 

Redundancy at contract commencement will be split and funded 50/50 by ELDC and NKDC 
from their surpluses on the current service they deliver. No call on the retained project 
fund. 

 

Redundancy during and at contract cessation will be met from the retained project fund. 
Assessment to be carried out by delivery partners with a prudent financial commitment held 
against the retained project fund. 

 

Redundancy calculations and payments will be based on the individual partner’s policies. 
 

- Additional Volumes payment not sufficient to meet additional cost 

When additional volume costs as a direct result of increased volumes exceed the payment 
prompted within the contract from LCC these costs will have to be suffered at source by the 
delivery partner(s) responsible for this service. No call on the retained project fund. 

 

- FTE creep 

Page 71



 

 

Any additional staffing costs due to increases in volume included in the core contract can 
be put forward as a claim to the Management Board who may agree to reimburse them from 
the Project Fund. 

 

- VAT 

VAT risk over the contract as a whole is to be assessed by HMRC at the start of the contract. 
The risk relating to contractual VAT should it occur is to be met from the retained project 
fund. 

 

VAT risk on individual delivery partners as a result of impact on their own VAT partial 
exemption will be suffered by the individual authority. No call on the retained project fund. 

 

- Inflation 

Inflation within the contract is built in at 2% for Employee costs and 0% for all other costs. 
Where inflation rises above the rates included with the contract these costs are to be 
mitigated by efficiencies found elsewhere. 

 

As a last resort a claim can be made to the Management Board to support these increased 
costs from the retained project fund. 

 

- Pay Awards/Living wage 

Inflation on pay has been included within the contract at 2% per annum. There is a provision 
within our contractual figures of £97,000 per annum for staff cost contingency to meet 
additional costs of Pay. Any underspend against the contingency will be pass ported 100% to 
LCC. 

 

If the contingency is not sufficient to meet costs then a claim can be made to the 
Management Board to cover costs from the retained project fund. 

 

- Income levels not achieved 

First port of call would be to mitigate reductions in income with like for like reductions in 
expenditure. In the instance that income reductions cannot be met fully from reductions in 
related expenditure then a claim can be made to the Management Board to cover costs from 
the retained project fund. 

 

- Service Credits 

Charges against the contract from LCC in relation to service credits will be met initially from 
the retained project fund. Management Board and delivery partners responsible for 
identifying issues causing under performance against P.I and mitigating any future risks. 
Management board retain the right to charge to partners where deemed appropriate. 

 

- Unforeseen costs 

A claim will have to be made to Management board who will then review to establish if 
these additional costs can be mitigated by efficiencies elsewhere within contract. 

 

If the additional costs cannot be mitigated the Management Board will seek to cover costs 
from the retained project fund. 

 

- Sickness and Maternity 

Page 72



 

 

In instances whereby the service is impacted by long term sickness and/or maternity leave 
the first priority is to seek to minimise impact on the service through closer working, 
absorbing the work throughout existing staff. 

 

In instances where this cannot be achieved a claim would have to be made to Management 
Board for additional resources. 

 

If the additional costs cannot be mitigated from efficiencies within the Management Board 
will seek to cover costs from the retained project fund. 

 

- Joint funded posts 

In the event that external funding is withdrawn or lost for a joint funded post the unfunded 
element remains the liability of the individual partner, no impact on project fund. 

Page 73



 

 

Schedule 4 The Services 

Separate document  

Commented [PC7]: To be substituted with your 
updated version  

Page 74



 

 

Schedule 5 Governance 

Separate document  

Commented [PC8]: To be substituted with your 
updated version  

Page 75



 

 

 
 

Schedule 6 Data Protection 
 
 

1. DEFINITIONS 

 
“Data Controller” Has the meaning given to ‘Data Controller’, or 

‘Controller’ as appropriate, in the Data Protection Laws; 

 

 
“Data Breach” Means a breach of security leading to the accidental or 

unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised 
disclosure of, or access to, Personal Data transmitted, 
stored or otherwise processed; 

 

 
“Data Processor” Has the meaning given to ‘Data Processor’, or 

‘Processor’ as appropriate, in the Data Protection Laws; 

 

 
“Data Protection Laws” Means any and all laws, statutes, enactments, orders 

or regulations or other similar instruments of general 
application and any other rules, instruments or 
provisions in force from time to time relating to the 
processing of personal data and privacy applicable to the 
performance of this Agreement, including where 
applicable the Data Protection Act 1998, the Data 
Protection Bill, the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000, the Privacy and Electronic Communications 
(EC Directive) Regulations 2003 (SI 2426/2003) and the 
GDPR (Regulation (EU) 2016/679), as amended or 
superseded; 

 

 
“GDPR” Means Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the 
protection of natural persons with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data, and repealing directive 95/46/EC as 
updated, superseded or repealed from the time to time; 

 

 

Commented [PC9]: I have updated the core Agreement 
DP definitions  but it looks from your e-mail you are 
updating this Schedule possibly with your own standard 
drafting? Please confirm.  

Page 76



 

 

“Personal Data” Has the meaning given in the Data Protection Laws. 

Page 77



 

 

2. DATA PROCESSING 

 
2.1. Where any Party (“Processing Party”), pursuant to this Agreement, processes 

Personal Data on behalf of another (“Owning Party”), the Processing Party 

acknowledges that Owning Party is the Data Controller and the owner of such 

Personal Data, and that the Processing Party is the Data Processor. 

 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH DATA PROTECTION LAWS 

 
3.1. The Data Processor warrants that it has complied, and shall continue to comply, 

with the requirements of the applicable Data Protection Laws and all other data 

protection legislation in any jurisdiction relevant to the exercise of its rights or the 

performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
 

4. DATA PROCESSING OBLIGATIONS 

 
4.1. In respect of any Personal Data to be processed by the Data Processor pursuant to 

this Agreement for which the Owning Party is Data Controller, the Data Processor 

shall: 

 
4.1.1. have in place and at all times maintain appropriate technical and 

organisational measures in such a manner as is designed to ensure the 

protection of the rights of the data subject and to ensure a level of security 

appropriate to the risk and shall implement any reasonable security measures 

as requested by the Owning Party from time to time; 

 
4.1.2. not engage any sub-processor without the prior specific or general written 

authorisation of the Owning Party (and in the case of general written 

authorisation; the Data Processor shall inform the Owning Party of any 

intended changes concerning the addition or replacement of other processors 

and the Owning Party shall have the right to object to such changes); 

 
4.1.3. ensure that each of the Data Processor’s employees, agents, consultants, 

subcontractors and sub-processors are made aware of the Data Processor’s 

obligations under this Schedule and enter into binding obligations with the 

Data Processor to maintain the levels of security and protection required 

under this Schedule. The Data Processor shall ensure that the terms of this 

Schedule are incorporated into each agreement with any sub-processor, 

subcontractor, agent or consultant to the effect that the sub-processor, 

subcontractor, agent or consultant shall be obligated to act at all times in 

accordance with duties and obligations of the Data Processor under this 

Schedule. The Data Processor shall at all times be and remain liable to the 

Owning Party for any failure of any employee, agent, consultant, 

subcontractor or sub-processor to act in accordance with the duties and 

obligations of the Data Processor under this Schedule; 

Page 78



 

 

4.1.4. process that Personal Data only on behalf of the Owning Party in accordance 

with the Owning Party’s instructions and to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement or other documented instructions and for no other purpose save 

to the limited extent required by law; 

 
4.1.5. (at no additional cost to the Owning Party) within 7 days following the end of 

the term of this Agreement, deliver to the Owning Party (in such format as 

the Owning Party may require) a full and complete copy of all Personal Data, 

and, following confirmation of receipt from the Owning Party, permanently 

remove the Personal Data (and copies) from the Data Processor’s systems, 

and the Data Processor shall certify to the Owning Party that it has complied 

with these requirements, and such Personal Data shall remain confidential in 

perpetuity; 

 
4.1.6. ensure that all persons authorised to access the Personal Data are subject to 

obligations of confidentiality and receive training to ensure compliance with 

this Agreement and the Data Protection Laws; 

 
4.1.7. make available to the Owning Party all information necessary to demonstrate 

compliance with the obligations laid out in Article 28 of GDPR and this 

Schedule and allow for and contribute to audits, including inspections, 

conducted by the Owning Party or another auditor mandated by the Owning 

Party, of the Data Processor’s data processing facilities, procedures and 

documentation (and the facilities, procedures and documentation of any sub-

processors) in order to ascertain compliance with this Schedule, within 5 

working days of request by the Owning Party, and, following any such audit, 

without prejudice to any other rights of the Owning Party, the Data Processor 

shall implement such measures which the Owning Party considers reasonably 

necessary to achieve compliance with the Data Processor’s obligations under 

this Schedule; provided that, in respect of this provision the Data Processor 

shall immediately inform the Owning Party if, in its opinion, an instruction 

infringes Data Protection Laws; 

 
4.1.8. taking into account the nature of the processing, provide assistance to the 

Owning Party, within such timescales as the Owning Party may require from 

time to time, in connection with the fulfilment of the Owning Party’s 

obligation as Data Controller to respond to requests for the exercise of data 

subjects’ rights pursuant to Chapter III of the GDPR to the extent applicable; 

 
4.1.9. provide the Owning Party with assistance in ensuring compliance with articles 

32 to 36 (inclusive) of the GDPR (concerning security of processing, data 

breach notification, communication of a personal data breach to the data 

subject, data protection impact assessments, and prior consultation with 

supervisory authorities) to the extent applicable to the Owning Party, 

Page 79



 

 

taking into account the nature of the processing and the information 

available to the Data Processor; 

 

4.1.10.(at no additional cost to the Owning Party) deal promptly and properly with 

all enquiries or requests from the Owning Party relating to the Personal  Data 

and the data processing activities, promptly provide to the Owning Party in 

such form as the Owning Party may request, a copy of any Personal Data 

requested by the Owning Party; 

 

4.1.11.(at no additional cost to the Owning Party) assist the Owning Party (where 

requested by the Owning Party) in connection with any regulatory or law 

enforcement authority audit, investigation or enforcement action in respect 

of the Personal Data; 

 

4.1.12. immediately notify the Owning Party in writing about : 

 

a) any Data Breach or any accidental loss, disclosure or unauthorised access 

of which the Data Processor becomes aware in respect of Personal Data 

that it processes on behalf of the Owning Party; 

b) any request for disclosure of the Personal Data by a law enforcement 

authority (unless otherwise prohibited); 

c) any access request or complaint received directly from a data subject 

(without responding other than to acknowledge receipt). 

 
4.1.13. maintain a record of its processing activities in accordance with Article 30 of 

the GDPR; 

 
4.1.14. indemnify the Owning Party against all liabilities, claims, costs, expenses, 

damages and losses (including any direct, indirect or consequential losses, loss 

of profit, loss of reputation and all interest, penalties and legal and other 

professional costs and expenses) suffered or incurred by the Owning Party or 

for which it may become liable as a result of or in connection with any failure 

of the Data Processor, its employees, agents, consultants, subcontractors or 

sub-processors to comply with this Schedule. 

 
 

5. INTERNATIONAL DATA TRANSFERS 

 
5.1. In respect of any Personal Data to be processed by a party acting as Data Processor 

pursuant to this Agreement for which the other party is Data Controller, the Data 

Processor shall not transfer the Personal Data outside the EEA or to an international 

organisation without: 

 
5.1.1. obtaining the written permission of the Data Controller; 

Page 80



 

 

5.1.2. ensuring appropriate levels of protection, including any appropriate 

safeguards if required, are in place for the Personal Data in accordance with 

the Data Protection Laws; 

 
5.1.3. notifying the Data Controller of the protections and appropriate safeguards 

in paragraph 5.1.2 above; 

 

5.1.4. documenting and evidencing the protections and appropriate safeguards in 

paragraph 5.1.2 above and allowing the Data Controller access to any relevant 

documents and evidence. 

 

6. DETAILS OF PROCESSING ACTIVITIES 

 
6.1. The following table sets out the details of processing as required by Article 28 of 

GDPR: 

 
DN: Article 28 requires contracts with data processors set out “the subject matter 

and duration of the processing, the nature and purpose of the processing, the 

type of personal data and categories of data subjects” We consider the 

information to be provided in the table below to be essential. 
 

Purposes for which the Personal 
Data shall be processed 

 

 
Please specify the purposes for which 
the Data Processor intends to process 
the Personal Data. 

To provide Wellbeing Services to 
Lincolnshire residents. 

Description of the categories of the 
data subjects 

 

 
Please specify the categories of data 
subject whose Personal Data shall be 
processed under this Agreement. 

Clients, Family Members, Landlords, Housing 
Provider. 

Description of the categories of 
Personal Data 

 

 
Please specify the categories of 
Personal Data that shall be processed 
under this Agreement. 

Name, Contact information, Date of Birth, 
NINO, Household Information, Family 
information, Housing Information, Medical 
information, Financial information, 
Nationality, GP detail, Disability information, 
Religion and Addictions. 

Page 81



 

 

Description of transfers of Personal 
Data to a country outside of the EEA 

 

 
Please record transfers of Personal 
Data outside of the EEA, recording the 
country and/or international 
organisation and, where applicable, 
please document suitable safeguards. 

Nil 

The envisaged time limits for 
erasure of the different categories 
of Personal Data 

 

 
Please specify how long you think the 
Personal Data will be retained for, 
where possible. 

10 Years 

General description of technical and 
organisational security measures 

 

 
Where possible, please describe the 
measures put in place under Article 
32(1) GDPR. 

Staff passwords, Limited Staff access, Cyber 
security provided by OT provider, Duty & 
confidentiality, Staff data protection training 
and policies. 

Authorised Sub-Processors 

 

 
List the sub-processors who will 
process Personal Data. 

CPBS (East Coast) Ltd who manage our IT 
Sysytems. 

Page 82



 

 

This Agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of it. 
 

EXECUTED as a Deed by affixing the 

Common Seal of City of Lincoln Council in 

the presence of : 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Authorised Signatory: 

 

EXECUTED as a Deed by affixing the 

Common  Seal  of East Lindsey District 

Council in the presence of : 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Authorised Signatory: 

 

EXECUTED as a Deed by affixing the 

Common Seal of North Kesteven District 

Council in the presence of : 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Authorised Signatory: 

 

EXECUTED as a Deed by affixing the 

Common  Seal  of West Lindsey District 

Council in the presence of : 

 

…………………………………………….. 

Authorised Signatory: 

Page 83



 

 

 
 

 

 
DATED                                                              2024 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Lincolnshire County Council (1) 

 and  

 East Lindsey District Council (2) 

 

 CONTRACT  
relating to the provision of  the countywide Wellbeing 
Service                                 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Legal Services Lincolnshire 

County Offices 

Newland 

LN1 1YL 

Page 84



 

 

Contents           

General Provisions 

A1 Def initions and Interpretation       

A2 Initial Contract Period         

A3 Supplier’s Status         

A4 Customer’s Obligations        

A5 Notices          

A6 Mistakes in Information        

A7 Conf licts of  Interest 

        

Supply of Services 

B1 The Services 

B1A Withholding and/or Discontinuation of  Services     

B1B Service Quality 

B1C Service User Involvement 

B2 Provision and Removal of  Equipment      

B3 Manner of  Carrying Out the Services      

B4 Key Personnel         

B5 Supplier’s Staf f           

B6 Customer's Assets     

B7 Offers of  Employment        

B8 TUPE and Pensions          

B9 Best Value  

B10 Service Improvement       

B11 Complaints 

B11A Incidents Requiring Reporting 

B12 Consent 

B13 Service User Records  

B14 Business Continuity 

B15 Co-Operation 

 

Payment and Service Charges 

C1 Service Charges         

C2 Payment and VAT         

C3 Recovery of  Sums Due        

C4 Service Charges Adjustment on Extension  

C5 Performance Management  

C6 Contract Management       

Page 85



 

 

Statutory Obligations and Regulations 

D1 Prohibited Acts and Prevention of  Bribery      

D2 Anti-Discrimination          

D3 The Contracts (Rights of  Third Parties) Act 1999    

D4 Environmental Requirements       

D5 Health and Safety         

D6 Safeguarding  

 

Protection of Information 

E1 Data Protection        

E2  Conf idential Information        

E3   Transparency and Freedom of  Information       

E4 Publicity, Media and Off icial Enquiries      

E5 Security          

E6 Intellectual Property Rights       

E7 Audit  

E8 Exceptional Audits 

E9 Audit Costs  

E10 Open Book Accountancy Requirements 

E11 Malicious Sof tware          

 

Control of the Contract 

F1 Transfer and Sub-Contracting       

F2 Waiver          

F3 Change Control Procedure        

F4 Severability          

F5 Remedies in the Event of  Inadequate Performance    

F6 Remedies Cumulative 

F7 Financial Assurance         

F8 Entire Agreement         

F9 Counterparts          

 

Liabilities 

G1 Liability, Indemnity and Insurance      

G2 Warranties and Representations       

 

Default, Disruption and Termination and Suspension 

H1 Termination on Insolvency and Change of  Control    

Page 86



 

 

H2 Termination on Default         

H3 Break           

H4 Consequences of  Expiry or Termination      

H5 Recovery upon Termination 

H6 Disruption           

H7 Improvement Plan Process    

H8 Suspension and Consequences of  Suspension       

 

Disputes and Law 

I1 Governing Law and Jurisdiction       

I2 Dispute Resolution         

 

SCHEDULES 

Schedule 1: Specif ication  

Schedule 2: Service Delivery Plan   

Schedule 3: Pricing Schedule 

  Part 1: Payment Mechanism 

  Part 2: Open Book Data and Financial Reporting  

  Part 3: Invoicing 

  Annex 1: Initial Financial Model       

Schedule 4: Commercially Sensitive Information Schedule 

Schedule 5: Performance Monitoring System 

  Annex A: Performance Measures and Service Credits  

Schedule 6: Key Personnel 

Schedule 7:  Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan 

Schedule 8: Minimum Information Security Standards 

Schedule 9: Exit Strategy Requirements

Page 87



 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made the       day of                                            2024   

 

BETWEEN 

(1) LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of  County Of f ices, Newland, Lincoln, LN1 1YL (the 
“Customer”) 

 
and 
 

(2) EAST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL of   The Hub, Mareham Road, Horncastle, LN9 6PH 
(the “Supplier”) 

 
WHEREAS 
 
The Customer requires the provision of  countywide wellbeing services and the Supplier has agreed 

to provide the same on the terms and conditions set out below. 

 
IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
A1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 
 
A1.1 In this Contract unless the context otherwise requires the following provisions shall have 

the meanings given to them below:- 
 

Approval means the prior written consent of  the Customer. 
 

Assets means any moveable property such as furniture, IT equipment and any other 
tangible item provided by the Customer for use by the Supplier in providing the Services.  

 
Authorised Person means the Customer and any body or person concerned with the 
provision of  the Services or care of  a Service User.  
 
Best Value means arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way the 
Customer’s functions are exercised having regard to a combination of economy, ef ficiency 
and ef fectiveness. 
 
Bribery Act means the Bribery Act 2010 and any subordinate legislation made under that 
Act f rom time to time together with any guidance or codes of  practice issued by the 

relevant government department concerning the legislation.  
 

Caldicott Guardian means a senior person responsible for protecting the conf identiality 

of  people’s health and care information and making sure it is used properly.  

Care Quality Commission or CQC means the care quality commission established 

under the Health and Social Care Act 2008. 

Carer means a family member or f riend of  the Service User who provides day -to-day 

support to the Service User without which the Service User could not manage. 

 
Change means any variation to this Contract including to any of the Services and Service 
Levels. 
 
Change Control Procedure means the procedure for changing this Contract as set out 

Page 88



 

 

in Clause F3. 
 
Change of Control means:- 
(a) any sale, transfer or disposal of  any legal, benef icial or equitable interest in a 

majority or all of  the shares in the Supplier (including the control over the exercise 
of  voting rights conferred on those shares, control over the right to appoint or 
remove directors or the rights to dividends); and/or 

(b) any other arrangements that have or may have or which result in the same ef fect 
as paragraph (a). 

 

Commencement Date means 13 January 2025. 
 
Commercially Sensitive Information means the information listed in Schedule 4 and 
information of  a commercially sensitive nature relating to:  

 
(a) the pricing of  the Services; 

 
(b) details of  the Supplier's Intellectual Property Rights; and 

 
(c) the Supplier's business and investment plans; 

 
which the Supplier has indicated to the Customer that, if  disclosed by the Customer, 
would cause the Supplier signif icant commercial disadvantage or material f inancial loss.  

 

Competent Body means any body that has authority to issue standards or 
recommendations with which either Party must comply . 

 
Confidential Information means any information which has been designated as 
conf idential by either Party in writing or that ought to be considered as conf idential 
(however it is conveyed or on whatever media it is stored) including information the 
disclosure of which would, or would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of any 
person, trade secrets, Intellectual Property Rights and know-how of  either Party and all 
Personal Data..   
 
Consents means:   

 
(i) any permission, consent, approval, certificate, permit, licence, statutory agreement, 

authorisation, exception or declaration required by Law for or in connection with the 
performance of  Services; and/or 

 
(ii) any necessary consent or agreement f rom any third party needed either for the 

performance of  the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract or for the provision by 
the Supplier of  the Services in accordance with this Contract. 

 
 Contract means this written agreement between the Customer and the Supplier 

consisting of  these clauses and the attached Schedules. 
    
 Contract Period means the period f rom the Commencement Date to:  

 
(a)   the date of  expiry  of  the Initial Contract Period, or 
 
(b)  following an extension pursuant to Clause A2.2, the date of  expiry of  the extended 

period, 
 
or such earlier date of  termination of  the Contract in accordance with the Law or the 
provisions of  this Contract.  

Page 89



 

 

 
Contract Year means a period of  twelve (12) Months commencing on the 
Commencement Date and/or each anniversary of  the Commencement Date.  
 
Controller takes the meaning given in the UK GDPR. 
 
Conviction means other than for minor road traf f ic offences,  any  previous or pending 
prosecutions, convictions, cautions and binding -over orders (including any spent 
convictions as contemplated by section 1 (1) of  the Rehabilitation of  Of fenders Act 1974 
by virtue of  the exemptions specif ied in Part II of  Schedule 1 of  the Rehabilitation of  

Of fenders Act 1974 (Exemptions) Order 1975 (SI1975/1023) or any replacement or 
amendment to that Order, or being placed on a list kept pursuant to section 1 of  the 
Protection of  Children Act 1999 or being made the subject of  a prohibition or restriction 
under section 218(6) of  the Education Reform Act 1988). 

 
CQC means the Care Quality Commission. 
 
CQC Regulations means the Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulation 2009. 
  
Crown means the government of  the United Kingdom (including the Northern Ireland 
Executive Committee and Northern Ireland Departments, the Scottish Executive and the 

National Assembly for Wales), including, but not limited to, government ministers, 
government departments, government and particular bodies and government agencies.     
 
Customer’s Change Control Notice means a notice served by the Customer on the 
Supplier requesting a Change in accordance with Clause F3.  
 
Customer’s Contract Manager means the person identif ied as such in Part 1 of  
Schedule 6 or any replacement person appointed by the Customer pursuant to Clause 
B4, being the person responsible for managing the delivery of  the Services on behalf  of  
the Customer. 
 

Customer's Personal Data means the Personal Data supplied by the Customer to the 
Supplier and/or Personal Data collected by the Supplier on behalf of the Customer for the 
purposes of  or in connection with the Contract.  
 
Customer’s Representative means the person identif ied as such in Part 1 of  Schedule 
6 or any replacement person appointed by the Customer pursuant to Clause B4, being 
the person responsible for managing the overall relationship with the Supplier.  
 
Customer Software means sof tware which is owned by or licenced to the Customer 
including sof tware which is or will be used by the Supplier for the purposes of  providing 

the Services but excluding the Supplier Sof tware.  
 
Data Protection Legislation means (i) the UK GDPR; (ii) the DPA to the extent that it 
relates to processing of  personal data and privacy; (iii) all applicable Law about the 
processing of  personal data and privacy. 
 
DBS means the Disclosure and Barring Service established under the Protection of  
Freedoms Act 2012. 
 
Default means  
 

(i)  in relation to the Supplier, any breach of  the obligations of the Supplier (including 
but not limited to Material Default, fundamental breach or breach of  a fundamental 
term) or any other default, act, omission, negligence or negligent statement of  the 
Supplier or the Staf f  in connection with or in relation to the subject -matter of  this 

Page 90



 

 

Contract; and 
 
(ii)  in relation to the Customer a failure to pay as referred to in Clause H2.6 below. 
 
Default Notice means a notice served in accordance with Clause H2.2.  
 
Disaster means an unplanned interruption of , or inaccessibility to, the Services provided 
by the Supplier. 
 
Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan: the business continuity and disaster 

recovery plan prepared pursuant to Schedule 7 as amended f rom time to time. 
  
DPA means the Data Protection Act 2018.   
 
Employment Checks means the pre-appointment checks that are required by Law and 
applicable guidance, including without limitation, verif ication of  identity checks, right to 
work checks, registration and qualif ication checks, employment history and reference 
checks, criminal record checks and occupational health checks and the Supplier shall 
ensure that these meet the Customer's Disclosure and Barring Service Policy which shall 
be provided to the Supplier by the Customer 
 

Enhanced DBS & Barred List Check means an Enhanced DBS & Barred List Check 
(child) or Enhanced DBS & Barred List Check (adult) or Enhanced DBS & Barred List 
Check (child & adult) (as appropriate) and the Supplier shall ensure that these meet the 
Customer's Disclosure and Barring Service Policy.  
 
Enhanced DBS Position means any position listed in the Rehabilitation of  Offenders Act 
1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 (as amended), which also meets the criteria set out in the 
Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 (as amended), and in relation to 
which an Enhanced DBS Disclosure or an Enhanced DBS & Barred List Check (as 
appropriate) is permitted as set out in the Customer's Disclosure and Barring Service 
Policy.  

 
Environmental Information Regulations means the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 and any guidance and/or codes of  practice issued by the Information 
Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such regulations.  
 
Equality Legislation means the Equality Act 2010 and such other acts and legislation to 
ensure, among others equality of  access to goods and services, promotion of  good 
relations between groups in society, the provision of  reasonable adjustments for people 
with disabilities and non-discrimination and equality in employment. 
 

Equipment means the Supplier’s equipment, plant, materials and such other items 
supplied and used by the Supplier in the performance of  its obligations under this 
Contract. 
 
FOIA means the Freedom of  Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made 
under this Act f rom time to time together with any guidance and/or codes of  practice 
issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to 
such legislation. 
 
Force Majeure Event means any event outside the reasonable control of  either Party 
af fecting its performance of  its obligations under this Contract arising f rom acts, events, 

omissions, happenings or non-happenings beyond its reasonable control and which are 
not attributable to any wilful act, neglect or failure to  take reasonable preventative action 
by that Party, including acts of  God, riots, war or armed conf lict, acts of terrorism, acts of 
government, local government or regulatory bodies, f ire, f lood, storm or earthquake, or 

Page 91

http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/VerificationOfIdentityChecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/RightToWorkChecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/RightToWorkChecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/Registrationandqualificationchecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/Employmenthistoryandreferencechecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/Employmenthistoryandreferencechecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/CriminalRecordChecks.aspx
http://www.nhsemployers.org/RecruitmentAndRetention/Employment-checks/Employment-Check-Standards/Pages/OccupationalHealthChecks.aspx


 

 

disaster but excluding any industrial dispute relating to the Supplier or the Staf f  or any 
other failure in the Supplier’s or a Sub-Contractor’s supply chain. 
 
Force Majeure Notice means a written notice served by the Af fected Party on the other 
Party stating that the Af fected Party believes that there is a Force Majeure Event. 
 
Formal Warning Notice means a notice served in accordance with Clause H2.2.  
 
Fraud means any of fence under Laws creating of fences in respect of  f raudulent acts or 
at common law in respect of  f raudulent acts in relation to this Contract or defrauding or 

attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Customer. 
 
Good Industry Practice means standards, practices, methods and procedures (as 
practised in the United Kingdom) and conforming to the Law and exercising that degree 
of  skill and care, diligence, prudence and foresight which would reasonably and ordinarily 
be expected f rom a skilled and experienced service provider, manager, operator or other 
person (as the case may be) engaged in a similar type of  undertaking under this Contract 
under the same or similar circumstances.  
 
Guidance means any applicable local authority, health or social care guidance, direction 
or determination which the Customer and/or the Supplier have a duty to have regard to 

including any guidance issued under the Care Act 2014 and any document published 
under section 73B of  the NHS Act 2006. 
 
ICT means information and communications technology.  
 
ICT Environment means the Customer's system and the Supplier system. 
 
Improvement Notice means a written notice given by the Customer to the Supplier 
pursuant to Clause H7.1 to initiate the Improvement Plan Process. 
 
Improvement Plan means the plan agreed in accordance with Clause H7 for the 

resolution of  a Default of  the Supplier. 
 
Improvement Plan Process means the process for resolving certain of  the Defaults of  
the Supplier as set out in Clause H7. 
 
Incumbent Supplier means any supplier providing any service that constitutes or that 
shall constitute part of  the Services immediately before the Transfer Date and 
Commencement Date of  this Contract. 
 
Information has the meaning given under section 84 of  the FOIA and includes Personal 

Data as def ined under Data Protection Legislation.   
 
Information Commissioner's Office means the of f ice of the Information Commissioner 
whose role is to uphold information rights in the public interest, and responsible for data 
protection in England, Scotland and Wales.  
 
Initial Contract Period means the period f rom the Commencement Date to the date of  
expiry set out in Clause A2, or such earlier date of  termination of  the Contract in 
accordance with the Law or the provisions of  the Contract.  
 
Initial Financial Model means the f inancial model contained in the Supplier's Tender as 

set out in Annex 1 of  Schedule 3. 
 
Intellectual Property Rights means patents, inventions, trademarks, service marks, 
logos, design rights (whether registerable or otherwise), applications for any of  the 

Page 92



 

 

foregoing, copyright, database rights, domain names, trade or business names, moral 
rights and other similar rights or obligations whether registerable or not in any country 
(including but not limited to the United Kingdom) and the right to sue for passing  of f . 
 
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) means the indicators of  the levels to which the 
Services are to be performed and to which Service Credits are attached as set out in 
Annex A to Schedule 5. 
 
Key Personnel means those persons identif ied in Schedule 6 for the roles attributed to 
such personnel. 

 
Law means any applicable Act of  Parliament, subordinate legislation within the meaning 
of  Section 21(1) of  the Interpretation Act 1978, exercise of  the royal prerogative, regulatory 
policy, guidance or industry code, judgment of  a relevant court of  law, or di rectives or 
requirements or any Regulatory Body of  which the Supplier is bound to comply.   
 
Legal Guardian means an individual who, by legal appointment or by the ef fect of  a 
written law, is given custody of both the property and the person of  one who is unable to 
manage their own af fairs. 
 
Lessons Learned means experience derived f rom provision of the Services, the sharing 

and implementation of  which would be reasonably likely to lead to an improvement in the 
quality of  the Supplier’s provision of  the Services. 
 
Local HealthWatch means the local independent consumer champion for health and 
social care in England.         
 
Losses means all demands, losses, charges, damages, costs and expenses and other 
liabilities (including, but not limited to, any professional and/or legal costs and 
disbursements).  
 
Malicious Software means any sof tware program or code intended to destroy, interfere 

with, corrupt, or cause undesired ef fects on program f iles, data or other information, 
executable code or application software macros, whether or not its operation is immediate 
or delayed, and whether the malicious sof tware is introduced wilfully, negligently or 
without the knowledge of  its existence. 
 
Management Information means the management information, not being Key 
Performance Indicators or Performance Indicators, set out in Annex A to Schedule 5 
 
Material Default means a Default by the Supplier which is serious in the widest sense of  
having a serious ef fect on the benef it which the Customer would otherwise derive f rom 

the obligations set out in this Contract. In deciding whether any Default is a Material 
Default, no regard shall be had to whether it occurs by accident, mishap, mistake or 
misunderstanding.  
 
Month means calendar month. 
 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence or NICE means the special health 
authority responsible for providing national guidance on the promotion of good health and 
the prevention and treatment of  ill health (or any successor body). 
 
National Standards means those standards applicable to the Supplier under the Law 

and/or Guidance as amended f rom time to time. 
 
NHS Act 2006 means the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 

Page 93



 

 

Open Book Data means complete and accurate f inancial and non-f inancial information 
which is suf f icient to enable the Customer to verify the Service Charges already paid or 
payable and Service Charges forecast to be paid during the Contract Period, including 
details and all assumptions relating to: 
 
(a) the Supplier's costs broken down against each element of  the Services, including 

actual capital expenditure (including capital replacement costs) and the unit cost and 
total actual costs of  all hardware and sof tware; 

 
(b) operating expenditure relating to the provision of  the Services including an analysis 

showing: 
 

(i) the unit costs and quantity of  consumables and brought-in services; 
 

(ii) manpower resources broken down into the number and grade/role of  all Staff; 
and 

 
(iii) a list of  costs underpinning those manpower resources;  

 
(c) overheads (as identif ied in the Initial Financial Model);  

 

(d) all interest, expenses and any other third party f inancing costs in relation to the 
provision of  the Services; 

 
(e) Supplier prof it (as identif ied in the Initial Financial Model);  

 
(f ) conf irmation that all methods of  costs apportionment and overhead allocation are 

consistent with and not more onerous than such methods applied generally by the 
Supplier; 

 
(g) an explanation of  the type and value of  risk and contingencies associated with the 

provision of the Services, including the amount of  money attributed to each risk and/or 

contingency;  
 

(h) the actual costs prof ile as per each invoicing period ; and 
 

(i) any other f inancial and/or non-f inancial information as the Customer may reasonably 
require. 

 
Party means a party to this Contract and the term Parties shall be construed accordingly.  
 
Pensions Direction means the Best Value Authorities Staf f  Transfers (Pensions) 

Direction 2007 
 
Performance Indicator (PI) means the performance indicators, not being Key 
Performance Indicators or Management Information, set out in Annex A to Schedule 5. 
 
Performance Management Framework means the performance monitoring system set 
out at Schedule 5. 
 
Performance Measures means the performance measures collectively as contained in 
the table at paragraph 2, Part B of  Schedule 5. 
 

Persistent Breach means a Default which has occurred on three or more separate 
occasions within a continuous period of  three (3) Months.  
 
Personal Data takes the meaning given in the UK GDPR. 

Page 94



 

 

 
Personal Data Breach takes the meaning given in the UK GDPR.  
 
Premises means the location where the Services are to be supplied.    
 
Processing takes the meaning given in the UK GDPR. 
 
Prohibited Act each of  the following constitutes a Prohibited Act:  

 
(a)  to directly or indirectly of fer, promise or give any person working for or engaged by 

the Customer a f inancial or other advantage to:- 
 

(i)  induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or  activity; or 
 
(ii)   reward that person for improper performance of  a relevant function or activity  
 

(b)  to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any f inancial or other 
advantage as an inducement or a reward for improper performance of  a relevant 
function or activity in connection with this Contract;  

 
(c)  committing any of fence:- 

 
(i) under the Bribery Act; 
 
(ii)  under legislation creating of fences concerning f raudulent acts;  
 
(iii) at common law concerning f raudulent acts relating to this Contract or any other 

contract with the Customer; or 
 
(iv)  defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Customer. 

 
Protective Measures means appropriate technical and organisational measures which 

may include: pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, ensuring conf identiality, 
integrity, availability and resilience of  systems and services, ensuring that availability of  
and access to Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner af ter an incident, and 
regularly assessing and evaluating the ef fectiveness of  such measures adopted by it 
including those outlined in Part A of  Schedule 8.  
 
Quality Standards means the quality standards published by BSI British Standards, the 
National Standards Body of  the United Kingdom, the International Organisation for 
Standardisation or other reputable or equivalent body, (and their successor bodies) that 
a skilled and experienced operator in the same type of  industry or business sector as the 

Supplier would reasonably and ordinarily be expected to comply with, and as may be 
further detailed in the Specif ication. 
 
Receipt means the physical or electronic arrival of  the invoice at the address of  the 
Customer detailed in Schedule 3 
 
Regulated Activity in relation to children shall have the same meaning as set out in Part 
1 of  Schedule 4 to the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 and in relation to 
vulnerable adults shall have the same meaning as set out in Part 2 of  Schedule 4 to the 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 
 

Regulated Activity Provider shall have the same meaning as set out in section 6 of  the 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 
 
Regulatory Bodies means those government departments and regulatory, statutory and 

Page 95



 

 

other entities, committees, ombudsmen and bodies which, whether under statute, rules, 
regulations, codes of  practice or otherwise, are entitled to regulate, investigate, or 
inf luence the matters dealt with in this Contract or any other af fairs of  the Customer and 
“Regulatory Body” shall be construed accordingly.  
 
Relevant Employees means the employees of  the Supplier (including Transferring 
Employees) who are wholly or mainly assigned to work in the provision of  the Services 
and who are/shall be subject to a Relevant Transfer by virtue of  the application of  the 
TUPE Regulations. 
 

Relevant Transfer means a transfer of  employment to which the TUPE Regulations 
apply. 
 
Replacement Contractor means any third party service provider appointed by the 
Customer to supply any services which are substantially similar to any of  the Services and 
which the Customer receives in substitution for any of  the Services following the expiry, 
termination or partial termination of  this Contract.  
 
Request for Information shall have the meaning set out in FOIA or the Environmental 
Information Regulations as relevant (where the meaning set out for the term “request” 
shall apply). 

 
Safety Incident means any unintended or unexpected incident that occurs in respect of  
a Service User that could have led or did lead to, harm to that Service User. 
 
Schedule means a schedule attached to, and forming part of , this Contract.  
 
Serious Incident means an incident or accident or near-miss where a person (whether 
or not a Service User), member of  staff of the Customer or the Supplier, or member of the 
public suf fers serious injury, major permanent harm or unexpected death or where the 
actions of  the Supplier are likely to be of  significant public concern whether in the course 
of  or following the performance of  the Services. 

 
Service Delivery Plan means the details of  the service delivery provided by the Supplier 
as set out at Schedule 2.  
 
Service Charges means the charges levied by the Supplier for the Services in 
accordance with the prices, rates, calculation, invoicing methods and terms of  payment 
as set out in this Contract including Schedule 3.   

 
Service Credits means the credits which become payable to the Customer by way of  a 
reduction in the Service Charges payable under the Contract where the Key Performance 

Indicators are not achieved as set out in Schedule 5. 
 
Service Failure means a failure by the Supplier to deliver any part of  the Services in 
accordance with the Service Levels. 
 
Service Levels means the levels to which the Services are to be performed, being the 
Key Performance Indicators and the Performance Indicators as set out in Annex A to 
Schedule 5. 

 
Service Standard Points means the points as set out in the Performance Management 
Framework. 

 
Service User means the person directly receiving the Services provided by the Supplier 
as specif ied in the Specif ication. 
 

Page 96



 

 

Services means the services to be supplied as specif ied and detailed in the Specif ication. 
 
Specification means the description of  the Services to be supplied under this Contract 
as set out in Schedule 1. 
 
Staff means all persons employed by the Supplier to perform its obligations under this 
Contract together with the Supplier’s servants, agents, suppliers and Sub -Contractors 
used in the performance of  its obligations under this Contract.  
 
Staff Vetting Procedure means the Customer’s procedures for the vetting of  Staf f and 

as advised to the Supplier by the Customer. 
   
Sub-Contract means any contract or agreement, or proposed contract or agreement 

between the Supplier and any third party whereby that third party agrees to provide to the 
Supplier the Services or any part of  the Services, or facilities or services necessary for 
the provision of  the Services or any part of  the Services, or necessary for the 
management, direction or control of  the Services or any part of  the Services.  
 
Sub-Contractor means the third parties that enter into a Sub-Contract with the Supplier. 
 
Supplier means the person, f irm or company with whom the Customer enters into this 
Contract and shall where the context so admits include the Supplier's Staf f , agents and 
contractors and each Sub-Contractor. 
 

Supplier Change Control Notice means a notice served by the Supplier on the 
Customer requesting a Change in accordance with Clause F3. 
 
Supplier’s Contract Manager means  the person identif ied as such in Part 2 of  Schedule 
6 or any replacement person appointed by the Supplier pursuant to Clause B4, being the 
person responsible for managing the delivery of  the Services on behalf  of  the Supplier.  
 
Supplier’s Representative means the person identif ied as such in part 2 of  Schedule 6 
or any replacement person appointed by the Supplier pursuant to Clause B4, as the 
person responsible for managing the Supplier’s overall relationship with the Customer. 
 

Supplier Software means sof tware owned or licenced to the Supplier including sof tware 
which is or will be used by the Supplier for the purposes of  providing the Services.  
 
Tender means the document(s) submitted by the Supplier to the Customer in response 
to the Customer’s invitation to suppliers for formal of fers to supply it with the Services.  
 
Transfer Date means the date the Transferring Employee is transferred to the 
employment of  the Supplier f rom the Incumbent Supplier.  
 
Transferring Employees means employees of  the Incumbent Supplier who are subject 

of  a Relevant Transfer to the Supplier by virtue of  the application of  the TUPE Regulations 
2006, as amended. 
 
Transferring Original Employee means a former employee of  the Customer whose 
contract of  employment, by virtue of the application of the TUPE Regulations, becomes a 
contract of  employment with the Supplier and who meets the def inition of a Transferring 
Original Employee under the Pensions Direction. 
 
TUPE Regulations means the Transfer of  Undertakings (Protection of  Employment) 
Regulations 2006. 
 

UK GDPR means the Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of  the European Parliament and of  the 

Page 97



 

 

Council of  27 April 2016 on the protection of  natural persons with regard to the processing 
of  personal data and on the f ree movement of  such data (General Data Protection 
Regulation) (United Kingdom General Data Protection Regulation), as it forms part of the 
law of  England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtue of  section 3 of  the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (and see section 205(4)).  
 
VAT means value added tax in accordance with the provisions of the Value Added Tax 
Act 1994. 
 
Working Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open 

for general business in the City of  London.   
 

A1.2 The interpretation and construction of  this Contract shall be subject to the following 
provisions: 

 
(a)  words importing the singular meaning include where the context so admits the plural 

meaning and vice versa; 
 
(b)   words importing one gender include all other genders;  
 
(c) reference to Clauses and Schedules are to the clauses and Schedules of  this 

Contract; references to paragraphs are to paragraphs of  the relevant Schedule; 
 
(d) the Schedules form part of  this Contract and shall have ef fect as if  set out in full in 

the body of this Contract and any reference to the Contract includes the Schedules;  
 
(e)  reference to any statute, enactment, order, regulation or other similar instrument shall 

be construed as a reference to the statute, enactment, order, regulation or instrument 
as amended by any subsequent enactment, modif ication, order, regulation or 
instrument as subsequently amended or re-enacted; 

  
(f )  reference to any person shall include natural persons and partnerships, f irms and 

other incorporated bodies and all other legal persons of  whatever kind and however 
constituted and their successors and permitted assigns or transferees;  

 
(g)  the words “include”, “includes” and “including” are to be construed as if  they were 

immediately followed by the words “without limitation”; and  
  
(h)  headings are included in this Contract for ease of  reference only and shall not af fect 

the interpretation or construction of  this Contract. 
 
(i) Where there is any conf lict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Contract 

such conf lict or inconsistency shall be resolved according to the following order of  
priority:- 

 
(i) the clauses of  this Contract;  
(ii) the Specif ication, Schedule 3 and Schedule 5; 
(iii) the remaining Schedules to this Contract other than Schedule 2; and  
(iv) Schedule 2 to this Contract. 

 
A2 CONTRACT PERIOD AND EXTENSION OF CONTRACT PERIOD 

 
            A2.1 This Contract shall take ef fect on the Commencement Date and shall expire automatically 

at midnight on 12 January 2030, unless it is otherwise terminated in accordance with the 
provisions of  this Contract, or otherwise lawfully terminated, or extended under Clause 
A2.2. 

 

Page 98



 

 

A2.2 The Customer may, at its sole option, by giving written notice to the Supplier not less than 
twelve (12) Months prior to the last day of  the Initial Contract Period, extend this Contract 
on the same terms for a further period of  twelve (12) Months. The Customer may, at its 
sole option, by giving written notice to the Supplier not less than twelve (12) Months prior 
to the last day of  any extension period, extend this Contract on the same terms for a 
further period of  twelve (12) Months. This process of  twelve (12) Month extensions shall 
apply for up to a maximum of  sixty 60) Months in total, over and above the Initial Contract 
Period. The Customer reserves the right to extend for longer than twelve (12) Months at 
a time for any extension period, subject to the maximum of  sixty (60) Months in total over 
and above the Initial Contract Period. The provisions of this Contract shall apply (subject 

to any variation or adjustment to the Service Charges pursuant to Clause C4 (Service 
Charges Adjustment on Extension)) throughout any such extended periods.   

 
A3 SUPPLIER’S STATUS  
 
A3.1 At all times during the Contract Period the Supplier shall be an independent contractor 

and nothing in this Contract shall create a contract of  employment, a relationship of  
agency or partnership or a joint venture between the Parties and accordingly neither Party 
shall be authorised to act in the name of , or on behalf of, or otherwise bind the other Party 
save as expressly permitted by the terms of  this Contract.  

 

A4 CUSTOMER’S OBLIGATIONS 
 
A4.1 Save as otherwise expressly provided, the obligations of the Customer under this Contract 

are obligations of the Customer in its capacity as a contracting counterparty and nothing 
in this Contract shall operate as an obligation upon, or in any other way fetter or constrain 
the Customer in any other capacity, nor shall the exercise by the Customer of  its duties 
and powers in any other capacity lead to any liability under this Contract (howsoever 
arising) on the part of  the Customer to the Supplier. 

 
A5  NOTICES 
 
A5.1 Except as otherwise expressly provided within this Contract, no notice or other 

communication f rom one Party to the other shall have any validity under this Contract 
unless made in writing by or on behalf  of  the Party concerned. 

 
A5.2 Any notice or other communication which is to be given by either Party to the other shall 

be given by electronic mail (conf irmed in either case by letter) or by letter (delivered by 
hand, f irst class post, recorded delivery or special delivery). Provided the relevant  
communication is not returned as undelivered, the notice or communication shal l be 
deemed to have been given on the same Working Day if  delivered by hand, two (2) 
Working Days af ter the day on which the letter was posted, or four (4) hours, in the case 
of  electronic mail provided such notice is served no later than 1pm on any Working Day, 
otherwise such notice shall be deemed served the following Working Day, or sooner 
where the other Party acknowledges receipt of  such letters or item of  electronic mail. Such 

letters and electronic mail shall be addressed to the other Party in the manner referred to 
in Clause A5.3.  

 
A5.3  For the purposes of  Clause A5.2, the address of  each Party shall be: - 
 

(a) For the Customer: 
Address:   
County Of f ices 
Newland 
Lincoln 
LN1 1YL 

For the attention of : Rachel West – Senior Strategic Contract Manager (Commercial 

Page 99



 

 

Services People)   
Email: Rachel.west@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

 
(b)  For the Supplier: 

Address:   
The Hub, Mareham Road 
Horncastle 
LN9 6PH 
For the attention of : David Postle – Wellbeing Service Manager  
Email: David.postle@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

 
A5.4 Either Party may change its address for service by serving a notice in accordance with 

this clause. 
 
A6 MISTAKES IN INFORMATION 
 
A6.1 The Supplier shall be responsible for the accuracy of  all drawings, documentation and 

information supplied to the Customer by the Supplier in connection with the supply of  the 
Services and shall pay the Customer any extra costs occasioned by any discrepancies, 
errors or omissions therein except where such discrepancies, errors or omissions 
originate f rom documentation supplied by the Customer.  

 
A7 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 
A7.1 The Supplier shall take appropriate steps to ensure that neither the Supplier nor any of  

the Supplier’s Staf f  are placed in a position where, in the reasonable opinion of  the 
Customer, there is or may be an actual conf lict, or a potential conf lict, between the 
f inancial or personal interests of  the Supplier and the duties owed to the Customer under 
the provisions of this Contract.  The Supplier shall disclose to the Customer full particulars 
of  any such conf lict of  interest which may arise. 

 
A7.2 The Customer reserves the right to terminate this Contract immediately by notice in writing 

and/or to take such other steps it deems necessary where, in the reasonable opinion of  
the Customer, there is an actual conf lict between the f inancial or personal interests of  the 
Supplier and the duties owed to the Customer under the provisions of this Contract. The 

actions of  the Customer pursuant to this clause shall not prejudice or af fect any right of  
action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall thereaf ter accrue to the Customer. 

 
A8 VOLUMES 
A8.1 The Supplier acknowledges and has submitted its Tender on the understanding that no 

guarantee is given by the Customer in respect of  levels or values of  Services referred to 
in the Schedules which are indicative only and shall not be binding on the Customer.  The 
Customer and Supplier shall work together with regard management of  demand for the 
Services and volumes, as set out in the Specif ication.  

 

SUPPLY OF SERVICES 
 

B1 THE SERVICES 
 
B1.1 The Supplier shall supply the Services during the Contract Period in accordance with the 

Customer’s requirements as set out in the Specif ication, the provisions of this Contract 
and the Service Delivery Plan in consideration of  the payment of  the Serv ice Charges.  

 
B1.2 If  the Customer informs the Supplier in writing that the Customer reasonably believes that 

any part of  the Services does not meet the requirements of  this Contract or dif fers in any 
way f rom those requirements, and this is other than as a result of  a Default by the 

Customer, the Supplier shall at its own expense re-schedule and carry out the Services 

Page 100

mailto:Rachel.west@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 

in accordance with the requirements of  this Contract within such reasonable time as may 
be specif ied by the Customer. 

 
B1.3 Timely supply of the Services shall be of the essence of this Contract, including in relation 

to commencing the supply of the Services within the time agreed or on a specif ied date.  
 
B1.4   Throughout the Contract Period, the Supplier shall deliver the Services:- 
 

(a)  in a safe, professional manner and in accordance with Good Industry Practice; and 
 

(b)   in accordance with such reasonable instructions as may f rom time to time be given 
by the Customer. 

 
B1.5  The Supplier shall ensure that all operations or activities carried out by the Supplier, its 

Staf f  and Sub-Contractors pursuant to this Contract shall comply at all times with all 
applicable Law. 

 
B1.6  In performing its obligations under or pursuant to this Contract, the Supplier shall ensure 

that it obtains and maintains throughout the Contract Period all necessary Consents 
required to perform its obligations under this Contract.  

 

B1A WITHHOLDING AND/OR DISCONTINUATION OF SERVICES  
 
B1A.1   Except where required by the Law, the Supplier shall not be required to provide or to 

continue to provide Services to any Service User:- 
 

(a) who displays abusive, violent or threatening behaviour unacceptable to the Supplier 
(acting reasonably and having taken into account all reasonable allowances for the 
mental health of  that Service User);  

 
(b) in that Service User’s domiciliary care setting or circumstances (as applicable) where 

that environment poses a level of  risk to the Staf f  engaged in the delivery of  the 

Services that the Supplier reasonably considers to be unacceptable; or 
 
(c) where expressly instructed not to do so by an emergency service provider who has 

authority to give such instruction, for so long as that instruction applies.  
 
B1A.2 If  the Supplier proposes not to provide or to stop providing the Services to any Service 

User under clause B1A.1:- 
 

(a) where reasonably possible, the Supplier shall explain to the Service User, taking into 
account any communication or language needs, the action that it is taking, when that 

action takes ef fect, and the reasons for it (conf irming that explanation in writing within 
two (2) Working Days); 

 
(b) the Supplier shall inform the Service User of  the right to challenge the Supplier’s 

decision through the Supplier’s complaints procedure and how to do so; 
 

(c) the Supplier shall inform the Customer in writing without delay and wherever possible 
in advance of  taking such action; 

 
provided that nothing in this clause B1A.2 entitles the Supplier not to provide or to stop 
providing the Services where to do so would be contrary to the Law.  

 
 
B1B SERVICE QUALITY 
 

Page 101



 

 

B1B.1 The Supplier shall unless otherwise agreed (subject to the Law) with the Customer in 
writing:-  

 
(a) comply, where applicable, with the registration and regulatory compliance 

requirements and guidance of  CQC and any other Regulatory Body;  
 
(b) respond, where applicable, to all requirements and enforcement actions issued from 

time to time by CQC or any other Regulatory Body; 
 
(c) consider and respond to the recommendations arising from any audit, death, Serious 

Incident report or Safety Incident report;  
 
(d) comply with the recommendations issued f rom time to time by a Competent Body;  
 
(e) comply with the recommendations f rom time to time contained in guidance and 

appraisals issued by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE);  
 
(f ) respond to any reports and recommendations made by Local HealthWatch; and  
 
(g) comply with the Service Levels set out in Schedule 5. 

 

B1C      SERVICE USER INVOLVEMENT 
 
B1C.1 The Supplier shall engage, liaise and communicate with Service Users, their Carers and 

Legal Guardians in the delivery and development of  the Services in an open and clear 
manner in accordance with the Law, Good Practice and their human rights.  

 
B1C.2 As soon as reasonably practicable following any reasonable request f rom the Customer, 

the Supplier shall provide evidence to the Customer of  the involvement of  Service Users, 
Carers and Staf f  in the development of  Services. 

 
B2 PROVISION AND REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT  

 
B2.1 The Supplier shall be responsible for providing all the Equipment necessary for the supply 

of  the Services. 
   
B2.2 All Equipment shall be at the Supplier’s own risk and the Customer shall have no liability 

for any loss of  or damage to any Equipment unless the Supplier is able to demonstrate 
that such loss or damage was caused or contributed to by the Customer’s Default. 

 
B2.3 Nothing in this clause shall af fect arrangements made between the Supplier and a Service 

User concerning equipment supplied or installed in the course of  performance of  the 

Services.  
 
B2.4 The Supplier shall maintain all items of  Equipment in a safe, serviceable and clean 

condition. 
 

B3 MANNER OF CARRYING OUT THE SERVICES  

 
B3.1 The Supplier shall at all times comply with the Quality Standards, and where applicable 

shall maintain accreditation with the relevant Quality Standards authorisation body. To the 
extent that the standard of  Services has not been specif ied in the Cont ract, the Supplier 
shall agree the relevant standard of  the Services with the Customer prior to the supply of  
the Services and in any event, the Supplier shall perform its obligations under this 
Contract in accordance with the Law and Good Industry Practice.   

 

B3.2 The Supplier shall ensure that all Staf f  supplying the Services shall do so with all due skill, 

Page 102



 

 

care and diligence and shall possess such qualif ications, skills and experience as are 
necessary for the proper supply of  the Services. 

 
B3.3 The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer f rom and against and compensate in full any 

Service User in respect of  any Losses incurred by the Customer and/or a Service User as 
a result of  the criminal acts of  any Staf f  in the course of  their employment to provide the 
Services. 

 
B3.4  The Customer shall conduct a review of  performance of  this Contract at least annually 

during the Contract Period. During this review, a performance report shall be agreed.  

 
B4 KEY PERSONNEL 
 
B4.1 Each Party shall appoint the persons named as such in Schedule 6 as the individuals who 

shall be responsible for the matters allocated to such Key Personnel. The Key Personnel 
shall be those individuals who are identif ied by each Party as being key to the success of 
the delivery and operation of  the Services and who shall be retained on the delivery and 
operation of  the Services for such time as a person is required to perform the role which 
has been allocated to the applicable Key Personnel. The Key Personnel shall have the 
authority to act on behalf  of  their respective Party on matters for which they are expressed 
to be responsible. 

 
B4.2 The Supplier acknowledges that the Supplier’s Key Personnel are essential to the proper 

provision of  the Services to the Customer.  
 
B4.3 The Supplier’s Key Personnel shall not be released f rom supplying the Services without 

the agreement of  the Customer, except by reason of long-term sickness, maternity leave, 
paternity leave, resignation by the Key Personnel f rom their substantive post, termination 
of  employment and other extenuating circumstances.  

 
B4.4 The Supplier shall ensure that the role of  each of  its Key Personnel is not vacant for more 

than ten (10) Working Days. Any replacement shall be as, or more, qualif ied and 

experienced as the previous incumbent and fully competent to carry out the tasks 
assigned to the Supplier's Key Personnel whom they have replaced. A temporary 
replacement shall be identif ied with immediate ef fect f rom the Supplier becoming aware 
of  the role becoming vacant. 

 
B4.5 The Customer shall not unreasonably withhold its agreement under Clauses B4.3 or B4.4. 

Such agreement shall be conditional on appropriate arrangements being made by the 
Supplier to minimise any adverse impact on this Contract which could be caused by a 
change in the Supplier’s Key Personnel. 

 

B4.6 The Customer may require the Supplier to remove or procure the removal of  any of  the 
Supplier’s Key Personnel whom the Customer considers, in its reasonable opinion, to be 
unsatisfactory for any reason which has a material impact on delivery or management of  
the delivery of  Services. 

 
B4.7 If  the Supplier replaces the Key Personnel as a consequence of  this Clause B4, the cost 

of  ef fecting such replacement shall be borne by the Supplier.  
 
B5 SUPPLIER’S STAFF 
 
B5.1 At all times, the Supplier shall ensure that:- 

 
(a) each of  the Staf f  is suitably qualif ied, adequately trained  (including any specialist 

based training that is required for the proper delivery of  the Services) and capable of 
providing the Services in respect of  which they are engaged;  

Page 103



 

 

 
(b) there is an adequate number of  Staf f  to provide the Services properly;  

 
(c) where applicable, Staf f are registered with the appropriate professional regulatory 

body; 
 
(d) all of  the Staf f  comply with all of  the Customer's policies as notif ied to it f rom time to 

time; and  
 
(e) all of  the Staf f  comply with the Law, fully understand the nature of  their duties and 

carry out their responsibilities in accordance with a general duty of  care and safe 
methods of  working; and 

 
(f ) Staf f  are aware of  and respect equality and human rights of  colleagues and Service 

Users.   
 

(g) Staf f  are approachable and non-confrontational to the Customer's staf f  at all times 
and are aware of  and respect equality and human rights of  colleagues;  

(h) Staf f  shall be open and available for any observational assessments by the Customer 
to ensure that the Staf f  are providing the Services in accordance with the terms of  
this Contract; 

(i) Staf f  keep up to date with changes within their specialism and adapt the Services 
appropriately; 

(j) Staf f  keep up to date with the development of  new standards within their area of  
specialism; and 

(k) Staf f  shall not make any negative or disparaging comments about the Customer or 
the Services which are being undertaken. 

 
B5.2 The Supplier shall notify its entire Staf f  about the Supplier’s obligations under the terms 

of  this Contract and about any applicable Law. 
 
B5.3 Upon receipt of  a complaint against a member of  Staf f, the Customer may, to the extent 

reasonably necessary to protect the welfare of  Service Users and/or the standards and 
reputation of  the Customer, in consultation with the Supplier, request that the Supplier 
investigates the complaint and provides the Customer with all requested information in 
relation to this investigation, in accordance with the Supplier’s own internal policy and 
procedures and Good Industry Practice.   

 
B5.4 In the event of  industrial disputes or action by any of  the Staf f , it remains the Supplier’s 

responsibility to meet the requirements of  this Contract. The Supplier shall inform the 
Customer immediately of  impending or actual industrial disputes or action, which may 
af fect the Supplier’s ability to deliver the Services and of  the Supplier’s contingency plans 
for dealing with such disputes or action. 

 
B5.5 The Supplier shall have in place systems for seeking and recording specialist professional 

advice and shall ensure that every member of  Staf f  involved in the provision of  the 
Services receives:- 

 

(a) proper and suf f icient continuous professional and personal development, training and 
instruction; and 

 
(b) full and detailed appraisal (in terms of  performance and on-going education and 

training), 
 

each in accordance with Good Industry Practice and the standards of  any applicable 

Page 104



 

 

relevant professional body. 
 
B5.6. The Supplier shall carry out Staf f  surveys in relation to the Services at intervals and in the 

form as agreed in writing f rom time to time. 
 

B5.7 The Supplier shall comply with Staf f  Vetting Procedures in respect of  all persons 
employed or engaged in the provision of  the Services. The Supplier conf irms that all 
persons employed or engaged by the Supplier were vetted and recruited on a basis that 
is equivalent to and no less strict than the Staf f  Vetting Procedures.  

 

B5.8 Subject to Clause B5.9, before the Supplier engages or employs any person in the 
provision of the Services, or in any activity related to, or connected with, the provision of  
the Services, the Supplier shall without limitation, complete:- 

 
(a) the Employment Checks; and 
 
(b) if  appropriate such other checks as required by the Customer's Recruitment and 

Selection Policy and all other policies and documentation referred to therein including 
the Customer's Disclosure and Barring Service Policy referred to in this Contract.  

 
B5.9 Subject to Clause B5.10, the Supplier may engage a person in an Enhanced DBS Position 

(as applicable) pending the receipt of  the Enhanced DBS & Barred List Check (as 
appropriate) with the agreement of  the Customer. 

 
B5.10 Where Clause B5.9 applies, the Supplier shall ensure that until the Enhanced DBS & 

Barred List Check (as appropriate) is obtained, the following safeguards shall be put in 
place:- 

 
(a) an appropriately qualif ied and experienced member of  Staf f is appointed to supervise 

the new member of  Staf f ; and 
 
(b) wherever it is possible, this supervisor is on duty at the same time as the new member 

of  Staf f , or is available to be consulted; and  
 
(c) the new member of  Staf f  is accompanied at all times by either the appointed 

supervisor or a member of  Staf f who has already been subjected to the Staf f  Vetting 
Procedure whilst providing the Services under this Contract; and 

 
(d) any other reasonable requirement of  the Customer. 

  
B5.11 The Supplier shall (unless and to the extent agreed otherwise by the Customer in writing) 

conduct such questioning and investigation as is reasonable regarding any Convictions, 

where the above required checks reveal a Conviction.  
  
B5.12 Without prejudice to the provisions of  this Clause B5, the Supplier shall not engage or 

continue to utilise in the provision of  the Services involving or which are likely to involve 
access to children, vulnerable persons or other members of  the public to whom the 
Customer owes a special duty of  care, any member of  Staf f whose Conviction means it 
would reasonably be regarded as inappropriate for them to be conducting such activity.  

 
B5.13 If  the Supplier fails to comply with Clause B5 and in the reasonable opinion of  the 

Customer, such failure may be prejudicial to the interests of  the Customer, then the 
Customer may terminate this Contract, provided always that such termination shall not 

prejudice or af fect any right of  action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall 
thereaf ter accrue to the Customer.   

 
B5.14 The decision of the Customer as to whether the Supplier has failed to comply with Clause 

Page 105



 

 

B5 shall be f inal and conclusive. 
 
B5.15 The Supplier shall replace any of  the Staf f  who the Customer reasonably determines have 

failed to carry out their duties with reasonable skill and care. Following the removal of any 
of  the Staf f  for any reason, the Supplier shall ensure such person is rep laced promptly 
with another person with the necessary training and skills to meet the requirements of  the 
Services at no additional cost to the Customer. 

 
B5.16 The Supplier shall maintain up-to-date personnel records on the Staf f  engaged in the 

provision of the Services and shall provide information to the Customer as the Customer 

reasonably requests on the Staf f . The Supplier shall ensure at all times that it has the right 
to provide these records in compliance with the DPA.  

  
B5.17 The Supplier shall use its best endeavours to ensure continuity of  personnel and to ensure 

that the turnover rate of  its Staff engaged in the provision or management of  the Services 
is at least as good as the prevailing industry norm for similar services,  locations and 
environments. 

 
B6 CUSTOMER'S ASSETS 
 
B6.1 Where the Customer issues Assets to the Supplier such Assets shall be and remain under 

the ownership of  the Customer.  The Supplier shall not in any circumstances have a lien 
over or any other interest in the Assets and the Supplier shall at all times possess the 
Assets as f iduciary agent and bailee of  the Customer. The Supplier shall take all 
reasonable steps to ensure that the title of  the Customer to the Assets and the exclusion 
of  any such lien or other interest are brought to the notice of  all Sub -Contractors and other 
appropriate persons and shall, at the Customer’s request, store the Assets separately and 
ensure that it is clearly identif iable as belonging to the Customer.  

   
B6.2 The Assets shall be deemed to be in good condition when received by or on behalf  of the 

Supplier unless the Supplier notif ies the Customer otherwise within f ive (5) Working Days 
of  receipt. 

   
B6.3 The Supplier shall maintain the Assets in good order and condition (excluding fair wear 

and tear), and shall use the Assets solely in connection with this Contract and for no other 
purpose without prior Approval. 

   
B6.4 The Supplier shall ensure the security of  all the Assets whilst in its possession, either on 

the Premises or elsewhere during the supply of  the Services, in accordance with the 
Customer’s reasonable security requirements as notif ied to the Supplier by the Customer 
f rom time to time. 

   

B6.5 The Supplier shall be liable for all loss of , or damage to, the Assets (excluding fair wear 
and tear), unless such loss or damage was caused by the Customer’s Default. The 
Supplier shall inform the Customer within two (2) Working Days of  becoming aware of  any 
defects appearing in, or losses or damage occurring to, the Assets. 

 
B7 OFFERS OF EMPLOYMENT 

 
B7.1 For the duration of  this Contract and for a period of  twelve (12) Months thereaf ter neither 

the Customer nor the Supplier shall employ or of fer employment to any of  the other Party’s 
staf f  who have been associated with the procurement and/or the contract management of  
the Services without that other Party’s prior written consent.  

  
B8 TUPE AND PENSIONS 

 
B8.1 The Customer and the Supplier agree that where the identity of  a contractor (including an 

Page 106



 

 

Incumbent Supplier) of  any service which constitutes or will constitute part of the Services 
is changed as a result of  entering into or pursuant to this Contract (including upon 
termination of  this Contract) then the change may constitute a Relevant Transfer. Where 
there is a Relevant Transfer, the remainder of  this Clause B8 shall apply.  

 
B8.2 The Supplier acknowledges and accepts that under the TUPE Regulations the contracts 

of  employment of  the Transferring Employees shall have ef fect (except in relation to 
occupational pension scheme benef its excluded under Regulation 10 of  the TUPE 
Regulations) f rom the Transfer Date as if  originally made between the Transferring 
Employees and the Supplier. 

 
B8.2A The Supplier shall prior to any formal consultation required in accordance with the TUPE 

Regulations provide to all Transferring Employees basic guidance on their rights under 
the TUPE regulations and such guidance shall conform to government department issued 
guidance e.g. BIS Guidance on TUPE 2006 as amended. 

 
B8.3 In the event that the Supplier enters into any Sub-Contracts in connection with this 

Contract, it shall impose obligations on its Sub-Contractors in the same terms as those 
imposed on it pursuant to this Clause B8 and shall ensure that each Sub -Contractor 
complies with such terms. The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer and keep the 
Customer indemnif ied in full f rom and against all direct, indirect or consequential liability 

or Losses awarded against or incurred or paid by the Customer as a result of  or in 
connection with any failure on the part of  a Sub-Contractor to comply with such terms. 

 
B8.4 The Supplier shall be responsible for all emoluments and outgoings in respect of  the 

Transferring Employees and all Relevant Employees employed by the Supplier or any 
Sub-Contractor appointed by the Supplier, including without limitation, all wages, 
bonuses, commission, premiums, subscriptions, PAYE and national insurance 
contributions, pension contributions and otherwise,  which are attributable in whole or in 
part to the period af ter the Commencement Date (including any bonuses, commission, 
premiums, subscriptions and any other prepayments which are payable before the 
Commencement Date but which are attributable in whole or in part to the period af ter the 

Commencement Date). The Supplier shall indemnify and keep the Customer indemnif ied 
and harmless f rom and against all Losses and other liabilities which the Customer may 
incur in respect of  the same. 

 
B8.5 The Customer has provided to the Supplier the information relating to the Transferring 

Employees at Tender stage but does not warrant that the information was accurate or 
complete. The Supplier acknowledges and accepts that it had the responsibility t o carry 
out its own due diligence in relation to the information and the Transferring Employees 
prior to the Transfer Date. 

 

B8.6 The Supplier shall fully and accurately disclose to the Customer (and shall ensure that 
any relevant Sub-Contractor accurately discloses) any and all information in relation to all 
personnel engaged in the provision of the Services and all information that the Customer 
may reasonably request in relation to the Staf f  at the end of  each Contract Year and at 
three (3) Monthly intervals during the f inal Contract Year or within ten (10) Working Days 
of  the Customer's request including the following:- 

 
(a) a list of  employees employed by the Supplier, or any Sub -Contractor; and 
 
(b) a list of  agency workers, agents and independent contractors engaged by the 

Supplier; and 

 
(c) the total payroll bill (i.e. total taxable pay and allowances including employer's 

contributions to pension schemes) of  those personnel; and  
 

Page 107



 

 

(d) the age, gender, salary or other remuneration, date of  continuous employment 
commenced and, if  dif ferent, the commencement date, accrued holiday entitlement, 
pension details, location, retirement, enhancement rates, and any other factors 
af fecting their redundancy and pension entitlements and any outstanding claims 
arising f rom employment of  the Staf f  referred to in Clause B8.6(a); and  

 
(e) the terms and conditions of the employment/engagement of  the Staf f  referred to in 

Clause B8.6(a), their job titles and qualif ications; and  
 
(f ) details of  any current disciplinary or grievance proceedings ongoing or circumstances 

likely to give rise to such proceedings and details of  any claims current or threatened; 
and 

 
(g) details of  all collective agreements with a brief  summary of  the current state of  

negotiations with such bodies and with details of  any current industrial disputes and 
claims for recognition by any trade union.  

 
B8.7 Where the Supplier provides information in accordance with Clause B8.6 and the Supplier 

or Sub-Contractor makes or becomes aware of  any changes or discovers new information 
the Supplier shall notify the Customer within f ive (5) Working Days of any such change or 
discovery. 

 
B8.8 At the time of  providing the disclosed information pursuant to Clauses B8.6 and B8.7, the 

Supplier shall warrant the completeness and accuracy of  all such information. The 
Supplier authorises the Customer to use any and all information provided under Clause 
B8 to the Customer as it considers necessary for the purposes of  its business or for 
informing any tenderer for any services which are substantially the same as the Services 
(or any part thereof). 

 
B8.9 The Customer may use the information it receives f rom the Supplier pursuant to Clauses 

B8.6 and B8.7 for the purposes of  TUPE and/or any retendering process in order to ensure 
an ef fective handover of  all work in progress at the end of  the Contract Period. The 

Supplier shall provide the Replacement Contractor with such assistance as it shall 
reasonably request for a period of twelve (12) weeks following the relevant transfer to the 
Replacement Contractor. 

 
B8.10 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnif ied and hold the Customer (both for itself  

and any Replacement Contractor) harmless f rom and against all Losses which the 
Customer or any Replacement Contractor may suf fer or incur as a result of  or in 
connection with:- 

 
(a)  any claim of  any nature (whether in contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European 

Law or otherwise) brought by any of  the Transferring Employees arising directly or 
indirectly out of  any act, fault or omission whether of  the Supplier, any Sub -Contractor 
or any third party (including an Incumbent Supplier) occurring prior to, in the course 
of  or af ter any Relevant Transfer occurring by reason of  this Contract and/or the 
Supplier becoming responsible for the performance of  the Services;   

 
(b) the provision of  information pursuant to Clause B8;  
 
(c) any claim or demand by any Relevant Employee (whether in contract, tort, under 

statute, pursuant to European Law or otherwise) in each and every case arising 
directly or indirectly f rom any act, fault or omission of  the Supplier in respect of  any 

Relevant Employer on or before the end of  the Contract Period; and  
 
(d) any failure by the Supplier, whenever occurring and in connection with any Relevant 

Transfer, to comply with its obligations under Regulation 13 or 14 of  TUPE or any 

Page 108



 

 

award of  compensation under Regulation 15 of  TUPE save where such failure arises 
f rom the failure of  the Customer or a Replacement Contractor to comply with its duties 
under Regulation 13 of  the Regulations;  

 
(e) any claim (including any individual employee entitlement under or consequent on 

such a claim) by any trade union or other body or person representing any Relevant 
Employees arising f rom or connected with any failure by the Supplier (whenever 
occurring and in connection with any Relevant Transfer) to comply with any legal 
obligation to such trade union, body or person; and  

 

(e) any claim by any person who is transferred to the Supplier by an Incumbent Supplier 
or by the Supplier to the Customer and/or a Replacement Contractor whose name is 
not included in the list of  Transferring Employees or Relevant Employees.  

 
B8.10A  The Supplier shall comply with the Pension Act 2004 and the Transfer of  Employment 

(Pension Protection) Regulations 2005. 
 
B8.11 The Supplier shall ensure that, in accordance with the Pensions Direction, a Transferring 

Original Employee shall be granted: 
 

(a) Pension rights that are broadly comparable to or better than those he/she has as an 

employee of  the Incumbent Supplier; or 
 

(b) continued access to the Local Government Pension Scheme for those employees 
who at the Transfer Date are members or eligible to be members of  that pension 
scheme; and 

 
(c) terms and conditions of employment which allow the Transferring Original Employee 

to enforce the protection af forded under Pensions Direction.  
 

B8.12 Unless otherwise stated, this Clause B8 applies during the Contract Period and indef initely 
thereaf ter. 

 
B8.13 The Supplier undertakes to the Customer that, during the twelve (12) Months prior to the 

end of  the Contract Period the Supplier shall not (and shall procure that any Sub -
Contractor shall not) without the prior consent of  the Customer (such consent not to  be  
unreasonably withheld or delayed):- 

 
(a) amend or vary (or purport or promise to amend or vary) the terms and conditions of 

the employment or engagement including for the avoidance of doubt pay of any Staff 
(other than where such amendment or variation has previously been agreed between 
the Supplier and the Staf f  in the normal course of  business, and where any such 

amendment or variation is not in any way related to the transfer of  the Services);  
 
(b) terminate or give notice to terminate the employment or engagement of  any of  the 

Staf f  (other than in circumstances in which the termination is for reasons of  
misconduct or lack of  capacity); 

 
(c) transfer away, remove, reduce or vary the involvement of  any of  the Staf f  f rom or in 

the provision of  the Services (other than where such transfer or removal: (i) was 
planned as part of  the individual’s career development; (ii) takes place in the normal 
course of  business; and (iii) shall not  have any adverse impact upon the delivery of  
the Services by the Supplier, provided that any such transfer, removal, reduction or 

variation is not in any way related to the transfer of  the Services; and  
 

(d) recruit or bring in any new or additional individuals to provide the Services who were 
not already involved in providing the Services prior to the relevant period.  

Page 109



 

 

 
B8.14 The Supplier conf irms that it shall comply fully with its obligations under the TUPE 

Regulations in respect of  providing information to any subsequent supplier (including any 
Replacement Contractor). The Supplier warrants that any information provided in 
accordance with Regulation 11 of  the TUPE Regulations shall be accurate and complete. 

 
B8.15 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep the Customer and any Replacement Contractor 

indemnif ied in full f rom and against  Losses awarded against or incurred or paid by the 
Customer or any Replacement Contractor as a result of  or in connection with: - 

 

(a) the employment or termination of  employment of  any Relevant Employee or 
employee of  any Sub-Contractor during any period prior to and including the date of  
expiry or termination of  this Contract; and  

 
(b) any claim brought against the Customer or any Replacement Contractor as a result 

of  the Supplier's failure to comply with any of  its obligations under the TUPE 
Regulations and this Contract. 

 
B8.16 Notwithstanding any provisions of this Contract, for the purposes of  Clause B8 and in 

accordance with the Contracts (Rights of  Third Parties) Act 1999, the Parties accept that 
any Replacement Contractor shall be entitled to enforce the benef its conferred to it under 

this Contract. If  the Parties rescind this Contract or vary it in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of  this Contract or terminate this Contract, the consent of  any Replacement 
Contractor shall not be required for such rescission, variation or termination. 

 
B8.17 The Customer shall f rom the commencement of  the last eighteen (18) Months of  the 

Contract Period be entitled to apply retention of  3% against each invoice which will 
become due for payment in accordance with the Contract. The retention monies shall be 
held by the Customer until a Replacement Contractor has been awarded a contract for 
the Services under this Contract and shall be released to the Supplier within ten (10) 
Working Days of  the commencement date of  the contract with the Replacement 
Contractor PROVIDED ALWAYS that the Supplier has fully complied with its obligations 

under Clauses B10.2A, B10.5. B10.6, B10.7, B10.13 and B10.14 Any failure of  the 
Supplier to comply with the aforesaid provisions shall constitute an automatic forfeiture of  
the retention monies. 

 
B9 BEST VALUE 

 
B9.1 The Supplier shall provide to the Customer all such assistance, information and 

documentation as the Customer shall reasonably require for the purpose of  compliance 
with its obligations of  Best Value under Part 1 of  the Local Government Act 1999. 

 

B10 SERVICE IMPROVEMENT 
 
B10.1 The Supplier shall throughout the duration of  this Contract identify and discuss any 

improvements and enhancements which would improve the Services and delivery of  the 
Services. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Supplier shall, at its own cost submit a 
report to the Customer within thirty (30) Working Days of  the end of  each Contract Year, 
which shall identify the emergence of  new and evolving relevant technologies, research 
and development elsewhere and processes and any other  change which could improve 
the Services and the delivery thereof . Such report shall be provided in suf f icient detail to 
enable the Customer to evaluate properly the benef its of  the change.  

 

B10.2 If  the Customer wishes to incorporate any improvement identif ied by the Supplier pursuant 
to Clause B10.1, the Customer shall send the Supplier a Customer Change Control Notice 
and the Parties shall discuss the implementation of the associated Change in accordance 
with the Change Control Procedure provided always that if  the Supplier’s costs in 

Page 110



 

 

providing the Services to the Customer are reduced as a result of  any business change 
implemented by the Supplier, a saving as agreed between the Parties  shall be passed 
on to the Customer by way of  a consequential and immediate reduction in the Service 
Charges. 

 
B11 COMPLAINTS 
 
B11.1 The Supplier shall maintain an up to date, comprehensive and detailed written record of  

all complaints it receives regarding the Services which shall be available to the Customer 
upon request f rom time to time and as soon as practicable or in any event within f ive (5) 

Working Days of  such request by the Customer. Such records shall contain all relevant  
details of  the complaint including the following details: - 

(a) the member of  Staf f or other person to whom the complaint was made and the name 
and job title of  that person; 

(b) the name and address (if  known) of  the person making the complaint and in what 
capacity the complaint was made; 

(c) the nature and extent of  the default of  which complaint was made;  

(d) the date and time of  complaint; and 

(e) any action taken to remedy the complaint, and if  no action is to be taken, the reasons 
why no action is to be taken. 

B11.2 Where a complaint is received regarding:- 

 
(a) the standard of  Services; 
 
(b) the manner in which any Services have been supplied;  

 
(c) the manner in which work has been performed; 

 
(d) the materials or procedures used by the Supplier; or  

 
(e) any other matter connected with the performance of  the Supplier’s obligations under 

this Contract,  

 
then the Customer shall notify the Supplier, and where considered appropriate by the 
Customer, the Supplier shall investigate the complaint.  

 
B11.3 The Customer shall have the right to investigate all complaints which fall within this Clause 

B11 and to take such steps, or require the taking of  such steps by the Supplier, as it 
deems necessary (acting reasonably) in order to deal with the complaint.  The Supplier 
shall promptly provide such documentation, information and assistance (including access 
to Staf f ) as the Customer may reasonably require in order to enable the Customer to 
investigate and deal with a complaint. 

 
B11.4 Without prejudice to its other rights and remedies under the Contract, the Customer may, 

in its sole discretion, uphold the complaint and take further action in accordance with 
Clause F5.1,  Clause H2 (Termination on Default) or H7 (Improvement Plan Process) of  
this Contract. 

 
B11A INCIDENTS REQUIRING REPORTING  
 
B11A.1 For those activities where the Supplier is required to be CQC registered it shall comply 

with the requirements and arrangements for notif ication of deaths and other incidents to 
CQC in accordance with CQC Regulations and for those activities where the Supplier is 

not required to be CQC registered it shall notify Serious Incidents to any Regulatory Body 
as applicable, in accordance with the Law. 

Page 111



 

 

B11A.2 The Supplier shall notify any Serious Incident or Safety Incident which directly or indirectly 
concerns any Service User, to the Customer within f ive (5) Working Days.  

B11A.3 The Parties shall comply with the arrangements for reporting, investigating, implementing 
and sharing the Lessons Learned f rom Serious Incidents, Safety Incidents and non-
Service User safety incidents that are agreed between the Supplier and the Customer. 

B11A.4 Subject to the provisions of this Contract and the Law, the Customer shall have discretion 
to use the information provided by the Supplier under clause B11 or this clause B.11A for 
any purpose in relation to the exercise of  the Customer's statutory functions . 

 
B12. CONSENT  

B12.1 The Supplier shall publish, maintain and operate a Service User consent policy which 
complies with Good Practice and the Law. 

B13. SERVICE USER RECORDS 
 
B13.1 The Supplier shall create, maintain, store and retain Service User records for all Service 

Users. The Supplier must retain Service User records for the periods of time required by 
Law and securely destroy them thereaf ter in accordance with any applicable Guidance 
and shall comply with clause E1 in respect of  all such records.  

 
B13.2 The Supplier shall:- 
 

(a) use Service User records solely for the execution of  the Supplier’s obligations under 
this Contract; and 

 
(b) give each Service User full and accurate information regarding the Services 

received. 
 
B13.3 Subject to Guidance and where appropriate, the Service User records shall include the 

Service User’s verif ied NHS number. 
 
B13.4 The Supplier shall at all times during the term of  this Contract have a Caldicott Guardian 

and shall notify the Customer of  their identity and contact details prior to the Service 

Commencement Date. If  the Supplier replaces its Caldicott Guardian at any time during 
the term of  this Contract, it shall promptly notify the Customer of  the identity and contact 
details of  such replacements. 

 
B14 BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

B14.1   The Supplier shall ensure that it is able to implement the provisions of  the Disaster 
Recovery and Business Continuity Plan at any time in accordance with its terms to ensure 
that the Services shall be maintained in the event of  disruption (including disruption to 
information technology systems) to the Supplier's operations and those of  its Sub -
Contractors however caused. Such contingency plans shall be available for the Customer 
to inspect and to practically test at any reasonable time and shall be subject to regular 
updating and review throughout the Contract Period in accordance with Schedule 7.  

B14.2  The Supplier shall test the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan on a regular 
basis (and, in any event, not less than once in every twelve (12) Month period). The 
Customer shall be entitled to participate in such tests as it may reasonably  require.  

B14.3  Following each test, where requested by the Customer, the Supplier shall send to the 

Customer a written report summarising the results of  the test and shall promptly 
implement any actions or remedial measures which the Customer considers to be 
necessary as a result of  those tests. 

Page 112



 

 

B14.4  The Supplier shall implement the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan in the 
event that the Services are not available for more than forty eight (48) hours.  

B15 CO-OPERATION 

B15.1 The Parties shall at all times act in good faith towards each other.  
 
B15.2. The Supplier shall co-operate fully and liaise appropriately with:- 
 

(a) the Customer; 
 
(b) any third party provider who the Service User may be transferred to or f rom the 

Supplier; 
 
(c) any third party provider which may be providing care to the Service User at the same 

time as the Supplier’s provision of  the relevant Services to the Service User; and  
 
(d) primary, secondary and social care services, 
 
in order to: 
  
e) ensure that a consistently high standard of  care for the Service User is at all times 

maintained; 

 
f ) ensure a co-ordinated approach is taken to promoting the quality of  Service User 

care across all pathways spanning more than one provider;  
 
g)    achieve a continuation of  the Services that avoids inconvenience to, or risk to the 

health and safety of , Service Users, employees of  the Customer’s or members of  
the public. 

C PAYMENT AND SERVICE CHARGES 

C1 SERVICE CHARGES 
 
C1.1  In consideration of  the Supplier’s proper performance of  its obligations under this 

Contract, the Customer shall pay the Service Charges in accordance with Clause C2 
(Payment and VAT) and Schedule 3 (Payment Mechanism). 

 

C1.2  The Customer shall, subject to Clause C1.1, in addition to the Service Charges and 
following Receipt of  a valid VAT invoice, pay the Supplier a sum equal to the VAT 
chargeable on the value of  the Services supplied in accordance with this Contract.  

C2 PAYMENT AND VAT 

C2.1 The calculation and payment of  the Service Charges under this Contract shall be dealt 

with in accordance with the provisions set out in Schedule 3.  

C2.2 Where the Supplier enters into a Sub-Contract with a supplier or contractor for the purpose 
of  performing its obligations under this Contract, it shall ensure that a provision is included 
in such a Sub-Contract which requires:- 

(a) payment to be made of  all sums due by the Supplier to the Sub -Contractor within a 
specif ied period not exceeding thirty (30) days f rom the Receipt of  a valid invoice; 

and  

Page 113



 

 

 
(b) the counterparty to that Sub-Contract to include in any sub-contract which it awards 

provisions having the same ef fect as the provisions of  clause C2.2(a).  
 
C2.3 The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer on a continuing basis against any liability, 

including any interest, penalties or costs incurred which is levied, demanded or assessed 
on the Customer at any time in respect of  the Supplier’s failure to account for or to pay 
any VAT relating to payments made to the Supplier under this Contract. Any amounts due 
under this Clause C2.3 shall be paid by the Supplier to the Customer not less than f ive 
(5) Working Days before the date upon which the tax or other liability is payable by the 

Customer. 
 
C2.3A All payments to be made by the Customer under this Contract are stated to be exclusive 

of  VAT which shall be additionally paid by the Customer where relevant at the prevailing 
rate and f rom time to time in the manner prescribed by Law. 

 

C2.4 The Supplier shall not be entitled to suspend the supply of the Services for any failure by 
the Customer to pay undisputed sums of  money in accordance with the Contract.  

 
C2.5 Interest shall be payable on the late payment of  any undisputed sums of  money due to 

either Party under this Contract such interest to be calculated at the rate of  4% over the 
Bank of  England base rate for the time being, f rom the f inal date for payment to and 
including the date on which such amount is paid or discharged.  

 
C2.6 The Supplier shall maintain complete and accurate records of , and supporting 

documentation for, all amounts which may be chargeable to the Customer pursuant to 
this Contract and shall declare and make available for inspection to the Customer all 

Service Charges components including costs, profit, central of fice overheads and all and 
any relevant books of  account, correspondence, agreements, orders, invoices, receipts 
and other relevant documents. Such records shall be retained for inspection by the 
Customer twelve (12) years f rom the end of  the Contract Year to which the records relate. 

 
C2.6A All payments to be made by the Customer under this Contract are stated to be exclusive 

of  VAT which shall be additionally paid by the Customer where relevant at the prevailing 
rate and f rom time to time in the manner prescribed by Law. 

 
C2.7 Without prejudice to Clause C2.3A, for the avoidance of  doubt, it shall be the sole 

responsibility of  the Supplier to:- 

 
(a) assess the VAT rate and tax liability arising out of  or in connection with the Contract; 

and 
 

(b) account for or pay any VAT (and any other tax liability) relating to payments made to 
the Supplier under the Contract to HM Revenue and Customs ("HMRC"). 

 
C2.8 The Customer shall not be liable to the Supplier in any way whatsoever for any error or 

failure by the Supplier (or the Customer) in relation to VAT, including without limit: - 
 

(a) where the Supplier is subject to a VAT ruling(s) by HMRC (or such other relevant 
authority) in connection with the Contract; 

 
(b) where the Supplier has assumed that it can recover input VAT and (for whatever 

reason) this assumption is subsequently held by HMRC (or such relevant authority) 
to be incorrect or invalid; and/or 

 
(c) where the Supplier's treatment of  VAT in respect of  any claim for payment made 

under the Contract is subsequently held by HMRC (or such other relevant authority) 

Page 114



 

 

for whatever reason to be incorrect or invalid; 
 

(d) where the Supplier has specif ied a rate of  VAT, or a VAT classif ication, to the 
Customer (including but not limited to Out of Scope, Exempt, 0%, Standard Rate and 
Reduced Rate) but the Supplier subsequently regards such a rate , or such a 
classif ication, as being a mistake on its part. Further, in this scenario C2.8 (d), the 
Supplier shall be obliged to repay any overpayment by the Customer on demand.  

 
C2.9 Where the Supplier does not submit a VAT invoice together with any claim for payment of 

the Services Charges, the Customer shall not be liable to pay any VAT for that claim of  

the Service Charges either when it falls due or at any later date.  
 
C3 RECOVERY OF SUMS DUE 
 
C3.1 Wherever under this Contract any sum of  money is recoverable f rom or payable by the 

Supplier (including any sum which the Supplier is liable to pay to the Customer in respect 
of  any breach of  this Contract), the Customer may unilaterally deduct that sum f rom any 
sum then due, or which at any later time may become due to the Supplier under this 
Contract or under any other agreement or contract with the Customer.  

 
C3.2  Any overpayment by either Party, whether of  the Service Charges or of  VAT or otherwise, 

shall be a sum of  money recoverable by the Party who made the overpayment f rom the 
Party in receipt of  the overpayment.  

 
C3.3 The Supplier shall make all payments due to the Customer without any deduction whether 

by way of  set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or otherwise unless the Supplier has 
a valid court order requiring an amount equal to such deduction to be paid  by the 
Customer to the Supplier. 

 
C3.4 All payments due shall be made within a reasonable time unless otherwise specif ied in 

this Contract, in cleared funds, to such bank or building society account as the recipient 
Party may f rom time to time direct. 

 
C4 SERVICE CHARGES ADJUSTMENT ON EXTENSION  
 
C4.1 The Service Charges shall apply for the Initial Contract Period.  In the event that the 

Customer opts to extend the Initial Contract Period pursuant to Clause A2.2 the Customer 
will in the six (6) Month period prior to the expiry of  the Initial Contract Period, enter into 
good faith negotiations with the Supplier for a period of  not more than thirty (30) Working 
Days to agree a variation in the Service Charges. This same process shall apply each 
time the Customer elects to extend the Contract Period pursuant to Clause A2.2, with the 
six (6) Month period being that which is prior to the expiry of  the relevant period of  

extension. 
 

C4.2 If  a variation in the Service Charges is agreed between the Customer and the Supplier, 
the revised Service Charges shall take ef fect from the f irst day of any period of extension 
and shall apply during such period of  extension.  

 
C4.3 Any increase in the Service Charges pursuant to Clause C4.1 shall not exceed the 

average percentage change in the Off ice of  National Statistics’ Consumer Prices Index 
(CPI) or the Retail Price Index (RPI), whichever is the lowest between the 
Commencement Date and the date six (6) Months before the end of  the Initial Contract 
Period. For each subsequent period of  extension, any increase in the Service Charges 

pursuant to Clause C4.1 shall not exceed the average percentage change in the Off ice of 
National Statistics’ Consumer Prices Index (CPI) or the Retail Price Index (RPI), 
whichever is the lowest between the commencement date of  the relevant period of  
extension and the date six (6) Months before the end of  the relevant period of  extension.   

Page 115



 

 

 
C5 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 

 
C5.1 The Supplier shall ensure that the Services meet or exceed the Key Performance 

Indicators and the Performance Indicators in accordance with Schedule 5. 
 
C5.2 The Supplier shall provide the Customer with a Quarterly report detailing its performance 

in respect of  all performance measures set out in Schedule 5, with the exception of  several 
Monthly reporting obligations detailed at Annex A of  Schedule 5. The Supplier shall 
provide each Quarterly report to the Customer no less than seven (7) calendar day prior 
to the date of  each Contract Management Meeting referred to in Clause C5.4, or within 
such other timescale as the Parties may otherwise agree, and shall provide each Monthly 
report no later than 10 calendar days af ter the end of  each Month, or such other timescale 

as the Parties may agree. 
 
C5.3 In accordance with Schedule 5, if  the Supplier fails to provide the Services in accordance 

with WBS_KPI-01, WBS_KPI-03 and WBS_KPI-04, the Supplier may incur Service 
Credits. The Customer shall carry out a reconciliation of  all Service Credits incurred during 
a Contract Year so as to ensure that the limitation on the Provider’s liability as set out in 
Clause G1.3A is not exceeded. 

 
C5.4 During the f irst six (6) Months of  the Contract Period, the Contract Managers of  both 

Parties shall have regular Monthly meetings to monitor and review the performance of  this 
Contract, the achievement against the KPIs and other performance measures and the 

provision of the Services ("Contract Management Meeting"). Af ter the f irst six (6) Months 
of  the Contract Period, or once the Customer is satisf ied the Contract is ef fectively 
implemented and established, the f requency of  Contract Management Meetings shall 
change to be Quarterly. Such meetings shall be minuted by the Customer and copies of  
the minutes shall be circulated to and approved by both Parties.  

 
C5.5 Prior to each Contract Management Meeting, the Customer shall notify the Supplier’s 

Contract Manager, and vice versa, of  any problems relating to the provision of  the 
Services for discussion at the Contract Management Meeting. At the meeting, the Parties 
shall agree a plan to address such problems. In the event of  any problem being 
unresolved or a failure to agree a plan, the procedures set out in Clause H7 shall apply. 

Progress at implementing the plan shall be included  in the agenda for the next Contract 
Management Meeting. 

 
C5.6 The right to apply Service Credits shall be without prejudice to any other right or f inancial 

remedy available to the Customer arising out of  the Supplier's failure to meet a Key 
Performance Indicator. 

 
C5.7 The Supplier shall attend all such other meetings and provide such reports as may 

reasonably be required by the Customer including those reports and meetings as set out 
in Schedule 1 and Schedule 5. 

 
C6 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
C6.1 The Supplier shall work with the Customer to establish and maintain an ef fective and 

benef icial working relationship to ensure the Contract is delivered to at least the minimum 
required standard as specif ied. 

 
C6.2 The Supplier shall work with the Customer to establish suitable administrative 

arrangements for the ef fective management and performance monitoring of the Contract 
and shall provide information as requested to monitor and evaluate the success of  the 
Contract and the Supplier's management and delivery of  it.  

 

Page 116



 

 

C6.3 The Supplier shall supply information reasonably requested and relevant to the delivery 
of  the Services to the Customer, using formats and to the timescales specif ied by the 
Customer. 

 
C6.4 The Customer intends, wherever it can, to capture and collate information through its IT 

system(s) and accordingly the Supplier shall use the Mosaic system as its information 
management system, inputting information into the system as required by the Customer 
and as set out in the Specif ication. The Customer further reserves the right to make 
reasonable requests for information (at no additional charge) f rom the Supplier including 
ad-hoc requests for information f rom time to time. 

 
C6.5 The Customer, acting reasonably, may require the provision of any information relating to 

the performance of  the Services within the Service Charges 
 
C6.6 Where an ongoing, short-term or one-off requirement is agreed, both Parties agree that it 

shall be included, or deemed to be included within the Contract.  
 
C6.7 Contract Management Meetings as referred to in Clause C5 between the Customer and 

the Supplier shall also cover, as appropriate, resolving disputes and/or dealing with 
contractual breaches in accordance with the terms and conditions of  this Contract.  

 

C6.8 The Customer may undertake spot checks at any time to ensure that the Supplier is 
complying with its obligations under this Contract and the Supplier shall co -operate fully, 
at its own cost, with the Customer. 

 
C6.9 The Supplier shall be responsible for managing and reporting on any Sub -Contractual 

arrangements. Arrangements shall include mechanisms for the provision of management 
information, change control procedures and the prompt resolution of  any problems. The 
Customer shall agree with the Supplier day-to-day relationship management, contact 
points, communication f lows and escalation procedures.  

 
C6.10 The Supplier shall be expected to continuously improve the quality of the provision of the 

Services including that delivered by Sub-Contractors. 
 
STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS AND REGULATIONS 
 
D1 PREVENTION OF BRIBERY 

 
D1.1 The Supplier:  
 

(a) shall not, and shall procure that all Staf f  shall not, in connection with this Contract 
commit a Prohibited Act; and  

 
(b) warrants, represents and undertakes that it is not aware of  any f inancial or other 

advantage being given to any person working for or engaged by the Customer, or 
that an agreement has been reached to that ef fect, in connection with the execution 
of  this Contract, excluding any arrangement of  which full details have been disclosed 
in writing to the Customer before execution of  this Contract.  

 
D1.2 The Supplier shall:- 
 

(a) if  requested, provide the Customer with any reasonable assistance, at the 

Customer’s reasonable cost, to enable the Customer to perform any activity required 
by any relevant government or agency in any relevant jurisdiction for the purpose of 
compliance with the Bribery Act; and  

 
(b) within f ive (5) Working Days of  the Commencement Date, and annually thereaf ter, 

Page 117



 

 

certify to the Customer in writing (such certif ication to be signed by an of f icer of  the 
Supplier) compliance with this Clause D1 by the Supplier and all persons associated 
with it or other persons who are supplying goods or services in connection with this 
Contract. The Supplier shall provide such supporting evidence of compliance as the 
Customer may reasonably request. 

 
D1.3 The Supplier shall have an anti-bribery policy (which shall be disclosed to the Customer) 

to prevent any Staf f4 f rom committing a Prohibited Act and shall enforce it where 
appropriate. 

 

D1.4 The Supplier shall immediately notify the Customer in writing if  it becomes aware of  or 
suspects any Default of Clause D1.1 or has reason to believe that it has or any Staf f has:- 

 
(a) been subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged   Prohibited 

Act or Default of  Clause D1.1(b); 

 
(b) been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, 

proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in 
government procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of  a Prohibited 
Act; or 

 
(c) received a request or demand for any undue f inancial or other advantage of  any kind 

in connection with the performance of  this Contract or otherwise suspects that any 
person or party directly or indirectly connected with this Contract has committed or 

attempted  to commit a Prohibited Act or breach of  Clause D1.1(b).  
 

D1.5 If  the Supplier notif ies the Customer that it suspects or knows that there may be a breach 

of  Clause D1, the Supplier must respond promptly and in any event within ten (10) 
Working Days to the Customer's enquiries, co-operate with any investigation, and allow 
the Customer to audit books, records and any other relevant documentation. This  
obligation shall continue for twelve (12) calendar years following the expiry or termination 
of  this Contract. 

 
D1.6 The Customer may:-  
 

(a) terminate this Contract by written notice with immediate ef fect and recover f rom the 
Supplier the amount of  any Loss suf fered by the Customer resulting f rom the 
termination including the cost reasonably incurred by the Customer of  making other 

arrangements for the supply of the Services and any additional expenditure incurred 
by the Customer throughout the remainder of  the Contract Period if  the Supplier 
breaches Clause D1; and  

 
(b) recover in full f rom the Supplier any other Losses sustained by the Customer in 

consequence of  any Default of  Clause D1. 
 

 D1.7 Any notice of  termination under Clause D1.6 must specify: - 
 

(a) the nature of  the Prohibited Act; 
 
(b) the identity of  the party whom the Customer believes has committed the Prohibited 

Act; and 
 

(c) the date on which this Contract shall terminate.  
 

D1.8 Despite Clause I2 (Disputes), any dispute relating to:- 
 

(a) the interpretation of  Clause D1; or 

Page 118



 

 

 
(b) the amount or value of  any gif t, consideration or commission,  

 
shall be determined by the Customer acting reasonably having given due consideration 
to all relevant factors and its decision shall be f inal and conclusive.  

 
D1.9 Any termination under Clause D1.6 shall be without prejudice to any right or remedy 

which has already accrued or subsequently accrues to the Customer.  

 
D1.10 In exercising its rights or remedies under Clause D1.6, the Customer shall act in a 

reasonable and proportionate manner having regard to such matters as the gravity of  the 
conduct prohibited by Clause D1.1 and the identity of  the person performing that 
Prohibited Act/prohibited conduct. 

  
D2 ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 

D2.1 The Supplier shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of  Equality 
Legislation or other any Law, enactment, order, or regulation relating to discrimination 
(whether in age, race, gender, religion, disability, sexual orientation or otherwise) in 

employment. 

D2.2 The Parties shall not discriminate between or against Service Users, on the grounds of  
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or 
maternity, race, religion or belief , sex, sexual orientation or any other non-medical 
characteristics except as permitted by the Law.  

D2.3   The Supplier shall provide appropriate assistance and make reasonable adjustments for 
Service Users, who do not speak, read or write English or who have communication 
dif f iculties (including without limitation hearing, oral or learning impairments).  

D2.4   In performing this Contract the Supplier shall comply with the Equality Act 2010 and have 
due regard to the obligations contemplated by section 149 of  the Equality Act 2010 to: - 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by the Equality Act 2010; 
 

(b) advance equality of  opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic (as def ined in the Equality Act 2010) and persons who do not share it; 
ands 
 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
(as def ined in the Equality Act 2010) and persons who do not share it  and for the 
avoidance of  doubt this obligation shall apply whether or not the Supplier is a public 
authority for the purposes of  section 149 of  the Equality Act 2010.  

D2.5 The Supplier shall take all reasonable steps to secure the observance of  Clause D2.1 by 
all Staf f  employed in performance of  this Contract.  

D2.6 The Supplier shall notify the Customer forthwith in writing as soon as it becomes aware 
of  any investigation of  or proceedings brought against the Supplier under Equality 
Legislation or other any Law, enactment, order or regulation relating to discrimination. 

D2.7 Where any investigation is undertaken by a person or body empowered to conduct such 

investigation and/or proceedings are instituted in connection with any matter relating to 
the Supplier’s performance of  this Contract being in contravention of  Equalit y Legislation 
or other any Law, enactment, order or regulation relating to discrimination, the Supplier 

Page 119



 

 

shall, f ree of  charge:-  

(a) provide any information requested in the timescale allotted;  
 

(b) attend any meetings as required and permit the Staf f  to attend; 
 

(c) promptly allow access to and investigation of  any documents or data deemed to be 
relevant;  
 

(d) allow the Supplier and any of  the Staf f  to appear as witness in any ensuing 
proceedings, and  
 

(e) cooperate fully and promptly in every way required by the person or body conducting 
such investigation during the course of  that investigation.  

D2.8 Where any investigation is conducted or proceedings are brought under Equality 
Legislation or other any Law, enactment, order or regulation relating to discrimination  
which arise directly or indirectly out of any act or omission of the Supplier,  its agents, Sub-
Contractors or Staf f , and where there is a f inding against the Supplier in such investigation 
or proceedings, the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer with respect to all Losses 
arising out of  or in connection with any such investigation or proceedings and such other 
f inancial redress to cover any payment the Customer may have been ordered or required 
to pay to a third party.   

D2.9 The Supplier must ensure that all written information produced or used in connection with 
this Contract is as accessible as possible to people with disabilities and to people whose 
level of  literacy in English is limited. 

D2.10 The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer may carry out an impact analysis as 
def ined under the Equality Act 2010 in respect of  any aspect of  the provision of  the 
Services and the Supplier shall provide all necessary assistance and information to the 
Customer as may be required in relation to the performance of  an impact analysis by the 
Customer.  The Supplier shall implement any changes or adjustments that are required 
as a result of , or in connection with the outcome of the impact analysis undertaken by  the 
Customer. 

D3 THE CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 
 
D3.1 A person who is not a Party to this Contract shall have no right to enforce any of  its 

provisions which, expressly or by implication, confer a benef it on him, without the prior 
written agreement of  both Parties.  

 

D4 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
D4.1 The Supplier shall, when working at any Premises in the delivery of  the Services,  perform 

its obligations under this Contract in accordance with the Customer’s environmental 
policy, which is to conserve energy, water, wood, paper and other resources, reduce 
waste and phase out the use of  ozone depleting substances and minimise the release of  
greenhouse gases, volatile organic compounds and other substances damaging to health 
and the environment. 

 
D5 HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 
D5.1  The Supplier shall comply with the requirements of  the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 

1974 and any other Law relating to health and safety, which may apply to the Staf f  and 
other persons working in the performance of  its obligations under this Contract.  

 

Page 120



 

 

D5.2 The Supplier shall ensure that its health and safety policy statement (as required by the 
Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974) is made available to the Customer on request.  

 
D5.3 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately in the event of  any incident occurring 

in the performance of  its obligations under this Contract where that incident causes any 
personal injury to Staf f , Service Users or third parties and/or damage to property which 
could give rise to personal injury claim and/or other claim in relation to such damage to 
property. 

 
D5.4 Each Party shall promptly (within twenty four (24) hours) notify the other of any health and 

safety hazards which may exist or arise in connection with the performance of  its or the 
other Party’s obligations under this Contract.   

  
D5.5 The Supplier shall co-operate with of f icers of  the Customer, or its representatives, 

investigating any health and safety matter.  
 
D6 SAFEGUARDING  
 
D6.1 The Supplier shall make the necessary arrangements to ensure compliance with all Laws 

relevant to the duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of  children and vulnerable adults 
in the delivery of  all aspects of  the Service including but not limited to Section 11 of  the 

Children Act 2004, the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (as amended by the 
Protection of  Freedoms Act 2012) and The Mental Health Act 1983.  

 
D6.2 The Supplier, if  it has responsibility for the management and control of Regulated Activity 

(as def ined under the legislation identif ied below), shall make the necessary 
arrangements to ensure compliance with Section 11 of  the Children Act 2004 (the d uty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of  children in the delivery of all aspects of the Service) 
and the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (as amended by the Protection of  
Freedoms Act 2012). 

 
D6.3 The Supplier shall make the necessary arrangements to ensure compliance with 

registration requirements with the Disclosure and Barring Service.  
 
D6.4 To fulf il the commitment to safeguard and promote the welfare of  children and vulnerable 

adults, as appropriate, the Supplier shall have:- 
 

(a) Clear priorities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of  children/vulnerable 
adults explicitly stated in strategic policy documents;  

 
(b) A clear commitment by senior management to the importance of  safeguarding and 

promoting children/vulnerable adults’ welfare; 

 
(c) A clear line of  accountability within the organisation for work on safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of  children/vulnerable adults;  
 
(d) Recruitment and human resources procedures in compliance with Clause B5 in order 

to safeguard and promote the welfare of  children/vulnerable adults;  
 
(e) Procedures for dealing with allegations of  abuse against Staf f  and volunteers;  

 
(f ) Arrangements to ensure all Staf f  undertake appropriate training and ref resher training 

to enable them to carry out their responsibilities ef fectively;  

 
(g) Policies for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of  children/vulnerable adults and 

procedures that are in accordance with guidance and locally agreed inter-agency 
procedures; 

Page 121



 

 

 
(h) Arrangements to work ef fectively with other organisations to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of  children/vulnerable adults including sharing of  information;  
 
(i) A culture of  listening to and engaging in dialogue with children/vulnerable adults; and 
 
(j) Appropriate whistle-blowing procedures. 

 

D6.5 The Supplier shall immediately notify the Customer of  any information it reasonably 
requests to enable it to be satisf ied that the obligations of Clauses B5 and D6 have been 
met. 

 
PROTECTION OF INFORMATION 
 
E1 DATA PROTECTION 
 
E1.1 The Parties are each Controllers, independent of  one another and are separately 

responsible for meeting their respective obligations under Data Protection Legislation. 
 
E1.2 The Supplier shall comply with the data Processing provisions set out in Schedule 8. 
 

E2 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION  
 
E2.1 Except to the extent set out in this Clause or where disclosure is expressly permitted 

elsewhere in this Contract, each Party shall:- 
 

(a) treat the other Party's Conf idential Information as conf idential and safeguard it 
accordingly; and 

 
(b) not disclose the other Party's Conf idential Information to any other person without the 

owner's prior written consent.  
 

E2.2 Clause E2.1 shall not apply to the extent that:-  
 

(a) such disclosure is a requirement of  Law placed upon the Party making the disclosure, 
including any requirements for disclosure under the FOIA, Code of  Practice on 
Access to Government Information or the Environmental Information Regulations 
pursuant to Clause E3 (Transparency and Freedom of  Information);  

 
(b) such information was in the possession of  the Party making the disclosure without 

obligation of  conf identiality prior to its disclosure by the information owner;  
 

(c) such information was obtained f rom a third party without obligation of confidentiality;  
 
(d) such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise 

than by a breach of  this Contract; or 
 

(a) it is independently developed without access to the other Party's Conf idential 
Information. 

 
E2.3 The Supplier may only disclose the Customer's Confidential Information to Staff and Sub-

Contractors who are directly involved in the provision of  the Services and who need to 
know the information, and shall ensure that such Staf f  are aware of  and shall comply with 

these obligations of  conf identiality.  
 
E2.4 The Supplier shall not use any of  the Customer's Conf idential Information received 

Page 122



 

 

otherwise than for the purposes of  this Contract.  
 
E2.5 At the written request of  the Customer, the Supplier shall procure that the Staf f  identified 

in the Customer's notice signs a confidentiality undertaking prior to commencing any work 
in accordance with this Contract. 

 
E2.6 Nothing in this Contract shall prevent the Customer f rom disclosing the Supplier’s 

Conf idential Information:-  
 

(a) to any Crown body or any other public body. All Crown bodies or public bodies 

receiving such Conf idential Information shall be entitled to further disclose the 
Conf idential Information to other Crown bodies or other public bodies on the basis 
that the information is confidential and is not to be disclosed to a third party which is 
not part of  any Crown body or any public body;  

 
(b) to any consultant, professional adviser, contractor, supplier or other person engaged 

by the Customer or any person conducting a government of f ice gateway review;  
 
(c) to the extent that the Customer (acting reasonably) deems disclosure necessary or 

appropriate in the course of  carrying out its public functions;  
 

(d) for the purpose of  the examination and certif ication of  the Customer’s accounts;  
 
(e) on a conf idential basis for the purpose of the exercise of its rights under this Contract 

including for auditing purposes, to a body to novate, assign or dispose of  its rights 
under the Contract (Clause F1.8), to a Replacement Contractor (Clause H5.1(c)); 
Contractor (Clause H6.2) and for the purpose of  the examination and certif ication of 
the Customer's accounts;  or 

 
(f ) for any examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of  the National Audit Act 1983 of  the 

economy, ef f iciency and ef fectiveness with which the Customer has used its 
resources.  

  
E2.7 The Customer shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any government 

department, public body, employee, third party or Sub-Contractor to whom the Supplier’s 
Conf idential Information is disclosed pursuant to Clause E2.6 is made aware of  the 
Customer’s obligations of  conf identiality.  

 
E2.8 Nothing in this Clause E2 shall prevent either Party f rom using any techniques, ideas or 

know-how gained during the performance of  this Contract in the course of  its normal 
business to the extent that this use does not result in a disclosure of  the other Party's 
Conf idential Information or an inf ringement of  Intellectual Property Rights.  

 
E2.9 Any breach by the Supplier of  Clauses E2.1 – E2.4 shall be a breach incapable of  remedy 

for the purposes of  Clause H2 and shall entitle the Customer (at its absolute discretion) 
to exercise its rights under the corresponding provisions of  Clause H2.  

 
E2.10 The Parties acknowledge that except for any information which is exempt f rom disclosure 

in accordance with the provisions of  the FOIA, the content of  this Contract is not 
Conf idential Information. The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its 
absolute discretion whether any of  the content of  the Contract is exempt f rom disclosure 
in accordance with the provisions of  the FOIA. 

 

E2.11 Notwithstanding any other term of  this Contract, the Supplier hereby gives consent for the 
Customer to publish the Contract in its entirety (but with any information which is exempt 
f rom disclosure in accordance with the provisions of  the FOIA redacted) including f rom 
time to time agreed changes to the Contract, to the general public.  

Page 123



 

 

 
E3 TRANSPARENCY AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
 
E3.1 The Parties acknowledge that the content of  this Contract, including any changes to this 

Contract agreed f rom time to time (the "Transparency Information") is not Conf idential 
Information.  

 
E3.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of  this Contract, the Supplier hereby gives its consent 

for the Customer to publish to the general public the Transparency Information in its 
entirety (but with any Information which is exempt f rom disclosure in accordance with the 

provisions of the FOIA or EIR redacted). The Customer shall, prior to publication, consult 
with the Supplier on the manner and format of  publication and to inform its decision 
regarding any redactions but shall have the f inal decision in its absolute discretion. 

 
E3.3 The Supplier shall assist and co-operate with the Customer to enable the Customer to 

publish the Transparency Information. 
 
E3.4 The Customer acknowledges that it will only exclude Transparency Information f rom 

publication in exceptional circumstances and agrees that where it decides to exclude 
Information f rom publication it will provide a clear explanation to the Supplier.  If  the 
Customer believes that publication of any element of the Transparency Information would 

be contrary to the public interest, the Customer shall be entitled to exclude such 
Information f rom publication. The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer would expect 
the public interest by default to be best served by publication of  the Transparency 
Information in its entirety.  

 
E3.5 The Customer shall publish the Transparency Information in a format that assists  the 

general public in understanding the relevance and completeness of  the Transparency 
Information being published to ensure the public obtain a fair view on how the Contract is 
being performed, having regard to the context of  the wider commercial relationship with 
the Supplier. 

 

E3.6 The Supplier agrees that any Information it holds that is reasonably relevant to or that 
arises f rom the provision of  the Services shall be provided to the Customer on request 
unless the cost of  doing so would exceed the appropriate limit prescribed under section 
12 of  the FOIA. The Customer may disclose such Information under the FOIA and the 
EIRs and may (except for Commercially Sensitive Information, Conf idential Information 
(subject to clause E2.6(c)) and E11) publish such Information. The Supplier shall provide 
to the Customer within f ive (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Customer may 
reasonably specify) any such Information requested by the Customer. 

 
E3.7 The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer is subject to the requirements of  the FOIA 

and the Environmental Information Regulations and shall assist and cooperate with the 
Customer to enable the Customer to comply with its Information disclosure obligations.  

 
E3.8 The Supplier shall and shall procure that any Sub-Contractors shall:- 
 

(a) transfer to the Customer all Requests for Information that it receives as soon as 
practicable and in any event within two (2) Working Days of  receiving a Request for 
Information; 

 
(b) provide the Customer with a copy of all Information in its possession, or power in the 

form that the Customer requires within f ive (5) Working Days (or such other period 

as the Customer may specify) of  the Customer's request; and  
 
(c) provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Customer to enable 

the Customer to respond to the Request for Information within the time for compliance 

Page 124



 

 

set out in section 10 of  the FOIA or Regulation 5 of  the Environmental Information 
Regulations.  

 
E3.9 The Customer shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion and 

notwithstanding any other provision in this Contract or any other agreement whether the 
Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other Information is exempt f rom 
disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or the Environmental Information 
Regulations. 

 
E3.10 In no event shall the Supplier respond directly to a Request for Information unless 

expressly authorised to do so by the Customer.  
 
E3.11 The Supplier acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of  Clause E3.7) the 

Customer may, acting in accordance with the Secretary of  State for Constitutional Af fairs 
Code of  Practice on the Discharge of the Functions of Public Authorities under section 45 
of  the Freedom of  Information Act 2000 (“the Code”), be obliged under the FOIA, or the 
Environmental Information Regulations to disclose information concerning the Supplier or 
the Services in certain circumstances:-  

 
(a) without consulting the Supplier; or  
 

(b) following consultation with the Supplier and having taken their views into account;  
 
provided always that where E3.11(a) applies the Customer shall, in accordance with any 
recommendations of  the Code, take reasonable steps, where appropriate, to give the 
Supplier advanced notice, or failing that, to draw the disclosure to the Supplier’s attention 
af ter any such disclosure.  

 
E3.12 The Supplier shall ensure that all Information is retained for disclosure and shall permit 

the Customer to inspect such records as requested f rom time to time.  
 

E3.13 The Supplier acknowledges that the Customer may be obliged to disclose Commercially 

Sensitive Information in accordance with this Clause E3. 
 

E4 PUBLICITY, MEDIA AND OFFICIAL ENQUIRIES 
 
E4.1 The Supplier shall not:- 
 

(a) make any press announcements or publicise this Contract or its contents in any way; 
or 

 
(b) use the Customer's name or brand/logo in any promotion or marketing or 

announcements of  orders 
 

without the Approval of  the Customer which shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. 

 
E4.2 Both Parties shall take reasonable steps to ensure that their employees, agents, sub -

contractors, suppliers, professional advisors and consultants comply with Clause E4.1.  
 
E4.3 If  so requested by the Customer, the notepaper and other written material of  the Supplier 

and Sub-Contractors relating to the delivery of  the Services shall carry only logos and 
markings Approved by the Customer. 

 
E4.4 All publicity and marketing material produced by the Supplier and/or its Sub -Contractors 

in relation to this Contract shall be submitted to the Customer for Approval and no such 
items shall be printed (other than for purposes of Approval) until such Approval is received 

Page 125



 

 

 
E5 SECURITY  
 
E5.1 The Supplier shall provide the Customer upon request copies of  its written security 

procedures and proof of independent validation. The Supplier shall af ford the Customer, 
upon request, opportunity to inspect the Supplier’s security arrangements prior to the 
Commencement Date and at any time during the Contract Period.  

 
E5.2 The Supplier shall comply with the minimum information security controls detailed at 

Schedule 8 to this Contract at all time when processing the Customer's Personal Data for 

the purposes or in connection with the delivery of  the Services. Failure by the Supplier to 
comply with this obligation shall constitute a Material Default and be dealt with in 
accordance with Clause H2. 

 
E6 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS   
 
E6.1 All Intellectual Property Rights in any guidance, specif ications, instructions, toolkits, plans, 

data, drawings, databases, patents, patterns, logos, branding, models, designs or other 
material (the "IP Materials"):- 

 
(a) furnished to or made available to the Supplier by or on behalf  of  the Customer shall 

remain the property of  the Customer; and 
  
(b) prepared by or for the Supplier on behalf  of the Customer for use, or intended use, in 

relation to the performance by the Supplier of its obligations under the  Contract shall 
belong to the Customer; 

 
and the Supplier shall not (except when necessary for the performance of  this Contract) 
without prior Approval, use or disclose any Intellectual Property Rights in the IP Materials. 
 

E6.2 The Supplier hereby assigns to the Customer, with full title guarantee, all Intellectual 
Property Rights which may subsist in the IP Materials prepared in accordance with Clause 

E6.1(b).  This assignment shall take ef fect on the date of  this Contract or as a present 
assignment of  future rights that shall take ef fect immediately on the coming into existence 
of  the Intellectual Property Rights produced by the Supplier. The Supplier shall execute 
all documentation necessary to execute this assignment.   

 
E6.3 The Supplier shall waive or procure a waiver of  any moral rights subsisting in copyright 

produced by this Contract or the performance of  this Contract.   
 
E6.4 The Customer shall grant to the Supplier a non-exclusive, revocable, f ree licence for the 

Contract period to use the IP Materials where it is necessary for the Supplier to supply the 

Services. The Supplier shall have the right to sub-licence the Supplier's use of  the IP 
Materials. At the end of  the Contract Period or early termination thereof  the Supplier shall 
cease to use and shall ensure that any Sub-Contractor ceases to use the IP Materials. 

 
E6.4A The Customer shall grant to the Supplier a non-exclusive, revocable, f ree licence for the 

Contract period to use the Customer Sof tware, namely Mosaic, where it is necessary for 
the Supplier to supply the Services. Subject to prior Approval of  the Sub-Contractor, the 
Supplier may sub-licence the Supplier's use of  the Mosaic. At the end of  the Contract 
Period or early termination thereof  the Supplier shall cease to use and shall ensure that 
any Sub-Contractor ceases to use Mosaic. The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer in 
respect of  all Losses the Customer sustains as a result of  the Supplier’s  and any Sub-

Contractor’s use or misuse of  Mosaic. 
 
E6.5 The Supplier shall grant the Customer a non-exclusive, irrevocable, f ree licence for the 

Contract Period to use the Supplier's Intellectual Property Rights where it is necessary for 

Page 126



 

 

the Customer in the provision of  the Services. At the end of  the Contract Period, the 
Customer shall cease to use the Supplier's Intellectual Property Rights.  

 
E6.6 The Supplier shall obtain Approval f rom the Customer before using any material in relation 

to the performance of  its obligations under the Contract which is or may be subject to any 
third party Intellectual Property Rights. The Supplier shall ensure that the third party owner 
of  any Intellectual Property Rights that are or which may be used to perform this Contract 
grants to the Customer a non-exclusive licence or, if  itself a licensee of  those rights, shall 
grant to the Customer an authorised sub-licence, to use, reproduce, modify, develop and 
maintain the Intellectual Property Rights in the same.  Such licence or sub -licence shall 

be non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty f ree and irrevocable. That licence or sub -licence shall 
also include the right for the Customer to sub-licence, transfer, novate or assign to other 
public bodies, the Replacement Contractor or to any other third party supplying services 
to the Customer.  

 
E6.7 The Supplier shall not inf ringe any Intellectual Property Rights of  any third party in 

supplying the Services. The Supplier shall, during and af ter the Contract Period, indemnify 
and keep indemnif ied and hold the Customer harmless f rom and against all  Losses which 
the Customer may suf fer or incur as a result of  or in connection with any breach of  this 
Clause E6, except where any such claim arises f rom:- 

 

(a) items or materials based upon designs supplied by the Customer; or 
 
(b) the use of  data supplied by the Customer which is not required to be verif ied by the 

Supplier under any  provision of  this Contract.  
 

E6.8 The Customer shall notify the Supplier in writing of  any claim or demand brought against 
the Customer for inf ringement or alleged inf ringement of  any Intellectual Property Rights 
in materials supplied or licensed by the Supplier.  

 
E6.9 The Supplier shall at its own expense conduct all negotiations and any litigation arising in 

connection with any claim for breach of  Intellectual Property Rights in materials supplied 

or licensed by the Supplier, provided always that the Supplier: -  
 

(a) shall consult the Customer on all substantive issues which arise during the conduct 
of  such litigation and negotiations;  

 
(b) shall take due and proper account of  the interests of  the Customer; and  
 
(c) shall not settle or compromise any claim without the Customer’s Approval (not to be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed). 
  

E6.10 The Customer shall at the request of  the Supplier provide the Supplier with all reasonable 
assistance for the purpose of  contesting any claim or demand made or action brought 
against the Customer or the Supplier by a third party for inf ringement or alleged  
inf ringement of  any third party Intellectual Property Rights in connection with the 
performance of  the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract. The Supplier shall 
indemnify the Customer for all Losses incurred in doing so.  

 
E6.11 The Customer and the Supplier shall not make any admissions which may be prejudicial 

to the defence or settlement of  any claim, demand or action for inf ringement or alleged 
inf ringement of  any Intellectual Property Rights by the Customer or the Suppl ier in 
connection with the performance of  this Contract.  

 
E6.12 If  a claim, demand or action for inf ringement or alleged inf ringement of  any Intellectual 

Property Rights is made in connection with this Contract or in the reasonable opinion of  
the Supplier is likely to be made, the Supplier shall notify the Customer and, at its own 

Page 127



 

 

expense and subject to the Approval of the Customer (not to be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed), use its best endeavours to:- 

 
(a) modify any or all of  the Services without reducing the performance or functionality of 

the same, or substitute alternative Services of  equivalent performance and 
functionality, so as to avoid the inf ringement or the alleged inf ringement, provided 
that the provisions herein shall apply mutatis mutandis to such modif ied Services or 
to the substitute Services; or 

 
(b)  procure a licence to use and supply the Services, which are the subject of  the alleged 

inf ringement, on terms which are acceptable to the Customer,  
 

and in the event that the Supplier is unable to comply with Clauses E6.12(a) or (b) within 
twenty (20) Working Days of  receipt of  the Supplier’s notif ication the Customer may 
terminate this Contract with immediate ef fect by notice in writing.  

 
E7 AUDIT  
 
E7.1 The Supplier shall keep and maintain until seven (7) years af ter the end of  the Contract 

Period, or as long a period as may be agreed between the Parties, full and accurate 
records of  this Contract including the Services supplied under it, all expenditure 

reimbursed by the Customer, and all payments made by the Customer.  The Supplier 
shall on request af ford the Customer or the Customer’s Representatives such access to 
those records as may be requested by the Customer in connection with this Contract.  

 
E7.2 The Customer may at any time during the Contract Period and for a period of  twelve (12) 

Months af ter the Contract Period, conduct an audit for the following purposes: - 
 

(a) to verify the accuracy of  the Service Charges that become due and payable by the 
Customer to the Supplier in respect of  the Services (and proposed or actual Changes 
to them in accordance with the Contract) or the costs of  all suppliers (including Sub-
Contractors) of  the Services; 

 
(b) to review the integrity, conf identiality and security of  the Customer Personal Data;  

 
(c) to review the Supplier's compliance with the DPA, FOIA and other Law applicable to 

the Services; 
 

(d) to review the Supplier's compliance with its obligations under the Contract;  
 

(e) to review any records created during the provision of  the Services;  
 

(f ) to review any books of account kept by the Supplier  in connection with the provisions 
of  the Services; 

 
(g) to carry out the audit and certif ication of  the Customer's accounts;  

 
(h) to carry out an examination of  the economy ef f iciency and ef fectiveness with which 

the Customer has used its resources;  
 

(i) to verify the accuracy and completeness of  any management information delivered 
or required by this Contract; and 

 

(j) generally to exercise its rights in relation to Open-Book Accounting contained within 
this Contract 

 
E7.3 The Customer shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of  each 

Page 128



 

 

audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Supplier or delay the provision of  the Services.  
 
E7.4 Subject to the Customer's obligation of  conf identiality, the Supplier shall on demand 

provide the Customer  and any other Regulatory Body (and/or their agents or 
representatives) with all reasonable co-operation, access and assistance in relation to 
each audit, including:- 

 
(a) all Information requested within the permitted scope of  the audit;  
 
(b) reasonable access to any premises or sites controlled by the Supplier and to any 

Equipment and Assets used (whether exclusively or non-exclusively) in the 
performance of  the Services; 

 
(c) access to the Staf f ; 

 
(d) access to sof tware owned or licenced to the Supplier including sof tware which is or 

will be used by the Supplier for the purposes of  providing the Services; and  
 

(e) accommodation (including desks) at the Supplier's premises as reasonably required 
to conduct the audit. 

 

E7.5 The Customer shall endeavour to (but shall not be obliged to) provide at least fourteen 
(14) calendar days' notice of  its intention to conduct an audit.  

 
E7.6 If  an audit identif ies that:- 
 

(a) the Supplier has committed a material Default which is capable of  remedy, the 
Supplier shall correct such Default as soon as reasonably practicable and implement 
an Improvement Plan in accordance with the Improvement  Plan Process; 

 
(b) the Customer has overpaid any charges that became due and payable by the 

Customer to the Supplier in respect of  the Services properly rendered, the Supplier 

shall pay to the Customer the amount overpaid within twenty (20) Working Days. The 
Customer may deduct the relevant amount f rom any further payment when due if  the 
Supplier fails to make the payment; and 

 
(c) the Customer has underpaid any charges that become due and payable by the 

Customer to the Supplier in respect of  the Services properly rendered, the Customer 
shall pay to the Supplier the amount of  the under-payment less the cost incurred by 
the Customer of  the audit if  this was due to a Default by the Supplier within twenty 
(20) Working Days. 

 

E8 EXCEPTIONAL AUDITS 
 
E8.1 The Supplier shall permit the Customer and/or its appointed representatives access to 

conduct an audit (an "Exceptional Audit") of  the Supplier in any of  the following 
circumstances:- 

 
(a) actual or suspected impropriety or Fraud; 

 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to suspect that:- 

 
(i) the Supplier is in Default under the Contract; 

 
(ii) the Supplier is in f inancial distress or at risk of insolvency or bankruptcy, or any 

fact, circumstance or matter which is reasonably likely to cause the Supplier 
f inancial distress and result in a risk of  the Supplier becoming insolvent or 

Page 129



 

 

bankrupt; or 
 
(iii) a breach of  the provisions set out in Schedule 8. 
 
(each an "Exceptional Circumstance"). 
 

E8.2 If  the Customer notif ies the Supplier of an Exceptional Circumstance and that it wishes to 
conduct an Exceptional Audit, the Supplier shall provide access in accordance with 
Clause E7.4 as soon as reasonably practicable after such request and in any event within 
forty eight (48) hours of  the request having been made. 

 
E9 AUDIT COSTS 
 
E9.1 The Parties agree that they shall each bear their own respective costs and expenses 

incurred in respect of  compliance with their obligations under Clauses E7.2 to E8.2 unless 
an audit identif ies a material Default by the Supplier in which case the Sup plier shall 
reimburse:- 

 
(a) the Customer for all the Customer's identif iable, reasonable costs and expenses 

properly incurred in the course of  the audit; and  
 

(b) where the Customer, a Regulatory Body and Auditor General appoint another body 
to conduct an audit, the Customer shall be able to recover on demand f rom the 
Supplier the identif iable, reasonable and properly incurred costs and expenses of the 
relevant body. 

  
E 10 OPEN BOOK ACCOUNTANCY REQUIREMENTS 
 
E10.1 The Supplier shall comply with the open book and f inancial reporting requirements 

contained at Part 2 of  Schedule 3. 
 
E11 MALICIOUS SOFTWARE 

 
E11.1 The Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure the most up-to-date antivirus 

def initions available f rom an industry-accepted antivirus sof tware seller to minimise the 
impact of  Malicious Sof tware and counter the latest threats.  

 
E11.2 Notwithstanding Clause E11.1, if  Malicious Sof tware is found, the Parties shall co -operate 

to reduce the ef fect of Malicious Software and, particularly if  Malicious Sof tware causes 
loss of operational efficiency or loss or corruption of Customer Personal Data or any other 
data provided by the Customer, assist each other to mitigate any losses and to restore 
the Services to their desired operating ef f iciency. 

 
E11.3 Any cost arising out of  the actions of  the Parties taken in compliance with the provisions 

of  Clause E11.2 shall be borne by the Parties as follows:- 
 

(a) by the Supplier where the Malicious Sof tware originates f rom the Supplier Software, 
third party sof tware licenced to the Supplier or the Customer Personal Data or other 
data provided by the Customer whilst all such Customer Personal Data and other 
data was under the control of  the Supplier; and 

 
(b) by the Customer if  the Malicious Sof tware originates f rom the Customer Sof tware, 

third party sof tware licenced to the Customer or the Customer Personal Data whilst 

all such Customer Personal Data and other data was under the control of  the 
Customer. 

 
 

Page 130



 

 

CONTROL OF THE CONTRACT 
 
F1 TRANSFER AND SUB-CONTRACTING 
 
F1.1 Except where F1.4 and F1.5 applies, the Supplier shall not assign, sub -contract or in any 

other way dispose of  this Contract or any part of  it without prior Approval.   
 
F1.1A The Customer hereby grants Approval to the Supplier in respect of  the Sub-Contractors 

identif ied by the Supplier in its Tender. 
 

F1.2 The Supplier shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of  its Sub -Contractors as 
though they are its own. 

 
F1.3 Where the Customer has consented to the placing of Sub-Contracts, copies of each Sub-

Contract shall, at the request of  the Customer, be sent by the Supplier to the Customer 
as soon as reasonably practicable but at least within ten (10) Working Days of  the request.
  

 
F1.4 Notwithstanding Clause F1.1, the Supplier may assign to a third party (“the Assignee”) 

the right to receive payment of  the Service Charges or any part thereof  due to the Supplier 
under this Contract (including any interest which the Supplier may incur under Clause 

C2.6). Any assignment under this Clause F1.4 shall be subject to: - 
 

(a) reduction of  any sums in respect of  which the Customer exercises its right of  recovery 
under Clause C3 (Recovery of  Sums Due); 

 
(b) all related rights of  the Customer under the Contract in relation to the recovery of  

sums due but unpaid; and 
 

(c) the Customer receiving notif ication under both Clauses F1.5 and F1.6; 
 

(d) The Supplier being fully responsible for the proper performance of  the Contract and 

fulf illing all of  its obligations under the Contract.   
 

F1.5 In the event that the Supplier assigns the right to receive the Service Charges under 
Clause F1.4, the Supplier shall notify the Customer in writing of  the assignment and the 
date upon which the assignment becomes ef fective.  

 
F1.6 The Supplier shall ensure that the Assignee notif ies the Customer of  the Assignee’s 

contact information and bank account details to which the Customer shall make payment 
at least f ive (5) Working Days prior to submission of  the relevant invoice.  

 

F1.7 The provisions of  Clause C2 (Payment and VAT) shall continue to apply in all other 
respects af ter the assignment and shall not be amended without the Approval of  the 
Customer.     

 
F1.8 Subject to Clause F1.10, the Customer may assign, novate or otherwise dispose of  its 

rights and obligations under this Contract or any part thereof  to: - 
 

(a)   any public body; or 
 

(b)   any other body established by the Crown or under statute in order substantially to 
perform any of  the functions that had previously been performed by the Customer; or  

 
(c) any private sector body which substantially performs the functions of  the Customer,  

 
provided that any such assignment, novation or other disposal shall not increase the 

Page 131



 

 

burden of  the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract.    
 
F1.9 Any change in the legal status of  the Customer such that it ceases to be a public body 

shall not, subject to Clause F1.8, af fect the validity of  this Contract.  In such 
circumstances, this Contract shall bind and inure to the benef it of  any successor body to 
the Customer. 

 
F1.10 The Customer may disclose to any of  its assignees Conf idential Information of  the 

Supplier which relates to the performance of  the Supplier’s obligations under this Contract.  
In such circumstances the Customer shall authorise the assignee to use such Conf idential 

Information only for purposes relating to the performance of  the Supplier’s obligations 
under this Contract and for no other purpose and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure 
that the assignee gives a conf identiality undertaking in relation to  such Conf idential 
Information.   

 
F1.11 Each Party shall at its own cost and expense carry out, or use all reasonable endeavours 

to ensure the carrying out of , whatever further actions (including the execution of  further 
documents) the other Party reasonably requires f rom time to time for the purpose of  giving 
that other Party the full benef it of  the provisions of  this Contract.   

 
F2 WAIVER 

 
F2.1 The failure of  either Party to insist upon strict performance of  any provision of  this 

Contract, or the failure of  either Party to exercise, or any delay in exercising, any right or 
remedy shall not constitute a waiver of  that right or remedy and shal l not cause a 
diminution of  the obligations established by this Contract.  

 
F2.2 No waiver shall be ef fective unless it is expressly stated to be a waiver and communicated 

to the other Party in writing in accordance with Clause A5 (Notices).   
 
F2.3 A waiver of  any right or remedy arising f rom a breach of  this Contract shall not constitute 

a waiver of  any right or remedy arising f rom any other or subsequent breach of  this 

Contract. 
 
F3 CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURE  
 

Without prejudice to any other provision contained in the Contract:  
  

CUSTOMER CHANGE 

 
F3.1 The Customer has the right to propose a Change in the Services in accordance with this 

Clause F3.1. If  the Customer requires a Change, it must serve a Customer Change 
Control Notice on the Supplier. The Customer shall not propose a Change that: - 

 
(a) requires the Services to be performed in a way that inf ringes any Law or is 

inconsistent with Good Industry Practice; 
 
(b) would cause any consent to be revoked (or become unobtainable);  

 
(c) would, if  implemented, result in a substantial change in the nature of  the Services; 

or  
 
(d) would materially and adversely af fect the Supplier's ability to perform the Services 

or cause or be likely to cause loss of  revenue or incur expenditure in a way that is 
not adequately compensated for. 

 

F3.2 The Customer Change Control Notice shall:- 

Page 132



 

 

 
(a) set out the Change required in suf f icient detail to enable the Supplier to calculate and 

provide an estimate of  the variation in costs and or loss in revenue (the “Supplier’s 
Change Control Response”); and 

 
(b) require the Supplier to provide the Customer within ten (10) Working Days (or such 

other reasonable period of  time as the Parties shall agree) of  receipt of  the 
Customer Change Control Notice with the Supplier’s Change Control Response.  

 
F3.3 As soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) Working Days (or such other 

reasonable period of  time as the Parties shall agree) af ter having received the Customer 
Change Control Notice, the Supplier shall deliver to the Customer the Supplier’s Change 
Control Response. The Supplier’s Change Control Response shall include the opinion of  
the Supplier on:- 

 
(a) whether relief  f rom compliance with obligations is required, including the obligations 

of  the Supplier to meet the Service Levels contained in the Contract during the 
implementation of  the Change; 

 
(b) any impact on the provision of  the Services; 
 

(c) any amendment required to this Contract as a result of  the Change; and  
 
(d) any loss of  revenue or prospective revenue to the Supplier or Sub -Contractor that 

results f rom the Change. 
 

F3.4 As soon as practicable af ter the Customer receives the Supplier’s Change Control 
Response, the Parties shall discuss and agree the issues set out in the Supplier’s Change 
Control Response, including:- 

 
(a) providing evidence that the Supplier has used all reasonable endeavours (including 

the use of  competitive quotes) to oblige its Sub–Contractors (if  any) to minimise any 

increase in costs and maximise any reduction in costs;  
 
(b) demonstrating that the relevant Changes shall be implemented in the most cost 

ef fective manner; and 
 
(c) in such discussions the Customer may modify the Customer Change Control 

Notice, in which case the Supplier shall, as soon as practicable, and in any event 
not more than seven (7) Working Days (or such other reasonable period of  time as 
the Parties shall agree) af ter receipt of  such modif ication, notify the Customer of  
any consequential changes to the Supplier’s Change Control Response.  

 
F3.5 If  the Parties cannot agree on the contents of  the Supplier’s Change Control Response 

then the dispute shall be determined in accordance with Clause I2 (Dispute).  
 
F3.6 As soon as practicable after the contents of the Supplier’s Change Control Response has 

been agreed or otherwise determined pursuant to Clause I2 (Dispute), the Customer 
shall:- 

 
(a) conf irm in writing the Supplier’s Change Control Response (as modif ied); or 
 
(b) withdraw the Customer Change Control Notice. 

 
F3.7 If  the Customer does not conf irm in writing the Supplier’s Change Control Response (as 

modif ied) within f ifteen (15) Working Days (or such other reasonable period of time as the 
Parties shall agree) of  the contents of  the Supplier’s Change Control Response having 

Page 133



 

 

been agreed in accordance with Clause F3.4 above or determined pursuant to Clause 
F3.6 above, then the Customer Change Control Notice shall be deemed to have been 
withdrawn. 

 
F3.8 In the event that the Supplier’s Change Control Response has been conf irmed by the 

Customer, the relevant Change shall be implemented within seven (7) Working Days of  
the Customer’s acceptance. Within this period, the Parties shall consult and agree t he 
remaining details as soon as practicable and shall enter into any documents to amend 
this Contract which are necessary to give ef fect to the Change.  

 

SUPPLIER CHANGE 
 
F3.9 If  the Supplier wishes to introduce a Change, it must serve a Supplier Change Control 

Notice on the Customer. 
 
F3.10 The Supplier Change Control Notice must:- 

 
(a) set out the proposed Change in suf f icient detail which detail shall include but not be 

limited to impact on Service delivery and f inancial implications so as to enable the 
Customer to evaluate it in full; 

 
(b) specify the Supplier’s reasons for proposing the Change;  
 
(c) request the Customer to consult with the Supplier with a view to deciding whether to 

agree to the Change and, if  so, what consequential changes the Customer requires 
as a result; 

 
(d) indicate any implications of  the Change(s); and  
 
(e) indicate if  there are any dates by which a decision by the Customer is critical.  

 
F3.11 The Customer shall evaluate the Supplier’s proposed Change in good faith, taking into 

account all relevant issues, including whether:- 
 

(a) the Change af fects the quality of  the Services or the likelihood of  successful 

delivery of  the Services; 
 
(b) the Change shall interfere with the relationship of  the Customer with third parties;  
 
(c) the f inancial strength of  the Supplier is suf f icient to perform the Change; and  
 
(d) the Change materially af fects the risks or costs to which the Customer is exposed.  

 
F3.12 As soon as practicable af ter receiving the Supplier Change Control Notice, the Parties 

shall meet and discuss the matter referred to in it. During their discussions the Customer 

may propose modif ications or accept or reject the Supplier Change Contro l Notice. 
 
F3.13 If  the Customer accepts the Supplier Change Control Notice (with or without modif ication), 

the relevant Change shall be implemented within seven (7) Working Days of  the 
Customer’s acceptance. Within this period, the Parties shall consult and agree the 
remaining details as soon as practicable and shall enter into any documents to amend 
this Contract which are necessary to give ef fect to the Change.  

 
F3.14 If  the Customer rejects the Supplier Change Control Notice, it shall give its reasons for 

such a rejection.  
 

F3.15 The Customer cannot reject a Change that is required in order to conform to change in 

Page 134



 

 

Law relating to the Services which was not reasonably foreseeable at the Commencement 
Date provided that such a Change does not materially af fect the quality or performance 
of  the Services as required under the Contract.  

 
F4 SEVERABILITY 
 
F4.1 If  any provision of this Contract is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason by 

any court of  competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be severed and the remainder of  
the provisions of this Contract shall continue in full force and ef fect as if this Contract had 
been executed with the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision eliminated.    

 
F5 REMEDIES IN THE EVENT OF INADEQUATE PERFORMANCE 

 
F5.1 In the event that the Customer is of  the reasonable opinion that there has been a Default 

of  this Contract by the Supplier, then the Customer may, without prejudice to its rights 

under Clause H2 (Termination on Default) or H7 (Improvement Plan Process),  do any of  
the following:- 

 
(a) without terminating this Contract, itself  supply or procure the supply of  all or part of  

the Services until such time as the Supplier shall have demonstrated to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the Customer that the Supplier shall once more be able to 
supply all or such part of  the Services in accordance with this Contract; and/or 

 
(b) without terminating the whole of  this Contract, terminate this Contract in respect of  

part of  the Services only (whereupon a corresponding reduction in the Service 
Charges shall be made) and thereaf ter itself  supply or procure a third party to supply  

such part of  the Services. 
 

F5.2 Without prejudice to its rights under Clause C3 (Recovery of  Sums Due), the Customer 
may charge the Supplier for any costs reasonably incurred and any reasonable 
administration costs in respect of  the supply of any part of  the Services by the Customer 
or a third party to the extent that such costs exceed the payment which would otherwise 
have been payable to the Supplier for such part of  the Services and provided that the 
Customer uses its reasonable endeavours to mitigate any additional expenditure in 
obtaining replacement Services.   

 

F6 REMEDIES CUMULATIVE 
 
F6.1 Except as otherwise expressly provided by this Contract, all remedies available to either 

Party for breach of  Contract are cumulative and may be exercised concurrently or 
separately, and the exercise of  any one remedy shall not be deemed an election of  such 
remedy to the exclusion of  other remedies. 

 
F7 FINANCIAL ASSURANCE 
 
F7.1 The Supplier shall immediately disclose to the Customer any material changes to the 

organisation that impacts on its ongoing financial viability including details of the revenue 

replacement strategy and impact awareness on the organisation's profitabi lity and stability 
where signif icant contracts are due to end. 

 
F7.2 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately of  proposed changes to the 

organisational control or group structure, proposed mergers or acquisitions or proposed 
changes to the Supplier's f inancial viability.  

 
F7.3 Where requested by the Customer, the Supplier shall be obliged to provide any f inancial 

information which could include but is not limited to a copy of  the Supplier's annual 
accounts and annual returns. 

Page 135



 

 

 
F8 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 
F8.1 This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties in respect of  the 

matters dealt with therein. This Contract supersedes all prior negotiations between the 
Parties and all representations and undertakings made by one Party to the other, whether 
written or oral, except that this Clause shall not exclude liability in respect of any Fraud or 
f raudulent misrepresentation.  

 
F8.2 Each of  the Parties acknowledges and agrees that in entering into  this Contract, it does 

not rely on, and shall have no remedy in respect of , any statement, representation, 
warranty or undertaking (whether negligently or innocently made) other than as expressly 
set out in the Contract. The only remedy available to either Party for any such statements, 
representation, warranty or understanding shall be for breach of  contract under the terms 
of  the Contract. 

 
F9 COUNTERPARTS  
 
F9.1 This Contract may be executed in counterparts, each of  which when executed and 

delivered shall constitute an original but all counterparts together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument.   

 
LIABILITIES 
 
G1 LIABILITY, INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE  
 
G1.1 Neither Party excludes or limits liability to the other Party for: - 

 
(a) death or personal injury caused by its negligence; or  
 
(b) Fraud; or 
 

(c) f raudulent misrepresentation; or 
 
(d) any breach of  any obligations under this Contract in relation to Data Protection 

Legislation. 
 
G1.2 Subject to Clauses G1.3, G1.4 and G1.5, the Supplier shall indemnify the Customer and 

keep the Customer indemnif ied fully against all Losses and any other liabilities which may 
arise out of , or in consequence of , the supply, or the late or purported supply, of  the 
Services or the performance or non-performance by the Supplier of  its obligations under 
this Contract, including loss of  or damage to property, personal injury, f inancial loss arising 

f rom any advice given or omitted to be given by the Supplier, all costs related to civil data 
protection claims or regulatory f ines issued by the Information Commissioner’s Of fice, or 
any other loss which is caused directly by any act or omission of  the Supplier including 
any costs of  re-procurement or additional costs incurred for replacement services . 

 
G1.3 Subject to clause G1.1, the Supplier’s total aggregate liability in any Contract Year in 

respect of  all obligations or indemnities contained within this Contract , shall be limited to 
120% of  the aggregate annual Service Charges paid, due or which would have been 
payable under this Contract in the relevant Contract Year in which the event giving rise to 
liability occurs, except in respect of : 

 

(a)  the indemnities in Clauses B3.3 (Manner of  Carrying Out the Services), B8 (TUPE 
and Pensions) and E1.4 (Data Protection); and 

 
(b)  all Losses in respect of  which the Supplier is required to maintain insurance 

Page 136



 

 

pursuant to Clause G1.5, 
 
for which the Supplier's liability shall be unlimited.  

 
G1.3A Subject to Clause G1.1, the Supplier’s total aggregate liability in respect of  Service Credits 

shall be limited in each Contract Year to 5% of  the Service Charges that are payable by 
the Customer in the applicable Contract Year. 

 
G1.4 The Supplier shall not be responsible for any injury, loss, damage, cost or expense if and 

to the extent that it is caused by the negligence or wilful misconduct of the Customer or 

by breach by the Customer of  its obligations under this Contract.   
 
G1.5 Without prejudice to the Customer’s rights under this Contract, the Supplier shall in 

respect of  the performance of  its obligations under this Contract ef fect and maintain the 
following insurances at the following indemnity levels with a reputable ins urance 
company:-  

 
(a) public liability insurance to a minimum of  ten million pounds (£10,000,000); 
 
(b) employer’s liability insurance to a minimum of  f ive million pounds (£5,000,000); and  
 

(c) any other insurances as may be required by Law. 
 

G1.6 The minimum amounts set out in Clause G1.5 shall, in each case, apply in respect of  any 
single act or occurrence or a series of  acts or occurrences arising f rom a single event but 
with no aggregate limit during any one period of  cover. Such policies shall include cover 
in respect of  any f inancial loss arising from any advice given or omitted to be given by the 
Supplier. Such insurance shall be maintained for the duration of  the Contract Period and 
for a minimum of  twelve (12) years following the expiration or earlier termination of  this 
Contract. 

 
G1.7 Subject always to Clause G1.1, in no event shall either Party be liable to the other for 

any:- 
 

(a)  loss of  prof its, business, revenue or goodwill; and/or 
 

(b) indirect or consequential loss or damage.  
 

G1.8 The Supplier's liability for additional operational, administrative costs and/or expenses or 
wasted expenditure incurred by the Customer or any failure of  the Customer to realise 
anticipated savings resulting f rom the direct Default of  the Supplier is not excluded.  

 

G1.9 The Supplier shall give the Customer, on request, copies of all insurance policies referred 
to in this Clause G1 or a broker’s verif ication of  insurance to demonstrate that the 
appropriate cover is in place together with receipts or other evidence of  payment of  the 
latest premiums due under those policies. 

 
G1.10 If , for whatever reason, the Supplier fails to give ef fect to and maintain the insurances 

required by the provisions of  this Contract, the Customer may make alternative 
arrangements to protect its interests and may recover the costs of  such arrangements  
f rom the Supplier. 

 
G1.11 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately of  any alteration, cancellation or 

change of  cover in respect of  the insurances required by this Clause G1.  
 
G1.12 The provisions of any insurance or the amount of  cover shall not relieve the Supplier of  

any liabilities under this Contract.   

Page 137



 

 

 
G2 WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS 

 
G2.1 The Supplier warrants and represents that:- 
 

(a) it has full capacity, authority and all necessary Consents (including where its 
procedures so require, the consent of  its parent company) to enter into and perform 
its obligations under this Contract and that this Contract is executed by a duly 
authorised representative of  the Supplier; 

 
(b) in entering into this Contract it has not committed any Fraud;  
 
(c) as at the Commencement Date, all information contained in the Tender remains true, 

accurate and not misleading, save as may have been specif ically disclosed in writing 
to the Customer prior to execution of  this Contract;  

 
(d) no claim is being asserted and no litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding is 

presently in progress or, to the best of its knowledge and belief, pending or threatened 
against it or any of  its assets which shall or might have a material adverse effect on its 
ability to perform its obligations under this Contract;  

 
(e)   it is not subject to any contractual obligation, compliance with which is likely to have a 

material adverse ef fect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Contract;  
 

(f )   no proceedings or other steps have been taken and not discharged (nor, to the best of 
its knowledge, are threatened) for the winding up of  the Supplier or for its dissolution 
or for the appointment of  a receiver, administrative receiver, liquidator, manager, 
administrator or similar officer in relation to any of  the Supplier’s assets or revenue;  

 
(g)  it owns, has obtained or is able to obtain, valid licences for all Intellectual Property 

Rights that are necessary for the performance of its obligations under this Contract;  
 
(h)  in the three (3) years prior to the date of  this Contract: 

 
(i) it has conducted all financial accounting and reporting activities in compliance in 

all material respects with the generally accepted accounting principles that apply 
to it in any country where it f iles accounts; 

 
(ii) it has been in full compliance with all applicable securities and tax laws and 

regulations in the jurisdiction in which it is established; and  
 
(iii) it has not done or omitted to do anything which could have a material adverse 

ef fect on its assets, f inancial condition or position as an ongoing business 
concern or its ability to fulf il its obligations under this Contract.  

 

 
DEFAULT, DISRUPTION AND TERMINATION 
 
H1 TERMINATION ON INSOLVENCY AND CHANGE OF CONTROL 
 
H1.1 The Customer may terminate this Contract with immediate ef fect by notice in writing where 

the Supplier is a company and in respect of  the Supplier: - 
 

(a) a proposal is made for a voluntary arrangement within Part I of  the Insolvency Act 
1986 or of  any other composition scheme or arrangement with, or assignment for the 
benef it of , its creditors; or 

 

Page 138



 

 

(b) a shareholders’ meeting is convened for the purpose of considering a resolution that 
it be wound up or a resolution for its winding-up is passed (other than as part of , and 
exclusively for the purpose of , a bona f ide reconstruction or amalgamation); or 

 
(c) a petition is presented for its winding up (which is not dismissed within fourteen (14) 

calendar days of  its service) or an application is made for the appointment of  a 
provisional liquidator; or 

 
(d) a receiver, administrative receiver or similar of ficer is appointed over the whole or 

any part of  its business or assets; or 

 
(e) an application order is made either for the appointment of  an administrator or for an 

administration order, an administrator is appointed, or notice of  intention to appoint 
an administrator is given; or 

 
(f ) it is or becomes insolvent within the meaning of  section 123 of  the Insolvency Act 

1986; or 
 
(g) being a “small company” within the meaning of  section 382 of  the Companies Act 

2006, a moratorium comes into force pursuant to Schedule A1 of  the Insolvency Act 
1986; or 

 
(h) any event similar to those listed in H1.1(a)-(g) occurs under the Law of  any other 

jurisdiction. 
 
H1.2 The Customer may terminate this Contract with immediate ef fect by notice in writing where 

the Supplier is an individual and:- 
 

(a) an application for an interim order is made pursuant to sections 252-253 of  the 
Insolvency Act 1986 or a proposal is made for any composition scheme or 
arrangement with, or assignment for the benef it of , the Supplier’s creditors; or 

 

(b) a petition is presented and not dismissed within fourteen (14) calendar days or order 
made for the Supplier’s bankruptcy; or 

 
(c) a receiver, or similar of f icer is appointed over the whole or any part of  the Supplier’s 

assets or a person becomes entitled to appoint a receiver, or similar of f icer over the 
whole or any part of  his assets; or  

 
(d) the Supplier is unable to pay his debts or has no reasonable prospect of doing so, in 

either case within the meaning of  section 268 of  the Insolvency Act 1986; or 
 

(e) a creditor or encumbrancer attaches or takes possession of, or a distress, execution, 
sequestration or other such process is levied or enforced on or sued against, the 
whole or any part of  the Supplier’s assets and such attachment or process is not 
discharged within fourteen (14) calendar days; or 

 
(f ) the Supplier dies or, by reason of  illness or incapacity (whether mental or physical), 

is incapable of  managing his or her own af fairs or becomes a patient under any 
mental health legislation; or  

 
(g) the Supplier suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, to carry on all or 

a substantial part of  his business. 

  
H1.3 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately if  the Supplier undergoes a Change 

of  Control. The Customer may terminate this Contract by notice in writing with immediate 
ef fect within six (6) Months of :- 

Page 139



 

 

 
(a) being notif ied that a Change of  Control has occurred; or 
 
(b) where no notif ication has been made, the date that the Customer becomes aware of  

the Change of  Control,  
 
 but shall not be permitted to terminate where an Approval was granted prior to the Change 

of  Control.  
 
H2 TERMINATION ON DEFAULT 

 
H2.1 The Customer may terminate this Contract by written notice to the Supplier with immediate 

ef fect if  the Supplier commits a Default and if :- 
 

(a) the Supplier has not remedied the Default to the satisfaction of  the Customer in 
accordance with an Improvement Plan; or 

 
(b) the Default is not, in the opinion of  the Customer, capable of  remedy; or 
 
(c) the Default is a material breach of  this Contract. 

 

H2.2 Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies that the Customer has under the 
Contract (including without limitation Clause C5 and Clauses H1 or H2.1) where the 
Customer considers that the Supplier has: 

 
(a) not remedied the Default to the satisfaction of  the Customer in accordance with an 

Improvement Plan; or 
 

(b) committed a Persistent Breach; or 
 

(c) committed a Default that the Customer deems is serious enough to warrant more 
formal action to be taken,  

 
 in relation to the Contract or any part thereof  (including any part of  the Services), the 

Customer shall be entitled to serve a written notice (a "Default Notice") on the Supplier. 
 
H2.2A A Default Notice in accordance with Clause H2.2 shall: - 
 

(a) specify that it is a Default Notice; 
 
(b) give details of  the Default or Persistent Breach; 

 

(c) state that if  the Default continues for a further specif ied period as the Default Notice 
shall dictate, or the Persistent Breach recurs two or more times within a specified 
period as the Default Notice shall dictate, af ter the date of  service of  the Default 
Notice, this may result in a termination of  the Contract or that part of  the Services 
af fected by the Default or Persistent Breach. 

 
H2.3 If :- 
 

(a) twenty (20) Working Days af ter service of  a Default Notice, or such longer period as 
the Customer may stipulate in writing, the Supplier has failed to demonstrate to the 
Customer's satisfaction that:- 

 
(i) the Default or Persistent Breach specif ied has not continued; and  
 

Page 140



 

 

(ii) the Supplier has put in place measures to ensure that such Default or 
Persistent Breach does not occur; or 

 
(b) within a three (3) Month period af ter the date of  service of  the Default Notice, or 

such longer period as the Customer may stipulate in writing, the Supplier has failed 
to demonstrate to the satisfaction of  the Customer that: - 

 
(i) the Default has not continued or Persistent Breach has not recurred two or 

more times within such three (3) Month period (or longer period where the 
Customer stipulates); and 

 
(ii) the Supplier has put in place measures to ensure that such Default or 

Persistent Breach does not occur, 
 

then the Customer may deem such failure to be a Default which is a material breach of  
the Contract for the purposes of  Clause H2.1(c). 

 
H2.4 The Customer may terminate this Contract with immediate ef fect by written notice to the 

Supplier if  it becomes apparent that the Supplier should have been excluded f rom the 
procurement process leading to the award of  this Contract in accordance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

 
H2.5 In the event that through any Default of  the Supplier, data transmitted or processed in 

connection with this Contract is either lost or suf f iciently degraded as to be unusable, the 
Supplier shall be liable for the cost of  reconstitution of  that data and shall reimburse the 
Customer in respect of  any charge levied for its transmission and any other costs charged 
in connection with such Default.  

 
H2.6 If  the Customer fails to pay the Supplier undisputed sums of  money when due, the 

Supplier shall notify the Customer in writing of  such failure to pay. If  the Customer fails to 
pay such undisputed sums within ninety (90) Working Days of  the date of  suc h written 
notice, the Supplier may terminate this Contract in writing with immediate ef fect, save that 

such right of  termination shall not apply where the failure to pay is due to the Customer 
exercising its rights under Clauses C3 (Recovery of  Sums Due).  

 
H3 BREAK 
  
H3.1 The Customer may by no less than three (3) Months' written notice to the Supplier 

terminate this Contract where it becomes apparent that:- 
 

(a) this Contract has been subject to substantial modification which would have required 
a new procurement procedure pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations  2015; or 

 
(b) this Contract should not have been awarded for the reasons specif ied in the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015. 
 

H4 CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION 
 
H4.1 Where the Customer terminates this Contract under Clause H2 (Termination on Default) 

and then makes other arrangements for the supply of  Services, the Customer may recover 
f rom the Supplier the cost reasonably incurred of  making those other arrangements and 
any additional expenditure incurred by the Customer throughout the remainder of  the 
Contract Period.  The Customer shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate such additional 

expenditure.   
 
H4.2 Where this Contract is terminated under Clause H2 (Termination on Default), no further 

payments shall be payable by the Customer to the Supplier (for Services supplied by the 

Page 141



 

 

Supplier prior to termination and in accordance with this Contract but where the payment 
has yet to be made by the Customer), until the Customer has established the f inal cost of 
making the other arrangements envisaged under this clause up to a maximum of  six (6) 
Months following termination. 

 
H4.3 Subject to Clause H4.4,  where the Customer terminates this Contract under Clause H3 

(Break), the Customer shall pay to the Supplier the unavoidable direct Losses incurred by 
the Supplier by reason of  such termination provided that the Supplier takes all reasonable 
steps to mitigate all such Losses. Where the Supplier holds insurance, the Customer shall 
only have to reimburse the Supplier in respect of  those unavoidable direct costs that are 

not covered by the insurance available.  The Supplier shall submit a fully itemised and 
costed list of unavoidable direct Losses which it is seeking to recover from the Customer, 
with supporting evidence, of such alleged Losses reasonably and actually incurred by the 
Supplier as a result of  termination under Clause H3 (Break). Any payment paid by the 
Customer in accordance with this Clause H4.3 shall be in full and f inal settlement of  any 
claim, demand and/or proceedings of  the Supplier in relation to any termination by the 
Customer pursuant to Clause H3. The Supplier shall have no other rights or remedies 
available to it in respect of  any such termination. 

 
H4.4 The Customer shall not be liable under Clause H4.3 to pay any sum which: - 
 

(a) was claimable under insurance held by the Supplier, and the Supplier has failed to 
make a claim on its insurance, or has failed to make a claim in accordance with the 
procedural requirements of  the insurance policy;  

 
(b)  when added to any sums paid or due to the Supplier under this Contract, exceeds 

the total sum that would have been payable to the Supplier if  this Contract had not 
been terminated prior to the expiry of  the Contract Period;  

 
(c) is a claim by the Supplier for loss of profit, due to early termination of  this Contract; 

or 
 

(d) is associated with Staf f  other than redundancy costs provided that where the Supplier 
can demonstrate that a member of  Staf f will be made redundant following termination 
of  this Contract, but redeployment of  such person is possible and would of fer value 
for money to the Customer when compared with redundancy, then the Customer shall 
pay the Supplier the actual direct Losses incurred by the Supplier or its Sub -
Contractors arising out of  the redeployment of  such person (including retraining and 
relocation costs). 

 
H4.5 On expiry or termination of  the Contract or any part thereof : - 

 

(a) the Supplier shall repay at once to the Customer any moneys paid up to and including 
such date of  termination other than moneys in respect of  Services or part thereof  
properly performed in accordance with the Contract; and  

 
(b) the Supplier shall cease to use all of  the Customer's Intellectual Property Rights and 

IP Materials (as def ined at Clause E6.1) and shall return or destroy as the Customer 
requires all documents, materials (including those in electronic format) incorporating 
or referring to the same. 

 
H4.6 Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Contract: - 
 

(a) termination or expiry of  this Contract shall be without prejudice to any rights, remedies 
or obligations accrued under this Contract prior to termination or expiration and 
nothing in this Contract shall prejudice the right of  either Party to recover any amount 
outstanding at such termination or expiry; and  

Page 142



 

 

 
(b) termination of  this Contract shall not af fect the continuing rights, remedies or 

obligations of the Customer or the Supplier under Clauses C2 (Payment and VAT), 
C3 (Recovery of  Sums Due), D1 (Prevention of  Bribery), D2 (Anti Discrimination), E1 
(Data Protection Act), E2 (Conf idential Information), E3 (Freedom of Information), E6 
(Intellectual Property Rights), E7 (Audit), F6 (Remedies Cumulative), G1 (Liability, 
Indemnity and Insurance), H4 (Consequences of  Expiry or Termination), H5 
(Recovery upon Termination) and I1 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction).  

 
H4.7 The Parties shall comply with the provisions set out in Schedule 9.  

 
H5 RECOVERY UPON TERMINATION 
 
H5.1 On the expiry, early termination or termination of  this Contract for any reason, the Supplier 

shall:- 
 

(a) immediately return to the Customer all Conf idential Information, Personal Data, IP 
Materials (as def ined in Clause E6.1), records and any other documentation and 
information in its possession or in the possession or under the control of  any 
permitted suppliers or Sub-Contractors, which was obtained or produced in the 
course of  providing the Services; 

 
(b) immediately deliver to the Customer all Assets (including materials, documents, 

information and access keys) provided to the Supplier under Clause B6.  Such Assets 
shall be handed back in good working order (allowance shall be made for reasonable 
wear and tear); 

 
(c) assist and co-operate with the Customer to ensure an orderly transition of  the 

provision of the Services to the Replacement Contractor and/or the completion of any 
work in progress; and 

 
(d) promptly provide all information concerning the provision of  the Services including 

records as referred to in Clause E11 which may reasonably be requested by the 
Customer for the purposes of  adequately understanding the manner in which 
Services have been provided or for the purpose of  enabling the Customer or the 
Replacement Contractor to provide a continued delivery of  the Services. 

 
H5.2 If  the Supplier fails to comply with Clause H5.1 (a) and (b), the Customer may recover 

possession thereof  and the Supplier grants a licence to the Customer or its appointed 
agents to enter (for the purposes of  such recovery) any premises of  the Supplier or its 
permitted suppliers or Sub-Contractors premises where any such items may be held.  

 

H5.3 Where the end of  the Contract Period arises due to the Supplier’s Default, the Supplier 
shall provide all assistance under Clause H5.1 f ree of  charge.  Where the Contract ends 
for other reasons the Customer shall pay the Supplier's directly incurred reasonable costs 
of  providing the assistance and the Supplier shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate 
such costs. 

 
H6 DISRUPTION 
 
H6.1 The Supplier shall take reasonable care to ensure that in the performance of  its obligations 

under this Contract it does not disrupt the operations of  the Customer, its employees or 
any other supplier employed by the Customer. 

 
H6.2 The Supplier shall immediately inform the Customer of  any actual or potential industrial 

action, whether such action is by the Staf f  or others for whom the Supplier is responsible, 
which af fects or might af fect its ability at any time to perform its obligations under this 

Page 143



 

 

Contract. 
 
H6.3 In the event of  industrial action by the Staf f , the Supplier shall seek Approval as to its 

proposals to continue to perform its obligations under this Contract.  
 
H6.4 If  the Supplier’s proposals referred to in Clause H6.3 are considered insuf f icient or 

unacceptable by the Customer acting reasonably, then this Contract may be terminated 
with immediate ef fect by the Customer by notice in writing.   

 
H6.5 If  the Supplier is temporarily unable to fulf il the requirements of  this Contract owing to 

disruption of  normal business of  the Customer, the Supplier may request a reasonable 
allowance of  time. 

 
H7 IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROCESS 
 
H7.1 If  the Supplier commits a Default and the Default is in the reasonable opinion of  the 

Customer capable of  remedy, the Customer may elect to operate the Improvement Plan 
Process. If  the Customer elects to operate the Improvement Plan Process, the Customer 
shall serve an Improvement Notice on the Supplier which shall specify the Default in 
outline and the actions the Supplier needs to take with respect to remedying the Default.  
This may include a draf t Improvement Plan developed by the Customer.  

 
H7.2 Within seven (7) Working Days of  receipt of  the Improvement Notice, the Supplier shall 

either:- 
 

(a) accept the draf t Improvement Plan provided by the Customer, even if  the Supplier 
disputes that it is responsible for the matters which are the subject of  the 
Improvement Notice; or 
 

(b) submit a draf t Improvement Plan to the Customer, even if  the Supplier disputes that 
it is responsible for the matters which are the subject of  the Improvement Notice; or 

 

(c) inform the Customer that it does not intend to submit an Improvement Plan in which 
event the Customer shall be entitled to terminate the Contract by written notice.  

 
H7.3 Where the Supplier elects to submit a draf t Improvement Plan in accordance with H7.2(b), 

the Customer shall either approve the draf t Improvement Plan within seven (7) Working 
Days of  its receipt or it shall inform the Supplier within the same time period why it cannot 
accept the draf t Improvement Plan. In such circumstances, the Supplier shall address all 
such concerns in a revised Improvement Plan which it shall submit to the Customer within 
three (3) Working Days of  its receipt of  the Customer’s comments. Once agreed the 
Supplier shall immediately start work on the actions set out in the Improvement Plan. 

 
H7.4 If , despite the measures taken under Clause H7.3 an Improvement Plan cannot be agreed 

within twenty (20) Working Days, then the Customer may elect to end the Improvement 
Plan Process and serve a notice to terminate the Contract. 

 
H7.5 If  an Improvement Plan is agreed between the Parties but the Supplier fails to implement 

or successfully complete the Improvement Plan by the required Improvement Plan 
completion date, the Customer may:- 

 
(a) terminate this Contract by serving a notice of  termination; or 
 

(b) give the Supplier a further opportunity to resume full implementation of  the 
Improvement Plan; or 

 
(c) serve a Default Notice on the Supplier pursuant to Clauses H2.2; or 

Page 144



 

 

 
(d) escalate any issue arising out of  the failure to implement the Improvement Plan to 

the Supplier’s Representative under the dispute resolution procedure set out in 
Clause I2. 

 
H7.6 The Customer shall be under no obligation to initiate the Improvement Plan Process if  it 

issues a notice of  termination as provided for under this Contract.  
 
H8 SUSPENSION AND CONSEQUENCES OF SUSPENSION 
 

H8.1 A suspension event shall have occurred if :- 
 

(a) the Customer reasonably considers that a breach by the Supplier of  any obligation 
under this Contract:- 

 
(i) may create an immediate and serious threat to the health or safety of  any 

Service User; or 
 
(ii) may result in a material interruption in the provision of  any one or more of  the 

Services; or 
 

(b) Clause H8.1 does not apply, but the Customer, acting reasonably, considers that 
the circumstances constitute an emergency af fecting provision of  the Services; or 

 
(c) the Supplier is prevented, or will be prevented, f rom providing the Services due to 

the termination, suspension, restriction or variation of  any Consent  
 

(each a "Suspension Event"). 
 
H8.2 Where a Suspension Event occurs the Customer: 
 

(a) may by written notice to the Supplier and with immediate ef fect suspend any affected 

Services, or the provision of  any af fected Services, until the Supplier demonstrates 
to the reasonable satisfaction of the Customer that it is able to and shall perform the 
suspended Services, to the required standard; and  

 
(b) shall where applicable promptly notify CQC and/or any relevant Regulatory Body of  

the suspension. 
 

H8.3 During the suspension of any Services under Clause H8.2, the Supplier shall comply with 
any steps the Customer reasonably specif ies in order to remedy the Suspension Event, 
including where the Customer’s decision to suspend pursuant to Clause H8.2 has been 

referred to dispute resolution under Clause I (Dispute Resolution).  
 
H8.4 During the suspension of  any Services under Clause H8.2,  except where under H8.1(b) 

the reason for suspension is not the fault of the Supplier,  the Supplier shall not be entitled 
to claim or receive any payment for the suspended Services except in respect of :  

 
(a) all or part of  the suspended Services the delivery of which took place before the date 

on which the relevant suspension took effect in accordance with Clause H8.2; and/or 
 
(b) all or part of  the Services which the Supplier continues to deliver during the period of 

suspension in accordance with Clause H8.3. 

 
H8.5 The Parties shall use all reasonable endeavours to minimise any inconvenience caused 

or likely to be caused to Service Users as a result of  the suspension of  the Services.  
 

Page 145



 

 

H8.6 The Supplier shall indemnify the Customer in respect of  any Losses directly and 
reasonably incurred by the Customer in respect of  that suspension (including for the 
avoidance of  doubt Losses incurred in commissioning the suspended Services) except 
where under H8.1(b) the reason for suspension is not the fault of  the Supplier. 

 
H8.7 Following suspension of any Services the Supplier shall at the reasonable request of  the 

Customer and for a reasonable period: 
 

(a) co-operate fully with the Customer and any Replacement Contractor of  the 
suspended Services in order to ensure continuity and a smooth transfer of  the 

suspended Services and to avoid any inconvenience to or risk to the health and safety 
of  Service Users, employees of  the Customer or members of  the public; and  

 
(b) at the cost of  the Supplier: 
 

(i) promptly provide all reasonable assistance and all information necessary to 
ef fect an orderly assumption of  the suspended Services by an alternative 
Replacement Contractor; and 

 
(ii) deliver to the Customer all materials, papers, documents and operating 

manuals owned by the Customer and used by the Supplier in the provision of  

the suspended Services. 
 

H8.8 As part of  its compliance with Clause H8.7 the Supplier may be required by the Customer 
to agree a transition plan with the Customer and/or any alternative Replacement 
Contractor. 

 
H8.9 If  it is determined, pursuant to Clause I (Dispute Resolution), that the Customer acted 

unreasonably in suspending any of  the Services, the Customer shall pay to the Supplier 
any Losses directly and reasonably incurred by the Supplier in respect of that suspension 
provided always that the Supplier shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise 
and mitigate any Losses for which it is entitled to bring a claim against the Customer 

pursuant to this Contract. 
. 
H8.10 During any suspension of  any Services the Supplier, where applicable, shall implement 

the relevant parts of  the Business Continuity Plan to ensure there is no interruption in the 
availability of  the other parts of  the Services. 

 
H9 FORCE MAJEURE  
 
H9.1  Subject to the remaining provisions of  this Clause H9 (and, in relation to the Supplier, 

subject to its compliance with its obligations in Clause B16, a Party may claim relief  under 

this Clause H9 f rom liability for failure to meet its obligations under this Contract for as 
long as and only to the extent that the performance of  those obligations is directly af fected 
by a Force Majeure Event. Any failure or delay by the Supplier in performing its obligations 
under this Contract which results f rom a failure or delay by an agent, Sub-Contractor or 
supplier shall be regarded as due to a Force Majeure Event only if  that agent, Sub-
Contractor or supplier is itself  impeded by a Force Majeure Event f rom complying with an 
obligation to the Supplier. 

 
H9.2  The Af fected Party shall as soon as reasonably practicable issue a Force Majeure Notice, 

which shall include details of  the Force Majeure Event, its ef fect on the obligations of the 
Af fected Party and any action the Af fected Party proposes to take to mitigate its ef fect.  

 
H9.3  If  the Supplier is the Af fected Party, it shall not be entitled to claim relief  under this Clause 

H9 to the extent that consequences of  the relevant Force Majeure Event: - 
 

Page 146



 

 

(a)  are capable of  being mitigated but the Supplier has failed to do so; and/or 
 
(b)  should have been foreseen and prevented or avoided by a prudent provider of  

services similar to the Services, operating to the standards required by this 
Contract. 

 
H9.4  Subject to Clause H9.5, as soon as practicable af ter the Af fected Party issues the Force 

Majeure Notice, and at regular intervals thereaf ter, the Parties shall consult in good faith 
and use reasonable endeavours to agree any steps to be taken and an appropriate 
timetable in which those steps should be taken, to enable continued provision of  the 

Services af fected by the Force Majeure Event. 
 
H9.5  The Parties shall at all times following the occurrence of  a Force Majeure Event and during 

its subsistence use their respective reasonable endeavours to prevent and mitigate the 
ef fects of the Force Majeure Event. Where the Supplier is the Af fected Party, it shall take 
all steps in accordance with Good Industry Practice to overcome or minimise the 
consequences of  the Force Majeure Event. 

 
H9.6  Where, as a result of  a Force Majeure Event:- 
 

(a)  an Af fected Party fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Contract, 

then during the continuance of  the Force Majeure Event:- 
 

(i)  the other Party shall not be entitled to exercise any rights to terminate this 
Contract in whole or in part as a result of  such failure other than pursuant 
to Clauses H1 and H3; and 

 
(ii)  neither Party shall be liable for any Default arising as a result of  such failure; 
 

(b)  the Supplier fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Contract:- 
 

(i)  the Customer shall not be entitled to apply Performance Default Points or 

withhold and retain any of  the Service Charges as compensation to the 
extent that a Service Failure has been caused by the Force Majeure Event; 
and 
 

(ii)  the Supplier shall be entitled to receive payment of  the Service Charges (or 
a proportional payment of them) only to the extent that the Services (or part 
of  the Services) continue to be performed in accordance with the terms of  
this Contract during the occurrence of  the Force Majeure Event. 

 
H9.7  The Af fected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable af ter the Force 

Majeure Event ceases or no longer causes the Af fected Party to be unable to  comply with 
its obligations under this Contract. 

 
H9.8  Relief  f rom liability for the Af f ected Party under this Clause H9 shall end as soon as the 

Force Majeure Event no longer causes the Af fected Party to be unable to  comply with its 
obligations under this Contract and shall not be dependent on the serving of  notice under 
Clause H9.7. 

 
H9.9 In the event that any Force Majeure Event continues to af fect the ability of either Party to 

fulf il their obligations under the Contract for a period of  three (3) Months or more, either 
Party may serve notice of  termination with immediate ef fect on the other Party. 

 
 
 
 

Page 147



 

 

DISPUTES AND LAW 
 
I1 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 
 
 Subject to the provisions of Clause I2, the Customer and the Supplier accept the exclusive 

jurisdiction of  the English courts and agree that this Contract and all non-contractual 
obligations and other matters arising f rom or connected with it are to be gov erned and 
construed according to English Law.   

 
I2 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
I2.1 The Parties shall attempt in good faith to negotiate a settlement to any dispute between 

them arising out of  or in connection with this Contract within twenty (20) Working Days of  
either Party notifying the other of  the dispute. Any dispute shall in the f irst instance be 
referred to the Contract Managers of  each Party for resolution. If  the dispute cannot be 
resolved by the Contract Managers of  the Parties within ten (10) Working Days af ter the 
dispute has been referred to the Contract Managers, either Party may give notice to the 
other Party in writing (Dispute Notice) that a dispute has arisen and within f ive (5) Working 
Days of  the date of  the Dispute Notice each Party shall refer the dispute to the Customer’s 
Representative and the Supplier’s Representative for resolution.  

 

I2.2 Nothing in this dispute resolution procedure shall prevent the Parties f rom seeking f rom 
any court of  competent jurisdiction an interim order restraining the other Party f rom doing 
any act or compelling the other Party to do any act.  

 
I2.3 If  the dispute cannot be resolved by the Parties' Representatives pursuant to Clause I2.1 

within ten (10) Working Days of  the Dispute Notice the Parties shall refer it to mediation 
pursuant to the procedure set out in Clause I2.5.   

 
I2.4 The obligations of  the Parties under this Contract shall not cease, or be suspended or 

delayed by reference of  a dispute to mediation and the Supplier shall comply fully with the 
requirements of  this Contract at all times. 

 
I2.5 The procedure for mediation and consequential provisions relating to mediation are as 

follows:- 
 

(a) A neutral adviser or mediator (the “Mediator”) shall be chosen by agreement between 
the Parties or, if  they are unable to agree upon a Mediator within ten (10) Working 
Days af ter a request by one Party to the other or if  the Mediator agreed upon is unable 
or unwilling to act, either Party shall within f ive (5) Working Days f rom the date of the 
proposal to appoint a Mediator or within f ive (5) Working Days of  notice to either Party 
that he is unable or unwilling to act, apply to the Centre for Ef fective Dispute 

Resolution or other mediation provider to appoint a Mediator.  
 

(b) The Parties shall within ten (10) Working Days of  the appointment of  the Mediator 
meet with him in order to agree a programme for the exchange of  all relevant 
information and the structure to be adopted for negotiations to be held.  If  considered 
appropriate, the Parties may at any stage seek assistance f rom the Centre for 
Ef fective Dispute Resolution or other mediation provider to provide guidance on a 
suitable procedure. 

 
(c) Unless otherwise agreed, all negotiations connected with the dispute and any 

settlement agreement relating to it shall be conducted in conf idence and without 

prejudice to the rights of  the Parties in any future proceedings.  
 

(d) Both Parties agree to co-operate fully with any Mediator appointed and to bear their 
own costs and one half  of  the fees and expenses of  the Mediator unless otherwise 

Page 148



 

 

agreed at Mediation. 
 
(e) If  the Parties reach agreement on the resolution of  the dispute, the agreement shall 

be recorded in writing and shall be binding on the Parties once it is signed by their 
duly authorised representatives. 

 
(f ) Failing agreement, either of  the Parties may invite the Mediator to provide a non-

binding but informative written opinion.  Such an opinion shall be provided on a 
without prejudice basis and shall not be used in evidence in any proceedings relating 
to this Contract without the prior written consent of  both Parties.  

 
(g) If  the Parties fail to reach agreement in the structured negotiations within twenty (20) 

Working Days of  the Mediator being appointed, or such longer period as may be 
agreed by the Parties, then any dispute or dif ference between them may be referred 
to the Courts.  

 

Page 149



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Contract as a Deed with ef fect from 
the date f irst above written. 
 
 
 
 
EXECUTED (but not delivered until dated) 
as a deed by af f ixing the Common Seal 
of  LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
 
in the presence of:- 

 
 
 
 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 
) 

 

   
………………………………………… 
Authorised Officer Signature 
Print name: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
EXECUTED (but not delivered until dated) 
as a deed by af f ixing the Common Seal 
of  EAST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 
in the presence of:- 

 

 
 
 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

   

………………………………………… 
Authorised Officer Signature 
Print name: 
 

 
 

Page 150



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

SPECIFICATION 

Introduction 

 
1.1 In Lincolnshire, during the financial year 2021/22; 5,766 new clients per 100,000 of the 

population aged 18 and over requested support from Adult Care. This has the potential 

to increase significantly with a growing and ageing population  and more working-age 
adults with health, social care and support needs living independently . Evidence shows 
that living in familiar, safe, accessible, warm accommodation that we call ‘home’ is more 

likely to promote mental and physical wellbeing and reduce hospital admissions, social 
isolation, and loneliness. Accidents and injuries at home or illness brought on, or 
worsened by the conditions people are living in, is putting unnecessary pressure and costs 
on regulated services such as Adult Care and NHS provision. 

  
1.2 In adulthood, people are sometimes unable to do things for themselves and need 

additional support to maintain their independence. Some of the circumstances and life 

events that might lead to such need (and could be interlinked) are: 
 

Advancing age or increasing frailty. 

Having a long-term and limiting condition, illness, or disability, including a learning 
disability, dementia, or autism. 
Living alone following a bereavement or separation or preparing for such an eventuality.  

Pregnancy and childbirth, especially single mothers, or low-income households. 
Losing a job or other source of income. 
Experiencing poor mental health that might have been brought on by the above or other 

situations such as stress, social isolation, and loneliness.  
 
1.3 The Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS) has been designed as a response to some of 

these circumstances/challenges and aims to ensure that by providing interventions such 

as advice and guidance, early access to equipment, low-level support, and Telecare 
response, Lincolnshire residents will be assisted to live fulfilling and independent lives by:  

 

Improving or preventing the deterioration of individuals’ health, wellbeing, and overall 
quality of life.    
Enhancing independence at home, improving individuals' ability to self-care, and access 

appropriate supporting structures and community resources.    
 
1.4 The ultimate aim is to reduce or delay escalation to regulated support services such as 

Adult Care and NHS provision. The WBS supports those who may need extra help to 
maintain their wellbeing and independence at different stages of their lives, e.g., those 
with health and care needs, those moving from hospital inpatient or other facilities, and 
care leavers amongst others. Other services are in place to support people with mental 

health issues, those misusing substances, requiring behaviour change and lifestyle 
support. The Supplier will be expected to identify when such services may be of benefit 
to an individual, encourage them to access, and make referrals into them where 

appropriate. 

Page 151



 

 

 
1.5 The WBS is a component of the Council’s response to the Care Act duty to promote 

individual’s wellbeing. Promoting wellbeing and providing prevention and early 

intervention interventions are also some of the common aims set by the Lincolnshire 
Health and Wellbeing Board when developing the Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. Additionally, prevention and encouraging people to be more proactive about 
their health and wellbeing is also central to the vision of the NHS Five Year Forward View.  

 
Wellbeing is defined in the Care Act 2014 as: 

 

“Wellbeing”, in relation to an individual, means that individual’s wellbeing so far as 
relating to any of the following: 

 

- Personal dignity (including treatment of the individual with respect). 
- Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing. 
- Protection from abuse and neglect. 

- Control by the individual over day-to-day life (including over care and support, or 
support, provided to the individual and the way in which it is provided);  

- Participation in work, education, training, or recreation.  

- Social and economic well-being. 
- Domestic, family, and personal relationships. 
- Suitability of living accommodation. 
- The individual’s contribution to society. 

 
1.6 The WBS provides direct support for some of these aspects of wellbeing and indirectly 

affects all others. This service specification sets out the aspects of wellbeing that are 

within the remit of the service.   
 
1.7 This specification sets out the requirements of the Council (referred to as ‘Customer’) with 

respect to the provision of a strategic, high quality, dynamic Lincolnshire Wellbeing 
Service. The service will be person-centred, and outcome-focused; hence where possible 
the Customer will not be prescriptive about the interventions that will be provided. This 

service specification details the general principles that underpin the service, the 
standards, objectives, and outcomes which the Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service Supplier 
(referred to as the ‘Supplier’) is required to achieve and how these will be measured.  

 

1.8 The Supplier is expected to be a strategic partner of the Customer and fulfil a key role 
within Lincolnshire’s system response to promoting wellbeing and preventative action. 
This will include close partnership working with the Customer, the Integrated Care Board 

(ICB) and other system leads to provide insight, advice, and challenge.  Additionally, the 
Supplier will support the Customer to map provision, highlighting duplication, gaps, and 
lack of cohesion in the system. The Supplier shall develop and maintain key strategic and 

operational relationships within a multi-agency environment and offer advice and insight 
to improve the system response to people in need of support. This shall involve actively 
participating in local boards and steering groups. Details of these can be found in Section 

3.8 (Partnerships and Network Development). 
 

Page 152

https://lhih.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Joint_health_and_wellbeing_strategy.pdf
https://lhih.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Joint_health_and_wellbeing_strategy.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/


 

 

Background and Data 

  

2.1  Lincolnshire is a large and predominately rural county with clusters of diverse 
communities. Access to health and wellbeing services varies geographically and there 
are seasonal fluctuations in the population owing to Lincolnshire's tourist offer. All of 

which pose a unique challenge in equitably distributing the response to, and services 
for, residents. 

 

2.2 The WBS has provided a hugely successful response to this challenge for over 10 years. 
People often struggle to find out what services and assets might support them to 
improve their independence and general health and wellbeing, due to the large 

number of them, inadequate promotion, complicated access routes or difficult 
application processes. Increasingly, information and advice are online, and services are 
delivered digitally. This can be a barrier to anyone who does not have a digitally 
enabled home and/or reasonable digital skills. Therefore, enabling the use of 

technology to deliver care and support in the home is important.    
 
2.3  Equitable distribution of the WBS across the county is important and local analysis has 

determined some areas that we might expect more demand from than others. Whilst 
there will be demand from all parts of the county, the Supplier will need to recognise 
and respond to clusters of people requiring its services, e.g., those living in areas of 

deprivation, extremely rural parts of the county, and coastal areas. The map below 
shows the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) which gives an insight into where more 
demand might be expected, and where the service needs to be well promoted.  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 153



 

 

However, isolated pockets of deprivation in rural areas and cohorts of people with care 
and support needs living in affluent areas can be missed, therefore it is important for 
the WBS to maintain a presence across the whole community. 

 
2.4 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire prioritises ‘Housing and 

Health’ and this will continue, renamed ‘Homes for Independence’, in the refreshed 
Strategy. Delivery of this priority theme is overseen by the Housing Health and Ageing 

Well Delivery Group (HHAWDG) through its Lincolnshire Homes for Independence 
blueprint and associated Delivery Plan. The blueprint has four areas into which 
objectives are grouped: 

 
1. Understanding need and opportunities; including targeting resources where they 

are most needed and will have the biggest impact. 

2. Housing for people with care and support needs, such as care leavers, older 
people, people who hoard, domestic abuse victims, unpaid and family carers, and 
armed forces personnel and veterans. 

3. Helping people remain in their current home; much of which is about signposting 
and references the WBS along with other related services that the WBS is 
interdependent with. 

4. Helping people find and move to a suitable home, including the provision of 
comprehensive housing options advice. 

 
In addition, the HHAWDG oversees the general ageing well agenda and a large 

proportion of the people requiring the WBS are older people (over 65 years of age) and 
people aged 50 to 65 who are preparing for later life. 
 

2.5  Homes in poor condition and those unsuitable for people’s needs have a significant 
impact upon the residents, communities, and public services of Lincolnshire. Private 
sector housing is a challenge as homeowners and landlords are responsible for their 

own repairs and improvements and may need support to maintain their home 
environment. In Lincolnshire, 18% of private sector houses are estimated to contain 
serious hazards, of which 9% are defined as cold homes. In addition, a reported 6,600 

people live in caravans on the Lincolnshire east coast, that were not intended for 
permanent occupation, for a large part of, or even all year. 

 
2.6  Whilst the WBS is a service for adults, poor condition and unsuitable homes can also 

have an adverse impact on children and young people whose parents and guardians 
have care and support needs of their own. For example, a disabled parent might 
require equipment or adaptations to the home to be able to care for the child , or 

support to maintain the home environment so that it is conducive to good childhood 
development. 

 

2.7  Inflation and increases in costs, such as energy prices, due to the current cost of living 
challenge and other global issues is putting pressure on more and more Lincolnshire 
households. There are approximately 29,000 low-income owner-occupied households 

in Lincolnshire. The cost of living is increasing, and this puts further financial strain on 
households, meaning household repairs and adaptations may not be possible within 

Page 154



 

 

existing budgets. The cost of household repairs is also increasing, with 82% of 
tradespeople nationally increasing prices in 2022 (the demand for tradespeople up by 
50% in just two years (bdcmagazine.com). Combined, this means many more 

households may be unable to invest in their home and carry out essential maintenance. 
In turn, this may mean the prevalence of hazards increases. With 69% of homes in 
Lincolnshire owner-occupied, homeowners may not have disposable income to carry 
out repairs within the home. 47,114 (13.9%) of households in Lincolnshire were 

estimated to be living in fuel poverty in 2021, before costs escalated. The WBS has a 
role in income maximisation, delivering budgeting skills and advice, and helping people 
to reduce expenditure, after other avenues have been exhausted. 

 
2.8  The 2021 Census shows 7.8% of residents in Lincolnshire are disabled under the 

Equality Act 2010 with day-to-day activities ‘limited a lot’. Within the county, East 

Lindsey has the highest proportion of disabled residents with day-to-day activities 
‘limited a lot’ (9.9%) compared to the lowest in South Kesteven (6.6%). In Lincolnshire, 
11.3% of residents were recorded as disabled under the Equality Act with day-to-day 

activities ‘limited a little’. This was highest in Lincoln (12.8%) followed by East Lindsey 
(12.3%). Those that are ‘limited a little’ or ‘limited a lot’, may find it more difficult to 
move around the home safely. To be able to move around the home and use the 

amenities is an outcome the WBS can support people with.  
  

2.9 Some adults may require support to build a better support network, social life, or 
volunteer to combat social isolation and loneliness.  29.4% of households in 

Lincolnshire are single person households, with increased risk of social isolation and 
loneliness. Working-age adults can also be susceptible to loneliness, potentially leading 
to depression. In Lincolnshire, 21.5% of adults reported feeling lonely often or always, 

or some of the time, in 2019/20. In 2021/22, Lincolnshire had a higher prevalence of 
depression (13.9%), than both the East Midlands (13.2%) and England (12.7%).  

  

2.10  There are several Telecare services in Lincolnshire, including a service commissioned 
by the Customer. There is a proportion of Telecare service recipients who will require 
a service to respond when an alarm or sensor is activated and the call centre can either 

not gain a response from the service user, a nominated responder or identifies that 
someone needs to attend the home (e.g., after a fall) . These users can choose to sign 
up to the WBS Telecare Response element. There are many other people living alone 
in the community who do not currently have Telecare and would benefit from it and/or 

a response service. In addition, people may require a Telecare response service on an 
ad-hoc basis such as to cover periods when family members are away or incapacitated 
and unable to act as the responder. 

Description of the Service  

 

Service Aims and Outcomes 

 
3.1.1 The Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS) builds upon the strengths of previous 

iterations of commissioned Wellbeing Services in Lincolnshire, and is informed by 

Page 155



 

 

legislative requirements, local strategies, best practice guidance and local needs and 
demand analysis. 

 

3.1.2 The WBS is aligned to four core aims:  

- To promote adults’ ability to live fulfilling, active and independent lives;  

- Improve or prevent the deterioration of individuals’ health, wellbeing, and overall 

quality of life;  

- Enhance independence at home, improve individuals’ ability to self-care and 

access appropriate supporting structures and community resources;  

- Reduce or delay escalation to statutory support services.   

 
3.1.3 The core service aims shall be embedded within, and guide service delivery, planning, 

and review. 

 
3.1.4 The service outcomes the Customer seeks to achieve through the delivery of the WBS 

are;   

- To improve accessibility to support services for individuals through both direct 
delivery and system change; 

- To identify and influence a network of community resources and partnering 
organisations to provide a balance of direct delivery and onward referral so 

there is no duplication of provision; 
- To increase the number of people who can live independently in their own 

home with the use of technology and short-term support;  

- To deliver an equitable service that is continually monitored through a health 
inequalities lens; 

- To be a dynamic partner with the Customer with a focus on continual 

improvement and development;   
- To increase awareness of the service and its offer to ensure appropriate 

service users are identified and seek early interventions;  

- To develop a digital self-help offer, which contributes to the overall digital 
programmes in the county, so individuals, who can, can self-serve as 
appropriate;  

- To provide timely support to service users/potential service users;  
- To support service users to improve their outcomes.  

 
3.1.5 The aims summarised above, and outcomes listed below underpin the service model.  

  
3.1.6 The outcomes the Customer seeks to achieve for eligible service users across 

Lincolnshire through delivery of the Lincolnshire WBS are detailed below. The 

outcomes are described in detail in the Performance Schedule (see Section 8) against 
which the Supplier will be monitored. These are;  

 

- I can maintain my home environment so that it keeps me safe, warm, and well 
and reduces my chances of accidents.  

Page 156



 

 

- I have been helped to find and fit a small aid or piece of equipment (such as a 
grab rail, raised toilet seat or bath board) or make a small alteration, that 
helps me to get around my home and use the facilities.  

- I have learnt home management and life skills and/or been supported to 
obtain services to do this for me.  Tasks include cooking, cleaning, laundry, 
shopping, and gardening.  

- I have been supported to manage my household budget better, have 

maximised my income, reduced my expenses and learnt skills to avoid being 
scammed.  

- I have improved digital skills, and I am better at using technology to help me 

to stay independent and safe.  
- I have been supported to live with a combination of long-term conditions to 

maintain or improve my quality of life.  

- I have been supported to find and stay in education, training, or work.  
- I have been supported to build a better support network, social life or 

volunteer.  

 

3.1.7 The Supplier shall also capture, monitor, and analyse Service Experience Outcomes 
from all service users upon exit from the service. This shall be measured by asking 
service users to reflect on their service experience and to what extent they agree with 
the following statements;  

 
- “The Service listened to me, and I was treated with compassion and respect”  
- “The Service prioritised my outcomes and wellbeing”  

- “The Service provided me with the information and advice I needed and how to 
access support and community resources going forward if I require this”.   

  

3.1.8 In addition to the service outcomes above, the Supplier shall have regard for the Public 

Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF), the NHS Outcomes Framework and the Adult 
Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF), and the associated outcome indicators.  
The Supplier will work with the Customer to assist them, through the provision of the 

service, in contributing towards a broad range of population outcomes.   
 
3.1.9 The Supplier shall ensure the service is fully utilised and delivered equitably across the 

county in terms of volume and need. The Supplier will monitor and analyse the volume 
of referrals and interventions being provided in comparison to demographic and 
intelligence data.  

 

3.1.10 The Supplier shall work with the Customer to effectively manage demand by providing 
intelligence to monitor the flow of service users and adjust service eligibility thresholds 
accordingly. The service will be highly flexible and respond to demand fluctuations 

across the county within the budget envelope. See Section 3.11; Management of 
Service Demand.  

 

3.1.11 The Supplier shall provide a Telecare Response service as defined by this specification.  
The Supplier will effectively promote the service to ensure service maximisation and 
the Supplier is encouraged to also provide an enhanced model that will be agreed by 

Page 157



 

 

the Customer. For example, fixed term service cover to enable informal carer breaks or 
holidays.    

 

3.1.12 The Supplier shall provide timely support to service users as defined in sections 3.3.2 
(Assessment), 3.3.3 (Generic Support), 3.3.4 (Small Aids and Minor Alterations) and 
3.3.5 (Telecare Response) of the specification and the performance schedule.  

 

3.1.13 The Supplier shall contribute to developing and enhancing delivery and performance 
intelligence on the provision of preventative services, interventions, and outcomes for 
service users across Lincolnshire. Such intelligence shall be appropriately shared with 

the Customer to inform local strategies, initiatives, and commissioning decisions.    
 
3.1.14 As the health and care system is undergoing transformation, the Customer reserves the 

right to update service outcomes and expects flexibility from the Supplier to respond 
to opportunities to innovate and improve.   

 

Service Overview 

 

3.2.1 The Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service encompasses the following elements of service:    

 

- A Digital Offer; (or sometimes called a Universal Offer) available to all to access 
on Lincolnshire County Council’s Connect to Support website.   

- Assessment; A person-centred and strength-based assessment of all eligible 

individuals referred into the service.  
- Generic Support; Generally, no more than 12 weeks of generic support based 

on the individual service users’ outcomes and needs identified through their 

assessment, and always fixed term. 
- Small Aids and Minor Alterations; Provision and/or installation of items of 

small aids to support daily living, and completing minor alterations which are 

supportive to the wellbeing and independence of the service user.  
- Telecare Response Service; Provision of a visit to the home of a service user in 

response to a request from a telecare monitoring provider.  Call out reasons will 

include non-injury falls and no response from the telecare user when an alarm 
is triggered.      
 

3.2.2 The WBS model is depicted in the diagram below. This section of the specification 

provides a high-level overview of how each service element fits together to facilitate 
the support pathways. Section 3.3 (Service Delivery) explains each element in further 
detail.  

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 158



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

3.2.3 The Customer’s Customer Service Centre (CSC) will provide the ‘front door’ to the 

Service and serves as the single point of contact for new contacts and referrals via a 
dedicated Wellbeing Service phone line or via general enquires received.  The only 
exception to this will be when referrals come from trusted referrers via the Customer’s 

case management system, Mosaic, to the Supplier.  This is explained further in section 
3.5.3 (Referral Pathways).    

 

3.2.4 Following referral, the CSC will have a WBS Strength-Based Conversation with all 
individuals referred to the WBS.  During the conversation the referred individual will 
be given Information, Advice, and Guidance (IAG) as appropriate.   This may include 
signposting the individual to the digital offer or other public access resources suited to 

their need without onward referral to the WBS. The CSC will screen referrals and 
determine eligibility before referring onto the Supplier. 

 

3.2.5 The Digital Offer (sometimes referred to as a Universal offer in other provision) will 
provide the ‘digital front door’ to the service, enabling access to information, advice, 
and resources. The digital offer content will be developed by the Supplier, but this will 

be hosted on Lincolnshire County Council’s Connect to Support website. This shall 
include information for professionals and agencies working in partnership to deliver 
prevention activities. The Supplier may choose to have its own website that includes a 

dedicated area for professionals. 
 

Page 159



 

 

3.2.6 Individuals shall be able to self-refer for WBS support via the Customer’s digital 
platform, Connect to Support. The Supplier shall actively promote the digital offer, 
encouraging individuals, their family, and friends to access the offer as an initial ste p in 

seeking information and support. The Customer expects the digital offer to be 
preventative and enable individuals to source other public access information and 
resources to improve their wellbeing where support needs are low and/or the 
individual doesn’t have any barriers to accessing digital support.   

 
3.2.7 Referred individuals who require and meet the WBS eligibility criteria will be 

transferred to the WBS Supplier via Mosaic. 

 
3.2.8 All eligible service users will receive an Assessment that will be undertaken by the WBS 

to enable generic support to commence within 21 calendar days after the date of 

referral from the CSC or trusted referrer. Assessments will be person-centred and 
strength-based, structured around the service user outcomes outlined in this 
specification. The assessment shall consider both the individual and their environment, 

where appropriate discussing the use of equipment. The assessment may identify an 
issue which can be immediately resolved, by referral to self-help sources for example, 
and the service user may exit the service at this point. 

 
3.2.9 Assessments will inform personalised Support Plans detailing clear outcome focused 

support designed to meet the individual’s needs.  This service specification does not 
define the nature of the support (named Generic Support) arranged and provided to 

meet service user need. However, support shall be personalised, change focused, 
strengths based and designed by the Supplier to meet the person’s outcomes and the 
service objectives. Support Plans should focus on providing short term and time limited 

intervention that enable positive change and improvements and aims to prevent 
dependencies.  

 

3.2.10 Generic Support will be time limited, generally lasting no more than 12 weeks, but 
based on the individual’s self-identified outcomes and needs identified through their 
assessment. This may include advice, connection and signposting to community 

resources, other relevant services and/or direct support to meet individual nee ds. 
 
3.2.11 Assessment may identify the requirement for installation of Small Aids and Minor 

Alterations to meet service user outcomes.  See section 3.3.4 for further details of 

when this may be required.  Small aids are small preventative items designed to 
support people with daily living. The Supplier will support service users with the 
sourcing of small aids at the service user’s cost, as required. A minor alteration is a job 

requiring limited time to undertake using low-cost or no materials and basic tools..  
Small aids will be installed by the Supplier, without installation charge to the service 
user, within 7 calendar days.  Minor alterations will be carried out within 14 calendar 

days of the date of assessment, or other later date if agreed with the service user.  
 
3.2.12 The Supplier will provide a countywide  Telecare Response Service. The Telecare 

Response Service will not be subject to eligibility criteria but will be provided to 
individuals who subscribe and pay for this element of service. The entry pathway 

Page 160



 

 

described above is also not applicable.  The Telecare Response Service is the provision 
of a visit to the home of a service user in response to a request from a telecare 
monitoring provider.  Trained responders will assess and assist with a range of needs 

including non-injury falls, as well as providing support and reassurance in emergency 
situations. This provision will be available 24 hours, 7 days per week and call visits 
should commence on site within 1 hour of the request from the monitoring centre.   

 

3.2.13 The Supplier will work with communities and key referrers to increase awareness and 
understanding of the service, enhance community assets and undertake targeted 
engagement to promote early identification and ensure equitable service access.    

  

Service Delivery 

 

3.3.1 Digital Offer 
 
3.3.1.1 The Customer is committed to providing services in a range of formats to give the 

population of Lincolnshire choice and control over their own support.  
 
3.3.1.2 The Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS) will have an online support offer available  

to everyone via the Customer’s digital platform; Connect to Support, Lincolnshire  
https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/ This digital offer is a self-serve offer, 
available to all service users who want to find support online and help 
themselves.  Service users will not have to go through the CSC to access digital 

support and this element of the service will not be subject to eligibility criteria. 
     
3.3.1.3 Content for the digital offer will be developed both by the Supplier itself, the 

Customer, and a range of partner organisations, working through the strategic 
partnerships outlined in Section 3.7 (Partnerships and Network 
Development). Content should be produced by the most appropriate subject 

experts from within the partnerships. The material will mirror the support available  
in the ‘in person' offer, thus, related to the WBS outcomes. Examples of this are 
online videos outlining how to complete widely used forms.   

 
3.3.1.4 The aims of the digital offer are to:  
  

- Provide clear information on what the WBS is and what the service does and 

doesn’t offer.  
- Promote access through the relevant referral channels into the core WBS, via 

Public / Professional e-referral forms or by telephone.  

- Provide universal online access to information, advice, and guidance on the WBS 
for the residents and professionals of Lincolnshire.  

- Promote help-seeking and self-serve.  

- Support family, friends, and colleagues to understand the offer of the WBS and 
the support available, access information and advice to help them to support 
someone they know.  

- Provide information, advice, and guidance in a variety of means and accessible 
formats, digital channels where possible.  

Page 161

https://lincolnshire.connecttosupport.org/


 

 

- Provide links to trusted, authoritative and respected local and national 
information sources, campaigns, helplines, and any other useful resources.   

- Provide key service updates and communications messages relevant to the 

public.   
 

3.3.1.5 The material will be uploaded onto Connect to Support by the Customer’s 
Information and Systems Team.   

 
3.3.1.6 The Supplier will regularly review content provided and provide the Customer’s 

Information and Systems Team with updated material when appropriate.    

 
3.3.1.7 Material produced will promote a clear and engaging Service identity (not tied to 

any Supplier), be simple and easy to use for individuals and professionals alike. The 

platform will link with other sections of the Connect to Support website to aid 
navigation to other relevant areas of information, advice, and guidance.    

 

3.3.1.8  The Customer’s Customer Service Centre (CSC) will also utilise the information held 
on the Connect to Support website to support them with effective signposting. In 
addition, they will signpost individuals not eligible for the WBS to the digital offer.  

 
3.3.1.9  The digital offer will also include link(s) to a self-referral form to enable individuals 

to refer themselves into the WBS should they require the ‘in person’ offer.   
 

3.3.1.10 The digital offer is anticipated to meet the needs of those individuals requiring low 
level support and avoid the need for assessment and generic support. Individuals 
may also access the digital offer alongside a structured specialist support offer.  

 
3.3.1.11 In addition to this, the Supplier may have their own website / digital platform that 

could include links and signposting to the Customer’s interactive online digital offer 

(as outlined above in point 3.3.1.2) a professional’s area with resources tailored to 
the needs of partner stakeholders and trusted referrers including:   

  

- Promotional materials,  
- Information for referrers and top tips for referrals,  
- What to expect following a referral,  
- How to work jointly with the Service, and  

- How to identify and support individuals.  
  
3.3.1.12 The Customer will commit to innovate to ensure the digital offer platform (3.3.1.2) 

has scope to grow and evolve as technological solutions become available. This may 
include scope to integrate future apps or features to assist self -serve and enhance 
the experience of service users. The Customer will engage with and work with the 

Supplier to progress such developments at the earliest opportunity.  
 
3.3.1.13 The Supplier shall innovate to widen access and extend the reach of the Service, 

maximising the use of all digital platforms and social media.  
 

Page 162



 

 

3.3.1.14 Throughout the contract and at the end of the service contract, the Supplier shall 
be responsible for 'digital clean-up', removing out-of-date links for the service, 
including informing key partners to update any external links from their own 

websites.    
 
3.3.1.15 The Customer shall own the information produced by the Supplier for the service. 

This shall form part of the handover of service at the end of the contract enabling a 

smooth transfer of service to any new Supplier.    
 
3.3.1.16 The Supplier will be expected to work with the Customer’s Information and System 

Team to develop the digital offer during the service mobilisation and 
implementation period.  As a minimum, for service commencement the Supplier 
shall support the development of a dedicated area on Connect to Support which 

provides clear information on what the WBS is, what the service does and doesn’t 
offer, and how this can be accessed.   

 

3.3.1.17 The Supplier shall maintain a constant rolling review of the digital support offer, 
informed by and in agreement with the Customer, via a programme of feedback 
and involvement of individuals accessing support.  

 
3.3.2 Assessment 

 
3.3.2.1 The Supplier shall assess each referred individual (now service users) to the WBS. 

Assessments will be undertaken to enable generic support to commence within 21 
calendar days after the date of referral from the CSC or trusted referrer. The 
Supplier will contact the service user by telephone a minimum of 3 times (each on 

different days at different times) before writing to them to arrange an assessment. 
The assessment may identify an issue which can be immediately resolved, by 
referral to self-help sources for example, and the service user may exit the service 

at this point. 
 
3.3.2.2 The service user’s referral will detail outcomes that the service user wishes to work 

towards.  The purpose of the assessment is to get a deeper understanding of what 
the service user needs to achieve the outcomes already established and support the 
service user to identify other outcomes which could be supported.  

 

3.3.2.3 The Supplier will develop their own assessment that will be used as standard but 
applied proportionately across the service. The assessment will:  

 

- be personalised; 
- be outcome-focused;  
- be structured around the service user outcomes in this specification; 

- contain referral information so that service users are not required to ‘tell it 
twice’;  

- be strength-based, enabling service users to find the best solutions for 

themselves; 

Page 163



 

 

- enable service users to have choice and control and make independent 
decisions about how they live;  

- facilitate creative solutions. 

 
3.3.2.4 During assessment the Supplier will discuss the outcomes that the service user is 

working towards and support the service user to identify a baseline score.  The 
Supplier will record the baseline score within the Wellbeing Mosaic Workflow (see 

Section 3.10 Case Management System) and subsequently measure distance 
travelled. 

 

3.3.2.5 The Supplier shall be thoroughly prepared before an assessment. This includes 
reviewing the referral information, any previous contact, and support from the 
Service and other services, changing, or deteriorating circumstances, risk 

assessments, and being prepared with likely sources of relevant information and 
advice. The service user should not have to repeat their story.   

 

3.3.2.6 When it has been identified at referral (or thereafter) that a service user requires 
support with the following 2 outcomes:  

 

- Maintain my home environment so that it keeps me safe, warm, and well and 
reduces my chances of accidents.  

- Have help finding and fitting a small aid or piece of equipment (such as a grab 
rail, raised toilet seat or bath board) or make a small alteration, that helps me 

to get around my home and use the facilities.   
 

The assessment will include an assessment of the service user’s home environment 

to understand the support they will require to meet their needs.  
 

3.3.2.7 The Supplier will ensure that assessment is carried out by a member of staff with an 

appropriate level of skill and training. Assessors should be trained in best practice 
methods of delivery including strength-based approaches and motivational 
interviewing. 

 
3.3.2.8 The Supplier shall provide assessments in effective and efficient ways but shall 

ensure that the service user’s needs and choices are prioritised. Assessments should 
be offered via remote means (telephone, video call etc), in community settings and 

in the home of the service user.  Any assessments to determine the utility and/or 
need for small aids or minor alterations are expected to be in-person and in the 
service user’s home to ensure their suitability for the individual within the home 

environment.   
 
3.3.2.9 Assessment will inform a personalised Support Plan. There must be a clear link 

between the assessment, the service users desired outcomes and the plan of 
support to meet the outcomes.  

 

3.3.2.10  Support Plans shall be developed in agreement with the service user and available 
at the commencement of Generic Support, so within 21 calendar days of 

Page 164



 

 

assessment. They will be change focussed, reduce support over time, prevent 
dependence, enable resilience, have clear timeframes, and empower the service 
user to be independent without reliance on support. However, the Customer does 

recognise that service user’s needs will vary, and some service users may require 
longer-term support to sustain independence from other service providers.  

 
3.3.2.11 Support Plans shall have measurable goals that will mirror the service user 

outcomes outlined in this specification. The Supplier will use the Mosaic Wellbeing 
Workflow to log baseline outcomes and subsequently measure progress.     

 

3.3.2.12 Support Plans should detail the installation of small aids and minor alterations 
where applicable.  

 

3.3.2.13 The Supplier shall review Support Plans two weekly or on a more regular basis if 
appropriate to service users’ needs and the level of support being provided.  

 

3.3.2.14  During assessment and support planning, the Supplier will consider the role of other 
organisations and support services in helping the service user to achieve their 

outcomes. This may include working with other organisations as part of a 
multiagency group such as Vulnerable Adults Panels, simple signposting or referring 
on. The Supplier should be careful not to duplicate the role of other support services 

or organisations. 
 

3.3.2.15 It is expected that staff involved in the assessment process and the provision of 

small aids and minor alterations will have close working links with the Adult Social 
Care’s Occupational Therapy (OT) service, to ensure that equipment is provided 
appropriately and safely.  

 
3.3.3  Generic Support 

 
3.3.3.1  Generic Support is the primary element of the Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS).  

The Supplier shall deliver generic support personalised to each of the service user's 
needs identified in their assessment and includes provision of face -to-face advice 
and casework. 

 
3.3.3.2 The aims of generic support are: 

- To deliver personalised support based on what the individual requires to assist 

them to improve their health and wellbeing and maintain their independence.   
- Support will be focused on the outcomes identified to be worked on during the 

eligibility check, (as defined in 3.1.2) the needs identified in the assessment and 

the Support Plan.  This specification will not define what support packages 
should look like.  

- To include the provision of advice and signposting for service users where other 
support services exist to support them with the identified needs, for example, 

help to stop smoking. 
 

Page 165



 

 

3.3.3.3  The Supplier shall deliver support to individuals in one of the ways described below, 
or a combination of both, depending on need: 

 

1. Signpost or onward referral of the individual into other locally delivered services 
and/or supporting mechanisms to allow the individual to be supported within 
their own community where the WBS is not the most appropriate service to 
meet the individual's needs.  Where it is identified that the service user's needs 

are not being met, either at all or in part, the Supplier shall provide direct 
support (in accordance with (ii) below) where appropriate.   

 

2. Where the individual cannot be signposted or referred into local support 
services to meet their needs and achieve their outcomes, the Supplier shall be 
responsible for the direct delivery of a support service for a period of up to 12 

weeks. This type of support is recommended for individuals with higher needs, 
based on their assessment.  

 

3.3.3.4  Examples of short-term interventions that this generic support service may be 
required for, include but are not limited to: 

- Support to gain home management and lifestyle skills such as laundry, 

cooking, cleaning; 
- Access to befriending services and social support; 
- Access to Telecare and equipment services;  
- Access to various support activities provided locally (i.e., signposting to the 

Service Supplier’s network) advice on how to stay safe in the home e.g., on 
how to stay warm, avoid falls etc.  

- Access to services to maintain and improve the home environment and/or 

adapt it to meet the needs of the service user. 
- Support to obtain advice to secure and maintain appropriate housing or 

move to an alternative, suitable home;  

- Help in managing finances and benefit claims; 
- Help in completing forms to enable them to stay independent in their own 

home, e.g. applications for financial assistance.  

 
3.3.3.5  The following will not be offered by the WBS: 

- Personal care services such as:  
o Getting up and/or going to bed  

o Dressing  
o Washing or having a bath  
o Using a toilet or other personal hygiene  

o Eating and drinking  
- Domestic help such as washing up and laundry.  
- Medical or healthcare assessments and services provided by doctors or 

other medical professionals.  
- Regulated Adult Care services.  
- Mental health services. 

 

Page 166



 

 

3.3.3.6  Generic support is intended to be short-term support to individuals, the duration of 
the service will be variable and dependent upon and individual's specific needs. It is 
expected that the length of support will, in general, be no more than 12 we eks.  

Support will cease when outcomes have been met or the Supplier has appropriately 
signposted or referred service users to other support services that can address their 
outcomes.  A small number of service users may need support for a longer period 
than those identified above. 

 
3.3.3.7  The Supplier will review the period of support every 2 weeks with a view that an 

individual will exit the service once the outcomes have been met or cannot be 

improved upon, and support (where needed on an on-going basis) is sourced 
accordingly. 

 

3.3.3.8  Generic Support will commence no later than 21 calendar days after the date of 
referral, or later if there is no suitable time for the service user within that period. 
Any delay for any reason shall be documented in the service user’s Support Plan . 

 
3.3.3.9  The Supplier shall ensure that they have up to date knowledge of all local services 

that may be able to support service users. This should include statutory provision 

and third sector services. The Supplier will ensure that they are aware of other 
services eligibility criterion and how to refer into services. Where possible, support 
will be delivered through other services.  

 

3.3.3.10  For service users with complex needs and multiple issues to be addressed, it may 
be necessary for the Supplier to form part of, and when appropriate be the lead (act 
as a caseworker) for the service user, on multi-disciplinary panels including 

Neighbourhood Team Multi-Disciplinary Meetings, Vulnerable Adult Panels (VAPs), 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC), or Team Around the Adult 
(TAA).  Service users will be monitored through these mechanism and cases closed 

once all outcomes have been achieved.   
 
3.3.3.11  The Supplier is required to: 

- Inform service users during the assessment or at the beginning of the first 
generic support session what they can expect from the service prior to the 
commencement of generic support; 

- Update the Support Plan throughout the delivery of generic support;  

- Measure service user satisfaction and support service users to complain where 
necessary; 

- Work closely with the service user, and if appropriate their family and carers, to 

determine the activities and tasks required to meet their needs and achieve 
their outcomes; 
 

3.3.3.12  The Supplier will develop a blended offer of both remote (telephone, video -call, 

digital) and in-person individual interventions in agreement with service users, 
access, and individual needs and support outcomes. 

 

Page 167



 

 

3.3.4  Small Aids and Minor Alterations 
 

3.3.4.1  This element of the Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS) comprises the initial 

installation of items of equipment, known as small aids, and minor alterations.  
 
3.3.4.2  Service users will only access this element of the service where: 
 

- The CSC considers they would be unlikely to be assessed as needing equipment 
through the Lincolnshire Community Equipment Service (LCES), (as determined 
through the strength-based conversation), that they are deemed eligible for the 

WBS in accordance with section 3.4 (Service Eligibility), and refers them to the 
Supplier and; 

- The assessment by the Supplier determines that small aids or minor alterations 

would be of benefit and would be suitable for use.   
 

Following the assessment, where it is identified that the provision of a small aid will 

meet a service user’s eligible social care need, it will be delivered through the LCES 
as described in section 3.3.4.16. 

 

3.3.4.3 Small aids (such as a grab rail, raised toilet seat, or bath board) are basic items, some 
of which may require fitting or installation. Service users will fund the purchase of 
small aids which will be fitted by the Supplier at no cost to the service user. If the 
Supplier is purchasing equipment on behalf of the service user, the Supplier should 

do so at cost and ensure there is no markup charged to the Service User. 
  
3.3.4.4 A minor alteration is a job requiring limited time to undertake using low-cost or no 

materials and basic tools. . The service user must fund the cost of the materials, with 
the fitting provided free to them by the Supplier.  

 

3.3.4.5 Examples of types of work typically carried out include: 
- Fitting handrails (to stairs or along walls) 
- Rehanging doors to open in the opposite direction or on the opposite jamb 

and/or changing door handles. 
 

The above list will be kept under review and additional alterations considered in 
liaison with the OT service, depending on demand for this element of the WBS.  

 
3.3.4.6 Where it becomes apparent that equipment or adaptations beyond the scope of the 

WBS small aids and minor alterations element are likely to be necessary to meet an 

eligible need, the Supplier should refer service users to Adult Social Care for 
assessment with consent. The Supplier shall make the service user aware of the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) system and process. If the service user is likely to 

require further support to apply for a DFG this may be written into the Support Plan 
for generic support. 

 

3.3.4.7  Any assessment which involves the recommendation or issuing of small aids and 
adaptations must take place in person. This is to ensure that the small aid or 

Page 168



 

 

alteration is suitable for the service user’s requirements; that the service user is 
likely to be able to use the small aid or adaptation effectively and safely; and that 
the home environment is suitable for the recommended small aid or adaptation.  

 
3.3.4.8 The Supplier shall install small aids as the service user requires, as identified in their 

initial or subsequent assessments. 
 

3.3.4.9 It is the Supplier’s responsibility to enable the service user to have choice regarding 
the most appropriate item(s) to meet their requirements and where to source them, 
when the service users are purchasing these items themselves.  

 
3.3.4.10  The Supplier may hold a stock of small aids and materials for minor alterations that 

can be provided and fitted and will additionally maintain a catalogue of other 

reliable suppliers. The service user may either purchase the item(s) through the 
Supplier or the service user may purchase item(s) themselves through their chosen 
reliable supplier. The Supplier will then install these item(s) if the Supplier deems 

them appropriate. 
 
3.3.4.11  Whilst the service user can purchase item(s) themselves to meet their requirements, 

there may be occasions where it is not appropriate for the Supplier to fit this item(s) 
due to concerns over safety or appropriateness.  

 
3.3.4.12  The Supplier will be able to liaise with the OT team in the instances described in 

3.3.4.10 as necessary to obtain guidance regarding the appropriateness of 
equipment for an individual service user. 

 

3.3.4.13  During the installation of any small aids, the Supplier shall give full explanation and 
training to the service user and any informal carer regarding the functionality of the 
small aids, so the service user feels confident in the use of the items. 

 
3.3.4.14  The Supplier shall: 
 

- Fit any small aids within 7 calendar days or carry out any minor alterations 
within 14 calendar days of the date of assessment, or other later date if agreed 
with the service user; 

- Install all small aids in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions; 

- Obtain a signature from the service user (or other authorised person) to confirm 
that they agree the installation and/or alteration process has been carried out 
satisfactorily; 

- Discuss and agree with the service user all paperwork regarding payments, 
reporting of faults and responsibilities of the service user in relation to the small 
aids or minor alterations and leave a copy with the service user; 

- Where the Supplier has directly supplied small aids, they will be responsible for 
replacement if the item is faulty. 

 

3.3.4.15  The Customer shall allow the Supplier, in their absolute discretion, relief from 
compliance with the timescales detailed in paragraph 3.3.4.14 above where the 

Page 169



 

 

installation of more complicated minor alterations than those in paragraph 3.3.4.5 
are identified, and the work needs to be outsourced. More complicated and/or 
outsourced minor alterations would be at the cost of the service user.  

 
3.3.4.16  If, during the assessment process, it becomes apparent that a small aid meets a Care 

Act eligible need (i.e. a small aid or minor alteration that, had the service user been 
assessed through an OT, would be issued to them free of charge), then this item(s) 

can be issued to the service user by the Supplier, without charge, via the Lincolnshire 
Community Equipment Service (LCES). The LCES Supplier will deliver and fit the 
equipment for the service user. 

 
3.3.4.17  Determination of a service users need for a specific small aid will be made by the 

Supplier’s assessors, who will be expected to have undergone appropriate training 

(see points 3.3.4.29 – 3.3.4.34). 
 
3.3.4.18  Determination of need and rationale for providing small aids to service users at no 

charge via the LCES should be documented through the appropriate recording 
system. 

 

3.3.4.19  Small aids provided to service users free of charge will be from a prescribed list, 
which is aligned with small aids issued by the OT team. Should a service user wish 
to purchase small aids outside this list, this will be at their own expense.  

 

3.3.4.20  The types of small aids which can be issued via LCES may include items such as:  
- Chair and bed raisers 
- Bath boards, seats 

- Stair rails, rails for toileting, raised toilet seats and frames 
- Grab rails 
- Perching stools and small household items 

 
3.3.4.21  Where the service user has been assessed as needing a higher level of support than 

can be offered by the WBS (i.e. an individual requires equipment outside the 

prescribed list) and has an eligible need, the Supplier will refer the individual for an 
OT assessment for all equipment. 

 
3.3.4.22  The Supplier must ensure that, should small aids be provided through LCES, the 

service user is informed that this is arranged on a loan basis and that the equipment 
is not owned outright by the service user. 

 

3.3.4.23  The Supplier will be issued with access to LCES ordering systems to allow specified 
small aids to be issued to service users, free of charge through the LCES, where this 
equipment meets an eligible need.  

 
3.3.4.24  The Supplier will be expected to describe to the service user, should the service user 

choose to purchase their own small aids rather than accepting the small aids offered 

free of charge through LCES, the rationale underpinning the prescription of LCES 
equipment. This will allow the service user to make an informed choice.  

Page 170



 

 

 
3.3.4.25  If, during the assessment process, it is identified that a service user needs 

equipment urgently due to concerns around risk, then this should be immediately 

reported to the OT team duty desk for action and/or advice.  
 
3.3.4.26  The Supplier will work with the Customer to develop clear processes in relation to 

the issuing and review of equipment through the LCES.  

 
3.3.4.27  It is expected that that staff involved in the assessment process and the provision of 

small aids and minor alterations will have close working links with OT service, to 

ensure that equipment is provided appropriately and safely.  
 
3.3.4.28 Staff who assess service user’s needs and requirements and who advise on, 

recommend, or issue small aids and minor alteration to service users will have 
undergone training to allow them to work as trusted assessors for this purpose and 
will have appropriate accreditation as such. 

 
3.3.4.29 The Supplier shall employ staff who are suitably trained to carry out robust 

assessments and who are also able to identify, recommend, measure for and issue 

suitable equipment for service users, underpinned by sound reasoning.  
 
3.3.4.30  Suitable training at an appropriate level, such as the Disabled Living Foundation’s L3 

Trusted Assessor: Assessing for Minor Adaptations training or equivalent, will enable 

staff to act as Trusted Assessors. Those completing this training will hold a 
recognised qualification and this training will ensure an appropriate level of 
knowledge and skill underpins the assessment and small aids/minor alteration 

processes. 
 
3.3.4.31  The Supplier shall ensure their staff undergo continuous training and development, 

to ensure that their skills are current and that they are aware of any changes to 
practices when advising on or issuing small aids and/or minor alterations.  

 

3.3.4.32  The Supplier shall employ suitably trained and competent staff to install the small 
aids and make the minor alterations. This is envisaged to be either the Disabled 
Living Foundation L2 Trusted Installer training or equivalent course.  

 

3.3.4.33  The Supplier shall ensure training is ongoing so that small aids are installed correctly 
and demonstrated to the service user so that they can be used effectively and safely.  

 

3.3.4.34  The Supplier will work with the LCES provider to ensure suitable training on the LCES 
system is undertaken, so that appropriate WBS staff can order equipment through 
LCES as required. 

 
 

Page 171



 

 

3.3.5 Telecare Response Service 
 
3.3.5.1  The Supplier will provide a countywide Telecare Response Service. The Telecare 

Response Service will not be subject to the WBS eligibility criteria but provided to 
individuals who have monitored telecare equipment and subscribe and pay for this 
element of service.  

 

3.3.5.2  The cost to the service user for the first contract year will be set by the Customer at 
£2.77 per service user, per week, as outlined in the pricing schedule of the invitation 
to tender.  The Charging Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis as part of the 

open book review.  It is the Suppliers responsibility to collect fees.   
 

3.3.5.3  The Telecare Response Service is the provision of a visit to the home of a service 

user in response to a request from a telecare monitoring provider.  The telecare 
monitoring centre will request a visit in response to a request from the service user 
when contacted by the call centre. A list of these can be found in Appendix B.  Agreed 

response call out reasons shall be reviewed with the Supplier on a regular basis in 
line with submitted service data and intelligence. 

 

3.3.5.4  Trained responders will assess and assist with a range of needs including non-injury 
falls, as well as providing support and reassurance in emergency situations.  
 

3.3.5.5  The Supplier shall ensure, upon arrival at the service user's home, that the 

responder carries out the following actions as a minimum: 
- ascertain the nature of the problem; 
- provide support and reassurance; 

- attempt to resolve the situation if it is appropriate and safe to do so without 
onward referral within agreed procedures; 

- contact the GP, the NHS 111 service or 999 (depending on and appropriate 

to the circumstances) without delay whenever a service user requests 
assistance to obtain medical attention, has an evident or suspected injury, 
or appears unwell and unable to make such a request; 

- inform the service user's next of kin as soon as possible (if agreed in the 
individual’s response protocol); and 

- offer reassurance and support to the service user until medical assistance 
arrives. 

 
3.3.5.6  If the individual has fallen, the Supplier shall ensure the responder shall as a 

minimum:  

- carry out relevant assessments, according to agreed protocols, before 
moving the person;   

- use assistive lifting equipment (e.g. Mangar) and follow best practice 

moving and handling techniques, ensuring these procedures are in line 
with the service user's own moving and handling requirements, to help the 
person to get up and back on their feet or to a safe resting place;  

- contact emergency services for assistance if the responder is unable to 
move the service user safely;  

Page 172



 

 

- undertake a basic falls prevention assessment and give the individual 
and/or their carer information and advice about removing potential 
hazards which may increase their risk of falls;  

- inform the service user that a referral to other components of the WBS, if 
appropriate and with service users' consent, will be made and they will 
receive contact from them in due course;  

- identify any follow up referrals that the service user needs to ensure their 

safety and wellbeing, for example health, social care, preventative services, 
and seek their consent to make the referral on their behalf.   This may 
include urgent referrals if immediate assistance is required; and  

- ensure the security of the home on leaving the property.  
 
3.3.5.7 The Supplier shall ensure this service complements the support provided by both 

informal and formal carers so that responses are in the best interest of the service 
user and the service user has assurance that someone will attend.  

 

3.3.5.8 When providing a home response to an alarm call directed by the Telecare Call 
Monitoring Centre, the Supplier shall ensure the response is delivered in accordance 
with the service user's individual response protocol. 

 
3.3.5.9 The Supplier shall ensure all staff attending homes as part of this Response Service 

are sufficiently vetted, trained, and equipped to assess and assist non-injury and 
minor injury falls victims back to their feet, and offer emergency personal care to 

ensure the individual is left in a safe, resettled environment and condition.  
 
3.3.5.10 The Supplier shall not be required to hold Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

registration to carry out emergency personal care. An example of such emergency 
personal care tasks may include but are not limited to:  

- Dressing  

- Using the toilet  
- Personal hygiene  
- Eating and drinking  

- Cleaning up after a fall 
 
3.3.5.11 Upon completion of a response visit, the Supplier shall ensure:  

- provide feedback about the outcome.  This will include (but is not limited to) 

the response time, reason for the visit, duration of visit, any actions taken 
and the outcome;  

- complete an outcome form for every visit undertaken; and 

- complete relevant onward referrals. 
 
3.3.5.12 The Supplier will work with the Customer to develop a protocol with the NHS 

Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Primary Care to inform clinicians as 
appropriate following a fall related response visit. This is intended to apply to 
frequent fallers, so that follow up actions can be taken as necessary as part of the 

falls response pathway and fall prevention services. 
 

Page 173



 

 

3.3.5.13 The provision will be available 24 hours, 7 days per week and callouts should be 
responded to within 1 hour of the request from the Monitoring Centre. The Supplier 
shall have adequate arrangements to record and monitor response times.   

 
3.3.5.14 To access this service, an individual will need to notify their telecare provider; who 

will then liaise with the Supplier. The Supplier shall work with the telecare provider 
to ensure a seamless service for the service user. Upon receipt of a referral from the 

telecare provider the Supplier shall contact the individual within 24 hours or the 
next working day and provide details of the service, the charge and how to pay the 
charge.   

 
3.3.5.15 It will be the responsibility of the Supplier to work with the telecare provider to 

develop the most effective and efficient pathway for referrals and sharing of 

information. 
 
3.3.5.16 The Supplier shall undertake regular reviews to ensure the service user continues to 

need and benefit from the service, and to confirm emergency procedures and 
contacts are up to date and valid. Such reviews shall involve contacting the service 
user and consideration of reports generated through the monitoring system.   

 
3.3.5.17 The Supplier shall ensure the service user's response protocol is kept updated with 

information gathered from the telecare provider and any information gathered by a 
responder upon attending the service user's residence.  

 
3.3.5.18 The Supplier will promote this service offer to continually increase take up and best 

value for the Customer.   

 
3.3.5.19 The Supplier will work with the Customer to develop the core offer to align with the 

development of new technologies as required.  

 
3.3.5.20 The specification outlines a core offer. The Supplier is encouraged to develop or 

expand this provision through a self-funded enhanced offering that will be agreed 

by the Customer.  This may include cover for additional call out reasons.  
 

Service Promotion and Engagement 

 

3.4.1 The Supplier will work with the Customer to create and market a single service identity 
and brand with the potential to endure beyond the life of a single contract. This shall 
be distinct from any branding of the Supplier. Service branding will be subject to the 

Customer’s internal governance before approval.  
   

3.4.2 The Supplier shall deliver a range of activities to promote the service using appropriate 

language and imagery, in a range of up-to-date accessible formats, including print,  
social and broadcast media, video and digital platforms.  

 

3.4.3 The Supplier shall develop, with the involvement of service users, a suite of literature 
and promotional material for use by the Service and partners. The Supplier will ensure 

Page 174



 

 

that there is countywide geographical availability of its printed service literature. The 
Supplier shall put in place effective systems to maintain up to date service literature in 
appropriate locations, for example, GP surgeries, hospitals, and pharmacies. The 

Supplier will be responsible for ensuring out of date service literature is removed from 
such locations.  

 
3.4.4 The Supplier will be expected to demonstrate a commitment to ensuring that their 

services meet the diverse needs of the communities of Lincolnshire and that all 
advertising, promotion, and publicity of the Service shall be inclusive.    

 

3.4.5 The Supplier will undertake proactive targeting of communities and individuals who 
may face barriers to accessing support services or experience health inequalities. The 
Supplier will equally play a key role in increasing community awareness of prevention 

and early intervention and shall identify community assets across Lincolnshire to 
enhance support within their local area.  

 

3.4.6  The Supplier will work with partners (as outlined in Section 3.8 Partnership and 
Network working) to increase awareness of the support provided (and not provided) 
by the Service and referral process.    

  
3.4.7 The Supplier shall also engage with local support services which the generic support 

component may interact with for support planning or onward referrals, e.g. 
Neighbourhood Teams, Customer commissioned services, third sector services.    

 
3.4.8  To effectively ensure that referrals are reflective of need and equitable, the Supplier 

will be required to analyse referral information and work closely with the Customers 

Intelligence Team, to identify communities and referrers to specifically target. The 
Supplier shall co-produce an annual Engagement Plan with the Customer outlining the 
activities and strategies to be deployed to meet the aims set out above. The Supplier 

shall share an initial plan within three months of contract commencement and then 
annually during the month of October covering the contract year ahead. The Supplier 
shall actively involve partners and service users in the development and review of the 

Engagement Plan.  
 

Service Eligibility  

 

3.5.1  The following outlines the eligibility criteria required to be met by the individual to gain 

access to support from the Lincolnshire WBS. The Digital Offer is universally available  
to all Lincolnshire residents. The Telecare Response Service (as described in 3.3.5 
above) is a subscribed element and therefore will not be subject to eligibility criteria. 

 

3.5.2  To be eligible for support from the WBS the person must (all apply): 

- Live in Lincolnshire and be 18 years old or over.  
- Be at risk of becoming unable to live independently at home, increasing a need 

for ongoing services.  

Page 175



 

 

- Have barriers to accessing information and written advice to help themselves 
or have issues that stop them from being able to interpret or act on the 
information and advice that might enable them to help themselves.  

- Need additional support with at least one of the following outcomes to live 
independently at home and maintain good health and wellbeing and meet or 
exceed the threshold weighting score.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

3.5.3 

 An individual's eligibility shall be determined by the CSC, or trusted referrer, via 

an initial triage/screening process, prior to a referral being made to the Supplier to 
carry out an assessment. The CSC or trusted referrer’s screening process will determine 
if the service user reaches the minimum threshold score for entry into the WBS. The 

service user must have a threshold score that is above or equal to the minimum 
threshold score to gain access to the WBS. 

 

3.5.4   On commencement of the contract the initial threshold score to gain entry to the WBS 
will be set at a score of 6 or above. However, the initial threshold score may be subject 
to change during the lifetime of the contract.   

Outcomes Weighting 

I want to live safely, independently, and happier at home and this would be 

achievable if I could.… 

- Maintain my home environment so that it keeps me safe, warm, 

and well and reduces my chances of accidents. 
10 

- Have help finding and fitting a small aid or piece of equipment 

(such as a grab rail, raised toilet seat or bath board) or make a 

small alteration, that helps me to get around my home and use 

the facilities. 

10 

- Learn home management and life skills, to do for myself, or 

obtain services to do for me, tasks such as cooking, cleaning, 

laundry, shopping, and gardening. 

10 

- Manage my household budget better, maximise my income, 

reduce my expenses and avoid being scammed. 
5 

- Improve my digital skills and be better at using technology to help 

me to stay independent and safe. 
5 

- Be supported to live with a combination of long-term conditions 

to maintain or improve my quality of life. 
2 

- Find and stay in education, training, or work while I am of 

working age. 
2 

- Build a better support network, social life, or volunteer.  1 

 

 

Maximum 

score: 45 

Page 176



 

 

 
3.5.5  The Initial threshold score, and the weighting of each of the outcome statements is a 

tool for managing demand for the service and ensuring the services finite resources 

are focused on those most in need of the provision. They will be reviewed by the 
Customer both routinely and on an ad-hoc bases to ensure that they remain effective 
for both referrer and Supplier.  Ad-hoc reviews may be triggered by notifications from 
the Supplier that demand is exceeding expected volumes as outlined in section 3.11 

(Management of Service Demand). 
 
3.5.6  The Customer reserves the right to amend service eligibility criteria in response to 

feedback, intelligence, referral demand, legislative, policy, guidance or local strategies 
and initiatives.  

 

Referral Pathways 
 

3.6.1  The diagram below (also included in Appendix C) outlines the Lincolnshire WBS referral 
pathways for all referrals except for Telecare Response. 

 

  
 

3.6.2  Point 3.6.3 to 3.6.7 outline the referral pathways for all referrals to the WBS except for 
those to Telecare Response Service. The Telecare Response Service is outlined in point 
3.6.8. 

 

3.6.3  Referrals can be made by individuals as a self-referral or professional referral:  
- Self-referrals; Individuals can self-refer to the service by either completing an 

e-form or by contacting the CSC on the dedicated WBS telephone number.   

Page 177



 

 

- Professional referrals (from other professionals); Professionals can refer 
individuals to the service by completing the self-referral e-form on behalf of the 
service user or signposting the service user to one of the self–referral pathways. 

- Trusted referrals from ‘trusted referrers’; A trusted referrer is a partner that 
will have a strength-based conversation, check eligibility, and do any necessary 
signposting with referees prior to referral. Trusted referrers will include the 
Customer’s Adult Care workers. Trusted referrers will refer individual’s directly 

to the Supplier via the Customers Case Management system, Mosaic.    
 

3.6.4  The Customer’s CSC operates as the first point of contact for all self and professional 

referrals to the Lincolnshire WBS with the only exception being when referrals come 
from a trusted referrer via Mosaic to the Supplier (and Telecare Response).  The CSC 
also performs this function for other key services such as Adult Care and the 

Lincolnshire Carers Service. The Supplier shall promote the CSC as the single point of 
contact for the service.  Whilst the Customer is committed to the concept of ‘no wrong 
door’ to access the Service, the Customer anticipates that new contacts and referrals 

will come via the CSC. The Supplier will ensure that this referral route is actively 
promoted and any referrals directly to the Supplier are redirected to the CSC.  

 

3.6.5  Following referral, the CSC will have a WBS Strength-Based Conversation with all 
individuals referred to them. This conversation may happen directly at the point of 
contact or as attempted as a separate contact. This conversation will aim to enable 
individuals to find the best solutions for themselves, supporting them in making 

independent decisions about how they live and facilitating creative and tailored 
solutions. During the WBS Conversation the referred individual will be given 
Information, Advice, and Guidance (IAG) as appropriate.  This may include signposting 

the individual to the digital offer.    
 
3.6.6  As part of the WBS conversation, the CSC will establish whether the individual referred 

requires any additional support from the WBS and thus whether they meet the 
eligibility criteria.  If so, the outcomes that the individual wishes to work towards will 
also be captured (as defined in 3.1.2 and 3.4.2). The individual’s details, the WBS 

Conversation and outcomes will all be logged on the Customer’s case management 
system, Mosaic which will also be utilised by the Supplier to case manage service 
delivery. Notifications will give the Supplier access to all the information collected by 
the CSC and other Trusted Referrers. This will include the criteria met and the 

outcomes identified.  
 
3.6.7  The Supplier is expected to work with the Customer to increase the number of trusted 

referrers, although it is not anticipated that that his will become universal.  
 
3.6.8  Referrals for Telecare Response shall come directly from the Customer's telecare 

provider to the Supplier. The Supplier shall record the details of the referral directly on 
Mosaic upon receipt. This will include who the telecare provider is. Enquire s may also 
be received direct to the Supplier from interested individuals/their families. In these 

instances, the Supplier shall explain the scope and costs of the Service to the individual 
and liaise with their telecare provider on their behalf prior to commencing the Service. 

Page 178



 

 

 
3.6.9  The Supplier shall support the Customer to ensure that referrals are appropriate by 

working with the partner agencies and professionals to ensure all key partners are 

aware of the eligibility criteria to access support interventions. 
 
3.6.10 The Supplier will work with the Customer and the CSC to improve referral mechanisms 

where required. This may include establishing new mechanisms for referral as new 

technologies become available or policy changes. Examples may be online forms or 
customer portals on Mosaic.  Any new mechanisms developed will: 

 

- Ensure that the CSC remains the first single point of contact for initial triage (other 
than for trusted referrers). 

- Be simple, efficient, proportionate, and effective, promote joint working, and must 

not have an unintended consequence of acting as a barrier.  

 

3.6.11 The Supplier will monitor referrals and any waiting lists (both numbers of individuals 
and waiting time) and current and projected service throughput and give the Customer 
early warning of any potential capacity problems. 

 
3.6.12 Where parts of the community are under-represented by those referred to the service 

or self-referring to the service the Supplier will actively promote the services to that 

target client group e.g., certain localities, communities or identified individual 
characteristics.   

 

Service Location and Delivery  
 

3.7.1  The Supplier shall design and deliver its service provision and staffing to provide 
maximum flexibility and responsiveness to the individual support needs of service 
users. Support interventions will be available as a minimum, Monday to Friday, 9am to 

5pm throughout the year (except public holidays) and will include service provision 
during evenings and weekends as the needs of service users dictate.  

  

3.7.2  Service users and referral partners shall be able to access information, resources and 
make referrals via the digital offer on Connect to Support 24 hours a day, 7 days a week 
of each year. Any planned or unexpected downtime of this functionality shall be 

reported to the Supplier as soon as reasonably practicable.   
 
3.7.3  Telecare Response will be available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Responders will be 

situated to ensure countywide coverage within 1 hour of call out.  
 
3.7.4  The Supplier shall provide assessments in effective and efficient ways but shall ensure 

that the service user’s needs and choice are prioritised.  Assessments should be offered 

via remote means (telephone, video call etc), in community settings and in the home 
of the service user.  Any assessments to determine the utility and/or need for small 
aids or minor alterations are expected to be in-person and in the service user’s home 

to ensure their suitability for the individual and within the home environment. 
 

Page 179



 

 

3.7.5  The Supplier will develop a blended offer of both remote (telephone, video-call, digital) 
and in-person individual interventions in agreement with service users, access, and 
individual needs and support outcomes. 

  
3.7.6  Where service user needs dictate, the Supplier is expected to undertake assessments 

and provide generic support in a hospital setting, this may be to support with hospital 
discharge.  

    
3.7.7  The population of Lincolnshire is diverse in terms of faith, ethnicity, disability, culture, 

language, gender, age, and sexual orientation. The Supplier must ensure that they 

meet the Equalities Act 2010 and be able to demonstrate that all groups with protected 
characteristics in this Act have equality of access.  

 

3.7.8  To effectively ensure that delivery locations are reflective of need and equitable, the 
Supplier will be required to analyse referral and delivery information closely and work 
closely with the Customers Intelligent Team, to identify communities and referrers to 

specifically target. Findings will be reflected in the co-produced an annual Engagement 
Plan outlined in section 3.4.8. 

 

3.7.9  Where the service user’s first language is not English and they have difficulties 
comprehending English, the Supplier will be expected to use an accredited 
interpretation service to facilitate access.  

 

3.7.10 The Supplier shall continuously review (through reporting but also via service users’ 
feedback) where services are being delivered and the days/hours of operation to 
ensure that access to services is optimised at the appropriate locations and times.  Any 

findings shall be discussed with the Customer.  
 
3.7.11 The Customer will analyse management information and the Supplier’s delivery plans 

to assure themselves that the service is being provided equitably across the county.    
 

Partnerships and Network Development 

 
3.8.1  Legislation, guidance, policy, and local strategies dictate that collaboration, 

partnership and multi-agency working shall be at the centre of effective generic 
support provision for people to maintain their independence and improve their 

general health and wellbeing. The Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service (WBS) Supplier shall 
embed the values of partnership working within service design and delivery.   

 

3.8.2  The Supplier shall act as a strategic partner to the Customer, planning for and 
evidencing strong partnership working across the county to ensure that the service is 
delivered using all appropriate means. This will be evident in the Supplier’s service 

delivery, feedback from assurance activities and through analysis of referrals and 
service outcomes. This will be done during contract management meetings and by 
providing evidence of linked-in organisations and partners. 

 
3.8.3  The Supplier shall:  

Page 180



 

 

 
- Demonstrate clear referral pathways into appropriate local services, including 

but not limited to Stop Smoking, Specialist Mental Health, Sexual Health 

Services, and other Public Health commissioned services. 
- Be involved in the Lincolnshire Health and Care initiative from both a strategic 

and operational point of view, ensuring that the service contributes towards 
the aims and objectives of the initiative.   

- Be fully involved in the development and design of a new model for health and 
care in Lincolnshire, Community and Primary Partnerships, specifically 
regarding Neighbourhood Teams and links with the ongoing development of 

NHS plans.    
- Work with suitable vulnerable populations to prepare and co-ordinate a holistic 

Support Plan based on their assessment of need and, where possible, service 

user choice. 
- Work in collaboration with the district councils of Lincolnshire to increase the 

breadth of access to key services. 

- Have staff with Public Health knowledge and awareness; as a minimum it is 
expected that all staff will be Make Every Contact Count (MECC) trained and 
have a firm understanding of key Public Health campaigns.   

  
3.8.4  As a strategic partner, the Supplier will be required to develop strong and effective 

working relationships with the following organisations and service suppliers, 
developing some of those that are not currently trusted referrers to become one 

where feasible: 
 
3.8.4.1  Adult Care 

The Customer’s Adult Care service will be a key referral partner into the WBS with it 
having a main aim of adult care avoidance. The Occupational Therapy (OT) service 
is linked to the delivery of small aids and minor alterations, the  Lincolnshire 

Community Equipment Service (LCES), and Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs). Both 
community and hospital based Social Work teams are expected to be key referral 
partners direct to the WBS Supplier. 

 
The Supplier is expected to make referrals to Adult Care if they feel a service user 
may have care and support needs not picked up by contact with the CSC or if there 
is a deterioration in the service user’s condition or an increased need whilst being 

supported by the WBS. 
 
3.8.4.2  Citizens Advice 

Citizens Advice Lincolnshire is grant-aided to distribute funding between the 
branches in Lincolnshire to deliver debt advice and budget management services. In 
addition, Citizens Advice is a key member of the Lincolnshire Financial Inclusion 

Partnership (FIP), and Citizens Advice South Lincolnshire delivers an energy advice 
service. The Supplier will help ensure that financial wellbeing support is delivered 
through Citizens Advice but support them and help manage demand by dealing with 

low-level budget management issues, supporting income maximisation, and 
reducing expenditure as part of a broader Support Plan.  

Page 181



 

 

 
3.8.4.3 District Councils 

District councils are designated housing authorities and energy conservation 

authorities and are also responsible for environmental health services. This includes 
statutory duties such as the administration of DFGs, homelessness prevention and 
the provision of temporary accommodation. The Supplier is expected to maintain a 
close relationship with teams across the district councils and shared officers working 

with the district councils and the Customer (e.g., the Lincolnshire Health and 
Accessible Homes (Housing) Lead and the Lincolnshire Housing [Homelessness]  
Partnerships Manager).  

 
3.8.4.4 Lincolnshire Community Equipment Service (LCES)  

The WBS will be a Trusted Assessor for certain items of equipment that can be 

delivered through the LCES. 
 

3.8.4.5 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service 

The Supplier shall support Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue with the promotion of its 
SHERMAN campaign to help identify clients needing a Fire Safety Check and refer in. 
These are: 

- Smokers 
- People who Hoard 
- Elderly people and people living alone. 
- People with Reduced mobility, hearing loss or visual impairments 

- Mental Health issues 
- Alcohol misuse, drugs, or medication dependence. 
- Needs care or support. 

 

 
 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue is working with the Customer Intelligence Team to 

identify and visit vulnerable households in the county. These households and people 

Page 182



 

 

receiving a Fire Safety Check may be deemed eligible for the WBS and referred direct 
following a strength-based conversation. 

 

3.8.4.6  NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board; including Mental Health and Therapy 
services (e.g., NHS Talking Therapies (Steps to Change).  

 
3.8.4.7 One You Lincolnshire (the Integrated Lifestyle Service (ILS)) 

The WBS covers general health and wellbeing and is not intended to be a health 
improvement service. Where service users would benefit from the ILS alongside 
generic support, they shall be referred to One You Lincolnshire. One You Lincolnshire 

covers: 
- Physical activity 
- Smoking cessation 

- Strength and balance 
- Weight management 

 

3.8.4.8 Social Prescribing Link Workers and Social Prescribing Mental Health Link 
Workers 
These services are commissioned by the NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board 

(ICB) and the WBS Supplier will need to maintain a close working relationship with 
the current and future supplier(s). The ICB is in the process of reviewing the model 
for social prescribing and establishing a route for future procurement. The Supplier 
will be familiar with the support Social Prescribers offer and refer in when required.  

 
3.8.4.9 United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT)  

It is anticipated that generic support will be delivered as part of a planned discharge 

process and after a service user returns home, rather than at the point a patient 
arrives home immediately following discharge. The Customer recognises that on 
rare occasions, there may be an urgent need for support to resolve a specific issue 

(e.g., to avoid an admission to hospital or ensure a discharge can take place when 
planned) and this is included as a potential service development in Section 4.4.  
 

3.8.5  Existing trusted referrers where the relationship has been established with the current 
WBS supplier need to be maintained are: 

- Adult Care; and 
- Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service subject to personnel being trained and 

equipped to have a strength-based approach. 
 

3.8.6  Where mentioned above, the Supplier will work with those other organisations or 

services to develop them as trusted referrers. Trusted referrers will be trained to have 
a strength-based conversation with potential service users and screen for eligibility and 
refer direct into the WBS via Mosaic if eligible. Until such time as the Supplier is assured 

this is happening, the above partners should continue to direct referrals through the 
CSC or via supported self-referral pathways. 

 

3.8.7   There are also initiatives that the Supplier, the above trusted referrers, and the 
Customer will work together on, including: 

Page 183



 

 

 
- Good Home Lincs, the online information and advice hub for the Lincolnshire 

Good Home Alliance. 

- Hoarding Protocol and Self-Neglect Protocol and associated support services. 
 

The WBS Supplier will contribute to the design and delivery (insofar as delivery is 
within the scope of the WBS) and support the evaluation and review of such multi-

agency initiatives. 
 

3.8.8  In addition to the partners above, the Supplier shall work with a wide range of services 

and agencies that support and may identify people requiring the WBS.   The Supplier 
shall signpost to, and work with, appropriate mainstream health, wellbeing, and 
lifestyle services, including but not limited to: 

- Children’s Social Care services: the Supplier is expected to make referrals 
through Lincolnshire County Council's CSC if they feel a child looked after by 
one of their service users may have care and support needs. 

- Customer commissioned services (e.g., Domestic Abuse Support Service 
(DASS)) 

- Dementia Family Support Service   

- Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Job Centre Plus 
- Housing providers, in addition to district councils that own council housing, and 

including housing related support providers.  
- Lincolnshire Care Association (LinCA)  

- Lincolnshire Carers Service 
- Lincolnshire Community Health Service (LCHS)  
- Lincolnshire Partnership Foundation Trust (LPFT) 

- Lincolnshire Police and the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)  
- Money and Pensions Service (MAPS) 
- Neighbourhood Teams  

- Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and General Practices (GPs)   
- Telecare service providers  
- Sexual health and sexual violence services including Spring Lodge, SARC (Sexual 

Assault Referral Centre). 
- Shine Lincolnshire 
- Substance Misuse Services 
- National Probation Service (NPS) and (CRC)  

- Housing Related Support Services and Housing providers  
- Other providers of domestic abuse services  
- Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) organisations 

 
3.8.9  There will be a continual focus on operational effectiveness and developing the WBS 

to support issues of greatest importance to people’s health and wellbeing and 

maintaining independence. The WBS will convene and administer a bi-monthly WBS 
Operational Effectiveness and Delivery Meeting to come together with the Customer, 
district councils, and trusted referrers. 

 

Page 184



 

 

3.8.10 The Supplier will participate in any Provider Forum established by the Customer’s for 
its key commissioned health and wellbeing service providers.  

 

3.8.11  The WBS will be an integral part of the Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance and the 
Lincolnshire Financial Inclusion Partnership (LFIP). The Supplier will, therefore, be 
expected to be an active participant in, but not limited to, the following partnership 
networks: 

- Carers Partnership 
- Greater Lincolnshire Energy Efficiency Network 
- Home First Partnership 

- Lincolnshire Financial Inclusion Partnership Steering Group 
- Lincolnshire Healthy and Accessible Homes Group 

 

3.8.12 The Supplier will support the Customer’s Public Health Officer with the administration 
of the Lincolnshire Quality of Life Network. This is an established forum for a wide 
range of organisations and services to come together to progress three of the  four core 

aims of the WBS that they all have as a common purpose: 
 

- To promote adults’ ability to live fulfilling, active and independent lives.   

- Improve or prevent the deterioration of individuals’ health, wellbeing, and 
overall quality of life.  

- Enhance independence at home, improve individuals’ ability to self -care and 
access appropriate supporting structures and community resources.  

 
Meetings are quarterly and the anticipated support with administration involves joint 
agenda setting and sourcing speakers. 

 

Workforce and Service Management  

 

3.9.1   The Supplier shall demonstrate effective leadership through evidence of a 
performance culture that motivates their staff to deliver safe, high quality and person-
centred support to service users. 

  
3.9.2  The Supplier shall ensure that staffing levels are sufficient to meet demand whilst 

achieving service requirements effectively and meeting delivery timescales. The 
Supplier shall manage staff flexibly to meet fluctuations in demand across the county  

and be responsive to individual service user’s needs.   
 
3.9.3  The Supplier shall ensure an appropriately qualified, experienced, and skilled 

workforce that are vetted through enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) checks 
to facilitate safe and effective delivery of the service. 

 

3.9.4  The Supplier shall ensure all staff have clearly defined job descriptions outlining roles, 
responsibilities, and minimum training expectations.  

 

3.9.5  The Supplier shall be responsible for the workforce development of their own staff and 
have procedures in place to notify the Customer of any changes in the workforce that 

Page 185



 

 

may affect their ability to deliver the services being commissioned. Some training 
courses may be available to the Supplier's staff free of charge from the Customer.   This 
may be through an e-learning platform or face to face.  

 
3.9.6  The Supplier shall ensure all staff have the skills, experience, and supervision structures 

to support service users and meet all the service requirements effectively.   This will 
include, but not be limited to;  

 
- Risk identification, risk assessment and risk management  
- Safeguarding (adults and children) 

- The Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training on Learning Disability and Autism 
(Tier1) 

- Strength-based approaches 

- The Care Act (2014)  
- Benefits and debt advice 
- Mental Capacity Act  

- Information Governance  
- Health and safety  
- Equality and diversity  

- Mosaic 
- Suicide awareness  
- Disability awareness 
- Domestic abuse awareness 

- Disabled Living Foundation’s L3 Trusted Assessor: Assessing for Minor 
Adaptations training or equivalent 

- Disabled Living Foundation L2 Trusted Installer training or equivalent course 

- LCES Training (via LCES Supplier) 

 

3.9.7  The Supplier shall ensure all staff attending homes as part of the Telecare Response 
Service are sufficiently vetted, trained, and equipped to assess and assist non-injury 
and minor injury falls victims back to their feet, and offer emergency personal care to 

ensure the individual is left in a safe, resettled environment and condition.  
 
3.9.8  The Supplier shall be accountable for all aspects of the provision of the Service 

including quality and governance. The Supplier will monitor referrals, caseloads and 
current and projected service throughput and give the Customer early warning of any 
potential capacity problems. 

   
3.9.9  The Supplier shall have a strategy in place to ensure staff vacancies are kept to a 

minimum through effective workforce planning including: safer recruitment and 

selection processes, opportunities for professional career progression and consistent 
management and development practices to enhance staff retention.   

 
3.9.10 The Supplier will ensure that regular staff supervision and appraisal are an essential 

part of staff development, quality improvement, staff support and reflective practice. 
The Supplier will seek to include feedback from people who use the Service in 
reviewing staff performance and identifying staff development needs.  

Page 186



 

 

Case Management System  

 

3.10.1 The Customer uses a workflow and case management system called Mosaic across 
their services. Mosaic ensures a single source of accurate data in relation to people 
supported by the Customer. The aim is to enable effective multi-agency joint working, 

quality assurance and reporting for commissioning intelligence, performance, health 
protection and senior stakeholder accountability.  

 

3.10.2 The Supplier shall fully utilise the Customer's workflow and case management system 
for all individuals to whom it provides a service.   

 

3.10.3 The Supplier shall use the Customer's case management system, Mosaic, to:    
- Keep an accurate record and maintain records of existing service users (new 

referrals will be added to by the CSC or Trusted Assessors, with the exception 
of referrals for Telecare Response).  

- Accurately record identified service user outcomes and self -identified scores.  
- Update all relevant aspects of service user records, including outcomes, 

relationships, and on exit from the Service.  

- Appropriately manage records in line with all legal obligations and best 
practice.  

- Supply the Customer with information to determine and demonstrate 

effective service provision.   
- Record and upload key documents in relation to statutory duties.   
- Record case notes for all contacts/discussions with service users and other 

professionals linked to the case.  
- Fulfil any other relevant functions as required by the Customer, in agreement 

with the Supplier.  
 

3.10.4 The Supplier shall ensure that records are maintained in an accurate and timely 

manner. The Supplier shall record all service user data on Mosaic and shall always 
keep such records up to date, inputting any new data, changes in service user 
information onto Mosaic within 24 hours of receipt. 

 
3.10.5 The Supplier shall use the guidance of the Mosaic Hub and the Adult Care Procedures,  

Practice Guidance and Tools Resource, and other updates as issued by the LCC Mosaic 

Team and Practice Leads. 

 

3.10.6 As a strategic partner, the Supplier may also be asked to contribute to the 
development of guidance, and help inform ongoing development or re -design of 
Mosaic work steps, forms, workflow etc.  

 
3.10.7 The Supplier shall adhere to General Data Processing Regulations in the processing 

and utilisation of all data in relation to Carers supported by the Service, protecting 

their privacy and ensuring accuracy.   
 

Page 187

https://professionals.lincolnshire.gov.uk/adults
https://lincolnshireadults.trixonline.co.uk/
https://lincolnshireadults.trixonline.co.uk/


 

 

3.10.8 The Supplier shall be supported by the Customer's Mosaic Team to familiarise and 
train new staff in using Mosaic, and to provide on-going advice and support as 
required to meet professional standards of data recording. 

 
3.10.9 The Supplier shall be expected to develop and maintain expertise in Mosaic,  

becoming a Third-Party Super User in order to provide on-going training and support 
internally to the staff of the Supplier.  

 
3.10.10 The Supplier shall take all reasonable steps to maintain excellent standards of 

accurate and up to date record keeping, ensuring that they monitor quality as defined 

in the Carers Quality Practice Standards.  

 

3.10.11  The Supplier shall support periodic and reasonable exercises of data cleansing in 
agreement with the Customer, to maintain accurate, up to date service user records.    

 

3.10.12 The Customer will provide an appropriate number of licences to enable the Supplier 
to access Mosaic. Volunteers will not be able to access Mosaic. 

 

3.10.13 The Supplier may also run their own case management system to hold the 
information not supported by Mosaic.  

 

Management of Service Demand 

 
3.11.1 The target number of individuals supported for each element of service annually 

within the annual service contract value (block payment) is set out in the tables 1-3 
below. This represents the Customers minimum expectations for volumes of service 
to be delivered.  The breakdown of the individual service elements set out below in 
Table 2 is provided for information only and is not guaranteed.  The anticipated 

Service Elements volumes for Year 1 in Table 2 are based upon a combination of 
historical demand and anticipated future forecast as a result of the changes made to 
the service model.  The percentage breakdown is based solely on historical 

information i.e.: assuming that all the referrals will receive an assessment, of these 
referrals 83% will then go on to receive generic support and 11% small Aids and 
Alterations. 

 
Table 1 - Core Volume Referral Estimates 

 Contract 

Year 1 

Contract 

Year 2 

Contract 

Year 3 

Contract 

Year 4 

Contract 

Year 5 

Referrals 9727 9873 10021 10171 10324 

 

  

Page 188



 

 

 Table 2 – Service Elements Demand Assumptions 

Service Element 
Service Element 
Unit 

Service Elements 
Volumes 

Year 1  
(October 2024 – 
September 2025) 

Service Element  
based upon historic 

percentage 
breakdown  

Assessment  1 Assessment 9727 100% 

General Support  
1 person receiving 
generic support 

8073 83% 

Small 
Aids/Adaptations  

1 installation 1070 11% 

 

 Table 3 – Telecare Response Service Demand Assumptions 

Telecare Response Service Element 

Service Elements Volumes 

Year 1  
(October 2024 – September 2025) 

Number of staff employed to deliver the 
service 

20 

Number of individuals supported.  
(Service User contributions in first year 

assumed to be £2.77 per Service User, 
per week)  

1300 

Number of callouts 2600 

 
3.11.2 Volumes are calculated by the Customers at the time of model development. The 

Supplier will work with the Customer, including providing open book accounting, to 
frequently review whether the volumes outlined above are achievable within the 
contract value. This may result in either increases or decreases in the volume 

expectations.  
 

3.11.3 In the event that service demand and the number of service interventions required 

exceeds the target to be provided annually within the annual service contract value 
(block rate) the Supplier will work with the customer to initiate one or both of the 
following:  

 
- The Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate will be applied. 
- Review and amend service eligibility.   
 

3.11.4 The Supplier shall not deliver any services in excess of target volumes without the 
Customer’s prior written approval. Such approval is at the Customer’s absolute 
discretion and is subject to affordability of the Customer. 

 

Page 189



 

 

3.11.5 The Additional Volume Unit Payments (submitted within the financial submission 
Document, Section 11b Pricing Schedule and set out at Document 4, Schedule 3, 
Annex 1) will form the basis of additional payments, to be agreed with the Customer, 

if additional demand for the service is required over and above the target as set out 
above in 3.11.1. In these circumstances, the number of Additional Volume Unit 
Payments in excess of the target shall be highlighted in the invoices submitted by the 
Supplier.   

 

3.11.6 In the event that the Customer’s representative confirms that Additional Volume Unit 
Payments are not affordable and cannot be funded, the Customer and Supplier shall 
work together to manage service demand. The initial threshold score in the eligibility 

criteria and the scoring of each of the outcome statements is a tool for managing 
demand. The Customer and the Supplier will work together to use service intelligence 
to alter the threshold accordingly to ensure that the service’s finite resources are  
targeted at those most in need of support.  

 
3.11.7 The Supplier should note that the Customer may either reduce or increase the 

threshold score to manage demand and ensure that the service is fully utilised 

(demand is equivalent to volume expectations set out in 3.11.1).  Additionally, the 
Customer may choose to alter the scores of each of the outcome statements. 

  

3.11.8 The Supplier will be responsible for monitoring demand and alerting the Customer of 
any demand pressures.  

  

3.11.9 The Supplier can hold a waiting list but should ensure that service response times are 
still met, therefore, the waiting list is no longer than 14 calendar days.   

 

Local Strategic Aims and Priorities  

 

4.1 Legislative Requirements 

 

4.1.1      The Lincolnshire WBS is a discretionary service; however, the Supplier shall ensure 
that support offered demonstrates awareness of and understanding of all current 
and future relevant legislation that relates to the operation of the Service. 

 
4.1.2 Future flexibility in service provision may be required to respond to emerging 

legislation, national policy and resulting local strategies and any associated funding. 

The Customer reserves the right to utilise the Lincolnshire WBS to implement one or 
more of these initiatives.   

 

4.1.3 The Supplier will comply with all relevant legislation, policy and guidance that relates 
to the delivery of the service.  This includes but is not limited to:   

  
- Health and Safety at Work Act 1974   

- Data Protection 2018  

Page 190



 

 

- Equality Act 2010    
- Mental Health Act 1983  
- Health and Social Care Act 2012  

- Education Act 1996 and 2002  
- Care Act 2014  
- NHS and Community Care Act 1990  
- Sexual Offences Act 2003  

- Police and Justice Act 2006  
- Mental Capacity Act 2005  
- Directive 2012/29/EU of the European Parliament establishing minimum 

standards on the rights, support, and protection of victims of crime.     
- Children Act 1989  
- Children’s Act 2004 

- Children and Families Act 2014  
- Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
- Crime and Security Action 2010  

- Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004  
- Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
- Protection from Harassment Act 1997  

- Family Law Act 1996   
- Policing and Crime Act 2017  

  
4.1.4 The Supplier shall deliver an evidence-based Service in line with current and future 

best practice guidance, national and local standards, as issued by the Home Office, 
NICE, other relevant advisory bodies, and the Customer. 

  

4.2 Safeguarding 

 

4.2.1 Safeguarding is crucial to prevent abuse and to reduce the risk of harm to adults, 

children and young people that may be at risk, while supporting them to maintain 
control over their lives. The Supplier shall have a clear Safeguarding Policy and 
procedure that all staff shall be made aware of, understand, and adhere to. This shall 

be reviewed at least annually and incorporate learning from safeguarding enquiries.  
 
4.2.2 The Supplier's Safeguarding Policy shall include a named Safeguarding Lead who is 

well known within the organisation and has a defined role and responsibilities in 

relation to safeguarding adults and children. The Supplier shall have a clear staffing 
structure chart that shows lines of accountability relating to safeguarding.  

 

4.2.3 Professional curiosity shall form an integral part of the Suppliers safeguarding 
practice and involve an exploration of underlying concerns, additional questioning, 
and reflective practice techniques.  

 
4.2.4 The Supplier's Safeguarding Policy and procedures shall reflect the Care Act guidance 

and shall reflect the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board Multi Agency Policy and 

procedural guidance and be compliant with Section 11 of the Children's Act 2004.  

Page 191



 

 

4.3 Quality Assurance, Service Standards and Continuous Improvement  

 

4.3.1 The Supplier shall have a clear, documented, and effective assurance processes in 

place, appropriate to the service provision set out above, and which can assess, 
monitor, and drive improvement in the quality of the service.  

 
4.3.2 The Supplier is expected to put in place quality assurance measures to ensure that 

assessments are robust and that rationale for the provision of any small aids and/or 
minor alterations are appropriate for service users’ requirements.  

 

4.3.3 The Suppliers assurance processes shall involve people using the service, their families,  
carers, and advocate, where appropriate to do so.   

 

4.3.4 The Supplier shall seek the views of other stakeholders as part of their assurance 
practice i.e., staff, visiting professionals, professional bodies, local user groups and 
other sector relevant bodies/groups.   

 
4.3.5 The Supplier shall actively seek the views and experiences of people using the service 

who are unable or find it difficult to communicate due to disability, impairment, or 

sensory loss. Some people may need extra help to reflect upon and express their views 
and the Supplier shall support this in compliance with the Accessible Information 
Standard. In some cases, the person may be reliant on the Supplier observing and 
interpreting their experiences and reactions. The Supplier shall use communication 

tools and observational techniques to gather the views and experiences of these 
people.  

 

4.3.6 The Supplier shall actively seek formal feedback through structured assurance 
mechanisms such as surveys and engagement activities. Formal feedback shall be 
sought from service users, and if appropriate their families, carers, or advocate. This 

should evaluate people's personal outcomes and experiences as well as satisfaction 
with operational factors. The Supplier shall routinely seek service experience outcomes 
as part of all planned exits from generic support interventions.   

 
4.3.7 The Supplier shall also capture, monitor, and analyse Service Experience Outcomes 

from all service users upon service exit. This shall be measured by asking service users 
to reflect on their service experience and to what extent they agree with the following 

statements;  
“The Service listened to me, and I was treated with compassion and respect”  
“The Service prioritised my outcomes and wellbeing”  

“The Service provided me with the information and advice I needed and how to 
access support and community resources going forward if needed”.   

 

4.3.8 As and when instructed by the Customer, the Supplier shall facilitate, and support 
people’s completion of surveys specified by Lincolnshire County Council.    

 

Page 192



 

 

4.3.9 The Supplier shall evidence the findings resulting from all assurance processes and 
action taken as a result. The Supplier shall also take proportionate action without delay 
in response to any failure identified through their assurance processes.   

 
4.3.10 The Supplier shall effectively communicate findings of people’s feedback and action 

taken from assurance processes via agreed mechanisms. People who use the service 
are to be asked how and if they do want to receive feedback, where appropriate. 

Additionally, the findings of feedback will be communicated via public campaigns. This 
can be done without direct communication with the people who use the service if 
deemed not appropriate to speak with them directly.   

 
4.3.11 The Supplier shall regularly review and amend their assurance processes in response 

to the changing needs of people who use the service, the introduction of new national 

guidance and best practice, recognising that expectations and standards change 
overtime as new practices are introduced.  

 

4.3.12 The Supplier's assurance processes shall be supported by effective governance 
arrangements that ensure people with the correct skills, competencies and levels of 
responsibility are identifying trends, areas of risk and driving continuous improvement 

within the service.  
 
4.3.13 The Supplier shall demonstrate continuous learning from their assurance processes, 

reviews, inspections, safeguarding enquiries, and similar assurance activity. Assurance 

activity, like that exampled, should directly influence the organisation's policy, 
procedures, and training.  

 

4.3.14 The Supplier’s assurance activities shall span all service elements (Digital Offer, 
Assessment, Generic Support, Small aids and minor alterations and Telecare Response) 
and shall include;  

- surveys, workshops, and forums  
- reflective practice  
- case discussion in supervision  

- the appropriate application of audits  
 
4.3.15 Include regular audits that identify where safety, effectiveness and experience of the 

service may be compromised; these audits (where applicable) shall include but are not 

limited to:   
- Caseloads and service timescales   
- Supervision and appraisal  

- Safeguarding  
- Accident and injury reporting  
- Premises  

  
4.3.16 The Supplier shall be wholly responsible for ensuring any subcontracted work is carried 

out to the same standard as set out in this specification and must work with 

subcontracted suppliers to ensure they have all relevant accreditations, working 
practices, policies, and procedures in order to satisfy the same level of quality.   

Page 193



 

 

 
4.3.17 The Supplier shall work with the Customer to review, develop, or amend performance 

and quality measures as the service evolves over the lifetime of the contract, ensuring 

it remains fit for purpose in line with any changes in the needs of service users or 
introduction of national guidance, best practice, legislation, and policy.   

 
4.3.18 The Supplier shall comply with requests to conduct investigations/supply information 

which arise out of the Customer receiving any complaints/communications of concern.   
 
4.3.19 The Customer reserves the right to visit the Supplier and contact service users direct to 

monitor compliance against this service specification at any reasonable time without 
giving notice.  

 

4.3.20 The Supplier will provide access to data or provide reports requested by the Customer 
outside of the performance schedule and contract management meetings as necessary 
and in a timely manner, as agreed between the Supplier and Customer. Findings from 

the Suppliers assurance processes and the action taken as a result are documented. 
Information on assurance activity, findings and action taken shall be made available to 
the Customer upon request.  

 
4.3.21 Where relevant, the Supplier shall also seek and act on the views of external bodies 

who may provide best practice guidance relevant to the service provided.   
 

4.3.22 The Supplier shall have appropriate policies, strategies, and protocols in place to deliver 
a safe and effective service, as a minimum these shall include:  

  

- Safeguarding: children and adults  
- Equality and Diversity   
- Health and Safety including lone working  

- Business Continuity   
- Human Resources  
- Whistleblowing   

- Complaints and Compliments  
- Records management including Information governance  
- UK General Data Protection Regulations (UK GDPR)   
- Confidentiality  

- Consent, including Mental Capacity Act 2005   
- National Health Service Accessible Information Standard  

 

4.3.23 The Customer may scrutinise all Supplier policies and procedures as part of contract 
management activities.  

 

4.3.24 Confidentiality and safety of staff and service users is of paramount importance. The 
Customer expects the Supplier to ensure that confidentiality can be maintained while 
also recognising the need on occasion, to share information in the interests of service 

users, and to ensure that guidelines on dealing with young people under 18 and 
vulnerable adults are met.  

Page 194



 

 

 
4.3.25 A written confidentiality policy should be prominently displayed and made available to 

service users in all service settings. The policy needs to clearly state the circumstances 

in which other agencies may need to be informed.  Staff should be able to demonstrate 
an understanding of the policy and process and be able to communicate this to service 
users.   

 

4.3.26 The collection, storage, and transfer of information to other services, including that in 
electronic format shall be secure and comply with the most up-to-date data protection 
and information governance requirements.   

 

Service Development 

 

4.4.1    The WBS is not a statutory service; however, it is influenced by legislation and 
national policy landscape such as the Care Act 2014. The Supplier shall work with the 
Customer to develop and improve the service in accordance with need, policy, 

legislation, or budget change. The Service must be flexible in its approach and 
develop as new guidance is published. Any changes to the service delivery model will 
be discussed and agreed with the Customer and be in line with the latest research 

findings. 
  

4.4.2 The Customer expects the service provision to be developed throughout the life of 
the service. Service improvement and innovation shall be discussed at meetings with 

the Customer where the Supplier will provide the Customer with any 
information/data that the Customer feels necessary for this purpose. The Customer 
reserves the right to decide on the frequency of such meetings.  

 
4.4.3 The Customer reserves the right to adapt and/or develop the service over the duration 

of the Contract, in consultation with the Supplier, in response to reasonably 

foreseeable changes and developments in legislation and policy, technology, evidence 
of best practice and funding opportunities. Anticipated changes that are likely to 
impact upon future service delivery contract include but not limited to:  

- Changes in assistive and digital technology that may alter call out reasons of the 
Telecare Response Service; 

- Changes to the social prescribing model currently being developed by the 
Integrated Care Board. 

- Future development of the Good Home Hub for Lincolnshire. 
- Changes in pathways resulting from the development or review of working 

arrangements such as prison release protocol, hospital discharge protocol, 

hoarding protocol, or self-neglect protocol.  
- Increases to the remit of small aids and minor alterations, for example, because 

of advances in technology, increases in the Trusted Assessor role or to support 

future Fire and Rescue Service initiatives and/or to include minor repairs and 
small, practical jobs.  

- Changes to the health and care system which is undergoing transformation at 

the time of writing. 
 

Page 195



 

 

4.4.4 The Customer may seek to develop an exceptional pathway for Adult Care and United 
Lincolnshire NHS Hospitals Trust (ULHT) to enable designated staff to make a referral 
to the Supplier without recourse to the Customer Service Centre (CSC) as trusted 

referral partners. The Customer recognises that in some limited cases an urgent 
response to a specific issue may be required, where social work teams in these two 
trusted referrers may need to make direct telephone contact with the Supplier to 
request a response to a specific identified issue that is within the remit and 

competence of the WBS to resolve. E.g., a social worker or hospital discharge team 
may have a service user whose planned discharge out of hospital will be delayed or 
who is at imminent risk of escalation into residential care if their home environment 

is not suitable to send them home to. This will be explored through the Supplier’s 
involvement in developing the hospital discharge protocol following mobilisation of 
the WBS.  

  

4.4.5 The scope of intervention in this exceptional pathway is expected to be limited to 

small jobs and minor alterations (such as arranging a repair to heating, clearing a 
room, fitting handrails (to stairs or along walls), or securing the service user’s 
property by changing a lock) through a specialist contractor or the WBS small aid and 

minor alterations service component. Workflows and practical arrangements, 
including monitoring of this pathway and urgent actions being followed up by an 
assessment and generic support in line with usual timescales outlined in section 3.3.2, 

will all require development.   
 
4.4.6 The Customer is planning to review the range of response services provided in 

response to people who fall at their home across statutory and non-statutory 
services. The goal of any review will be to collaboratively agree any changes, including 
improvement to the interoperability of those services, including the Telecare 
Response Service provided by the WBS.  

Page 196



 

 

Appendix A: Definitions  

 

In this service specification the following words and expressions shall have the following 

meanings: 

Word or Expression  Meaning  

Actual Price The actual cost incurred by the Provider associated with the 

delivery of the Wellbeing Services. 

Adult Care Procedures, Practice 

Guidance and Tools Resource 

These procedures, practice guidance and tools should be 

used as required by practitioners across all adult care teams 
and services in Lincolnshire.  The information included will: 

- Guide and inform practice; 

- Provide information about local policy and procedures 

for social workers, occupational therapists and other 

social care practitioners in Lincolnshire; and 

- Keep practitioners up to date with local and national 

developments in adult care. 

ASCOF (Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Framework) 

The Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework measures how 
well care and support services achieve the outcomes that 

matter most to people. 

Care Act 2014 

 

Statutory legislation- The Care Act 2014 places a ‘prevention 
duty’ on local authorities which requires them to help to 

improve people’s independence and wellbeing.  

Charging Policy The document that set outs the contribution which the 
Service User is charged for subscribing to the Telecare 
Response Service  

Commissioner A person or organisation that plans the services that are 
needed by the people who live in the area the organisation 
covers and ensures that services are available.   

Complex Needs Individuals with a learning and/or physical disability,  
substance misuse or dependency (drugs, and/or alcohol), 
and/or mental ill health. 

CSC (Customer Service Centre)  Delivers advice and information on Council services and 

forwards Service requests where necessary. Operated for 
and on behalf of the Council (currently by Serco.)  

CQC  The Care Quality Commission is the independent regulator 

of health and adult care in England. 

Customer/Council/Commissioner Lincolnshire County Council, the commissioner of the 
Service, also known as the Customer. 

Digital Inclusion The ability of a person to be able to use digital services (such 

as computers, smart phones or the internet), as well as 

Page 197

https://lincolnshireadults.trixonline.co.uk/
https://lincolnshireadults.trixonline.co.uk/


 

 

having access to the internet through broadband, wi-fi and 
mobile. Digitally inclusive services need to be designed to 
meet all users’ needs, including those dependent on 
technology to access digital services. 

Eligibility Criteria The initial check performed by the CSC, or trusted referrer, 
to check if an individual meets the threshold to be eligible 
to be assessed for support from the Wellbeing Service. This 

is done upon the individual or referrer making contact with 
the CSC prior to the referral being passed to the Supplier.  

Front Door The main point of access to the Service. In Lincolnshire, this 

is a virtual ‘front door’, provided by the Customer Service 
Centre. 

Lincolnshire  The administrative area of the Council.  

Lincolnshire NHS ICB (Integrated 

Care Board) 

Lincolnshire NHS Integrated Care Board is part of the ‘Better 

Lives Lincolnshire’ alliance, which is the name used to 
describe Lincolnshire’s Integrated Care System. 

ICS (Integrated Care System) Lincolnshire’s Integrated Care System is a statutory 

partnership of organisations that work together to plan and 
deliver joined up health and care services which improve 
the lives of people who live and work in the area they serve. 

Initial Triage A process of assessing service referrals to determine their 

completeness, eligibility for support and identification of 
any high-risk indicators. 

JHWS (Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy) 

The JHWS examines how services related to wider health 

determinants (e.g., housing, education, and lifestyle) could 
be more closely integrated with health and social care 
services. The responsibility for compiling the JHWS is with 

the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

JSNA (Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment) 

The JSNA is an assessment of the current and future health 
and social care needs of the local community. Wide varieties 
of needs are assessed and could be met by the Council, ICB 

or NHS England. The responsibility for conducting the JSNA 
rests with Councils and ICB through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB). 

Lincolnshire Community 
Equipment Service (LCES) 

LCES is a service, commissioned jointly by LCC and the 
Lincolnshire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB), which loans 
equipment to Lincolnshire residents of all ages who have 

long term conditions and/or disabilities. This equipment 
supports independent living, helps support discharge from 
and reduce avoidable or early admissions to hospital, and 
allows people to have their health and care needs met in 

their own home. 

MECC  An approach to behaviour change that uses day to day 
interactions that organisations and individuals have with 

other people to support them in making positive changes to 
their physical and mental health and wellbeing. MECC 

Page 198



 

 

enables the opportunistic delivery of consistent and concise 
healthy lifestyle information and enables individuals to 
engage in conversations about their health at scale across 
organisations and populations. 

Mosaic The Council's case management IT system for Adult Care 
and Children’s Services. Support can be found by using the 
Mosaic Hub. 

Motivational Interviewing “Motivational Interviewing is a collaborative, goal-oriented 
style of communication with particular attention to the 
language of change. It is designed to strengthen personal 

motivation for and commitment to a specific goal by 
eliciting and exploring the person’s own reasons for change 
within an atmosphere of acceptance and compassion.”  
(Miller & Rollnick, 2013, p. 29) 

Neighbourhood Working 

 

 

 

 

  

‘Neighbourhood working’ has been developed to provide a 
collaborative approach to delivering local services and 
joined up support for people locally.  This includes 

involvement from health (NHS, GPs), social care, voluntary 
organisations and charities. This ensures everyone will work 
together to find solutions to health and wellbeing 

challenges in Lincolnshire.  
 
Neighbourhood working is about working together with 

each individual person, to identify who and what matters to 
them, and recognising in partnership what could be done to 
help keep local people safe, well and happy in their own 
homes.  

Outcome 
 

An aim or objective a person would like to achieve– for 
example, maintaining their home environment or learning 
home management and life skills. The adult should be able 

to say which outcomes are the most important to them and 
receive support as necessary to achieve them. 

Person-centred   This approach considers the individual’s needs, 
preferences, and strengths. It is personalised to the 

individual and affords them dignity, compassion, and 
respect.  

PHOF - Public Health Outcomes 

Framework 

The PHOF: Healthy Lives, Healthy People, Improving 

Outcomes and Supporting Transparency sets out a vision for 
public health, desired outcomes and the indicators that will 
help understand how well public health is being improved 

and protected. This data tool represents data for the 
indicators in the framework for the most recent period 
available and accompanying trend data where possible. 

Inequalities data are provided where these are available. 

Quality Assurance A process to measure whether the Service is meeting the 
required quality standards.  

Page 199

https://professionals.lincolnshire.gov.uk/adults


 

 

Referral A request for an assessment of a person’s requirements for 
support. A referral to the WBS may be made by an 
organisation or a self-referral.   

Safeguarding (Adults) The Care Act statutory guidance defines adult safeguarding 

as: 
Protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse 
and neglect. It is about people and organisations working 

together to prevent and stop both the risks and experience 
of abuse or neglect, while at the same time making sure that 
the adult’s wellbeing is promoted including, where 

appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings 
and beliefs in deciding on any action. This must recognise 
that adults sometimes have complex interpersonal 

relationships and may be ambivalent, unclear or unrealistic 
about their personal circumstances. 

Self-care The principle of self-care is to empower people with the 
confidence and information to look after themselves when 

they can and visit the GP when they need to. This gives 
people greater control of their own health and encourages 
healthy behaviours that help prevent ill health in the long-

term. In many cases people can take care of their minor 
ailments, reducing the number of GP consultations and 
enabling GPs to focus on caring for higher risk patients, such 

as those with comorbidities, the very young and elderly, 
managing long-term conditions and providing new services. 

Self-management Self-management is about an individual taking care of 
themselves, but not doing it alone. Usually they are given 

informed choices, from a health or social care professional, 
about services and support to give an individual skills, 
information and knowledge which enables the individual to 

take personal responsibility to modify and change 
behaviour.   

SEND (Special Educational Needs 

and Disability) 

A person has Special Educational Needs and Disabilities if 

they have a learning difficulty and/or a disability that means 
they need special health and education support.  

Service The Wellbeing Service or WBS as defined within this service 
specification. 

Service User The individual requiring support from the WBS. 

Signposting Providing details of, or links to information and services that 
could be of use to the person. 

Social Prescribing    Social prescribing is an approach that connects people to 
activities, groups, and services in their community to meet 
the practical, social and emotional needs that affect their 
health and wellbeing. 

Social prescribing is an all-age, whole population approach 
that works particularly well for people who: 

Page 200



 

 

- have one or more long term conditions 

- who need support with low level mental health 

issues 

- who are lonely or isolated 

- who have complex social needs which affect their 

wellbeing. 

Strengths-based approach 

 

A collaborative approach to Service provision which sets 

outcomes and is about enabling people to find the best 
solutions for themselves, to support them in making 
independent decisions about how they live and facilitating 

creative and tailored solutions. 

Supplier The organisation delivering the WBS Service. 

Support Plan 
  

 

Sets out how the individual’s outcomes will be met.  It 
should be clear to the individual what the help and support 

will be, and who will do what, by when.  A copy is given to 
the individual and used at review to check whether the 
Support Plan met its objectives.   

TEC (Technology Enabled Care) Technology enabled care services refers to the use of 
telehealth, telecare, telemedicine, tele-coaching and self-
care in providing care for patients with long term conditions 

that is convenient, accessible and cost-effective. These 
solutions can transform the way people engage in and 
control their own healthcare, empowering them to manage 
their care in a way that is right for them. 

Total Price The cost bid by the Provider at tender stage for the delivery 
of the Wellbeing Services. 

Trusted Assessor   A Trusted Assessor is an individual who, when trained and 

competent to the levels described within the training 
matrix, will be able to assess an individual’s needs (both 
home and person) and prescribe a simple solution of 

support or a basic piece of equipment to meet the needs of 
that individual.   

Trusted Referrer   A referrer who is based within a health and social care 
setting where a referral pathway has been established.   

Voluntary Organisations Charitable non-profit organisations that are independent of 
the Government and local Councils and usually provide 
services to benefit individuals.  

Wellbeing   A complex combination of a person's physical, mental, 
emotional, and social health factors. Wellbeing is strongly 
linked to happiness, life satisfaction and can be described as 
how you feel about yourself and your life.  

 

  

Page 201



 

 

Appendix B: Response Reasons 

The following response reasons are in scope for the Telecare Response Service:  

- No response alerts 

- Non-injury falls 
- Support whilst ambulance/emergency responders attending 
- Distress/Reassurance 
- Urgent basic environmental issues (support to resolve lighting and heating issues)  

 
Response reasons will be kept under regular review and will be informed by Supplier 
intelligence and service user feedback. 

 

 

  

Page 202



 

 

Appendix C: Wellbeing Service Referral Pathways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 203



 

 

Appendix D : Clarification Log 

No. Date 
received 

Subject area Question / Comment / 
Clarification 

Answer / Response 
 

1 06/03/2024 Subcontractors Is there a list of sub-contractors 
and contact details of those 
already working in the area? 

 

No, there is not a list of 
subcontractors already working 
in the area.   
The Subcontractor Register is 
simply a mechanism for any 
organisation to express an 
interest in being a 
subcontractor, and by doing so 
agreeing for their details to be 
shared, and to be contacted 
directly by other prospective 
bidders regarding any joint 
bidding opportunities. 

2 07/03/2024 ITT Documents Can you confirm which 
document has been amended, 
or what the amendment is 
please? 

There were no documents 
amended.  There was an 
updated Subcontractors 
Register uploaded onto the 
Procontract portal on 
06/03/2024. 

3 11/03/2024 Current 
Contract 

Are we able to know who the 
incumbent provider is, if there 
is any? 

Please see Document 1 Section 
1 – Information for Bidders.  
Page 3 Paragraph 2.6.   
“Currently services are being 
delivered by East Lindsey 
District Council.  This contract 
comes to an end on 30 
September 2024.”  Please also 
note the TUPE information at 
Document 6. 

4 20/03/2024  Aids and 
Adaptations  

Page 43. Is 11% reflective of 
how many installations were 
completed or how many people 
idenified as would benefit from 
SADLs? If the latter, what is the 
conversion rate from needs 
identified to installation?  

The data represents the 
proportion of individuals who 
may access SADLs following an 
assessment based on historical 
volumes. I.e. Of all those having 
an assessment, 11% would 
access a SADLs intervention 
also. For the avoidance of doubt 
this identified those who have 
accessed SADLs rather than 
identification of need. 

5 20/03/2024  
  

Aids and 
Adaptations  

Page 43. Is 1070 the number of 
households in which 
installations are made, or the 
number of individual items 
installed (with some households 
receiving multiple 
installations)?  

This is the projected number of 
households that may require 
small aids and/or minor 
alterations, not individual items 
/ jobs. 

Page 204



 

 

6 20/03/2024  
  

Aids and 
Adaptations  

Is there a preferred supplier for 
SADLS at present?   

No. 
 

7 20/03/2024  
  

Aids and 
Adaptations  

What are the most common 
pieces of equipment installed?  

Grab rails and handles, bed 
rails, toilet frames and bathing 
aids. 

8 20/03/2024  
  

Aids and 
Adaptations  

Please confirm existing SADL 
vehicles will be transferred to 
the incoming provider as part of 
the new contract  

The service does not own the 
vehicles so they would not 
transfer. 

9 20/03/2024  
  

CRM System  3.10.13 What information can 
not be currently held on 
Mosaic?  

Telecare Response Service 
information is not currently 
held on Mosaic. During 
mobilisation the Customer will 
work with the successful 
Supplier to develop the service 
workflow in line with the 
specification. 

10 20/03/2024  
  

CRM System  Does Mosaic integrate with 
payment/accounting software 
to support the purchase of 
SADLs? If not what system is 
currently utilised?  

No.  The successful Supplier 
would use own system to 
manage customer payments. 

11 20/03/2024  
  

Gain Share  With reference to the definition 
of Gain Share Amount in 
paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 3 of 
the Contract, there is reference 
to a defined term: “Supplier’s 
Profit Margin”, but no definition 
found. Can you please confirm 
what the definition of 
“Supplier’s Profit Margin” is for 
the purposes of the contract?   

The Profit Margin is defined 
within paragraph 1.1 of 
Schedule 3 as follows: 
Profit Margin - The margin 
expressed as a percentage 
identified as such in the 
Financial Model 

12 20/03/2024  
  

Generic Support 
Work  

What is the current average 
GSW-contact time for a Generic 
Support case? What is the 
current average duration of 
support under the Generic 
Supprot Work function?  

The current measure is that 
generic support commences 
within 10 days of assessment.  
The duration of time spent with 
each Service User per visit is not 
monitored, although the overall 
average of support time is 
between two to three weeks. 

13 20/03/2024  
  

Implementation  How many live cases are 
expected to be transferred by 
each district?  

This will be managed during the 
mobilisation period with the 
successful Supplier. It is not 
possible to predict the volume 
currently, the management and 
transfer of live cases is 
anticipated to be a key aspect 
of mobilisation planning and 
detailed in responses according.  

14 20/03/2024  
  

Payment Terms  Please confirm that the 
payment terms are in advance?  

Payment terms are monthly in 
arrears. 

Page 205



 

 

15 20/03/2024  
  

Telecare 
Response  

How will existing Telecare 
Response Clients be transferred 
to the sucessful supplier?  

This will be managed during the 
mobilisation period. The 
successful Supplier shall engage 
with relevant Telecare Providers 
during this period to manage 
this process. 

16 20/03/2024  
  

Telecare 
Response  

How many telecare providers 
currently operate across 
Lincolnshire?  

LCC is not aware of how many 
Telecare Providers operate 
across Lincolnshire.  During 
mobilisation the information on 
the specific Telecare Providers 
linked to all Response Clients 
will be shared with the 
successful Supplier. 

17 20/03/2024  
  

Telecare 
Response  

What are the most common call 
out reasons for the Telecare 
Response Service  

Non-injury falls and no response 
alerts. 

18 20/03/2024  
  

Telecare 
Response  

What % of Responsive Service 
call outs are currently face to 
face visits?  

100% 

19 20/03/2024  
  

Telecare 
Response  

What is the split of Response 
Service activity by district? 
(avg)  

This is currently not monitored 
as is a countywide service.  A 
breakdown is not available. 

20 20/03/2024  
  

Trusted 
Assessments  

What % of assessments are 
currently conducted digitally/ 
remotely?  

This is currently not monitored 
however digital or remote 
undertaking of assessments is 
estimated by the incumbent 
Provider at around 50%. 

21 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Within the TUPE workforce are 
mileage rates and healthcare 
scheme entitlement itemised 
within staff contracts?  

Yes 

22 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Role titles within the TUPE data 
do not align with the contract. 
Please provide standard job 
descriptions for the TUPE 
roles.   

These have been uploaded on 
the Procontract portal. 

23 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Given the updated scope and 
specification changes for the 
service, does the Customer 
consider that the procurement 
process amounts to a service 
provision change under 
Regulation 3?  

Please see Document 1 Section 
2 - Instructions To Bidders And 
Conditions Of Tender.  TUPE 
Regulations. 
Particularly paragraph 1.29 
“Bidders are advised to form 
their own view on whether 
TUPE Regulations applies, 
obtaining their own legal advice 
as necessary.” 

24 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Can the Customer confirm that 
LGPS benefits will not transfer 
under Regulation 10? (the 
Bidder understands its 

Normally occupational benefits 
would not transfer.  However, 
for local authority staff, any new 
provider will effectively have to 

Page 206



 

 

obligation to provide an 
alternative pension)  

seek admitted body status to 
the LGPS.  It would not be 
sufficient to provide an 
alternative pension scheme if 
there are employees who are 
already in the LGPS. 
 

25 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Can the Customer confirm if any 
of the sick pay schemes 
referenced in the TUPE 
information are contractual?  

Yes 

26 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  There is a reference to a health 
care plan in the TUPE 
information. Can the Customer 
confirm if this is contractual?  

Yes 

27 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  There is a reference to a cash 
plan in the TUPE information. 
Can the Customer confirm if this 
is contractual?  

Yes 

28 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Can the Customer confirm if 
fuel allowances are 
contractual?  

Yes 

29 20/03/2024  
  

TUPE  Can the Customer confirm if 
there are any other contractual 
benefits not detailed in the 
TUPE information that may 
transfer under TUPE to a 
transferee?  

There are no other benefits 

30 20/03/2024  Submission 
Deadline  

Would the Commissioner 
consider moving the submission 
deadline to Tuesday 30th April 
2024  

The deadline of submission of 
tenders has been extended to 
12 noon on 30 April 

31 21/03/24 Specification  Should the commencement of 
Generic Support be within 21 
calendar days of assessment (as 
per 3.3.2.10) or no later than 21 
calendar days after the date of 
referral (as per 3.3.3.8 and 
WBS_KPI-04) 

It would be 21 days after the 
referral. 

32 27/03/2024 Cost of service Please can Commissioners 
confirm the current employee 
travel cost of the service 

The current service has a 
slightly different scope to that 
of the new proposed service 
and would not therefore 
necessarily be reflective or 
relevant in the pricing of the 
new service.  The current 
service is delivered within a 
fixed budget as is the proposal 
for the new service.  Providers 
should cost the service based 
upon their proposed service 

Page 207



 

 

delivery model in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
specification. 

33 27/03/2024 Cost of service ITT Document 2 of 6, Section 
3.3.4. Please can Commissioners 
confirm the approximate cost of 
Small Aids and Minor 
Alterations. 

The current service has a 
slightly different scope to that 
of the new proposed service 
and would not therefore 
necessarily be reflective or 
relevant in the pricing of the 
new service.  The current 
service is delivered within a 
fixed budget as is the proposal 
for the new service.  Providers 
should cost the service based 
upon their proposed service 
delivery model in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
specification. 

34 27/03/2024 Equipment  ITT Document 2 of 6, Section 
3.3.5. Please can you confirm 
who is the supplier/owner of 
the IT equipment that supports 
the telecare Response Service 

It is only the physical 
“Response” element that forms 
part of the Wellbeing Service 
specification.  The Service 
Users’ Telecare Provider would 
own any IT equipment and 
deliver the monitoring service 
associated with the Telecare 
provision.  There would be no 
expectation for the successful 
bidders to provide any IT 
hardware equipment for the 
Telecare Response Service. 

35 27/03/2024 Current 
Contract 

Demographics of the current 
service users, including age, 
gender 

 Referrals 18-34 35-64 65-84 

Total 9710 728 2916 4293 

Female 5380 392 1583 2381 

Male 4213 329 1291 1866 

Non-
binary 
/ 
unkno

wn 

117 7 42 46 

 
The above data is for full year 
22/23. It sets out referral data 

Page 208



 

 

into the core service for 
assessment/generic support 
excluding the telecare response 
service 

36 27/03/2024 Current 
Contract 

Location of service users by 
District level. 

 

East Lindsey 28% 

North Kesteven 14% 

City of Lincoln 12% 

West Lindsey 12% 

Boston 7% 

South Holland 12% 

South Kesteven 14% 

 
The above data is for full year 
22/23. It sets out referral data 
in terms of percentage split 
across each of the districts 
areas. 

37 02/04/2024 Specification We are seeking clarity on 
whether the commissioner is 
expecting a specific strand of 
the service is required to 
develop partnerships, or if the 
expectation is this will be more 
a strategic approach embedded 
in all job roles? 

The Commissioner has not been 
prescriptive in this respect.  
Within the working method 
statement responses Bidders 
will be expected to clearly 
describe how within their 
proposed service delivery 
model they intend to deliver the 
requirements of the 
specification including Section 
3.8 Partnerships and Network 
Development.    

38 02/04/2024 TUPE We note that there are 88 
people on the TUPE lists 
provided. Can it please be 
confirmed the amount of time 
each individual has allotted to 
support the service, for example 
do any of the individuals have 
additional responsibilities 
outside of this contract or are 
they fully dedicated to the 
Wellbeing Service? 

The hours stipulated on the 
TUPE schedules for each 
member of staff represent 
100% of their time spent 
delivering the Wellbeing Service 

39 02/04/2024 TUPE To further support this, could 
job descriptions please be 
provided for each of the 
positions? 

The job descriptions have now 
been uploaded onto 
Procontract. 

Page 209



 

 

40 02/04/2024 TUPE Can you please confirm if there 
is additional funding available to 
cover redundancies and where 
this should be described within 
the pricing schedule? 

The issue of whether TUPE 
applies or not will be for the 
old/new employer to 
determine.  If the staff transfer 
then the new employer would 
be responsible for redundancy 
costs.  There is no additional 
funding available to cover 
redundancies.  Any redundancy 
costs would therefore have to 
come out of the overall budget.  
If there are redundancy costs 
anticipated these could be 
entered into the pricing 
schedule under “Other (please 
specify)” related staffing costs, 
row 99 in the relevant year. 

41 02/04/2024 TUPE We understand that this 
contract is split into three 
across the current provider and 
district council partners. Could 
you kindly provide an 
organisation chart for the 
service to better understand 
how the various roles work 
across the different areas and 
how they interlink, if at all? This 
will enable a better 
understanding of how the 
service partnership operates. 

The job descriptions have been 
provided.  It is for the potential 
bidders to consider the existing 
resource alongside the service 
scope and requirements of the 
specification and make their 
own determination as to the 
most appropriate and effective 
organisational structure which 
will support their delivery 
model. 

42 02/04/2024 Word Count Given the complexity and muti-
faceted nature of some of the 
questions and tenderers’ ability 
to answer with full breadth and 
depth to each one could 
consideration be given to the 
following increases: 
Question 1 Service Delivery 
Model, has 3,000-word limit 
and 9 guidance points, approx. 
300 words per guidance point. 
We would kindly request a word 
limit extension to 4,500 (9 x 
500) to ensure every element of 
what is being asked (e.g. how 
we’ll meet core aims and 
service outcomes, how we 
generate efficiencies and 
introduce innovation) can be 
answered in full 

Agreed to increase word limit 
will amend Document 3 
accordingly. 

Page 210



 

 

43 02/04/2024 Word Count Question 3 Partnership 
Working, has 1,500-word limit 
and 6 guidance points (250 
words per point). Please can we 
request an extension to 2,000 
words (allowing 300+ words per 
section) to ensure all elements 
can be adequately described as 
requested. 

Agreed to increase word limit 
will amend Document 3 
accordingly. 

44 02/04/2024 Word Count Question 6 Quality Assurance 
and Outcome Monitoring, 
2,000-word limit and 6 guidance 
points, including the 
requirement to relate this 
response to tenderers’ service 
model, staffing structure and 
management of the service 
(approx. 300 words per 
guidance point). Please can we 
request 3,000 words for this 
question (500 words per 
section) to ensure we can 
achieve this breadth while 
addressing each element of the 
question wording? 

Agreed to increase word limit 
will amend Document 3 
accordingly. 

45 02/04/2024 Word Count Question 8, Service 
Mobilisation, 1,000-word limit 
and 8 guidance points in the 
question wording (125 words 
per section). We would please 
ask that the maximum 
wordcount be extended to 
2,000 words (allowing 250 
words per section) to ensure 
tenderers can fully convey their 
mobilisation solution and satisfy 
the question wording 
requirements 

Agreed to increase word limit 
will amend Document 3 
accordingly. 

46 04/04/2024 Gain share Does Gain Share apply after the 
supplier has taken their profit 
margin? 

Yes. 
Please note ITT Document 4.  
The Gain Share process is set 
out within Schedule 3, Part 1, 
paragraphs 7.1 – 7.12 and 
Appendix B of Part 1 – Payment 
Mechanism Schedule 3. 

47 04/04/2024 Gain share Does Gain share apply to 
income generated through the 
Telecare Response Service? 

The contributions are netted off 
the running costs before the 
gain share figure is determined. 

48 04/04/2024 TUPE Please clarify what the 
contractual employers pension 
contributions are? 

The contribution rate is 24.1%.  
This will be fixed for duration of 
the contract. 

Page 211



 

 

49 04/04/2024 Open Book 
Accounting 

Could the Customer explain 
their process of Open Book 
Accounting? 

Please note ITT Document 4.  
The definition of the “Open 
Book Data” is set out in clause 
A1.1 of the terms and 
conditions.   
There is also further explanation 
in Part 2 – Open Book Data and 
Financial Reporting of Schedule 
3. 
The pricing schedule (Section 
11b (ii)) spreadsheet ie: 
example Tab 2 – Year 1, 
provides an open book 
template that will be used to 
reconcile tender costs against 
actual total net annual contract 
running costs at the end of the 
year.  You can see from this 
template that the profit margin 
is accounted for and the 
contributions netted off before 
determining the annual 
variance (column G) and 
potential gain share figure if 
applicable. 

50 04/04/2024 Telecare 
Response 

Could the supplier provide a 
redacted rota for the current 
Response Service Model? 

Please note the response to 
clarification 41 above.  The job 
descriptions have been 
provided.  It is for potential 
bidders to consider the existing 
resource alongside the service 
scope and requirements of the 
specification and make their 
own determination as to the 
most appropriate and effective 
organisational structure, 
including staff rotas, which will 
support their delivery model. 

51 04/04/2024 TUPE Are the Car Allowance/Lease 
Scheme/Company Vehicle 
Provision contractual? 

All the car allowances etc are 
contractual 

52 04/04/2024 TUPE Please could the supplier 
provide the job description for 
the SADL and Minor Adaptation 
Officer role? 

The job description has now 
been uploaded 

53 09/04/2024 Contract Value The spreadsheet states that it’s 
a £3.2 million budget per year, 
the initial advert has stated it’s 
a £30 million contract is this a 
error on the spreadsheet? 

No, this value is correct.  The 
budget is £3.2 million per 
annum.  The value on the 
Contract Notice (advert) is the 
total contract value ie: The 
contract is potentially for a 

Page 212



 

 

maximum of 10 years so total 
contract value would be 
approximately £30 million. 

54 09/04/2024 TUPE Given the response to Q24 on 
the clarification log (LGPS) 
please can I seek some guidance 
on the following: Can you share 
any guidance for admission 
bodies? 

The Admission Body queries 
have taken time to work 
through as LCC is in a unique 
position whereby the Awarding 
Authority (LCC) is not, and has 
never been, the Scheme 
Employer.  
Following the initial response to 
this clarification published on 16 
April 2024 (in version 5 of the 
Clarification Log), specialist legal 
pensions advice has been 
sought to enable a clear 
position on the LGPS admission 
in these circumstances to be 
confirmed.  
The advice confirmed that ‘Fair 
Deal’ would not be the 
applicable code of practice.   
Having considered the specialist 
legal advice LCC confirms its 
position as follows: 

- All parties’ liabilities will 
be set out within an 
Admission Agreement 
consisting of a pass-
through arrangement 
and revised terms in the 
Service Contract.  

- LCC will act as “Related 
Employer” effectively 
taking on the role of the 
Scheme Employer and 
agrees to take on the 
liability of any pension 
deficit at the end of the 
contract term, as per 
the Lincolnshire County 
Pension Fund’s pass-
through policy.   

- The Admitted Body will 
take on all other 
pension strain liabilities 
throughout the life of 
the contract, including 
but not limited to; 
redundancy, ill health, 
death in service and 

Page 213



 

 

enhanced employee 
benefits.  

55 09/04/2024 TUPE An example admission 
agreement with an indicative 
contribution rate? 

An Admission Agreement 
addressing the position 
described below and at 
response 54 is currently being 
drafted and we will endeavour 
to share this with interested 
organisations by 7th June 2024 
at the latest. 
The Fund policy is that ‘pass 
through’ should apply to an 
admission and the minimum 
requirement of this policy is 
that the new provider would 
pay an employer contribution.  
The contribution will be in line 
with LCC’s contributory rate of 
24.1% as they are the “Related 
Employer” taking on any 
pension deficit at the end of the 
contract term.  This will be a 
closed scheme and this rate will 
be fixed for the duration of the 
contract. 

56 09/04/2024 TUPE The latest actuarial valuation of 
the fund(s)? 

Please see link below to the 
most recent actuarial valuation 
of the fund. 
 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk
/downloads/file/7691/actuarial-
valuation-2022 
 
In addition, specific to the 
Wellbeing Services the ITT 
Document 6 – TUPE Schedule 
sets out all the current salaries 
of the staff eligible for transfer.  
As noted in response to Qu 76, 
the TUPE schedule is being 
reviewed and if there are any 
relevant updates to the current 
version, a revised schedule will 
be shared with interested 
organisations as soon as 
possible. 

57 09/04/2024 TUPE The commissioning authority’s 
policies on pensions risk-
sharing? 

A summary of the risk sharing 
approach is stated in the 
response to Question 54  

58 09/04/2024 TUPE Whether a bond or indemnity is 
required? 

A bond will not be required.  An 
indemnity from the Admission 

Page 214

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/7691/actuarial-valuation-2022
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/7691/actuarial-valuation-2022
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/7691/actuarial-valuation-2022


 

 

Body to the Fund will be 
included in the admission 
agreement. There will also be 
an indemnity in the revised 
Services Contract terms, from 
the provider to LCC in respect of 
pension risk sharing. 

59 09/04/2024 TUPE Any information of exposure to 
additional costs that could arise 
due to redundancy, ill health 
and death in service of the 
transferred employees? 

The risks are as stated in the 
response to Question 54.  The 
Admitted Body will be liable for 
any additional costs associated 
with redundancy, ill health and 
death in service throughout the 
term of the contract.   

60 09/04/2024 TUPE Would liabilities be capped from 
the start of the contract and not 
include any liabilities accrued in 
previous years? 

No liabilities accrued prior to 
the contract start date will fall 
on the Admitted Body. 

61 09/04/2024 TUPE Would the Customer agree to a 
‘pass through or ‘cap and collar’ 
arrangement? 

See response to Question 55, 
the Fund policy is that ‘pass 
through’ will apply. 

62 09/04/2024 TUPE Who would we engage with on 
pension issues at the 
administering and contracting 
authorities? 

Please direct all queries through 
Procontract. 
 

63 10/04/2024 Specification  Following the recent provider 
event, where reference was 
made to significant changes 
that exist between the new 
specification and the current 
service, can the Customer 
please outline what these 
changes are? 

At the recent Provider Event 
reference was made to the 
existing services constantly 
evolving.  The new specification 
is reflective of these evolving 
developments.  Therefore, 
rather than there being 
significant changes the new 
specification is a further 
reiteration of the services.  The 
developmental changes are as 
follows: 
- Within the scope of the 
current contract are the 
Resettlement Service and the 
Hospital In-Reach provision.  
These are not being re-
commissioned and are not in 
scope of the new service 
specification.  
- The eligibility criteria 
has changed to prioritise those 
in most in need in line with the 
aims of the service and to also 
more effectively manage 
demand. 

Page 215



 

 

The digital offer requirement 
has been enhanced and 
improved referral pathway 
developed as per the 
specification. 

64 10/04/2024 Contract With reference to clause B8.6 of 
the draft contract, could the 
Customer explain the rationale 
for the requirement and how 
this is reconciled with the 
GDPR? 

This information is required as 
bidders must have accurate 
information about employee 
liabilities to price their bids. 
Without accurate information, 
tender prices will be based on 
flawed assumptions, and this 
may result in the winning bidder 
being unable to deliver the 
service and the tender process 
needing to be restarted. 
Therefore, it is necessary for the 
contract to entitle us to request, 
and for employee liability 
information to be shared in 
good time before the contract 
end date. This information will 
also be required to aid in the 
statutory TUPE transfer of staff 
at the end of the contract. 
 
We are satisfied that sharing 
this information is compatible 
with the UK GDPR, as the 
information set out in clause 
B8.6 is necessary for the 
purpose of the re-tendering 
exercise and procuring the 
Wellbeing Service which is a 
task carried out in the public 
interest. 
 
For clarity, the regularity of the 
requests for this information 
will be within ten (10) Working 
Days of the Customer's request, 
as opposed to the frequency 
currently set out in B8.6.  The 
clause B8.6 will therefore be 
amended accordingly. 

65 10/04/2024 Contract With reference to B12.1 could 
the Customer please clarify 
what is meant by a 'Service User 
Consent Policy'? 

This is a policy to ensure that 
consent to deliver the service to 
the Service User has been 
gained from the individual and 
can be evidenced. 

Page 216



 

 

66 10/04/2024 Service Credits With reference to C5.3 can the 
customer please describe how 
Service Credits are calculated? 

Please note the fourth tab on 
the ITT Document 2 Section 8a – 
WBS Performance Schedule 
spreadsheet which sets out how 
these will each be calculated.  
Please however note whilst the 
formulas of the calculation will 
remain the same, these have at 
this stage been calculated on 
the basis of the total budget.  
This will be re-calculated in 
accordance with the overall 
successful tenderers’ bid price. 

67 10/04/2024 Specification We understand from the 
specification that some 
assessments for generic support 
take place in hospitals. Please 
can you provide the number of 
assessments carried out in 
hospital settings over the past 
year? Projected hospital 
assessment volumes would also 
be beneficial. 

From April 23 to April 24 there 
have been 242 cases supported 
in hospital settings.  This is a 
potential area for future service 
development as such at this 
stage we do not have projected 
volumes.  
 

68 10/04/2024 TUPE We note there are 20 Response 
& Resettlement Officers 
currently contracted by the 
Wellbeing Service. As the 
Telecare Response element 
currently operates and given 
Lincolnshire’s geography, please 
can you indicate where these 
Response & Resettlement 
Officers are located? 

Please note the response to 
clarifications 41 and 50 above.  
It is for potential bidders to 
consider the existing resource 
alongside the service scope and 
requirements of the 
specification and make their 
own determination as to the 
most appropriate and effective 
organisational structure. 

69 10/04/2024 Specification  We understand the Generic 
Support element involves the 
provision of tailored support 
plans lasting up to 12 weeks and 
that the average support time is 
2-3 weeks. Are you able to 
provide the average number of 
service users active in the 
service at any one time? 

As cases are opened and closed 
continually throughout the 
contract the active cases are a   
constantly changing figure.  
Also, as the time period has not 
been stated it is not possible to 
accurately predict average 
active numbers.   

70 10/04/2024 Specification Please can you provide the total 
number of calls the WB 
Customer Service / Wellbeing 
Hub Team has received 
including a breakdown (e.g. 
general enquiries) if possible? 

It is not possible to provide the 
total number of calls.  However 
approximately 68% of the 
referrals in 22/23 came through 
the Customer Service Centre.  
The remainder of referrals came 
through mosaic and directly to 
the service.  In the new model 
the referral pathways are set 

Page 217



 

 

out in ITT Document 2 – 
Specification Section 3.6.  

71 10/04/2024 Specification Similarly, how many e-referrals 
have been received through the 
Digital Offer, or is this number 
included in the overall 9,727 
number? If so, please can you 
give an indication of how many 
were e-referrals? 

There is not currently a digital 
offer in place this is a new 
development pathway of the 
service, so it is not possible to 
accurately predict.  All referrals 
would however be included 
within the 9,727 referral figure 
estimated for Contract Year 1. 

72 11/04/2024 Contract  We understand there is a fixed 
available budget each year 
which must accommodate the 
described service growth. 
However, with the length of 
contract in mind (presenting 
challenges accurately 
forecasting inflationary 
increases), please can you 
confirm whether there will be 
the opportunity for standard 
annual increases in line with 
inflation (either CPI or RPI)? Or 
if CPI/RPI will only be applicable 
for contract extensions after the 
initial 5 years contract length? 

There will be no automatic 
inflationary or other budget 
increases during the initial five 
years of the contract.  Please 
see Document 4 Terms and 
Conditions C4 Service Charges 
and Adjustment on Extension 
 

73 30/04/2024 TUPE Please can the following Job 
Descriptions be provided 

- Partnership and 
Network Development 
Officer 

- Communication Officer 
- Senior Partnerships and 

Network Officer 
- Insight & Trend Analyst 
- Housing & Hospital 

Development Officer 

Please see uploaded job 
descriptions. 

74 09/05/2024 Costs Could we also ask for 
confirmation of any license 
costs associated with Mosaic 
that suppliers should consider.  

There are no licensing costs 
associated with Mosaic. 

75 09/05/2024 TUPE One of the listed Wellbeing Hub 
Assistants is showing as being 
on secondment in an alternative 
role. Could the Customer 
confirm when the secondment 
took place and for how long it is 
intended. 

The secondment has run from 
September 2022 and is due to 
end August 2024. 

76 09/05/2024 TUPE In light of the recent extensions, 
please can an updated TUPE list 
be provided? 

The TUPE schedule is currently 
being updated and will be 
shared as soon as possible 

Page 218



 

 

77 10/05/2024 Timeframe With regards to our 
mobilisation question (Question 
8), and considering the 
extensions, can you please let 
us know if there are any 
anticipated changes to the 
award and launch dates, so that 
we can factor this into our 
project plan? 

In response to the extended 
tender period, subsequent 
procurement process timescales 
will be adjusted.  Please see 
uploaded revised timeline. 

78 07/06/2024 TUPE Please could the Customer 
confirm which staff on the TUPE 
list are subject to the Green 
Book? 

All employees are subject to the 
nationally agreed terms and 
conditions outlined in the 
'Green Book'. 

79 07/06/2024 TUPE Could the customer also 
confirm whether the Green 
book has been modified 

The sole modification to Green 
Book terms is noted in cell 6b of 
Tab1 ELDC of ITT Document 6; 
the adjustment of overtime 
rates for Response and 
Resettlement Officers. This is 
calculated at 1.5 times the 
standard hourly rate for these 
officers, which can be 
calculated based on values 
included in the Salary column 
on Tab 1 ELDC. 

80 07/06/2024 TUPE On the TUPE document, Tab 1 
ELDC makes reference to an 
attached policy document in 
relation to special leave 
arrangements. Could this be 
shared? 

The requested document has 
been uploaded to Procontract. 
 
Please refer to document title 
'ELDC - Time Off Policy'. 

81 07/06/2024 TUPE Tab 1 ELDC appears to have has 
missing information in relation 
to whether staff are members 
of LGPS. Could this please be 
updated? 

All employees on Tab 1 ELDC of 
the Document titled ‘20240613 
ITT Document 6 of 6 Wellbeing 
Services v3’ are enrolled in the 
LGPS. As requested, we have 
uploaded the updated version 
of the ITT document.   
 

82 07/06/2024 TUPE Tab 1 ELDC appears to have not 
been updated since February, 
could the customer please 
confirm whether this is an 
oversight or provide updated 
information accordingly. 

The date has been updated and 
the revised version of the 
document titled ‘20240613 ITT 
Document 6 of 6 Wellbeing 
Services v3’ has been uploaded 
to Procontract.  
 

83 10/06/2024 Timeframes Could you confirm if the 
contract award dates will 
change due to the further 
submission extension please?  
The dates below show the 

The indicative planned award 
date remains at 9th of August 
2024.  

Page 219



 

 

evaluation period beginning 
before the submission deadline. 

84 12/06/2024 TUPE In the original TUPE Information 
provided, Salaries provided by 
ELDC were aligned to their 
2023/24 Pay Scales, as 
references in the info they 
provided. These do not appear 
to have changed in the new 
information provided. Could the 
current annual salaries please 
be confirmed. 
 
I note that salaries have not 
changed for Tab 2 - NKDC or 
Tab - WLDC; therefore 
confirmation on their salaries is 
requested. 

The 2024/25 pay increases for 
ELDC, NKDC and WLDC have not 
yet been confirmed. Local 
government pay awards for 
each financial year are the 
subject of national negotiation 
annually, with any salary 
increase often backdated to 1 
April of the relevant year under 
negotiation. However the 
figures for 2023/24 as shown 
are the current salaries and no 
date has yet been offered by 
the LGA for announcement of 
the outcome of any pay 
settlement for 2024/25.   

85 12/06/2024 TUPE On Tab 2 NKDC, Roles WB008, 
WB016, WB017, WB027, 
WB030 and W085 - each has 
had an increase in their SCP, but 
no adjustment is shown on their 
salary - Confirmation of actual 
salary is requested. 
 
In addition, Roles WB016, 
WB027 have changed roles 
from GSW to Trusted Assessor, 
but neither have any 
adjustment in Salary -  this may 
be correct, but confirmation 
would be welcomed. 

The NKDC amendments have 
been highlighted in yellow on 
the TUPE schedule entitled 
20240620 ITT Document 6 of 6 
Wellbeing Services v4. The 
salaries contained in this are the 
current salaries for these 
postholders. 
 
 
 
These roles were acting up to 
Trusted Assessors and are now 
permanent. 
 

86 12/06/2024 TUPE Please could further 
information be provided on the 
stated benefit 'Essential Car 
User - Higher rate' on Tab 2 - 
NKDC to support with 
budgeting. 

The annual Essential Car User 
allowance is £1239 (paid 
monthly) and the rate per mile 
is 50.5p 

87 24/06/2024 Extension Can we please request an 
extension to the deadline of 
submission of tenders of 10 
working days? 

An extension of 10 working days 
will be granted.  The deadline 
for submission of tenders will 
now be Monday 15th July at 12 
noon. 

88 24/06/2024 Terms and 
Conditions 

Can the Customer confirm that 
Clause B8.11, which is stated as 
‘NOT USED’ in the ‘Supplier 
Agreement’ will not have any 
effect on the wording in Clauses 
B.11A to B.11I in the ‘Supplier 
Agreement’ 

Clauses B8.11A – B8.11I are the 
new additions around the 
Admissions Agreement and 
future respective pensions 
liabilities, these clauses are to 
apply as drafted, and B8.11 
would not be used as stated 

Page 220



 

 

and will not form part of the 
final contract. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 221



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 
SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 

 

1 Service Delivery Model 

Wellbeing Lincs (WL) has been delivering the countywide Lincolnshire Wellbeing 
Service (the Service) since its inception 6 years ago, with East Lindsey & North 
Kesteven overseeing their district WBS 4 years prior.  We successfully transitioned to 
the Countywide service in 2018, working positively with Lincolnshire County Council 

(LCC) to develop a comprehensive wellbeing offer in line with the specification. We 
are a partnership of West Lindsey (WLDC), East Lindsey (ELDC), North Kesteven 
(NKDC) and City of Lincoln (CoLC) councils with ELDC the contract holder. We see 
the value in the changes LCC are putting forward to improve the service offer and are 

keen to restructure our teams and redevelop processes to meet the requirements, 
being a valued partner in achieving LCC’s wider aim of Lincolnshire residents assisted 
to live fulfilling and independent lives. Our strengths lie in: 

• Successfully delivering the Service for the past 6 years, bringing existing teams 

into a single cohesive Wellbeing Lincs brand. 

• Providing a strong partnership from the 4 District Councils providing robust 
governance and high-quality services. 

• Meeting and exceeding the performance targets set within the specification, 

continually exploring how we can improve and quickly responding to solve 
areas we encountered issues. 

• Delivering a truly countywide approach with our frontline teams strategically 
split between the North & South of the county and our responder service placed 

within 4 bases offering even coverage and easy access to residents. 

• An open and honest relationship with our commissioner, consulting in how we 
deliver, raising when we have difficulties, seeking ways the Service meets its 
contractual and LCC’s wider aims. 

• A long standing and consistent team with experienced leadership ensures we 
understand the Service requirements, challenges and opportunities and can 
provide consistent and stable delivery for the commissioner and most 
importantly those we support. 

• A flexible and responsive service which adapts to the wider needs of the county 
when required as demonstrated by reconfiguring the service within days to 
directly engage residents during Covid. 

• A strong emphasis on recognising the partnership approach to the Service offer 

with established links from managers to frontline staff illustrated by: 
o Positive inward / outward referrals throughout the Service. 
o Established positive relationships with the Customer Service Centre 

(CSC), Mosaic Team and Adult Social Care  

o Wellbeing Lincs being a strategic partner in meeting wider county aims 
e.g. helping to manage demand for adult social care services and being 
an integral element of the local flood response. 

o Our response service based within fire stations as a direct result of our 

positive joint working. 
o As a partnership ourselves, we naturally understand the importance of 

linking with partners, having positive relationships with the 6 other 
Districts within the county. 

Page 222



 

 

o We used our dedicated Partnership & Network Team based across the 
county to lay a strong foundation in mapping and linking with the full 

range of services available to residents which will enable us to move to 
a more fluid approach to partnership working in this new specification. 

 
We use these strengths to deliver a truly person-centred service, provided by staff 

who not only have a wealth of experience, but they are also extremely passionate 
about helping our service users live their best life, coming alongside them when help 
is needed, also empowering them to meet challenges and changes now and in the 
future.  Our delivery model detailed below not only sets out our practical approach, 

but it also demonstrates how we will meet the service outcomes required in the 
updated service specification; however, we also commit to: - 
 

• Play an active role with LCC and partners in understanding the wellbeing 

experience for customers and frontline staff, translating this into positive 
system change. Identifying and informing LCC where we or others duplicate 
work or we are plugging failings in services expected to deliver specific 
activities. 

• Further develop monitoring tools to identify the health inequalities of our 
customers, monitoring the new outcomes and effectively triaging referrals to 
ensure timely support, based upon immediate need. 

• Champion digital self-help schemes including our own Digital Offer, while also 

linking to wider digital initiatives as they are developed. 
 
Proposed Service Delivery Model in line with service specification 3.2.1 

 
• Case Process Map - High Level 1 

Management 
Wellbeing Lincs will continue to be a partnership of the 4 district councils with ELDC 
the contracted authority. Our Management Board (MB), made up of strategic 
managers within each District, will provide governance and oversight with operational 

responsibility through a dedicated Service Manager (SM) overseeing the teams 
outlined below.  

Referral Recived

Reviewed by Senior 

Officer

Allocated to 

relevant Case 

Officer

Assessment 

Completed and 

Support Started

Fortnightly Review All needs met?

No

Yes

Case Completed on 

Mosaic

Senior Officer 

review for Quality 

Assurance (QA)

Case Closed on 

Mosaic

Follow-up QA call 

made after 1 

month

Quality Assurance 

survey completed

Touch base call 

made around 6 

months after main 

case

New needs

Yes

NoQA Case Closed

Page 223



 

 

Delivery of the service will continue to be split across the districts to ensure staff are 
available to deliver a high-level service across all of Lincolnshire.  Our proposed 

staffing structure included with our submission shows where the teams will sit. 
Quarterly MB meetings ensure a consistent approach and agreement to working 
initiatives which has worked successfully for the last 6 years.  MB will meet more 
frequently during the mobilisation period to oversee the transition to the new contract.  

 
Structure and delivery will be as follows: 
 
Digital Offer  

Overseen by our Service Manager during mobilisation but led by the newly 
reconfigured Service Compliance and Service Development Team who will create the 
content for Connect to Support to host.  While exact functionality will be determined 
by the Connect to Support platform, our preferred approach will be needs based, 

meaning the customer will land on the Wellbeing page and be presented with options 
based on their need.  Using our extensive knowledge of providing the wellbeing 
service, we will develop question threads to direct the customer to the most 
appropriate self-help solution(s).  Alongside this, we will also work with key partners 

to ensure the self-help solution is streamlined for the customer.  For example, if the 
solution requires the involvement of a separate service, a robust explanation of what 
the customer can expect will be provided, as well as working to reduce the amount of 
information the customer would have to repeat, should an onward referral be 

triggered. We will research best practice examples and work with LCC and our 
customers to explore innovative ways to create a meaningful universal offer including 
promoting peer support initiatives which we know from our current delivery are much 
needed in Lincolnshire.  Customers accessing the digital offer should also reach the 

information they need in the minimum of ‘Clicks’, which our wealth of knowledge will 
make possible.  
 
Assessment, Generic Support plus Small Aids & Minor Adaptations will be managed 

by 4 Senior Case Officers (SCO), split evenly across North and South Teams, 
ensuring a broad geographical coverage. Our home working approach increases this 
reach further, enabling us to specifically recruit within localities where demand is high. 
We will streamline our initial triage and quality check through the dedicated SCO’s, 

with all referrals from the CSC or Trusted Referrers (TR) coming through Mosaic, 
being assigned based upon: 

• a RAG rated priority system, so emergencies are assessed within 3 working 
days (Red), which we expect will be immediate risks of needing NHS or adult 

care intervention if assistive equipment is not provided promptly. While cases 
with significant needs such as emerging mobility issues or a change of 
circumstances causing risks to the home such as financial concerns, or the loss 
of a significant other would be seen within 10 days (Amber).  All other referrals 

would be seen within the 21-day target (Green). 

• availability of staff, based upon leave and workload. 

• case officer experience e.g. assigning to team specialists in housing, hoarding, 
complex benefits, or other emerging issues identified within the life of the 

contract.  

• personality, cultural links which enhance engagement/rapport. 

Good practice SCO’s manage a team of case officers, offering support and 
guidance in managing case complexity. Their key role is providing practical support 

Page 224



 

 

to staff whilst also actively quality checking the teams cases as they happen. They 
will work collaboratively, ensuring sufficient resource within the service and will 
reassign staff to deal with sudden local areas of demand. Having a bird’s eye view, 

they also identify common issues being raised across the service and can guide 
teams in good practice responses as well as feeding up to the Service Manager 
issues which require a strategic approach. They will liaise at a managerial level with 
services we regularly refer to ensuring these referral routes run smoothly and will 

attend local area operational partnership meetings requiring WBS input. 

 

Assessment and Generic Support will be undertaken by a single Case Officer all 
trained to the required Level 3 qualification. This will provide improved outcomes and 
performance. During mobilisation, we will redesign the role, updating job descriptions, 
restructuring existing teams, and providing training. We are confident staff will easily 

move to this new role, finding it more rewarding as they take full responsibility for 
assessment and support, agreeing and then seeing outcomes achieved.   
The assigned Case Officer ensures they have the necessary information (checking 
Mosaic and the referrers information) and understanding the customers situation 

before contacting the individual to introduce themselves, describe what WBS can offer 
and when/where is best for a formal assessment to take place. It is vital referrers 
understand the short-term nature of the support we offer. This initial call is about 
developing a rapport with the individual, understanding the situation correctly and 

ensuring we meet their communication needs, including if they want family to attend 
the assessment or another agency to be liaised with that they regularly use. If agreed, 
assessments may be fully completed during this initial call or agree another suitable 
time to call back or visit.  We believe completing the assessment in one go is the best 

option; however, we also appreciate some customers may struggle, so we would stop 
the assessment if required, picking it up again at a mutually agreed time.  Since Covid, 
we have found we can undertake meaningful assessments on the phone unless the 
customers issue(s) relate to the home, including small aids and minor adaptations. If 

required, assessments will be carried out face to face, again at a time to suit the 
customer, including facilitating attendance of any representative they require. 
 
The assessment will follow the required outcomes outlined at 3.1.6; however, being 

person centred, we will adapt the process to the customer’s needs, avoiding the 
lengthy questioning on topics of no concern to the customer. We do occasionally come 
across re-referrals which will reduce through the merging of the assessment and 
support roles, allowing needs to be added during support. Using open questioning and 

motivational interviewing techniques helps the customer identify the needs they would 
like assistance resolving, addressing what is important to them.   
Our approach is strength-based, building confidence and resilience through: 

• identifying customers previous achievements and current skills which they can 

build upon, including those which are transferable.   

• linking with their existing support networks including family, friends, church, or 
services including GPs to strengthen and maintain outcomes. 

• accessing wider support to meet their goals is also explored e.g. attending 

exercise classes, dieting groups or 12 steps programmes like AA, using the 
concept of fellowship / peer support to achieve a goal which produces 
friendship. 

• promoting available digital solutions or seeking to develop them ourselves. 

Page 225



 

 

 
If equipment or alterations are identified, the Case Officer attends the customers home 

to undertake the Trusted Assessment. Equipment needs are discussed and agreed 
with the customer, then supplied at cost.  Installation costs are met by the service and 
not passed to the customer. We will review the existing processes for equipment 
orders in Mosaic to ensure customers receive the equipment in the 7-day target.  

Should the assessment flag concern regarding the suitability of equipment the Case 
Officer will seek advice from OTs, with links embedded during mobilisation, including 
access to the LCES system. 
 

Support plans will be developed with the customer resulting from assessment, based 
upon LCC’s agreed outcomes with clear SMART tasks/actions, identifying who is 
responsible for carrying them out. Both parties agree the support plan and if actions 
can be dealt with immediately, they are, so customers see the benefit of support 

quickly.  
 
Activities are always strength based, being undertaken with and not to, working with 
family or existing services who will remain with the customer after support has ended. 

Case Officers sit with an individual who may ring the landlord, utility company, 
providing back-up and increasing confidence. For support activities requiring more 
interactions, the Case Officer will arrange future calls or visits. They deal with 
complication, accessing other services and liaise directly if the individuals cannot 

manage it themselves.  However, they actively involve the person even if it is making 
initial calls, gathering information to develop their skills. We aim to empower 
customers, giving them confidence to resolve issues themselves in the future, 
including by accessing the digital offer, using an innovative approach to develop 

additional technology based solutions during the lie of the contract, empowering 
customers to solve future issues themselves. 
 
Onward referrals / signposting to other services or organisations is vital. We have 

developed an in-depth knowledge of services available around the county - from 
statutory down to small local groups. Staff regularly keep this updated, and we 
propose a formal link with Connect to Support to share information. We always 
encourage customers to make their own referrals but will support them in doing so. 

Direct referrals are made where we already have established pathways in place with 
the customers in line with Making Every Contact Count e.g. services also using 
Mosaic. With the customers consent, any onward referral would include all relevant 
information, avoiding the need for customers to repeat information, but also speeding 

the process for the customer and service provider. 
 
Case Officers will raise concerns or gaps they encounter with their line manager who 
will address the issue or highlight to the Service Manager to be addressed as part of 

our work to integrate the wellbeing service firmly within the whole system.   
Support reviews will take place every 2 weeks jointly with the customer, and any 
relevant representative.  As outcomes and actions are clearly defined, we can agree 
if they have been undertaken and outcomes achieved, celebrating the customers 

achievements.  
 
Once all needs have been met, support formally ends. As our service often includes 
signposting or onward referrals, we will encourage people to get back to us directly if 

Page 226



 

 

they struggle with receiving a follow-up service, providing relevant contact information 
including our digital offer, or in paper format if preferred.  

 
Additionally, all cases will receive a follow-up call approximately 1 month after the 
case closes including the Service Experience Outcomes (4.3.7 in specification) and 
checking follow-on referrals are being addressed, supporting quality assurance and 

continuous improvement.  We will also look to develop a longer term check in with 
customers, after at least 6 months, with a slightly different focus, such as ensuring 
equipment provided is still suitable, or if the customer is signed up to the response 
service, that it is still required.  Our aim to develop a bespoke Wellbeing App would 

further the preventative aims of the service. 

Good Practice Senior Assessor Ongoing Quality Checks - the short-term nature of 
the Service means formal quality assurance can be lost with post file audits and 
surveys. Our SCO’s ensure ALL cases are quality checked as they are occurring 
through the Mosaic system, so difficulties are rectified immediately.  Completed 

cases are formally checked ensuring paperwork has been undertaken. They can 
bring up consistent issues with specific staff in individual supervision and provide 
good practice learning through team meetings or wider briefings. 

 
Small Aids & Minor Adaptations, are overseen by a SCO with a dedicated 
administrator and 2 equipment installers. The Case Officer (trained to level 3 Trusted 

Assessor) completes the equipment order on Mosaic as part of support plan. We will 
continue to hold a suitable stock of frequently requested equipment including grab 
rails and key safes whilst promptly ordering other equipment as required.  We have 2 
Equipment Installers (trained to level 2 Installers) covering the North & South of the 

county with jobs booked by the administrator based upon priority and location to 
minimise travel time. Installers follow the Case Officers assessment but use their 
skills/knowledge to ensure equipment and alterations are undertaken following 
customer preferences and safe installation practices. 

 
Once completed, the administrator manages the payment process, including splitting 
the cost interest free, should the customer find a single payment unaffordable (as local 
authorities we would not require a credit licence to provide this facility). We already 

have excellent links with OT’s but will develop defined trusted referrer pathways with 
all OT teams and LCES to ensure customers’ needs are met seamlessly. Quality 
assurance is achieved through installers receiving sign-off from the customer and 
taking pictures of the work undertaken, sent to the administrator, and stored with each 

case. The administrator also checks the individual is happy with the quality when they 
agree the payment. The 4 SCO’s undertake a further quality check when they review 
closed cases. Satisfaction for equipment deliveries or installations will also form part 
of the quality assurance calls undertaken following case closures. 

 
Telecare Response Service will provide responders based at 3 designated Lincs Fire 
& Rescue stations, instead of the current 4, recognising the response timeframe 
moving to 1 hour from the current 45 minutes. Responders are trained in first aid, 

using a manga lifting device plus general lifting and handling.  

Innovation: If agreed by LCC, we propose responder training includes learning 
standard medical checks including blood pressure, oxygen levels, aiding 
conversations with the ambulance service and reassuring customers their situation 
is being effectively relayed / managed.  Links to GP’s can also be explored to 

Page 227



 

 

provide valuable insight to the customers situation, possibly leading to early 
diagnosis of the underlying case of falls around the home. 

 
A dedicated Senior Response Officer will support the team, ensuring performance and 
identifying frequent users who may benefit from additional support from the core 

service, or an onward referral to a trusted partner. The Senior will liaise with telecare 
providers to ensure referral quality to the scheme and undertake quality assurance 
checks through evaluation of responders’ calls. We will work with LCC’s Mosaic Team 
to add a section on Mosaic to log all response calls (currently monitored through paper 

forms), enabling immediate collation of results and ease of access. 
 
Lincare based with City of Lincoln Council will continue to co-ordinate all telecare 
activations for the response service. They complete regular update checks, manage 

the charging process, and notify responders when there is a call whilst providing much 
needed back-up support during the call-out. 
 
Partnerships Our previous Partnership & Networks team provided a strong platform, 

but we propose moving to a ‘golden thread’ approach, ensuring partnership thinking 
is embedded in all aspects of the service, with partnerships included within all staff job 
descriptions. We will use our extensive knowledge of the County to establish our place 
in a ‘whole system’ approach. This will support our frontline teams ensuring we can 

refer in to statutory, health and voluntary services who support our customers. SCO’s 
will manage outward referral relationships across the County who we regularly liaise 
with (outlined within specification 3.8.8). The following team will support the Service 
Manager with the systems approach including developing Trusted Referrers and 

attending the LCC countywide groups outlined within specification point 3.8.11. 
 
Communication and Development Team overseen be a dedicated Senior Officer will 
support the Service in the following ways: 

• providing business support through 3 dedicated officers 

• providing reports monitoring performance and quality as related to the 
specification undertaken by the Performance & Data Officer. 

The Senior will be supported by a Communications & Engagement Officer to work 

with the Service Manager in -  

• managing the digital offer content, website, and marketing, taking part in 
promotional events throughout the county.  

• our partnership working approach, administering, and supporting with the 

Public Health Quality of Life network and WBS Operational Effectiveness and 
Delivery bi-monthly Meetings. 

• attending countywide forums/initiatives as detailed within 3 Partnership answer  

• managing and developing Trusted Referrers throughout the life of the contract.  

 

Innovation: we recognise the vital contribution wellbeing support provides but that 
there is no formal qualification which staff can attain.  Our HR colleagues are 
working with local universities to develop a dedicated Wellbeing qualification for the 
WBS covering aspects vital to the service including Trusted Assessments / Installer 

levels in line with the contract requirement.  Offering level 2 qualification for 
responders / installers, level 3 for Case Officers and level 5 for Senior Officers, 
enhancing the requirements of the specification. 

Page 228



 

 

 
Generating Efficiencies 

We will provide the requirements of the new specification by making efficiencies in 
re-organising our staff teams including.   

• Merging the TA & GSO roles with a single Case Officer undertaking both 

aspects - reducing the current number of staff, streamlining handovers while 
improving the customer experience.  

• Monitoring individual staff productivity, supporting them to develop their skills 
to undertake more cases per month. 

• Removing initial assessment phase of the referral process, meaning we no 
longer need the referral hub.  

• Our new emphasis upon partnership working throughout the Service means we 
no longer require a dedicated team, with partnership working a golden thread 

throughout all aspects of the service. 

• A net reduction in Responders, while creating flexibility to deploy officers 
across three workbases using annualised hours contracts, to cover sickness 
absence and annual leave.  

• With LCC agreement, we plan to redevelop our use of Mosaic to reduce the 
need to replicate customer data and easy to produce reports. 

• Development of the Digital offer will allow for efficiency savings through the life 
of the contract, empowering customers with self-support pathways. 

Introducing Innovation 
We plan to introduce and explore the following: 

• We are keen to develop the Digital Offer which we see as the first steps towards 
a sustainable and efficient future for support services. The next step is 

development of a bespoke app on smart phones giving customers access to 
multiple services, including self-directed support, emergency notifications and 
a peer support function including befriending. We will explore the feasibility of 
this approach with LCC and stakeholders to develop a business case for 

evaluation.  

• Explore working with the countywide initiatives such as the Good Homes 
Alliance and Better Care Fund to reduce duplication and create joint solutions 
which expand geographical reach and what residents are offered. 

• Using the Service to develop community initiatives through our social value 
offer see question, here. 

 
Retail Offer 

We are keen to explore with LCC possible ways we can provide a retail offer, 
generating income to help sustain the service whilst offering services which 
complement our core services.  Examples include: 

• Broadening the offer of charged services within the equipment team to include 

helping move furniture - a common difficulty our customers struggle with 
particularly when receiving hospital equipment such as beds.  We can also 
consider the provision of DIY type services such as putting up shelves, building 
flat pack furniture and home maintenance activities including grass cutting or 

room clearance, which customers may struggle to organise. This may require 
staff increases, covered by the charges to customers, while also contributing 
to core cost with fees based upon local market and affordability.  

• We will explore within the Response Service  

Page 229



 

 

o providing short term holiday or respite cover packages at a charge. 
o investigating whether council areas close to the Lincolnshire border 

would benefit from our established model. For example, linking to 
established telecare services, social housing providers and Councils to 
set up block schemes.  Full cost recovery would be applied, including 
offsetting management costs, benefiting LCC. 

 
Managing Lincolnshire, equity of access, consistent coverage   
Having provided the service for more than 6 years, we have learnt to configure the 
service in the most efficient way, demonstrating equity across the County.  As 

separate organisations we are well established, and through our own statutory 
services, we understand the challenges of delivering quality services across urban, 
rural and coastal communities.  Not only do we have offices across the County, we 
also have an agile workforce, with frontline officers located where they are most 

needed. 
Despite being separate District Councils, our delivery of the Service deliberately 
ignores council boundaries.  As Lincolnshire covers a large area, we split our core 
teams; however, our delivery model allows service resources to be deployed where 

needed.  Our North & South teams already cover cases in each other’s area as 
required.  Coupled with our agile working provision, and supported through our data 
analysis approach, we can deploy officers where they are needed, in a prompt and 
dynamic way. 

Extensive data analysis also provides assurance our service delivery is equitable 
across the County, having regard for demographic profiles and cultural factors.  Our 
focus on promoting a ‘whole system’ approach to service delivery, engaging with key 
organisations across Lincolnshire will also help us reach all parts of Lincolnshire. 

 
Promotion & Engagement of those most in need 
The dedicated Communication & Engagement role is key to embedding the service 
across Lincolnshire.  Robust engagement with key services, such as LCC’s own 

Learning Disability team will ensure we engage with all communities in Lincolnshire, 
ensure equity of access.  Utilising the Trusted Referrer entry method will streamline 
appropriate direct referrals into the service, thus improving the customer journey. We 
will use our experience to allow customers to access the service best able to meet 

their needs, without the need to repeat their information multiple times.  We will also 
engage with relevant events, initiatives and schemes across the County including 
Falls prevention, Hoarding and wider housing & health forums. Digital 
communications in use across Lincolnshire would also be approached to ensure all 

key stakeholders are fully aware of what the service offers, as well as service 
development we roll out, especially linked to the digital offer and Wellbeing App, again 
promoting self-support pathways. 
 

Business Continuity 
We have robust business continuity plans in place for all aspects of the service, 
covering scenarios such as loss of infrastructure, staff, and IT facilities, meaning the 
impact of any loss of service would be kept to a minimum. Full details of the plans 

are available on request. 
Furthermore, we have and continue to be a trusted partner in countywide emergency 
planning programmes, engaging our teams in both response and recovery phases of 
emergencies.  The Service Manager is trained to Multi-Agency Gold Incident 

Page 230



 

 

Command level through the College of Policing, and we have extensive experience 
deploying staff, most notably our rapid redesign at the start of the Covid pandemic 

and Wainfleet floods.  During these incidents we: - 

• Redeployed staff to cover emerging needs such as prescription collection, and 
access to food for those deemed too vulnerable to leave their home. 

• Helped disseminate helpful information to vulnerable people, either directly at 
rest centres or through telephone calls. 

• Identified vulnerable households within the impact area. 

• Provided support to affected households during recovery, focusing on 

vulnerable groups. 
As a partnership of District councils, we are in a unique position to support LCC meet 
the needs of vulnerable adults during emergencies, as we are also statutory bodies 
deployed during emergencies. Development of the Wellbeing App could also include 

an emergency notification service to past customers, or other groups identified 
through our partnership working. Our proven track record should give LCC confidence 
in our continued support. 
 

 

 

2a Service Model Scenario One 

Referral through and are received by: 

• Self-referral via LCC Customer Service Centre (CSC) or online referral form, 
likely by professional or family member. 

• Via a Trusted Professional (TP) referral through Mosaic to Wellbeing Service 
(WBS). 

• A Senior Case Worker takes referral, making initial checks on Mosaic, 
assigning priority before allocating to appropriate Case Worker (CW) based 
upon suitability and availability. 

• CW manages case from assessment through support and sign-off, providing 

continuity, efficiency, and accountability. 
 
Responding to Referral 
The CW familiarises themselves, examining referral and Mosaic. Based upon this 

information, they decide a home visit assessment due to possibly requiring a Small 
Aids & Minor Adaptations (SAMA). 
The CW rings Mrs W introducing themselves, developing a rapport through: 

• outlining why they have called based upon their referral. 

• checking Mrs W is happy to continue.  

• explaining what we can offer and the process we undertake - managing 
expectations. 

• clarifying the information, we currently have including relevant organisational 

involvement - Making Every Contact Count (MECC). 

• agreeing a home visit assessment including SAMA - checking if she wants 
family present and understanding her communication needs. 

 

Page 231



 

 

Assessment & support planning approach 
Undertaking the assessment, the CW uses their skills to cover key areas identified 

from the referral whilst ensuring they fully understand the situation. 
They ask open, motivational questions to understand difficulties Mrs W is 
experiencing so she feels in control.  
The assessment is strengths-based, focusing on existing skills and abilities, 

referring to previous jobs and ability to manage with a visual impairment as positives 
to build upon.  
We identify people important to her who provide support including family, friends, or 
her GP. These show her resilience and transferrable skills and demonstrate her 

capability.  The CW: 

• clarifies the reason for the fall, whether it’s linked to living alone with her 
visual impairment or was an isolated accident, or other reason(s). Discuss 
how she feels about her current mobility since the fall. If required, we conduct 

a falls assessment in line with Lincolnshire Falls protocol. 

• undertakes an assessment for SAMA to support her living safely in the home, 
and rebuilding confidence, e.g. coloured grab rails. 

• clarifies if putting the telecare in her name offers her reassurance as she 

lives alone, also including our Response service or does she have 
family/friends close by who can assist her, all while considering affordability. 

• discuss her financial worries, undertaking an initial eligibility test for benefit 

entitlement. Understanding her financial concerns using a simple income and 
expenditure tool, covering general bills and any debts. Onward referral to 
address longer term needs identified. 

• discuss longer term accommodation needs, recognising wish to remain in 

area, but planning for future needs. 

• celebrate Mrs W desire to return to work, clarifying any steps already 
undertaken, building confidence to apply, linking with DWP to agree a plan. 

• promote digital skill development including managing job searches, benefits, 

utility bill management, and future self-help strategy. 

• ensure assessment & support is always person-centred. 
 
From this, a jointly produced support plan is created including specific actions, 

assigned roles, and agreed timescales. We do ‘with’ not ‘for’ Mrs W, agreeing the 
parts she is confident doing herself or where we support her either just being there 
for initial calls or ringing on her behalf. Where we have pre-agreed referral pathways 
with organisations, we make the referral directly, continuing MECC (on Mosaic if the 

service uses it), checking she is happy that we are sharing all relevant information, 
with specific consent. 
For monitoring purposes, we link the support plan to LCC’s eligibility outcomes on 
Mosaic. 

 
Support Plan 

Outcomes 

Support Plan activities Priority: Urgent, 

Standard, Low  

Maintain home 
environment so it 
keeps me safe, 
warm, and well, 

reducing chances of 
accidents 

SAMA package agreed including 
costs. CW completes SAMA 
section on Mosaic, triggering 
SAMA installation/delivery 

Urgent  
 

Referral or signposting to Lincs 4 
Warmer Homes / District 

Standard 
 

Page 232



 

 

Councils, Register with utilities 
Priority Services for heating 
costs 

Supported managing 
household budget 

better, maximised 
income, reduced 
expenses, learnt 
skills to avoid being 

scammed. 

Benefits applications and debt 
support through referral to CAB  

If CAB have a waiting list seek 
alternatives or CW undertakes 

Standard 

Improved digital 
skills, better at using 
technology to stay 
independent 

Supported to access local Digital 
Hub for courses, and Digital 
Offer/Connect to Support 

Standard 
 

Supported to find / 
stay in education, 

training, work. 

Linked to DWP / Jobs 22, 
supported/empowered to engage 

Standard 
 

Been supported to 
live with combination 
of long-term 
conditions to maintain 

/ improve quality of 
life. 

Supported/empowered to move 
telecare to Mrs W name. 
 

Urgent 
 

Access Response service if 
required 

Standard  

 
Onward referrals and equipment steps are completed during the home assessment 
if agreed, moving the case quickly forward. We arrange follow up visits/phone calls 
undertaking the other support activities identified in the plan. A copy of the support 

plan including agreed actions is provided if required, including sight impaired option. 
 
Progress reviews and sign-off support 

• Support progress is reviewed every two weeks, confirming what has been 

achieved as well as discussing difficulties achieving tasks, before agreeing 
how to solve remaining tasks.  

• New support tasks are added if Mrs W raises them during support. 

• Reviews are agreed jointly so Mrs W is in control. 

• Once all activities are completed, the CW and Mrs W agree the outcomes 
have been met, signing off the support plan and formally ending the service. 

• Details how to contact the service in the future are provided, including 
requesting follow up assistance regarding problems with onward referrals.   

• Case reviewed by senior officer for quality assurance. 

• Within a month after support ends, another team member contacts Mrs W, 
undertaking a feedback survey about her experience (for objectivity). 

 
Risks to Mrs W if no WBS support: 

• Debt leading to rental arrears, possible loss of home. 

• Debt leading to arrears with utilities, credit cards, difficult paying general bills 

including food, heating/water. 

• Potential increase in social isolation, linked to being a single person 
household and lack of employment. 

Page 233



 

 

• Mental Health/ overall health and wellbeing deteriorating due to stress of 

finances. 

• Future falls if wellbeing deteriorates, impact on health. 
 
 

 

 

2b Service Model Scenario Two 

Referral through and received by: 

• Parental / Self-referral via LCC Customer Service Centre (CSC) or online 
referral form. 

• Via a Trusted Professional (TP) referral through Mosaic to Wellbeing Service 
(WBS). 

• A Senior Case Worker takes Mr C’s referral, making initial checks on Mosaic 
and assigns priority, allocating to appropriate Caseworker (CW) based upon 
suitability and availability. 

• CW manages case from assessment through support and sign-off, providing 

continuity, efficiency, and accountability. 
 
Responding to Referral 
The CW familiarises themselves, examining referral information and Mosaic 

including any reference to capacity. Based upon this information, a home visit 
assessment is required for a better understanding of the situation.  
The CW rings Mr C introducing themselves, developing a rapport through: 

• outlining why they have called based upon their referral. 

• checking Mr C is happy to continue.  

• explaining what we can offer and the process we undertake - managing 
expectations. 

• clarifying the information currently available, including relevant organisational 

involvement - Making Every Contact Count (MECC). 

• agreeing a home visit assessment - checking if he wants family present or 
involved and understanding his communication needs. 

• clarifying home ownership. 

• we assume Mr C has capacity to make all decisions considering the outline 
information provided. 

 
Assessment & support planning approach 

Undertaking the assessment, the CW uses their skills to cover key areas identified 
from the referral whilst ensuring they fully understand the situation: - 

• Keeping warm at home. 

• Developing social contacts. 

• Developing life skills. 

• Develop a healthy lifestyle. 

• Discuss possible scam issue raised in referral. 

The assessment is person-centred including consideration of equality & diversity, 
splitting the assessment over a few visits, focusing on urgent needs first to keep 
goals manageable, or should several visits be needed to build trust. 

Page 234



 

 

They ask open, motivational questions so he feels in control.  
The assessment is also strengths-based, focusing on his existing skills e.g. Use of 

the internet to find information. We identify people important to him who provide 
support including family, friends, agencies, or his GP. We celebrate his resilience 
and identify transferrable skills. The CW: 

• clarifies heating concerns - Is it due to poor housing, no heating, unable to 

pay bills? If about finances, undertaking a simple check he is getting benefits 
he is entitled to. Understanding his finances using a simple income & 
expenditure review. Assume no finance issues but due to poor insulation and 
inadequate central heating. 

• clarifies the home ownership situation as affects access to support heating 
the home as parents may have to claim. 

• gently refer to his parents’ concerns about his internet relationship, providing 

information and guidance if required on cyber safety; including ways to 
identify scams, and whether he feels exploited. As he has capacity, we would 
always respect his choices, supporting Mr C to be fully informed when 
making those choices. 

• exploring what social contacts are already in place, establishing any hobbies 
or interests he has, to expand his social network.  E.g. cooking classes and 
leisure activities through referrals to services such as One You Lincolnshire 
and introductions to local clubs. 

• ensure that whatever we discuss and agree, it is what he wants to happen.  
 
A jointly produced support plan including specific actions, assigned roles, and 
agreed priority. We do ‘with’ not ‘for’ Mr C, agreeing the parts he is confident doing 

or where we support him either just being there for initial calls or ringing on his 
behalf. Where we have pre-agreed referral pathways with organisations, we make 
the referral directly, continuing MECC (on Mosaic if the service uses it), always 
seeking specific consent from Mr C. 

For monitoring purposes, we link the support plan to LCC’s eligibility outcomes on 
Mosaic. 
 

Support Plan 
Outcomes 

Support Plan activities Priority: Urgent, 
Standard, or low 

Maintain home 
environment so it 

keeps me safe, warm, 
and well, reducing 
chances of accidents 

Refer to Energy Efficiency 
Project run by City of 

Lincoln DC, plus seek grant 
funding to assist with costs 
for insulation improvements 
and to update the heating 
system 

Urgent 
 

SHERMAN check for 

property safety with Mr C 

Urgent 

 

Page 235



 

 

Supported managing 
household budget 
better, maximised 

income, reduced 
expenses, learnt skills 
to avoid being 
scammed. 

Refer Pelican Trust or 
Connect to Support around 
managing internet 

scammers 

Urgent 
 

Learnt home 
management and life 
skills 

Refer Social Prescribing for 
life home skills and social 
groups, and/or HAY 

Lincolnshire for social 
groups, activities, 
volunteering  

Standard 
 

Been supported to 
build better support 

network, social life, 
volunteer. 

Supported to live with 
a combination of long-
term conditions to 

maintain or improve 
quality of life 

Refer ONE YOU 
Lincolnshire for healthy 
eating, exercise 

Standard 

Support Mr C to attend GP 
health check 

Standard 

 

Signposting/referrals/checks are made during assessment to quickly move the case 
forward. The CW visits, rings Mr C to undertake activities defined in the support 
plan, providing information in formats considerate to his individual needs, such as 
plain English. We work at a pace that suits Mr C, not overwhelming him. 

 
Progress reviews and sign-off support 

• Support progress is reviewed every two weeks, celebrating achievements 
while also discussing any difficulties achieving tasks, establishing reasons 

before planning next steps, and updating Mosaic. 

• New support tasks can be added if Mr C raises them during support. 

• Reviews are agreed jointly so Mr C is in control. 

• Once all activities are completed, the CW and Mr C agree the outcomes have 

been met, signing off the support plan and formally ending the service. 

• Details how to contact the service in the future are provided, including 
requesting follow up assistance regarding problems with onward referrals. 

• Within a month after support ends, another team member contacts Mr C, 

undertaking a feedback survey about his experience (for objectivity). 
 
Risks to Mr C if no WBS support: 

• Lack of warmth in home causing future health problems. 

• Lack of appropriate social contact affecting health and wellbeing. 

• Long term health implications of physical inactivity and poor diet, leading to 
preventable issues such as diabetes and high cholesterol. 

• Potential for financial abuse leading to inability to pay bills, unsustainable 

debt, and possible loss of home. 
 
 

 

Page 236



 

 

3 Partnership Working 

Working in partnership continues to be the cornerstone of our delivery of the 
Wellbeing Service (the Service) aims and most importantly service user (SU) 

outcomes. We are an example of positive partnership working, with 4 of Lincolnshire 
District Councils to successfully provide the Service across Lincolnshire over the 
last 6 years. This relationship between East Lindsey DC, West Lindsey DC, North 
Kesteven DC & City of Lincoln Council is a good practice example of collaborative 

working. It provides a blueprint for our general approach to wider partnership within 
the Service, focusing upon: 

• Agreeing the common aim of meeting SU needs and outcomes at its heart. 

• Establishing meaningful links from managers to frontline staff. 

• Underpinned by a robust partnership agreement. 

• Clarifying roles and responsibilities from the start. 

• Regularly checking in to assess progress. 

• Providing support if a partner is struggling. 

• Being open and honest when difficulties arise. 

• Viewing difficulties as a shared issue to resolve. 

• Continually revisiting how we work together, for the benefit of customers and 
the community we serve, enabling service improvements. 

• In line with this approach to partnerships, Make Every Contact Count 
(MECC) is within all staff’s training, sharing LCC’s commitment to reducing 
customers repeating their story and dealing with their query promptly. 

 

We were grateful to LCC allowing us a dedicated partnerships and network team 
this last 6 years, mapping local services, and forging close working relationships. 
We now have a strong platform to move forward, with meaningful partnerships at all 
levels firmly in place. 

 
We support LCC’s ‘whole systems’ approach, recognising the Service aims interact 
and overlap with services found within health, adult social care, public health, district 
authorities and housing. We are one part of a larger puzzle used by the community 

and we can provide a responsive service and reduce duplication if we have an 
awareness for how it fits and how we can collaborate to provide a better service for 
those we serve. 
 

Our understanding of ‘whole system’ focuses from an end user perspective.  
Through experience built from long term delivery of support services we know 
services users are less concerned with exactly which statutory service they deal 
with, a swift and hassle-free solution is of greater importance.  Through our statutory 

delivery of services in Lincolnshire, we are uniquely positioned as key stakeholders 
ourselves, District Councils already engage with the ‘whole system’ with other key 
stakeholders including: - 

• All other LCC strategic contracts 

• Adult Care 

• GP’s  

• Pharmacists 

• Occupational Therapy services 

• Fire & Rescue 

Page 237



 

 

• Learning Disability services 

• Falls Prevention 

• Hoarding 

• MARAC 

• Health services in acute and community settings, and for clarity 

• Our own District Council services: - 
o Housing & Homelessness 
o Environmental Health 
o Housing Standards 

o Housing Grants 
o Good Homes Alliance 

 
Building on the foundations of our existing Partnerships & Network Development 

officers, we commit to work with LCC to build the ‘whole system’ vision, with a view 
to streamlining the customer journey, and removing duplication. 
 
Strategic partnering with LCC 

Our Service Manager (SM) will agree the strategic direction for partnership working 
with LCC, developing an action plan with measurable objectives. They will initially 
lead on the key schemes specifically mentioned in the specification, before passing 
them to the Senior Compliance & Service Development Officer (SCSDO) once they 

are established.  
 
Attending established working groups / forums to support the whole systems 
approach. 

Resourced through the SM and SCSDO, we commit to convening and administering 
the Operational Effectiveness and Delivery bi-monthly meetings, key to embedding 
our aims. We will support LCC Public Health with administering the Quality-of-Life 
network, we’re already linked with the Good Homes Alliance and Financial Inclusion 

Partnership and other networks outlined below, as well as actively engage with 
District Council’s (of which we are 4) having excellent links with all Housing and 
Homeless teams. During mobilisation we will review our attendance at forums and 
working groups with LCC, to ensure our involvement provides the greatest benefit, 

especially all other strategic contracts LCC commission. 
 
Active involvement with these partners ensures we promote wellbeing, prevention, 
and key messaging, following a jointly agreed approach benefiting the wider 

community. We will also gather frontline intelligence from the Service to inform 
these partnerships, providing insights into emerging needs, difficulties accessing 
services and areas of duplication. We have demonstrated this approach in the last 6 
years, playing an active part in a whole systems response to several countywide 

issues including: 

• Covid, repurposing the service within a week, meeting safety restrictions 
whilst ensuring we continued to deliver an effective and responsive Service. 
Our countywide reach enabled us to support the whole system, working with 

LCC, Districts and partners taking part in distributing food parcels, arranging 
shopping, organising prescriptions, and undertaking welfare checks.  

▪ Flood response playing an active role within the wider Business Continuity 
Plan for the County, being part of the recovery support in line with the 

emergency response through identifying and supporting vulnerable groups 

Page 238



 

 

and individuals, initially for the response phase, before supporting 
households during recovery with relevant needs.  

▪ Supporting dissemination of county-wide initiatives we regularly engage with 
Adult Social Care / Public Health campaigns including various Falls initiatives 
including distributing ferrules to reduce falls. We worked closely with LIVES 
in developing their approach, providing guidance learnt from our Response 

service. 
▪ Fire & Rescue becoming a Trusted Referrer for their home safety advocate 

scheme. Our positive relationship led them inviting us to co-locate our 
response service within fire stations throughout the county.   

▪ Neighbourhood Teams our support teams feed into their Frailty pathway. 
▪ Our Communication & Engagement Officer will liaise with organisations, 

services, and initiatives to share information and take part in joint publicity 
and events which we have consistently done throughout the last 6 years e.g., 

sharing Facebook posts, stands at events. 
 

Added Value our updated Compliance and Data Officer can provide Service data 
to be used within the whole system approach to understand trends, emerging 
needs, identifying gaps or blockages rectified by the Service, LCC and partners. 

 
Strategic partnerships within WBS overseen by our SM and SCSDO, supported by 

the Senior covering the area of service maintaining the ongoing relationship e.g., 
Case Officers linking with LCES. We have established working practices but during 
mobilisation and beyond we will revisit and extend our focus on establishing clear 
partnerships with those organisations outlined within the specification with clear 

interdependencies including: 
 

• Customer Service Centre (CSC) we will update the referral pathway into the 
Service, ensuring throughout the contract we receive appropriate referrals 

based upon analysis of data and feedback from staff. 

• Connect to Support (C2S) using our knowledge and experience developed 
during our long-term delivery of the Service, we will provide content for our 
digital offer for their platform. We will review content with LCC and C2S at 

least every six months, ensuring information remains relevant and up to date.   

• Adult Social Care (ACS) already a Trusted Referrer, we will engage with ASC 
to create a template for use in our longer-term approach to developing TR’s. 
We will also review how we work with ASC to ensure we work together to 

meet the needs of SU’s and meet LCC’s wider aims. 

• Trusted Referrers (TR) will follow on from the work with ASC, initially 
focusing on LCC’s strategic contracts including Carers Service and One You 
Lincolnshire but will also consider the feasibility of engaging with services 

who may not already widely use Mosaic such as Social Prescribing, Hospital 
Discharge teams and ULHT, further promoting our ‘whole system’ vision. 

• LCES we will immediately work with LCES to map our access to the 
equipment system, clearly defining the parameters for the use of this service.  

We will also ensure all relevant staff receive training to use the system, prior 
to 1 October.  

• Mosaic, building on our existing positive relationship with the team, we will 
initially map out the required changes to the existing workflow, before 

providing a comprehensive breakdown of the data points and process 

Page 239



 

 

requirements, significantly reducing the work of the Mosaic team, but also 
ensuring the workflow follows the requirements of the service, and provides 

all data for performance monitoring, quality assurance and service 
development. 
 

Retail Offer meeting community needs and service sustainability We are keen to 
utilise these existing strategic partnerships to expand our offer as outlined within 

our Social Value method statement point 7.7. 
 

Onward Referral / Signposting the Senior Case Officers and Senior Compliance & 
Development Officer together will develop and maintain ongoing links with partners 
we regularly refer into, including those mainstream health, wellbeing, and lifestyle 
services outlined within the specification 3.8.8, ensuring smooth outward referrals 

where customers outcomes are effectively met. They will:  

• maintain clear referral pathways, ensuring the teams are aware of services 
across the County. 

• develop the Public Health knowledge to support local campaigns / initiatives, 

ensuring all staff undertake MECC.  

• explore ways joint working could be developed at frontline level e.g., shared 
resource, undertake checks on behalf of other agencies. 

 
Added Value our updated quality assurance framework will see us contact those 

we supported, twice after exiting the Service to establish if customer outcomes 
have been achieved by the Service, enabling improvements in our delivery, whilst 
also identifying difficulties experienced by onward referrals raised with partners, 
LCC and forums, seeking collaborative solutions. 

 
Benefits of this partnership working 

We recognise the success of the Service is reliant on effective partnership working, 
both from referrals into the service, as well as seamless outward referrals, giving 
confidence to all involved, they will be dealt with effectively.  Undertaking all levels 
of partnership working outlined above will ensure those we support receive a high 

quality, responsive service, which seamlessly interacts with complementary 
services, helping customers achieve their wellbeing outcomes.   
We also recognise the limited resource available within the County and how our 
‘whole system’ vision will reduce service duplication, through resource collaboration, 

and identifying complementary activities to meet SU’s needs. Examples of joint 
working opportunities to meet wider community aims we have identified are: 
 

• Explore working with CAB and the Financial Inclusion Partnership to utilise 

their approaches to financial assessments, with a view to either promptly 
completing the work with the SU, or to gather all relevant information prior to 
an onward referral, through a new TR pathway.  

• The prevention of falls through upskilling our Responders to complete a set 

of observations when attending non-injury calls, could assist with improved 
patient care by GP’s and other NHS colleagues, through providing data to 
help identify the root cause of the falls. 

 

Examples of our approach to partnership working in Lincolnshire is available on 
Mosaic cases 3576690; 3562028; 3573195; 601016; 443038 and 3552681. 

Page 240



 

 

 
Risks to collaborative working  

Challenges / Risks Mitigation 

Willingness of other 
organisations to 

work together / Silo 
working 

We will take a lead role through the establishment of 
Trusted Referrers, demonstrating the benefits of 

partnership working through positive outcomes for SU’s.   
Promote our ‘whole system’ vision, reducing duplication, 
and improving SU journey, evidenced by our quality 
assurance work. 

Agree an engagement strategy with LCC to make sure we 
work with key stakeholders at the correct level to facilitate 
effective collaboration. 

Different cultures 
leading to conflicting 

approaches  

Initial work from our team to positively understand and 
articulate different cultures, approaches. Identifying the 

common aim between partners and how each organisation 
uses its strengths to meet this. During periods of conflict 
revisiting this understanding of cultures and aims to 
refocus. Ensuring LCC get buy-in from partners, support to 

resolve conflict. 
Not undertaking fair 

share of the work   

Agreeing roles and responsibilities at start and limitations 

each side has due to resources. Raise at management 
level if persists. Ensuring LCC get buy-in from partners and 
support to resolve conflict. 

Cherry picking easy 
cases 

Agreeing SU types that each organisation can work with at 
the start. Raise at management level if persists. Ensuring 

LCC get buy-in from partners and support to resolve 
conflict. 

Duplicating Regular reviews of partnership working with key 
stakeholders to ensure we avoid mission creep, leading to 
a return to duplication. 

 
 

 

4 Staffing and Management of the Service 

Wellbeing Lincs is a partnership of 4 Lincolnshire District Council’s as outlined at 
Appendix 1 here. Changes to our existing staffing structure is required as detailed 
within the attached structure chart. Operational management remains with the 

Service Manager, and our Management Board will continue to provide strategic 
oversight and direction. 
 

Service Role Required Qualifications, 
Skills, and experience 

Service Manager has operational control of WBS 
service, reporting to Management Board, providing 

assurances and progress reports, and actioning their 
strategic direction. Line managing all Senior Officers, 
responsibility for performance, budget, resources, and 

Degree level in relevant 
subject, 

Minimum 5 years 
managing support 
related services 

Page 241



 

 

service quality. Liaises with LCC on contract 
management and whole systems partnerships. 

Senior Case Officers manage assessment, support 
and Small Aids & Minor Adaptations services including 
line management of case officers and equipment 

team. Evaluating all referrals before allocating to 
appropriate case officers, monitoring case quality and 
performance via Mosaic. Liaising with outward referral 
partners. 

Level 5 Health & Care 
related qualification 
3 years support related 

work.  
 

Wellbeing Case Officers split in two teams covering 

North & South of the County, completing the 
strengths-based assessment, and supporting 
customers to meet their identified outcomes. 

Disabled Living 

Foundation (DLF) Level 
3 Trusted Assessments.  
Minimum 2 years in 
support related services 

Assistive Equipment administrator allocates 
equipment installation cases received from case 

officers via Mosaic, managing charging customers. 
Responsible for maintaining and ordering stock.   

2 years administrative 
experience 

Assistive Equipment Installer installation of equipment 
identified in customers support plans.  There is scope 
to expand this role as part of our retail offer.  

Level 2 Installation  
2 years’ experience 
installing assistive 

equipment or in home 
improvements sector 

Senior Compliance & Service Development Officer 
line manages business support officers, including 
general administration, contract compliance and data 
analysis focusing upon service performance and 

quality assurance data. Assisting Service Manager 
with the development and maintenance of the Digital 
Offer, Trusted Referrer, and Strategic Partnerships 
elements of contract delivery.   

Level 5 Health & Care 
related or Manager 
qualification. 
5 years’ experience 

within related services 
 

Compliance & Data Officer responsible for collating 

monthly performance data; analysing data from 
Mosaic and external sources, providing information on 
wider trends, identifying gaps in provision and 
opportunities for service development, including 

development and maintenance of the digital offer. 

Minimum level 5 

qualification in data 
analysis or 2 years’ 
experience in a similar 
position including 

database management / 
analysis 

Communications & Engagement Officer manage 
communications and service promotion, attending 
events, collating, and updating digital offer content, 
website creation, plus linking with key partners and 

referral organisations. 

3 years’ experience in 
similar role, 
understanding of support 
sector 

Business Support Officers provide administrative 
services primarily to senior officers and case officers 
including correspondence to customers such as 
information required in support plans 

2 years administrative 
experience 

Senior Response Officer line managing responders, 
setting rotas for teams/locations ensuring full coverage 

of County. Responsible for monitoring individual 

Level 5 related 
qualification, or a 

Page 242



 

 

responder performance, quality assurance, customer 
satisfaction and identifying opportunities for 
development of the Responders service.  

minimum 2 years’ 
experience  
 

Responders attend customers’ homes following an 
alert from telecare provider. Trained to use dedicated 

equipment assisting customers after suffering a non-
injury fall and carrying out safe and well checks.   

First Aid, Manga 
equipment plus lifting 

and handling  

 
Recruitment  
 

Focuses upon competency and values. Our interview process uses real life 
scenarios and tests for practical evaluation of skills and experience, with customers 
on the interview panel when possible. We practice safer recruitment, checking right 
to work, DBS and reviewing at least 2 references.   

 
Induction & Training 
 
All new staff undertake an in-service induction, completing service essential training 

(in line with 3.9.6 of the specification) including comprehensive e-learning packages 
LCC safeguarding and Make Every Contact Count.  Staff also shadow existing 
officers in their role, and the wider service.  Training is monitored within the team 
ensuring regular refresher courses and promotion of development, specialist 

interest training. We plan to introduce a Wellbeing Lincs qualification package, 
developed with a local college/university, tailored to our staff teams, covering 
contractual training requirements including Trusted Assessment and Equipment 
Installation. 

 
Retention 
 
Staff are fully supported by a clear line management structure receiving regular 

supervision and annual appraisal/personal development plan. Regular staff 
meetings and Teams as an informal communication portal promote a supportive 
team-based culture for staff working remotely and alone in the community. Each 
District provides pay above local rates, generous leave, excellent pension, and 

terms/conditions including a generous Employee Benefits scheme. We are proud of 
retaining many of the staff from when we took on the contract 6 years ago, providing 
progression from support officers to Seniors. 
 

Safeguarding 
 
All staff undertake LCC’s safeguarding e-learning training. We have robust 
safeguarding processes including an extensive policy with clearly defined reporting 

pathways. Our Service Manager is undertaking a master’s degree in leading safer 
organisations through Lincoln University, enhancing our understanding.  
Safeguarding alerts/concerns are immediately referred to Senior Officers who liaise 
with LCC Adult Safeguarding.  All Safeguarding incidents are monitored by the 

Service Manager and reported to LCC within contract management reports. 
 
Capacity management  
 

Page 243



 

 

We have demonstrated we respond to changes in demand through Covid and 
refugee assistance. Capacity and flex are managed by: 

• our staff resources always include cover for holidays/sickness. 

• utilising annualised hours and part timers happy to take on extra hours whilst 
we recruit. 

• robust absence management processes minimise sickness cover so spare 
capacity focuses upon demand fluctuations. 

• caring/supportive management promotes flexibility from our staff in meeting 
sudden changes. 

• access to wider support by secondment/acting up for senior roles through our 
District’s wider pool or using interims to manage workstreams, freeing up 
senior staff to support customer/frontline issues demands. 

• going forward, we propose a staffing contingency fund within the contract, 

administered with LCC agreement to enable temporary increases in staffing 
when required. 

Geographically we –  

• have North and South teams for assessment/support and Responders based 

within 3 locations throughout Lincolnshire. 

• regularly monitoring referral data by location, moving staff to meet need. 
Recruitment is based on geography, with working from home available. 
 

5 Demand Management 

Wellbeing Lincs has provided the Wellbeing Service (the Service) countywide for 
the last 6 years, repeatedly meeting higher than expected demand, demonstrating 
our ability to adapt to successfully provide sufficient capacity, while retaining service 
quality. Our District Council (DC) partnership approach was based upon prudently 

managing the budget early on to deal with the inevitable annual increase in staff 
costs. We have an open partnership approach with the commissioner around 
financial and capacity management issues and will continue to maintain this going 
forward, welcoming the open book accounting approach required. When difficulties 

have arisen, we have always found ways to rectify those within a reasonable period. 
We successfully dealt with the following changes: 

• increasing the demand from 6,500 to 10,000 customers over 6 years. 

• providing fair geographical spread whilst also considering areas of high 

demand e.g. urban centres including Lincoln. 

• moving to telephone assessments, support due to Covid. We learnt 
customers responded favourably to initial telephone interactions, reducing 

dependency, whilst responding quicker to demand and queries. Conversely, 
increasing performance of the response service returning to office bases. 

Going forward, we see the following strategies in managing demand: 

• development of the digital offer providing an opportunity for 

assessment/generic support whilst promoting customers own management of 
their issues. We will be exploring the use of an App to access support and 
video tutorials, offering ‘how to’ guides for key issues our customers 
encounter. This may be used with Trusted Referrers in providing initial 

support during periods of high demand. 

Page 244



 

 

• Administering and attending the Service Operational Effectiveness and 

Delivery bi-monthly meetings will provide a ‘whole systems’ approach to 
tackling difficulties encountered by the service e.g. when more support is 
required due to lack of resource or blockages within other services. We can 
seek a ‘whole system’ solution, ensuring cases are dealt with by the most 

appropriate service, in the first instance. 

• Embedding partnership working within all areas of WBS delivery and seeking 
where we can share resource and reduce duplication. 

 

Operating Geographically 
 
From the outset, we were, and remain determined all residents within the county 
have easy access to all aspects of the Service. Frontline core services will remain 

split between North & South teams based with East Lindsey and North Kesteven 
District Councils utilising the insight and local knowledge of these organisations. We 
also promote agile working for our workforce, meaning when feasible staff work 
from home, throughout Lincolnshire. This also aids budget management more 
effectively, reducing unnecessary travel and staff time costs, enabling savings to 

manage surges in demand. Our DC partnership also ensures geographical reach 
and access to resource e.g., using council properties. Staffing deployment is 
regularly assessed against demand across the County, with both North & South 
teams working together to ensure busy areas are adequately covered.  

 

The Response service is the only office-based aspect. City of Lincoln Council will 

continue to receive Response service requests from telecare providers, while the 
actual responders will be located at 3 instead of the existing 4 fire stations. Officers 
will work from Lincoln North, Spilsby and Billingborough, providing the best 
coverage of the county to ensure we meet the 1-hour target response. We currently 

operate a 3 x 8-hour shift pattern; however, we will test the feasibility of 2 x 12-hour 
shifts during mobilisation, to simplify scheduling of staff, as well as the possibility of 
further efficiencies for LCC (Lincolnshire County Council). 
 

We are mindful of fluctuations in population caused by migration into the County 
either permanently or through tourism, as well as workers supporting the farming 
industry. Our combined case officer role will also allow better preparation for high 
demand between January and March, which since Covid, has been by far the 

busiest time for referrals, mainly triggered after family visits to elderly relatives over 
Christmas.  
Demand Management 
We will continue to use available data to predict service demand levels, allowing 

effective resource planning. Analysing referral data each month will allow us to 
identify emerging trends quickly. Sharing this data with LCC and key partners will 
also aid our ‘whole system’ thinking. Our Compliance & Data Officer will also 
produce monthly reports to monitor demand split by demographic markers such as: 

• Location 

• Age 

• Referral source 

• Referral route, and 

• Onward referrals. 

Page 245



 

 

 
We are happy to work with LCC to fine tune the data provided. 

 
Assessment & Support cases are overseen by 4 Senior Case Officers, who work as 
a coordinated team to maximise our ability to effectively manage demand 
fluctuations. Referrals will arrive to a single point in Mosaic monitored by the 

Seniors, who will prioritise cases before allocating to the most appropriate Case 
Officer based on location, capacity, and expertise in outcome area. Additionally, 
when recruiting to vacancies in the team, case demand profiling will be used to 
recruit officers in areas with greater need. Streamlining processes as described in 

the Service Delivery answer will enable us to monitor staff performance and 
workloads more effectively. Case officers will have clear targets, based on 
continuous productivity analysis.  
 

Small Aids & Minor Adaptations are also managed by a Senior Case Officer. 
Referrals from Case Officers will continue to be received through the Mosaic 
workflow we designed with LCC. We will continually monitor demand for equipment, 
to ensure we hold stock of most used items. We will also use approved contractors 

to cover periods of high demand. Our retail offer could also assist managing high 
demand by funding additional staff.  
 
Our Response Service moving to 3 localities helps manage demand more 

effectively, allowing increased staff coverage for each location, using annualised 
hours contracts for some responders so we can deploy extra resources to cover 
periods of high demand. 
 

Our contract price includes the cost of cover to meet demand considering 
holidays/sickness and we will continue to recruit within specific localities, ensuring 
cover for the whole county. 
 

The Additional Volume Payments 
While we welcome the clear approach to additional volume payments in the 
specification, we also recognise budget constraints in the public sector, being local 
authorities ourselves. As such we expect this mechanism to only be triggered to 

account for deliberate increases in service demand, e.g. targeting new customer 
cohorts, through longer term budget provision. 
 
Review and Amend Service Eligibility 

Being able to amend eligibility for the service is a welcome addition to the 
specification. Our approach will be to link this to our priority rating (RAG) system, 
and the digital offer. Any restriction for entry to the service would be identified 
through robust data analysis of the lowest level priority of referrals. Having a robust 

understanding of what needs customers are entering the service with will allow us to 
develop self-support solutions and referral pathways, so these needs are still met, 
without them needing our full service. We will also engage with the CSC (Customer 
Service Centre) in the continuous development of the triage process they complete, 

as all elements need to work together. 
 
We also suggest LCC consider setting aside an additional Service Flex fund, used 
only to increase front line staffing in the short term, should urgent additional demand 

Page 246



 

 

need to be directed to the service, such as has happened in recent years with Covid 
and Refuge support, allowing development of longer-term changes, without 

negatively impacting our main customer cohort.  
 
Working with referrers to support those with highest needs 
 

We will develop the Trusted Referrer (TR) cohort, agreeing joint working strategies 
to support those with high needs, including sharing training and knowledge with TR 
organisations. We will monitor referrals by TR organisation, working with those 
where we identify inappropriate referrals, using individual TR discussions and the 

WBS forum to support this. We are proposing a RAG rated system to help us focus 
on supporting those with highest needs - see outline below - and propose sharing 
this with TR organisations to support initial assessments. We will also redesign our 
website to include a distinct area for professionals to access guidance on Wellbeing 

related needs, and other useful resources, such as useful web links, data repository 
and a whole system map. 
 
Waiting List Management / Prioritisation 

 
Priority will be assigned to cases as they are received via the Mosaic system.  An 
outline of our priority system is: - 

• Urgent Needs (Red) 3-Days – We expect the most urgent needs to focus on 

the provision of assistive equipment, for example the service user has had a 
recent injury or is immediately at risk of an injury if the equipment is not 
provided in a timely manner.  We will use the mobilisation period to develop 
specific criteria with input from LCC and other key stakeholders. 

• High Needs (Amber) 7-Days – Will include service users who have had a 
significant change in circumstances, directly impacting their ability to remain 
safe at home.  Needs will include, but are not limited to, the loss of a spouse 
or significant other, leaving the service user unable to manage finances or 

household tasks such as cooking and cleaning. 

• Standard Needs (Green) 21-days – Will be all other cases received. 
 

We do not foresee the need to have a waiting list. 
 

6 Quality Assurance and Outcome Monitoring  

As the current provider of the Wellbeing Service (the Service), Wellbeing Lincs (WL) 
have ensured throughout the last 6 years robust quality assurance, performance 

management, outcome monitoring and data analysis has been in place. We used 
this information to provide open and honest interactions with LCC, helping us to 
shape the service whilst providing assurances we have managed all aspects of the 
Service effectively and to a high standard. Notable highlights of this work include: - 

• Effectively managing the previous complex mobilisation, minimising its 
impact upon customers and staff. During the transition we identified 
difficulties bringing the workforce into a cohesive team, subsequently 
developing a programme of workshops designed to ‘change hearts and 

minds’ creating our Wellbeing Lincs identity. 

Page 247



 

 

• Collaborated with LCC to develop the current Mosaic workflow, using our 

expertise and knowledge to produce a comprehensive case management 
facility, used as a template for other strategic contracts commissioned by 
LCC, providing a robust data set used to generate a wide range of regular 
reports to aid in contract compliance, quality assurance, trend analysis plus 

identifying service development opportunities. 

• Undertaking active promotion of the service to younger age groups to ensure 
equitable access as the service had a strong older person bias. We engaged 
with LCC to ensure younger cohorts, such as those exiting Learning 

Disability services with wellbeing related needs, had equitable access to the 
service. We have also used social media channels to broaden our reach, 
redesigning our published service information, so age related eligibility 
criteria were not listed first, following feedback suggesting this had dissuaded 

some customers under 65 seeking assistance. 

• Analysis of referral data showed variations in numbers from District Councils. 
We took a proactive approach to improving engagement within District’s and 
their range of departments including creating service level agreements to 

promote smoother referrals. This led to a marked improvement in District 
council referrals and positive partnership working. 

• Using data from the Mosaic system to monitor productivity down to individual 
officer level, providing support during staff supervision to ensure we meet our 

KPI targets, including number of assessments completed each week, case 
closures and response cases. 

• Using data over the life of the contract to ensure equitable delivery of the 
service across the County, including age, gender, outcomes, and other 

population comparisons. 

• Using specialist software to improve the placement of Responder bases 
across the county to ensure we were best placed to meet the KPI. We chose 
locations based upon the ability for the entire county to be reachable within 

45 minutes as well as allowing for overlap between each base’s response 
area to account for when responders are already engaged. 

• Monthly analysis of referrals has identified seasonal trends in referrals – with 
quarter 4 consistently our busiest time. This allows us to project and 

anticipate volumes over the year and put in place adequate staff cover. 
 
Quality Assurance Framework 
Our approach to quality assurance will focus on several key areas: - 

• Robust quality & performance monitoring by our team of Senior Officers 

• Extensive data analysis 

• Customer Feedback  
o Customer satisfaction surveys on exit and after 1 month of leaving the 

service. 
o Friends and family feedback 
o Establishing a customer forum 

• Key stakeholder feedback 

 
Quality & Performance Monitoring 

The Service Manager will line manage the Senior Officers who oversee the specific 
aspects of the Service: 

Page 248



 

 

• Senior Case Officers will line manage the Case Officer teams detailed in the 

staffing structure provided. Each Senior will monitor cases for equitable 
delivery, performance against targets, quality of service, as well as service 
development opportunities. Quality checks will include a review of electronic 
records for each case on Mosaic, checking details of assessments and 

support plan, against the reason for referral. Case notes will also be 
reviewed to ensure they are clear, concise, and factual. The final steps will 
be to review outcomes, discussing any issues identified during formal staff 
supervision meetings. 

• A Senior Response Officer will review every response case confirming a 

Call-Out report has been completed after every activation of the service. The 
contents of the reports will also be checked to ensure they are accurate, 
concise, and factual. Performance against the response target will be 

confirmed, as well as monitoring frequent users of the service, escalating the 
case for further involvement from the Service or by engaging with referral 
partners such as Adult Care or NHS if the customer’s needs are outside the 
scope of the Service. The Senior will engage with CofLC who provide the 
monitoring element of the response service, including recording the data 

required for our KPI report. Alongside this, opportunities for development of 
the service will be explored by the Senior officer, for consideration by 
Management Board and LCC. 

• A Senior Compliance & Service Development Officer will oversee Business 

Support Officers, Communications & Engagement Officer, and the 
Compliance & Data Officer. Integral to our quality assurance approach, the 
team will be responsible for analysing the wealth of data gathered in Mosaic, 
as well as coordinating customer engagement processes, detailed below. 

 
All staff will attend regular team meetings once a month, hosted by their respective 
Senior Officer. Officers will also undertake formal staff supervision sessions, at least 
every 6 weeks, during which issues with individual performance can be discussed 

and rectified, with support provided as needed. We will also organise a full-service 
meeting at least every 6 months, focused on building positive working relationships 
across all teams, while also providing time to explore service development 
opportunities as a whole service.  

 
The Senior Compliance & Service Development Officer will oversee the digital offer, 
website, promotion, communication, and strategic partnership working, including 
developing and maintaining Trusted Referrers. They will work with the Service 

Manager who will provide strategic direction for our engagement with partners 
including specific forums including all those outlined within section 3.8 of the 
specification. This work will be monitored through data analysis, demonstrated 
through the digital offer and website, plus attendance and feedback at specific 

meetings, outlined within our quarterly contract management report. 
 
Our Compliance and Data Officer within this team will undertake: 

• Collating all our data - Performance and quality assurance - into meaningful 

reports under the direction of the Senior Compliance and Engagement 
Officer, and Service Manager, with input also welcomed from LCC. 

• Creating and maintaining systems to collect and analyse the data required 
within the specification so it can be presented in the format preferable to LCC 

Page 249



 

 

as currently provided within our monthly updates and quarterly performance 
reports. They will continue to work closely with the Mosaic team during 

mobilisation to ensure we can undertake the reporting requirements as 
outlined within the speciation (3.16 / Section 8) including the new eligibility 
outcomes. 

 

Data Analysis 

We will continue to use the Mosaic system for the management of our core case 
work, including assistive equipment.  
Our Compliance and Data Officer will undertake all performance and data analysis 

for the service.  Linking directly with the LCC Mosaic team. We will populate the full 
data return every month, along with additional analysis to aid service development. 
An example of our reporting outside of the monthly performance return such as a 
geographical insight would include: - 

• Coastal deprivation (East Lindsey Coast) influences referrals. The top 4 
wards by referral frequency are on the east coast (Mablethorpe, Scarbrough 
& Seacroft, Chapel St Leonards, and Winthorpe) all areas of high 
deprivation.  The east coast also makes up the majority of the top 10% of 

wards by referrals per 100,000 of the population. 

• As well as the east coast, the heat map (GIS) has highlighted urban centres 
with higher population densities such as Lincoln, Grantham, Boston, Sleaford, 
Gainsborough, Louth, and Spalding as high referral areas. 

• In regard to Responder base placement the primary objective was to enable 
45-minute coverage of the entire county by available fire stations to base 
from.  This was achieved by locating three bases Lincoln North, Spilsby, and 
Billingborough (these are also advantageous as they result in a relatively 

even split of customer residences 29%, 34%, and 37% respectively).  We will 
retain these three bases for the updated 1-hour target. 

 

An example analysis of referrals each month: - 

Page 250



 

 

 
 

Page 251



 

 

Customer Engagement & Feedback 

The fast-moving nature of the Service does present challenges with offering service 

involvement which traditionally rely on static customer groups (allowing forums or 
resident meetings). In line with our current practice of quality checking as cases 
occur, we will be undertaking a rolling programme of customer, family or friend 
feedback as cases are processed. This ensures we are seeking feedback from as 

many of those we support, close to when they experienced the support. We then will 
allow some time for customer reflection after using the service to consider its impact 
on their wellbeing: - 
 

• When a Wellbeing case is completed, the service user will be asked to 
complete a satisfaction survey. We will review our current process during 
mobilisation with a view to receiving feedback from as many people as 
possible. Engaging with LCC we will reduce the number of questions asked, 

focusing on key points at point of exit. The short survey will be left with the 
customer in paper form, telephone call or if appropriate in electronic form. It 
will cover the Service Experience Outcomes at 4.3.7 in the specification which 
define the fundamentals of how we should be providing the service, 

undertaken, or received by another of our staff team so that we receive an 
honest response from customers.  

• As the service often includes signposting or onward referrals, approximately 1 
month after cases are completed, we will introduce, with input from LCC, a 

follow-up survey to understand if the service achieved its aims, allowing 
continuous learning and service development, whilst ensuring onward 
referrals such as benefit claims have been completed.  

• We will also look to develop a longer term check in with customers, after at 

least 6 months, with a slightly different focus, for example, ensuring 
equipment provided is still suitable, checking if the response service is still 
required or if a significant change in circumstances has taken place impacting 
the service user’s ability to remain safe at home. 

 
Family & Friends Feedback 

Obtaining the views of family and friends of the service user, involved in the case, 
either as referrer or supporting the service user while they accessed the Service, 

can be of great help in ensuring our service delivery matches expectations.  We are 
also more likely to receive constructive criticism from family and friends, on the 
service provided. During mobilisation we will establish an electronic feedback 
mechanism for family and friends, enabling fast and effective evaluation of our 

service, providing clear evidence for service development.  
 
Key Stakeholder Feedback 
 

Trusted referrer organisations, along with all professionals referring to the Service 
will be asked to complete an electronic survey a minimum of once a year, seeking 
feedback on several key areas: - 

• How well our staff interact with their organisation. 

• Evaluation of the service against our key aims. 

• Suggestions on service improvements based on their experience, and 

Page 252



 

 

• ways we can improve links and joint working. 

 
As with all our feedback processes, input from LCC will be welcomed when 
developing the key stakeholder feedback system. 
 

Presenting findings 

We will collate responses to these surveys providing quarterly reports which will 
include trend analysis and proposed actions to address direct concerns or improve 
specific satisfaction scores. This will be provided to LCC as part of our contract 
monitoring meetings. We will also provide a customer friendly option, using formats 

such as ‘you said - we did’, published on our website and communicated across our 
social media platforms. 
 
It is within this area that we can support specification point 4.3.8, supporting LCC 

with undertaking wider surveys with our customers. 
 
Other ways we seek feedback is through:  

• Noting direct interactions with customers as we undertake the Service. Our 

frontline staff will feedback about customers frustrations, difficulties, and 
happiness about the service they received, wider services and support 
system. Senior Officers raise within team meetings, supervisions, or informal 
line management discussions these comments and they inform service 

improvements. We will seek to find a way to gather these more formally as 
they typically provide the most invaluable insights as demonstrated by the 
retail offers, we are proposing for the aids & adaptations element of the 
service within Q7 section 7.7.4, suggested as a direct result of these types of 

discussions. 

• Related to above, our staff attending promotional events also gather 
information from their informal chats with the public about what they are 
wanting from services or difficulties they have encountered. 

• We will also introduce an annual staff survey, giving staff the option of 
voicing their opinion of management, service operations and enabling them 
to feed directly into service development. 

• We will continue to provide customers with the formal way they can make a 

complaint if they are unhappy with the service we provide, with each District 
managing that process within their own compliant teams, coordinated by the 
Service Manager. We will collate all formal complaints and undertake an 
annual analysis, providing actions plans if themes emerge. All service user 

feedback will be included within our quarterly contract monitoring meetings 
and a public friendly summary displayed on our website and through social 
media. 

 

Contract Management 

The Service continues to be overseen by our experienced Service Manager, 
ultimately responsible for all aspects of quality, performance, and continuous 
improvement. He will be the main contact for all contract requirements from LCC, 

while also being the operational link to our Management Board, who have overall 

Page 253



 

 

strategic responsibility for the service. Management Board provides governance and 
oversight of Wellbeing Lincs, agreeing improvements recommended by the Service 

Manager. Monthly performance meetings will be held by the Service Manager with 
the Senior Officers to address any issues identified within their teams, while also 
being the conduit to implement system changes required as part of our aim to 
continually develop the service in partnership with LCC. 

 
As part of our delivery of the Service since April 2018, we have deliberately adopted 
an open and honest contract management relationship with LCC, as commissioner 
of the Service. Actively celebrating higher than required performance, but also not 

hiding from underperformance. We acknowledge it is possible to learn from both 
positive and negative issues, with the aim of ensuring the needs of our service users 
are our main priority.  The approach has also allowed us to build high levels of trust 
with LCC, with a view to continuing our strategic partner relationship. 

 

Additional considerations 

Meeting the requirements of specification 4.3.22 as District Councils, we already 
have the required policies, strategies, and protocols in place, that are updated as 

good practice and legislation changes, to deliver a safe and effective service for both 
staff and our customers including Safeguarding children and adults, Mental 
Capacity, Equality & Diversity, Health & Safety, Business Continuity Plans, Human 
Resources, Data Protection, Confidentiality and Complaints.  

 
Customers receive our Service Information (web link or leaflet) at the start of support 
outlining the service we provide, the standards they should expect from us and how 
they can complain. Confidentiality is included within the leaflet and our paperwork 

and discussed with customers throughout their support, with consent sought to 
share information and explanations of how and when we share their information. 
Copies of all our relevant policies will be provided on request during mobilisation and 
privacy notices are updated on all Council websites. 

 
We already consider supporting communication needs in line with specification 
4.3.5, within our assessment including providing large print, picture format and using 
interpreter services if required. We also engage friends, carers, or other agencies to 

help us improve our communication with the individual as they can provide guidance 
on ways to best engage. We will consider the Accessible Information Standard and 
work with referral organisations including LCC’s Learning Disability Team to support 
them to become a Trusted Referrer and guide us in the most effective ways we can 

engage with their customers. 
 
The revised contract is an opportunity to improve these aspects, so we fully 
understand and can improve the customers experience, ensuring we meet LCC 

outcomes requirements.  
 
We are proposing changes to our service model, including restructuring the 
workforce, reflecting the changes to the service detailed in the specification, while 

ensuring a cohesive approach to the entire service delivery, using the staff’s skills 

Page 254



 

 

and experience to support each aspect. There are also clear lines of accountability 
for each service area around quality and performance. 

 
Wider ‘incident’ issues related to staff, customer and stakeholder feedback can 
provide us with information about the quality of the Service and how we can make 
improvements. These incident reporting mechanisms are within all districts and 

include Safeguarding concerns, Health & Safety incidents including near misses, 
Data Breaches, and Equality & Diversity concerns. We propose working with staff 
teams to ensure staff actively raise and then note these incidents, providing a full 
picture of how the service is affected by these incidents. We will provide an annual 

summary including analysing common themes or trends where service 
improvements could be implemented to the Management Board and LCC within 
contract monitoring meetings. Internal audits and inspections undertaken, and which 
include the WBS will also be included within this report in line with specification point 

4.3.13. 
 

 

7 Social Value and Sustainability 

Wellbeing Lincs, a partnership of District Councils, have a legal responsibility to 
prioritise corporate social responsibility within their operations, recognising the 

impact on both the local community and broader society. Firmly committed to ethical 
practices, environmental benefits, and social welfare, Districts include climate and 
sustainability impact assessments within work streams, projects and engage with 
countywide initiatives including Home Upgrade Grants and the Good Home 

Alliance. This is supported by Elected Members, Corporate Management, and all 
frontline staff. Examples internally and externally include: 
 
Environmental: all Districts are committed to achieving net zero by 2030 with 

specific plans in place including digital first approaches to service delivery reducing 
travel, supported through: - 

• Digital Hubs offering training to all.  

• Energy reduction schemes within offices. 

• Electric car leasing / corporate vehicles. 

• Encouraging car sharing. 

• Cycle purchase schemes. 

• Office based recycle schemes and reducing printing. 

 
Social: all Districts are actively involved in local and countywide initiatives 
supporting community cohesion and offering small grant funded schemes. Staff are 
provided with employee benefits including healthy living / wellbeing support. 

 
Economic: all Districts are local employers of choice, offering: - 

• excellent employment packages   

• enhanced training & development benefiting the individual and wider locality. 

• building local skills, knowledge, and apprenticeships in all areas of operation 

• an Ageing Friendly and Disability Confident Employers, supporting staff with 
disabilities, health issues and caring responsibilities to remain within work. 

Page 255



 

 

• committed as large local employers to purchasing services and products 

from within the local area. 
On top of the wider social value benefits all Districts offer within their corporate 
responsibility, we propose providing the following measurable benefits delivered 
directly by Wellbeing Lincs: 

• Employability  
o We will consider apprenticeships when recruiting to vacancies 

throughout the life of the contract, within administration and equipment 
installation roles.  Working with local educators, encouraging older 

people/retirees, carers and mothers returning to work, providing them 
with the specific support they need to achieve this.  

o Offer a recognised qualification to our staff team in providing our core 
support work with local universities or colleges.  

o All staff will be offered a volunteer day each year, prioritising initiatives 
within Lincolnshire with a community focus. Based upon our proposed 
staff structure, this could result in over 60 days a year, without 
impacting service delivery.  

• Increased provider resilience 

o In line with the apprentice scheme above, we will offer work 
experience opportunities throughout the service, linking with schools, 
colleges, the DWP and other relevant stakeholders. 

o By providing volunteer opportunities which enhance service delivery 
whilst offering genuine opportunities for volunteers to grow in 
confidence e.g., peer support, handyperson help, administration tasks 
or undertaking activities meeting LCC’s wider aims. 

• Building healthier, safer, more resilient communities through the provision of 

a specific fund of £5,000 a year for the life of the contract.  Funded from our 
retained profit element, set aside since 2018, we hope to partner with a local 
grant administrative body during the mobilisation period, making the fund 

available from 1st October 2024. Offering small grants to community groups 
in Lincolnshire, supporting wellbeing aims. We will consider increasing the 
fund through profit generated from any future retail offer developed with LCC.  

Our aim is to offer social value meeting the wider aims and initiatives LCC are 
seeking to achieve.  Reporting on the social value achieved within the contract will 

form part of our Annual Report. The key measurables being the number of: - 

• apprenticeships started, completed and staff retained. 

• qualifications completed, developed with our involvement. 

• volunteer days given by our staff and offered within the service to the 
community. 

• work experience placements provided. 

• Community grants distributed and schemes undertaken. 

Income generation initiatives leading to sustainability, provider resilience and 
building capacity 
We are keen to provide a ‘retail offer’ complementing the WBS aims. Those we 
support have made us aware of difficulties they encounter wanting small jobs 

around the home and garden, help moving furniture or the practical effects of 
dealing with hoarding. We welcome the opportunity to work with LCC to test the 
feasibility of a retail offer, where it would fit from a whole system perspective, 
tackling difficulties instead of replicating services already available.   

Page 256



 

 

We are keen to explore technology available assisting those living with dementia 
and engaging with those seeking assistive equipment for the first time, who may not 

be eligible for the core service, but who have engaged with other services in 
Lincolnshire.  Examples include: 

• Linking with Districts as part of their DFG work, giving fast access to stair 

lifts. 

• The Lincolnshire Good Home Alliance providing access to equipment in 
an ethical way that also reduces the risk of vulnerable customers being 
taken advantage of. 

• Expanding the Response service: 
o providing chargeable short term respite responder support, 

including regular calls to individuals whilst family are unavailable 
due to holidays or for medical reasons.  

o to Councils bordering Lincolnshire, such as North East Lincolnshire 
or to social housing providers.  Charging slightly above full cost 
recovery to support central management costs, and aiding capacity 
management. 

• Within our Aids & Adaptations service – 
o offering minor home maintenance activities including fitting 

shelves, flat pack furniture assembly, fixing small tap leaks etc. 
o providing a specific furniture moving service and decluttering 

homes, something that is much needed in Lincolnshire and can 
influence recycling. 

o collecting assistive equipment no longer required, with a view to 
recycle the equipment or work with LCES to return the equipment, 

if it was provided through their scheme.  Some Lincolnshire 
Districts already collect items such as stair lifts, and our intention 
would be to compliment these services, not duplicate. 

o use our skills and resources to help LCC and trusted partners test 

technology aimed at helping vulnerable adults remain safe at 
home. 

Profits from any retail element developed with LCC would be used for the benefit of 
Lincolnshire residents through our Social Value offer, or by supporting delivery of the 
core service, determined by our Management Board in consultation with LCC. 

 
 

 

8 Service Mobilisation  

8.1 As incumbent provider of the current contract, Wellbeing Lincs do not have to 
consider aspects outlined in the question within our mobilisation plans, such as 

transferring staff, data, or assistive equipment stock. However, the revised contract 
requires what we see as positive changes to the current service delivery model that 
we are excited to implement. We will use the mobilisation period from mid-June to 
the end of September 2024 to work with our staff, LCC, Connect to Support and the 

Customer Service Centre to make necessary changes as outlined in detail within 
the attached Mobilisation Plan including: 
 
8.2 Internal changes 

Page 257



 

 

• Formal staff consultation with current Wellbeing Lincs staff team to agree the 

new team structure including new roles, line management changes, 
formation of a new team, as well as a reduction in total staffing numbers 
managed through robust change management process including officer 
redeployment options within the partner organisations, voluntary 

redundances where feasible, with a view to minimising the possibility of 
compulsory redundancies.  Roles affected include: 

o All existing Trusted Assessors and Generic Support staff who will 
become Wellbeing Case Officers managing the assessment and 
support of each referral. 

o New Compliance & Collaboration Team with a dedicated Senior 
Officer, responsible for updated roles of business support, contract 
compliance and data analysis, as well as the new communications 
and collaboration role. 

• Ensuring staff are fully trained to the new requirements e.g., Case Officers 
trained to Trusted Assessor Level 3 (Disabled Living Foundation) or 
equivalent, with the Equipment Installers trained to Level 2 standard.  As we 
already have staff in these roles, training can be completed during the 

mobilisation period, ready for 1st October 2024. 

• Update our processes and procedures to meet the quality assurance, 
performance requirements and new working processes. 

 
8.3 Externally 

• Developing new processes regarding referrals: 
o working closely with Customer Service Centre (CSC) ensuring 

customers are correctly and smoothly transferred to our service.  
o revisiting and creating new Trusted Referral organisations with 

guidance from LCC. 

• Quickly engaging the Mosaic team at LCC to redesign the existing workflow 

to account for the changes in service delivery. 

• Establish a task and finish group including Public Health, Connect to Support, 
LCC’s Contract Manager and representation from our staff to design the 
Digital Offer ready for 1st October.  We see the digital offer as a key element 

of the revised service delivery, and while we expect the content to change 
understanding the available functionality in the system will direct our overall 
approach.  Appropriate resources will be allocated to this work from our 
existing staff team, including drawing on the extensive knowledge base of the 

Partnership & Network Development Officers. 

• Revisiting existing working relationships with Adult Care and Lincolnshire Fire 
& Rescue to formalise the initial Trusted Referrer model, using the learning to 
assist with the expected expansion of this approach with other key referral 

partners. 

• Work with LCC and your LCES service provider to formally establish the 
referral pathway set out in the specification for use by our Case Officers for 
customers who would be eligible for the loan of certain equipment, if 

assessed through Adult Care or Occupational Therapy pathways. 

• We will set out a clear communications plan to: - 
o promote the revised service, while also ensuring customers past, 

present, and future know how to access the service, and how they can 

access the digital offer.   

Page 258



 

 

o Ensure all key stakeholders, especially organisations and services that 
refer into the service, are fully aware of the changes to service 

delivery, including the entry methods, revised roles, digital offer, and 
updated processes.   

We will ensure that throughout these developments the current service continues at 
a high standard and the Lincolnshire community continues to access the service. 

 
8.4 Resourcing mobilisation 
David Postle the established Wellbeing Lincs Service Manager will oversee the 
mobilisation team and the implementation of our comprehensive plan. He will 

engage with LCC at contract award reviewing our proposed plan with the Contracts 
team to ensure we include any requirements the commissioner may want to add.   
We would suggest progress meetings take place at least once a week between our 
mobilisation team and LCC’s; however, we will make ourselves available more 

frequently if required.  Our mobilisation team will consist of David as Service 
Manager, HR Lead Christine Cooper, representation from Management Board, plus 
additional resources as needed including external support.  We already have in 
place established IT and facility management. Fortnightly project oversite will be 

from through our established Management Board representatives: - 

• Contract Lead, East Lindsay District Council - Emily Spicer, Assistant 
Director Wellbeing & Community Leadership. 

• West Lindsay District Council - Sarah Elvin, Homes, Health, and Wellbeing 

Manager. 

• City of Lincoln Council - Alison Timmins, Housing Solutions and Support 
Manager. 

• North Kesteven District Council - Phil Roberts, Deputy Chief Executive. 

Current senior officers within Wellbeing Lincs will assist with rolling out the service 
changes within their team’s area at a frontline and operational level overseen by the 
Service Manager e.g., senior overseeing Small Aids & Minor Adaptations team 

working with LCSE and Occupational Health. 
 
8.5 Successful Mobilisation for 1st October  
Will be achieved by: 

• Robust oversight by our Management Board as outlined above. This is a long 

term established relationship with clear lines of communication and a shared 
aim. We have demonstrated in the last 6 years as incumbent that we can 
solve problems quickly and change direction when required with shared 
responsibility. 

• Comprehensive mobilisation plan, agreed with LCC and monitored with risks 
covered and practical mitigating plans in place. Regular reviews will monitor 
progress and identify emerging issues so they can be swiftly addressed. 

• Our established Service Manager, David Postle has overseen Wellbeing 
Lincs over the last 6 years. He has an in-depth understanding of the service, 
can see the benefit in making the proposed changes, has a positive and 
open relationship with the commissioner and established links with the key 

partners to ensure improvements will be implemented. 

• An established staff team already in place, who have been providing the 
service successfully over the last 6 years and are adaptable to the changes 
required, most staff have been with the service since it began and have 

developed an in-depth understanding of the local area, linking with other 

Page 259



 

 

services for the benefit of the individual.  The staff team are enthusiastic 
about the proposed changes and keen to make them happen. The team have 

demonstrated that they are adaptative to changes, quickly mobilising during 
Covid and providing a positive response to the crisis. 

• Access to the 4 District Council partners wider resource, skills and expertise 

to support any difficulties we may encounter. 
 
8.6 Risks and mitigation for successful mobilisation 

Risk Mitigation Level of risk 

Staff restructure / 
service changes 
arising from new 
contract leading to key 

/ experienced staff 
leaving concerned 
their role is at risk. 
 

Regular communications have been sent 
to all staff providing updates on progress.  
We have also held several workshops for 
senior officers and staff as we’ve 

developed the bid, seeking their valuable 
insight in service design.   
We have arranged staff briefings to 
introduce staff to the new model once the 

contract has been awarded. 
Staff have access to our Employee 
Assistance programmes, that can 
provide specific help and advice, 

independently from the employing 
organisation.  Available services include 
counselling and financial advice.   
The new structure will see a real 

reduction in overall staffing number; 
however, we have a robust change 
management plan in place, aiding the 
transition to the new staffing structure, 

including redeployment and voluntary 
redundancy. 
 

Low 

Staff restructure 
leading to period of 

low morale and 
reduced performance 
of current/future 
contract 

Complete the restructure in a timely 
manner, but sensitively and supporting 

staff to manage transition e.g., regular 
updates provided, remind staff of 
employee assist programmes, plus being 
clear on the reasons behind the changes 

Med 

Unable to recruit to 
key posts  

Broaden scope of recruitment to include 
interim role / secondment. Use external 

provider to undertake or backfill role. 

Low 

Financial pressures 
caused by staff 
restructure leading to 
redundancies 

Shared responsibility between the 4 
districts reduces overall financial burden.  
Seek redeployment for those affected by 
redundancy. 

We have an established project fund 
already in place supports costs. 

Low 

Negative publicity 
causing reputational 
damage for LCC, 

Agree joint communications plan with 
LCC maintaining positive messages for 

Low 

Page 260



 

 

Wellbeing Lincs and 
the 4 partner Councils 

why changes to service have been 
agreed. 

Reliant on CSC having 
robust process to 
ensure effective 

referrals come through 
which could affect 
referral numbers and 
appropriateness. 

Established relationships with CSC 
already in place to manage any 
difficulties encountered during previous 

mobilisation. 
Work with the CSC to develop their new 
triage process. 
Seek support from LCC commissioning 

team in helping to manage any problems. 
 
 

Med 

Reliant on Connect to 
Support to host the 

Digital Offer which is 
outside of our control 

Positive relationship with Connect to 
Support will be enhanced during 

mobilisation.  We support the creation of 
a task and finish group to direct this work 
comprising of LCC, Connect to Support 
and Wellbeing Lincs representatives. We 

would also suggest a programme of 
testing the platform prior to a full role out 
be factored in Connect to Supports 
project plan. 

Seek LCC support if difficulties and 
agree alternative plan e.g. separate 
website. 

Med 

Difficulties engaging 
with LCES to develop 
smooth referral and 

accessing their order 
system 

Early engagement with LCES to 
establish a positive relationship. 
Staff training to be agreed and arranged 

to take place during the mobilisation 
period. 
Support from LCC in moving process 
forward.  

Current staff skilled to give confidence in 
using the LCES system. 

Med 

Inappropriate referrals 
being received from 
stakeholders, not 

understanding the 
changes to the service 

We have well established links to key 
stakeholders that will be utilised to 
ensure effective communication of the 

changes takes place prior to launch. 
We will facilitate face to face sessions 
introducing professional to the revised 
service, across Lincolnshire 

Med 

 

  

Page 261



 

 

Appendix 1 – Staffing Structure 

 

 

 

 
  

P
age 262



 

 

Appendix 2  -  Mobilisation Plan  
 
 

Wellbeing Lincs WBS Mobilisation Plan     
Contract award inform  1st June 24    
Formal Contract Announcement 10/15th June 24    
Contract Commencement  1st October 24  

 
 

   
 

 

 Key    
     
Wellbeing Lincs Project Team   Management Board MB 
David Postle - Wellbeing Service Manager WSM ELDC Contract Lead East Lindsay District Council - Emily Spicer  
Christine Cooper - HR Manager at NKDC HR WLDC West Lindsay District Council - Sarah Elvin 
Rachel West - LCC Contract Manager LCC CofLC City of Lincoln Council - Alison Timmins 

  NKDC North Kesteven District Council - Phil Roberts  

     
     

     

Area / Actions Date from Date by 
Person 

Responsible Comments 

Contract Mgmt. / Legal         
LCC notification of successful award 01/06/2024 LCC   

LCC Formal notification of contract award 10/06/2024 LCC   
Provisional contract acceptance 01/06/2024 10/06/2024 MB   

Contract negotiations, including specification 15/06/2024 31/08/2024 LCC, WSM   

Existing Partnership agreement reviewed  15/06/2024 31/08/2024 WSM, MB   
Formally agree / sign off contract 01/09/2024 30/09/2024 ELDC ELDC will be the contracted authorit 

Mobilisation Project Plan / Meetings         

Set up team, revisit mobilisation plan and 
update 01/06/2024 07/06/2024 WSM   

Agree with Management Board 10/06/2024 MB, WSM   
Input and sign off by LCC 10/06/2024 17th June 24 LCC & WSM   

Weekly, then fortnightly meetings with 
Management Board to monitor progress, raise 

issues 01/06/2024 31/10/2024 MB, WSM 

Continue after contract start date to 
allow mop up and time for review 

P
age 263



 

 

Fortnightly / monthly meetings with LCC to 
monitor progress 10/06/2024 31/10/2024 LCC, WSM 

Staff Re-Structure of Wellbeing Lincs         

Revisit staff structure 01/06/2024 15/06/2024 WSM, MB, HR   
Develop JDs/ Person Specs 01/06/2024 15/06/2024 WSM, HR   

Formulate consultation period and process 01/06/2024 15/06/2024 WSM, MB, HR   
DC's' sign off process 15/06/2024 30/06/2024 MB   

Staff consultation process regarding new 
structure, roles - union involvement, staff group / 

individual meetings, interviews for posts, 
agreeing final posts, redundancies / 

redeployment 30/06/2024 30/09/2024 WSM, MB, HR   

Staff in new posts, issue new contracts 15/09/2024 15/10/2024 HR 
Includes slippage for unforeseen 
issues. 

Staff Training         
Agree required training by role 01/06/2024 14/06/2024 WSM, HR Check specification for requirements  

Create training matrix / monitoring by staff 
member 15/06/2024 30/06/2024 HR 

Identify gaps of standard training e.g. 
Safeguarding 

Implement training once new structure agreed 
and staff in roles 01/07/2024 31/10/2024 WSM, HR 

Ensure key training in place by 30th 
Sept - L3/L2 Assessor/Installer 

Specific changes in service area         

Create process maps and process descriptions 
for each role below Senior Officer 01/07/2024 31/07/2024 WSM Assisted by Senior Officers 

Create overview of RAG system for  dealing 
with referrals 01/07/2024 31/07/2024 WSM Assisted by Senior Officers 

Create a clear team objectives plan for the 
Compliance & Service Development team 01/09/2024 30/09/2024 WSM Assisted by Senior Officers 

Referral pathways         

Review existing Trusted Referrer pathways with 
Adult Care and Lincs Fire & Rescue taking 

account of the revised entry crieria 10/06/2024 30/06/2024 LCC & WSM 
Will also include representation from 
Adult Care and Lincs Fire & Rescue 

P
age 264



 

 

Scope and agree forward plan for additional 
trusted referrers with LCC 01/07/2024 31/07/2024 LCC & WSM   

Arrange sessions for Adult Care & LF&R staff to 
formally introduce the changes post launch 01/08/2024 09/08/2024 WSM 

Sessions are organised before launch 
date, but will take place after once 
our restructure is complete 

Agree full Trusted Referrer requirements with 
LCC, including forward plan for new pathways 

going live 01/09/2024 30/09/2024 LCC & WSM   
Early engagement with the CSC to agree 

content for new triage tool they will use for 
referrals 10/06/2024 21/06/2024 LCC & WSM   

Map new processes from when referrals 
received from CSC or Trusted Rewferrers via 

Mosaic 10/06/2024 30/06/2024 WSM   
          

          
          

Strategic Partnerships         

Gather details of partnership meetings - agree 
which to attend and by whom within WBS 1st Aug 24 31st Aug 24 LCC & WSM Check with LCC 

Review and revisit all current partnerships / links   1st Aug 24 30th Sept 24 WSM Supported by Senior Officers 

Review all referrals inward/outward and update 
on spreadsheet/database for all staff to access 1st Aug 24 30th Sept 24 WSM   

Agree Quality of Life Network approach with 
LCC 1st Sept 24 30th Oct 24 LCC & WSM   

Set up WBS Forum with LCC input 1st Sept 24 30th Oct 24 LCC & WSM 
Arrange first meeting after contract 
start date 

Publicity / Communications         
Agree communication plan with LCC aimed at 

customers 1st July 24 31st July 24 LCC & WSM   
Agree communications plan with LCC aimed at 

professionals     LCC & WSM   

P
age 265



 

 

Updated website content 1st Aug 24 30th Sept 24 WSM Include Team 
Link with Connect to Support to start work on 

digital offer 1st Aug 24 ongoing WSM Include team 

Update leaflets / publicity material  1st Aug 24 30th Sept 24 WSM 

Update latest Complaints, 
Confidentiality and accessibility 
standard 

Publicise new service 1st Oct 24 ongoing WSM Assign to team 

Digital Offer         
Establish task and finish group to map digital 
requirements with Public Health, Connect to 

Support and Contract Team 10/06/2024 14/06/2024 LCC & WSM   

Gather information for inclusion from our own 
data, and through engaging with key partners 10/06/2024 30/06/2024 WSM 

Will draw on existin staff resource to 
gather information, led by service 
manager 

Confirm available functionality on the Connect 
to Support Platform 10/06/2024 14/06/2024 LCC     

Submit data to Connect to Support 10/06/2024 31/07/2024 WSM   

Updating Mosaic         

Map processes for assessment/support, 
response, aids & adaptation reporting 

requirements 01/07/2024 30/07/2024 LCC & WSM 
Mosaic Team with Compliance & 
Data officer 

Agree updates with Mosaic Team 10/08/2024 15/08/2024 WSM   

Test updates on Mosaic including reporting 15/08/2024 31/08/2024 WSM   

Train teams on new Mosaic layout and input 01/09/2024 30/09/2024 WSM   

Social Value & Retail Offer         
Agree with LCC social value activities and ways 

to measure 10/06/2024 30/09/2024 LCC & WSM Include within formal contract  
Develop delivery plan for Social Value during 

life of contract 01/08/2024 31/08/2024 WSM   

Approach Community Lincs Foundation to 
discuss administration of community grant offer 01/07/2024 01/07/2024 WSM   

P
age 266



 

 

Agree measures for inclusion in PI return 01/09/2024 30/09/2024 WSM   

Agree potential retail offers with LCC and 
develop a delivery plan 01/07/2024 30/09/2024 LCC & WSM 

Check if LCC want within contract or 
within Contract Management 
meetings 

Quality Assurance         

Agree full PI return with LCC 01/07/2024 31/08/2024 WSM 

Support from all Seniors - include 
single case officer, RAG rating 
referrals 

Outline QA / Performance processes from spec 
- update against current processes 01/07/2024 30/07/2024 WSM 

Include: Surveys, Incident reporting, 
informal feedback 

Clarify with LCC KPI/QA report meets their 
requirements 01/08/2024 31/08/2024 LCC & WSM   

Set up processes to support QA / KPI checks - 
link to Mosaic  - create reports  01/08/2024 31/08/2024 WSM Work with Mosaic team 

Test processes - customer survey etc 01/09/2024 15/09/2024 WSM   
Train staff in QA / KIP reporting  15/09/2024 30/09/2024 WSM   

Contract Live date 1st Oct 24     

Review   

Review mobilisation process internally - sign off 
31st Oct  24  1st Dec 24 

MB & WSM 
1 then 3 months post contract date 

Review mobilisation process with LCC - sign off LCC & WSM 
 
  
  

P
age 267



 

 

Appendix 3 – Risk Log 
 

Wellbeing Lincs Mobilisation Plan - Risk Log   

Risk Mitigation Level of risk 

Staf f restructure / service changes arising f rom 
new contract leading to key / experienced staf f  
leaving concerned their role is at risk  

Involve and support staff in proposed changes to service/staf f  
structure deterring f rom seeking alternative employment.   
Supporting staf f  emotionally f rom managers, HR and 
counselling. 
Advertise posts immediately at contract award although 
reducing workforce means we need less staf f . 
Of fer existing part time workers more hours covering potential 
loss of  staf f . 
Seek secondments / internal promotions / acting up f rom the 
districts or for set pieces of  work employ interim staf f  e.g. 
digital platform/website content 

Low 

 

 

 

 

Staf f restructure leading to period of  low morale 
and reduced performance of  current/future 
contract 

Undertake restructure sensitively and support staff to manage 
transition e.g. more management support, counselling, HR 
involvement. Provide extra hours to cover absences through 
of fering to part timers or through interim roles as above. 

Med  

Unable to recruit to key posts  
Broaden scope of  recruitment to include interim role / 
secondment. Use external provider to undertake or backf ill 
role. 

Med  

Financial pressures caused by staf f  restructure 
leading to redundancies 

Shared responsibility between the 4 districts reduces overall 
f inancial burden.  Seek redeployment for those af fected by 
redundancy. 
Established project fund already in place supports costs 

Low  

Negative publicity causing reputational damage 
for LCC and WBS 

Agree joint comms plan with LCC maintaining positive 
messages for why changes to service have been agreed 

Low  

P
age 268



 

 

Reliant on CSC having robust process to ensure 
ef fective referrals come through - numbers and 
appropriateness. 

Established relationships with CSC already in place to manage 
any dif f iculties encountered during previous mobilisation. 
Seek support f rom LCC commissioning team in helping to 
manage any problems. 

Med  

Digital of fer not in place due to Connect to 
Support Platform issues 

Positive relationship with Connect to Support will be enhanced 
during mobilisation, ensure proper testing of  the platform in 
undertaken. 
Seek LCC support if difficulties and agree alternative plan e.g. 
separate website. 

Med  

Dif f iculties engaging with LCES to develop 
smooth referral and accessing their order system 

Established relationship in place to manage dif f iculties. 
Support from LCC in moving process forward. Staf f  skilled in 
training 

Med  

Poor take up of  WBS forum 

Support from LCC to help develop links and take-up. Revisit 
stakeholders during mobilisation to agree best way to get buy-
in / engagement including times of meetings or opportunities to 
piggyback onto other forums already attending. 

Med  

 
 

P
age 269



 

 

 
SCHEDULE 3 

PRICING SCHEDULE 

 
PART 1 – PAYMENT MECHANISM 
 

1. Definitions and Interpretation 
 
1.1 In each part of  this Schedule 3 (Payment Mechanism) the following expressions in 

addition to those specif ied in Clause A1 (Def initions and Interpretation) to the Contract 
shall, save where the context or the express provisions of this Contract otherwise requires 
or admits, have the following meanings: 

 

Expression Meaning 
Actual Costs all amounts recognised as costs in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles within the United Kingdom (but 
excluding taxations) actually incurred by the Supplier in the 

delivery of  the Total Assumed Volume in accordance with the 
requirements of  the Contract in the year immediately prior to 
the Balance Sheet Date when the Gain Share Calculation is 
made 
 

Additional Volume Payment the payment to be made by the Customer in any Payment 
Period to which the Additional Volume Payment applies in 
accordance with paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6 below, calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 4.8 below  
 

Additional Volume Payment 
Unit 

the units shown as such in Table 6 of  Appendix A to this 
Schedule 3 
 

Additional Volume Payment  
Unit Rate 

the amount shown as such in respect of  each Service Element 
for each Additional Volume Payment Band for each Contract 
Year in Table 6 Appendix A to this Schedule 3 
 

Additional Volume Payment 
Band 

any of  the three bands into which the Additional Volume is 
categorised for the purpose of  determining the applicable 
Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate set out in Table 6 of   
Appendix A to this Schedule 3 
 

Block Payment the payment to be made by the Customer in each Payment 
Period to ref lect the delivery of  the volumes of  activity to be 
delivered before Additional Volume Payments become 
payable in accordance with paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6 below, being 
1/12th of  the Total Price for that year as identif ied in Appendix 
A to this Schedule 3  
 

Balance Sheet Date 31 March in each Contract Year 
 

Customer's Gain Share 
Amount 

the share of  the Gain Share Amount that shall accrue to the 
Customer, as set out in Appendix B to this Schedule 3 
 

Financial Model the Supplier’s f inancial model as set out in Annex 1 to this 
Schedule 3 as the same may be varied or updated f rom time 
to time in accordance with this Contract 
 

Page 270



 

 

Expression Meaning 

Financial Model Assumptions the key inputs and parameters within the Supplier’s Financial 
Model including: 

- All sums are exclusive of  VAT 
- 1.5% projected demand growth is to be managed by 

the Supplier within the Block Payment 
- Income for the telecare response service is based on 

Service User contributions at October 2024.  The price 
for service to be charged to the Service User is capped 
at £2.77 per week in the f irst Contract Year for both 
existing and new Service Users.  This price will be 
reviewed on an annual basis in accordance with Part 
2 – Open Book Data and Financial Reporting 

 

Forecast Costs all amounts recognised as costs in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles within the United Kingdom but 
excluding taxations forecast by the Supplier in the Financial 
Model to be incurred in each year over the Contract Period in 
the delivery of  the Total Assumed Volume in accordance with 
the requirements of  the Contract  
 

Gain Share Amount the amount by which the Forecast Costs exceed the Actual 
Costs as at each Balance Sheet Date less the Supplier's Profit 
Margin 
 

Gain Share Calculation the calculation of  the Gain Share Amount, the Supplier's Gain 
Share Amount and the Customer's Gain Share Amount as 
prepared f rom time to time in accordance with paragraph 7 
(Gain Share) of  this Schedule 3 
 

Maximum Payment the amount shown as such in respect of  each Contract Year in 
Appendix A to this Schedule 3, subject to any amendment via 
the Contract’s Change Control Process or Clause C4 
 

Monthly Payment in respect of  any Payment Period the amount determined as 
payable by the Customer to the Supplier in respect of  that 
Payment Period in accordance with paragraph 4 of  this 
Schedule 3 for the avoidance of  doubt, before any application 

of  Service Credits but following agreement or determination in 
respect of  any Disputed Amounts under paragraphs 5.9 and 
5.10 below 
 

Payment Period a calendar month 
 

Prof it Margin the margin expressed as a percentage identif ied as such in the 
Financial Model 

 
Service Credits   the amounts that the Customer shall be entitled to deduct from 

the Monthly Payment in respect of  Service Failures as 
determined in accordance with Clause C5 and Schedule 5 
 

Service Element the Volume Based Service Elements 
 

Service Element Additional 
Volume Payment Amount 

in any Payment Period and in relation to each Volume Based 
Service Element, the amount determined in accordance with 
paragraph 4.6 of  this Schedule 3  
 

Page 271



 

 

Expression Meaning 

Service Element Assumed 
Volume  

the amounts shown as such for each Volume Based Service 
Element in each Contract Year in Tables 1 – 5 of  Appendix A 
to this Schedule 3 
 

Service Element Assumed 
Volume Annual Amount 

the amounts shown as such for each Volume Based Service 
Element in each Contract Year in Tables 1 – 5 of  Appendix A 
to this Schedule 3 
 

Service Element Assumed 
Volume Unit 

the units shown as such for each Volume Based Service 
Element in each Contract Year in Tables 1 – 5 of  Appendix A 
to this Schedule 3 
 

Service Element Assumed 
Volume Unit Rate 

the amount shown as such for each Volume Based Service 
Element in each Contract Year in Tables 1 – 5 of  Appendix A 
to this Schedule 3 
 

Supplier's Gain Share Amount the share of  the Gain Share Amount that shall accrue to the 
Supplier as set out in Appendix B to this Schedule 3 
 

Total Assumed Volume  in respect of  each Contract Year the aggregate of  the Service 
Element Assumed Volumes for each Service Element in that 
year as shown in Table 1 – 5 of  Appendix A  to this Schedule 
3 
 

Total Assumed Volume Annual 
Amount 

in respect of  each Contract Year the aggregate of  the Service 
Element Assumed Volume Annual Amounts for each Service 
Element in that year as shown in Table 1 – 5 of  Appendix A  to 
this Schedule 3 
 

Total Price in each Contract Year the amount shown as such in respect of  
that year in Appendix A to this Schedule 3 
 

Volume Based Service 
Elements 

those Service Elements included in Tables 1 – 5 of  Appendix 
A to this Schedule 3 
 

 
1.2 Where a calculation within this Schedule 3 requires an input of  a percentage, that 

percentage will be rounded to two (2) decimal places.  
 
1.3 Where a calculation within this Schedule 3 requires an input of  a monetary value that 

monetary value will be rounded to the nearest whole penny.  Similarly where the result of  
the calculation is a monetary value, that monetary value will be rounded to the nearest 
whole penny. 

 
2 Introduction, background and context 
 
2.1 This Schedule 3 (Payment Mechanism) sets out how the Service Charges shall be 

calculated and adjusted in the event of  changes in the volume of  Services delivered by 
the Supplier in accordance with the terms of  the Contract and in the light of  variations in 
performance of  Key Performance Indicators specif ied in Schedule 5.  

 
3 Service Charges  
 
3.1 The Service Charges for the f irst and each subsequent year of  the Contract Period shall 

consist of  Monthly Payments and shall be calculated as follows: 
 

Page 272



 

 

Service Charge (£) due for the Month = the Block Payment + (Additional Volume 
Payment Unit (where applicable) x relevant Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate)* – 
Service Credits (where applicable) 
 
*the aggregate of  the Service Element Additional Volume Payment Amounts for each 
Volume Based Service Element in that Payment Period  as detailed in paragraph 4.7 and 
4.8 or this Part 1  

 
and shall be paid in accordance with this Schedule 3. 

 

3.2 The Monthly Payment calculated in accordance with this Schedule 3 shall be deemed to 
cover all costs incurred by the Supplier in the performance of  the Services and the 
Supplier shall not be entitled to any additional payment through the Service Charges or 
any adjustment to the Service Charges or any of  the elements that go towards the 
calculation of  the Service Charges except by way of  adjustment strictly in accordance with 
a Change in accordance with Clause C4 (Service Charges Adjustment on Extension) or 
clause F3 (Change Control Procedure) of  the Contract.  

 
3.3 The Supplier shall charge Service Users in accordance with paragraph 3.3.5.2 of  

Schedule 1 (Specif ication).  The Supplier acknowledges that it has determined the Total 
Price in each Contract Year on the basis of  the income assumptions set out in the 

Financial Model and that the Supplier shall not be entitled to any additional payment 
through the Service Charges or any adjustment to the Service Charges or any of  the 
elements that go towards the calculation of  the Service Charges by reason of  any shortfall 
in actual income below the level of  the said income assumptions. The Supplier shall be 
entitled to retain any income actually received f rom the charges referred to in this 
paragraph including income that is in excess of  the said income assumptions subject 
always to the gain share mechanism set out in this Schedule 3.  

 
4 Calculating the Monthly Payment 
 

The Block Payment 

 
 4.1 In each Payment Period in any Contract Year including any Payment Period in which an 

Additional Volume Payment is triggered in that Contract Year in accordance with 
paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6 below, the Customer shall pay to the Supplier the Block Payment.  

 
4.2 The Customer shall pay the Block Payment as a block payment notwithstanding that any 

Service Element Assumed Volume or the Total Assumed Volume for that year is not 
delivered, and it shall be paid in accordance with the provisions paragraph 5 and this 
Schedule 3.   

 

Triggering the Additional Volume Payment 
 

4.3 Appendix A to this Schedule 3 sets out in respect of  each Contract Year:- 
 

4.3.1 the Service Element Assumed Volume, being the volume of  activity to be 
delivered by the Supplier in respect of  that Service Element in that Contract Year 

 
4.3.2 the Service Element Assumed Volume Unit being the unit used to assess the 

Service Element Assumed Volume and to be used in relation to each Service 
Element to determine the volumes of  activity actually delivered in respect of that 
Service Element in that year; 

 

Page 273



 

 

4.3.3 the Service Element Assumed Volume Unit Rate for each Service Element in 
that year being the unit rate to be applied to each of  the Service Element 
Assumed Volume Units. 

 
4.3.4 the Service Element Assumed Volume Annual Amount in relation to that Service 

Element in that year, being the amount obtained by multiplying the Service 
Element Assumed Volume by the Service Element Assumed Volume Unit Rate;  

 
4.3.5 the Total Assumed Volume in relation to all Service Elements, being the total of  

all the Service Element Assumed Volumes; and  

 
4.3.6 the Total Assumed Volume Annual Amount in relation to all Service Elements, 

being the aggregate of  all the Service Element Assumed Volume Annual 
Amounts. 

 
4.4 The Supplier shall record Monthly and, in accordance with paragraph 5 below, provide to 

the Customer on a Quarterly basis: 
 

4.4.1 the cumulative volume of  Service Element Assumed Volume Units for each 
Volume Based Service Element actually delivered since the commencement of  
the relevant year of  the Contract Period ("the Service Element Actual Volume"); 

  
4.4.2 for each Volume Based Service Element the cumulative value of  the Service 

Element Assumed Volume Units actually delivered in respect of  the Volume 
Based Service Element since the commencement of  the relevant year of  the 
Contract Period calculated by multiplying the volume of  Service Element 
Assumed Volume Units referred to in paragraph 4.4.1 above by the Service 
Element Assumed Volume Unit Rate for that Service Element ("the Service 
Element Actual Volume Amounts"); and 

 
4.4.3 the aggregate of  the amounts determined under paragraph 4.4.2 above for each 

of  the Volume Based Service Elements ("the Total Actual Volume Amount").  

 
4.5 If  and when the Total Actual Volume Amount shown in a report under paragraph 4.4 above 

in respect of  any Payment Period exceeds the Total Assumed Volume Annual Amount for 
the year to which the report relates the Customer shall, in respect of  that Payment Period 
and any subsequent Payment Period in that Contract Year, pay to the Supplier:- 

 
4.5.1 the Block Payment for the Payment Period; and  
 
4.5.2 any Additional Volume Payments agreed with the Customer pursuant to 

paragraph 3.11 of  Schedule 1, to be made in such Payment Period.  

 
4.6 For the avoidance of  doubt:- 

 
4.6.1    the Customer shall continue to pay only the Block Payment unless and until the 

Total Actual Volume Amount shown in a report under paragraph 4.4 above is 
greater than the Total Assumed Volume Annual Amount in accordance with 
clause 4.5.1, notwithstanding that the Service Element Actual Volume Amount 
in relation to any individual Volume Based Service Element exceeds the Service 
Element Assumed Annual Amount for that Service Element prior to that date; 
and 

 

4.6.2 the Customer shall make Additional Volume Payments as and when the Total 
Actual Volume Amount shown in a report under paragraph 4.4 above is greater 
than the Total Assumed Volume Annual Amount in accordance with clause 4.5.2, 
notwithstanding that the Service Element Actual Volume Amount for any 

Page 274



 

 

individual Service Element does not itself exceed the Service Element Assumed 
Volume Annual Amount for that Service Element at that date; and 

 
4.6.3 the Supplier shall work with the Customer to manage the volumes of  Service 

Users in accordance with paragraph 3.11.3 of  Schedule 1.  
 

Additional Volume Payment 
 
4.7 In any Payment Period in which the Customer pays the Supplier Additional Volume 

Payments, the Customer shall pay to the Supplier:- 

 
4.7.1 the Block Payment; plus 
 
4.7.2 for the Volume Based Service Elements, the aggregate of  the Service Element 

Additional Volume Payment Amounts for each Volume Based Service Element in 
that Payment Period. 

 
4.8 The Service Element Additional Volume Payment Amounts for each Volume Based 

Service Element in any Payment Period shall be the amount determined by multiplying:  
  

4.8.1 the number of  actual Additional Volume Payment Units delivered in that Payment 

Period in excess of  the volumes already delivered at the point Additional Volume 
Payments were triggered in accordance with paragraph 4.5, that have been 
approved in writing by the Customer prior to their delivery in respect of  that Service 
Element; by  

 
4.8.2 the relevant Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate for that Service Element for the 

relevant Additional Volume Payment Band so that the f irst 500 Additional Volume 
Payment Units are paid for at the Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate for equal 
to or less than 500 units, Additional Volume Payment Units above 500 but not less 
than 1000 are paid for at the Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate for 501 to 999 
units and Additional Volume Payment Units of  1000 or above are paid for at the 

Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate for equal to or above 1000 units.  
 
4.9 There will be no Additional Volume Payment Unit Rate for Telecare Response Element. 

The proportion of the budget priced for the provision of the Telecare Response Service will 
be protected in the f irst Contract Year.  In subsequent Contract Years this will be jointly 
reviewed on an annual basis in line with the Open Book Data.  If  it can be evidenced that 
there has been a net growth in number of  individuals receiving this element of  service, and 
that the increase requires additional staf f, the Customer may, at its absolute discretion, 
consider the provision of additional funding and/or agree that the additional subsidy can be 
met through the Supplier’s Charging Policy via Service User contributions.   

 
Maximum Payment 

 
4.10 Subject to paragraph 4.11, nothing in this paragraph 4 shall require the Customer to make 

any payment which would mean the total payments made by the Customer in any year of  
the Contract Period exceeds the Maximum Payment unless the Customer has given its 
prior written consent to the carrying out of  the activity which would give rise to the 
payment. 

 
4.11 Where the delivery of  an Additional Volume Payment Unit is approved by the Customer, 

the Supplier shall be entitled to be paid for the delivery of  that unit at the relevant Additional 

Volume Payment Unit Rate even though payment for that unit would cause payments 
made under the Contract for that Contract Year to exceed the Maximum Payment. 

 
 

Page 275



 

 

5 Monthly Payments, Payment Terms and Process 
 
5.1 Within ten (10) Working Days f rom the end of  each Payment Period, the Supplier shall 

submit to the Customer a statement of  account showing, in respect of  that Payment 
Period:- 

 
5.1.1 the Monthly Payment for that Payment Period and the calculation thereof  in 

accordance with paragraphs 3 and 4 of  this Schedule 3; minus 
 
5.1.2 any Service Credits to be deducted f rom the Monthly Payment calculated in 

accordance with Schedule 5, 
 
together with a valid VAT invoice complying in all respects with Clause C and Part 3 of  
this Schedule 3 for the amounts claimed.  

 
5.2 In relation to any incomplete calendar month at the end of  the Contract Period, there shall 

be a pro rata adjustment of  the sums to be set out in the statement of account and invoice 
under paragraph 5.1. 

 
5.3 Without prejudice to the Supplier’s reporting requirements at Schedule 5, at the end of  

every Quarter on the same date as it submits the statement of account and invoice for the 

Monthly Payment for the f inal Month of  that Quarter, the Supplier shall submit to the 
Customer’s Contract Manager:- 

 
5.3.1 A written report setting out all the information required under paragraph 4.3 of  this 

Schedule 3;  
 
5.3.2 in respect of  any Additional Volume Payments, a detailed breakdown of  the 

Additional Volume Payment Units delivered in respect of  each Service Element 
and the calculation of  the Service Element Additional Volume Payment Amounts; 
and 

 

5.3.3 all information and documentation reasonably required by the Customer in order 
to verify the statement of  account and invoice, including without limitation the 
information and documentation set out in Appendix C to this Schedule 3;  

 
together "the Supporting Information". 

 
5.4 On receipt of  a statement of  account and invoice (submitted in accordance with 

paragraphs 5.1 and 5.3) the Customer shall review the same and within ten (10) Working 
Days conf irm by notice in writing to the Supplier any amount set out in the statement of  
account and invoice that the Customer disputes (a ”Disputed Amount”).  

 
5.5 The Customer’s review pursuant to paragraph 5.4 shall, for the avoidance of  doubt, only 

be undertaken where the Customer is provided with a properly submitted statement of  
account and invoice incorporating payment details accompanied by the Supporting 
Information.  If  in relation to any statement of  account and invoice there is a delay in the 
Supplier providing Supporting Information, any subsequent statements of  account and 
invoices submitted by the Supplier pursuant to  paragraph 5.1 shall also be deemed not 
have been validly submitted until such time as the outstanding Supporting Information has 
been provided. 

 
5.6 The Customer shall pay to the Supplier in accordance with paragraph 3 of  Part 3 of  this 

Schedule 3 the amount set out in each invoice properly submitted by the Supplier in 
accordance with paragraphs 5.1 and 5.3 and the provisions of Part 3 of  this Schedule 3 
within thirty (30) days of  receipt of  the relevant invoice PROVIDED THAT the Customer 
shall not be required to pay the element of  any invoice to the extent that such element, 

Page 276



 

 

and/or any related Supporting Information, is disputed by the Customer or the conditions 
in this paragraph 5.6 are not complied with.  

  
5.7 All payments made to the Supplier by the Customer pursuant to this Contract shall be 

made electronically through the Bankers Automated Clearing System (BACS).  
 
5.8 The Supplier shall not be entitled to receive payment in respect of any Disputed Amounts. 

 
5.9 Within ten (10) Working Days following receipt by the Supplier of any notice served by the 

Customer pursuant to paragraph 5.4 conf irming that any amount is a Disputed Amount, 

the Supplier shall respond by notifying the Customer as to whether or not it agrees with 
the statements made in that notice.  If  the Supplier indicates that it does agree the 
Customer shall be entitled:- 

 
5.9.1 to retain on a permanent basis any amounts that the Supplier has agreed; and  
 
5.9.2 to reclaim f rom the Supplier the amount of  any over-payment which may have 

been made to the Supplier. 
 

5.10 If  the Supplier responds pursuant to paragraph 5.9 that is does not agree with all or any 
of  the statements made in any notice served by the Customer under paragraph 5.4 

identifying any amounts as Disputed Amounts the matter or matters shall be determined 
under the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

 
5.11 Following resolution of  any issues identif ied by the Customer under paragraph 5.10 then 

the Supplier shall be entitled to raise an invoice in respect of  any amounts determined as 
payable and the Customer shall make payment thereof  all in accordance with paragraphs 
5.6 and 5.7. 

 
5.12 Interest shall be payable on the late payment of  any undisputed amounts due to either 

party under this Contract such interest to be calculated at the rate of  4% over the Bank of  
England base rate for the time being f rom the f inal date for payment to and including the 

date on which such amount is paid or discharged. 
 

6 Expenses/Disbursements 
 
6.1 The Service Charges includes any travel, subsistence and any and all  similar expenses 

incurred by the Supplier or its Sub-Contractors such that the Supplier shall have no claim 
against the Customer for any such expenses or disbursements incurred.  

 
7 Gain Share 
 

7.1 The purpose of  this paragraph 7 is to enable the Customer to ensure that the provision of 
the Services and the Service Charges continues to represent value for money for the 
Customer throughout the Contract Period.  It sets out the basis on which the Supplier shall 
share with the Customer gain arising f rom the cost of  undertaking its activities in 
connection with this Contract being less than the forecast costs as set out in the Financial 
Model. 

 
7.2 For the avoidance of  doubt this shall require the Supplier to update the Financial Model 

immediately af ter any Change or other occasion on which in accordance with this Contract 
the Financial Model falls to be adjusted or updated.  No change shall be made to the 
Financial Model which would change the methodology for the calculation of  the Gain 

Share Amount, the Customer’s Gain Share Amount or the Supplier’s Gain Share Amount 
or which would change the Financial Model Assumptions.  The Supplier shall grant access 
to the Customer to review the Financial Model as and when requested to do so by the 
Customer. 

Page 277



 

 

 
7.3 The updating to the Financial Model referred to above shall be completed in an open and 

transparent manner by the Supplier in accordance with Part 2 to this Schedule 3 and the 
Supplier shall issue to the Customer an updated Financial Model to ref lect the chang es 
made in accordance with paragraph 7.2 above. The Customer shall within ten (10) 
Working Days of  receipt of  the updated Financial Model serve notice on the Supplier either 
agreeing the updated Financial Model or objecting to any changes made on the basis  that 
they are not in accordance with any adjustments agreed or determined under the 
provisions of the Contract governing the relevant change or other occasion giving rise to 
the Financial Model being updated. 

 
7.4 The Supplier shall within f ive (5) Working Days of  receipt of  notice f rom the Customer 

under paragraph 7.3 objecting to any changes made serve notice on the Customer as to 
whether it accepts the objections.  If  it so accepts the Supplier shall serve on the Customer 
at the same time as its notice of  acceptance a revised Financial Model incorporating the 
Customer’s objections.   If  it does not agree with the objections made by the Customer in 
its notice under paragraph 7.3 the matter or matters shall be determined under the dispute 
resolution procedure at Clause I2. 

 
7.5 The Gain Sharing arrangements shall operate on a year by year basis throughout the 

Contract Period, based upon Open Book Data, and shall be updated on an annual basis 

described in this paragraph 7. 
 
7.6 Within one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days of  each Balance Sheet Date during 

the Contract Period, the Supplier shall deliver to the Customer the Gain Share Calculation 
together with an updated Financial Model in the same format as that included in Annex 1 
to this Schedule 3. A f inal Gain Share Calculation shall together with the Financial Model 
be delivered by the Supplier to the Customer within one hundred and twenty (120) 
calendar days of  the expiry or termination of  this Contract (as relevant).   

 
7.7 The Gain Share Calculation shall be prepared in accordance with the def inition of the term 

"Gain Share Calculation" as set out in this Schedule 3 and the gain sharing rates set out 

in Appendix B of  this Schedule 3. 
 
7.8 Each Gain Share Calculation shall: 

 
7.8.1 be supplied in both paper and electronic copy; 
 
7.8.2 be certif ied as correct and accurate by a director of  the Supplier;  
 
7.8.3 be supported by an updated Financial Model and shall calculate, in accordance 

with the methodology used for the calculation of the Financial Model, the Forecast 

Costs and Actual Costs for the year ending on the latest Balance Sheet Date;  
 
7.8.4 calculate the Gain Share Amount for the year ending on the latest Balance Sheet 

Date; and 
 
7.8.5 show separately the Gain Share Amount, the Supplier's Gain Share Amount and 

the Customer's Gain Share Amount applying the relevant band as def ined in 
Appendix B of  this Schedule 3. 

 
7.9 Following receipt by the Customer of  a Gain Share Calculation, the Supplier shall at its 

own expense provide to the Customer any such additional information as it may 

reasonably request so that the Customer can verify the accuracy of  the Gain Share 
Calculation, including the detailed working papers supporting the updated Financial Model 
delivered in accordance with this Schedule 3 and shall be supplied in both paper and 
electronic copy. 

Page 278



 

 

 
7.10 Within thirty (30) days of  receipt of  the Gain Share Calculation and all additional 

information required pursuant to paragraph 7.8 of  this Schedule 3, the Customer shall 
notify the Supplier whether it agrees with or disputes the Gain Share Calculation. Any 
dispute shall be determined through the Disputes Resolution Procedure.  Following 
agreement or determination of  each Gain Share Calculation for each Contract Year of  the 
Contract Period, the Customer shall be entitled to submit an invoice for the Cus tomer’s 
share of  the Gain Share Amount and the Supplier shall pay to the Customer the amount 
of  the Customer’s Gain Share Amount within ten (10) Working Days of  receipt of  the 
invoice. The Customer may, at its absolute discretion set-off the amount of any Customer 

Gain Share Amount against any amounts due to the Supplier under this Contract.  
 
7.11 Within ten (10) Working Days of  early termination or expiry of  the Contract, the Supplier 

shall pay to the Customer any amounts of  the Customer's Gain Share Amount which has 
not yet been paid to the Customer.  

 
7.12 The Customer may, in its sole discretion, agree to reinvest any Customer Gain Share 

Amount in the Services as opposed to retaining such amounts. 
 
 
 

Page 279



 

 

PART 2 – OPEN BOOK DATA AND FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
1. FINANCIAL TRANSPARENCY OBJECTIVES 
 

The Supplier acknowledges that the provisions of this Part are designed (inter alia) to 
facilitate, and the Supplier shall co-operate with the Customer in order to achieve, the 
following objectives: 

 
Understanding the Charges 

 

(a) for the Customer to understand any payment sought f rom it by the Supplier 
including an analysis of  the volume of  activity delivered, the costs, overhead 
recoveries (where relevant), time spent by Staf f  in providing the Services and the 
Supplier prof it margin; 

 
(b)  for both Parties to be able to understand the Initial Financial Model and cost 

forecasts and to have conf idence that these are based on justif iable numbers and 
appropriate forecasting techniques; 

 
Agreeing the impact of Change 
 

(c) for both Parties to agree the quantitative impact of any changes in accordance with 
the Change Control Procedure; 

 
(d) for both Parties to be able to review, address issues with and re-forecast progress 

in relation to the provision of  the Services; 
 

Continuous improvement 
 

(e) for the Parties to challenge each other with ideas for ef f iciency and improvements; 
and 

 

(f ) to enable the Customer to demonstrate that it is achieving value for money for the 
tax payer relative to current market prices , 

 
(together the “Financial Transparency Objectives”).  

 
2. OPEN BOOK DATA 
 
2.1 The Supplier acknowledges the importance to the Customer of  the Financial 

Transparency Objectives and the Customer’s need for complete transparency in the way 
in which the Service Charges are calculated. 

 
2.2 During the Contract Period, and for a period of  seven (7) years following the end of  the 

Contract, the Supplier shall: 
 

(a)  maintain and retain the Open Book Data; and 
 
(b) disclose and allow the Customer and/or any one acting on behalf  of  the Customer 

access to the Open Book Data as and when requested by the Customer.  
 

3. ANNUAL OPEN BOOK DATA REPORT 
 

3.1 In addition to paragraph 2 above and paragraph 2.3 of  Part A of  Schedule 5, within one 
(1) Month of  the end of  each Contract Year the Supplier shall provide to the Customer an 
annual report of  Open Book Data for that Contract Year (“Annual Open Book Data 
Report”). the 

Page 280



 

 

3.2  The Supplier shall provide to the Customer the Annual Open Book Data Report in such 
sof tware package (Microsoft Excel or Microsoft Word), layout and format as the Customer 
shall require f rom time to time. 

 
3.3   A copy of the Annual Open Book Data Report shall be held by both the Customer and the 

Supplier. If  there is a dispute regarding the Annual Open Book Data Report, the 
Customer’s copy of  the report shall be authoritative.  

 
3.4 The purpose of  the Annual Open Book Data Report shall be to compare f inancial 

performance of  the services against the f inancial model and the Council's af fordability and 

shall: 
 

(a) be completed by the Supplier using reasonable skill and care;  
 

(b) incorporate and use the same def ined terms as are used in this Contract;  
 

(c) quote all monetary values in pounds sterling; 
 
(d)  quote all costs as exclusive of  any VAT; and  
 
(e)  quote all costs and charges based on current prices.  

 
3.5  The Annual Open Book Data Report shall be certif ied by the Supplier’s chief  f inancial 

of f icer or director of f inance (or equivalent as agreed in writing by the Customer in advance 
of  issue of  the report), acting with express authority, as:  

 
(a) being accurate and not misleading; 

 
(b) having been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting  

principles within the United Kingdom; 
 

(c)  being a true and fair ref lection of  the information included within the 

Supplier’s management and statutory accounts; and  
 

(d) compliant with the requirements of  paragraph 3.6. 
 

3.6  The Supplier shall: 
 

(a)  prepare the Annual Open Book Data Report using the same methodology as used 
for the Initial Financial Model, unless the Customer stipulates otherwise; 
 

(b)  ensure that the Annual Open Book Data Report is a true and fair ref lection of  the 

costs and Supplier prof it margin forecast by the Supplier;  
 
(c)  the f inal Annual Open Book Data Report is a true and fair ref lection of  the Service 

Charges and costs; and 
 
(d)  not have any other internal f inancial model in relation to the Services inconsistent 

with the Initial Financial Model. 
 

3.7  During the Contract Period, and for a period of  eighteen (18) Months following the end of  
the Contract Period, the Supplier shall make available the Supplier's appropriate financial 
Representative at reasonable times and on reasonable notice to answer any queries that 

the Customer may have on any Open Book Data or any of  the Open Book Data reporting 
provided under this Contract (under this Schedule 3 and Schedule 5). 

 

Page 281



 

 

3.8 If  the Supplier becomes aware of  the occurrence, or the likelihood of  the future 
occurrence, of  an event which will or may have a material ef fect on the costs incurred (or 
those forecast to be incurred) by the Supplier, the Supplier shall, as soon as p racticable, 
notify the Customer in writing of  the event in question detailing the actual or anticipated 
ef fect. For the avoidance of  doubt, notif ications provided in accordance with this 
paragraph 3.8 shall not have the ef fect of  amending any provisions of  this Contract. 

 
4. FINANCIAL MODEL 
 
4.1  Following the delivery by the Supplier of  the Annual Open Book Data Report: 

 
(a)  the Parties shall meet to discuss its contents within ten (10) Working Days of  receipt 

(or such other period as the Parties shall agree). The Parties' appropriate f inancial 
Representatives shall attend the meeting; and 
 

(b)  the Supplier shall make appropriate Staf f  and advisers available to discuss any 
variations between the Annual Open Book Data Report and the Initial Financial 
Model to explain such variations (with reference to supporting evidence) to the 
satisfaction of  the Customer. 

 
 4.2   The purpose of  the meeting shall be to identify any steps that may be taken to make the 

provision of  the Services more ef f icient or af fordable, to address any issues concerning 
volumes or resources and to conf irm whether there is any Gain Share Amount. . 

 
 

 
 

Page 282



 

 

PART 3 – INVOICING 
 

1. Each invoice to be submitted pursuant to this Schedule 3 shall be addressed to 
Lincolnshire County Council and be submitted to: County Of fices, Newland, Lincoln, LN1 
1YL or any other address as the Customer may notify the Supplier in writing.  

 
2. The Supplier shall supply evidence to the Customer to support the invoice in the form of  

Supporting Information as required by paragraph 5.3 of  Part 1 of  this Schedule 3. The 
Customer may request any further information it may require in order to satisfy i tself that 
the amount claimed under the invoice is properly due and payable in respect of  Services 

properly delivered in accordance with the requirements of  the Contract.  
 
3.  The Customer shall pay each invoice within thirty (30) days of  receipt of  an invoice that 

complies with the requirements set out in this Schedule.  
 
4.  In respect of  any invoice, the Supplier shall ensure that each invoice: - 
 

(a) clearly displays a valid purchase order number which number must be obtained 
f rom the Customer within f ive (5) Working Days of  the Commencement Date;  

 
(b) only contains one purchase order number relating to the Contract. For the 

avoidance of  doubt, any invoice which contains more than one purchase order 
number shall be rejected; 

 
(c) includes the Supplier's name, address and contact details;  
 
(d)  details the Services which the invoice relates to;  
 
(e) includes a unique invoice reference number; 
 
(f ) is either electronically typed or handwritten but no invoice shall be accepted which 

has been electronically typed and manually altered, e.g. manually corrected or 

updated; 
 
(g) is submitted via e-mail to invoices@lincolnshire.gov.uk in PDF or TIF format without 

security being applied and is sent as a separate f ile or is sent by post addressed to 
Lincolnshire County Council, County Of f ices, Newland, Lincoln, LN1 1YL; 

 
(h) which is submitted by e-mail shall only consist of  an invoice and no other 

documentation; and 
 
(i) which is to be accompanied by documentation, is submitted by post to the 

Customer’s Contract Manager. 
 

5. If  the Supplier fails to submit an invoice in accordance with paragraph 4 above, no 
payment shall become due until such time as an invoice has been submitted by the 
Supplier which conforms in all respects with the requirements set out in paragraph 4 
above. For the avoidance of  doubt, the Supplier shall not be able to exercise any right 
under Clause H2.6 until such time as it has submitted an invoice in full compliance with 
the requirements set out in paragraph 4 above.  

 
6. Where any payment is made by the Customer and it is subsequently established that in 

the circumstances existing at the relevant time the Customer was only liable under the 

terms of  this Contract to pay the Supplier a lesser sum (or none at all), the Supplier shall 
repay the amount of  the overpayment within f ive (5) Working Days f rom receiving notice 
f rom the Customer of  such overpayment.   

Page 283

mailto:invoices@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 

APPENDIX A – SERVICE CHARGES 

BLOCK PAYMENT 

Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related 
Cost Analysis 

2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 

£ 
Premises Costs  65,082.75 67,386.00 69,812.00 72,161.00 74,629.00 

Administration and Office Costs  - - - - - 

Administrative Staff Costs - - - - - 

Management Staffing Costs  101,594.50 107,580.00 113,280.00 119,446.00 126,223.00 

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs  28,100.00 28,100.00 28,100.00 28,100.00 28,100.00 

Other Contract Related Costs - - - - - 

Total 
1,009,009.63 1,038,197.00 1,064,790.00 1,092,104.00 1,120,374.00 

 
      

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
       

P
age 284



 

 

Wellbeing Service Delivery Costs 
2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 

£ 
Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing 
Costs 

702,985.50 675,194.00 691,638.00 657,887.00 673,930.00 

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs 702,985.50 723,423.00 691,638.00 708,494.00 673,930.00 

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing 
Costs 

114,568.00 117,893.00 120,747.00 123,672.00 126,670.00 

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs 769,286.00 791,583.00 810,719.00 830,333.00 850,435.00 

Total 
2,289,825.00 2,308,093.00 2,314,742.00 2,320,386.00 2,324,965.00 

  
     

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs  

3,298,834.63 3,346,290.00 3,379,532.00 3,412,490.00 3,445,339.00 
Profit Mark Up 173,188.82 128,832.17 101,385.96 73,368.54 44,789.41 

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 5% 4% 3% 2% 1% 

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service 
(minus figures)  

-        
203,673.00 

-        
207,746.00 

-        
211,901.00 

-        
216,139.00 

-        
220,462.00 

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs  3,268,350.45 3,267,376.17 3,269,016.96 3,269,719.54 3,269,666.41 

Total Contract Value Cost to be used for evaluation 16,344,129.52     

P
age 285



 

 

ADDITIONAL UNIT COST 

Wellbeing Service Additional Cost   
    

Service Element Unit 
Unit Rate  

Equal to or  
< 500 (£) 

Unit Rate 
501 - 999 (£) 

Unit Rate 
Equal to or 
> 1000 (£) 

 

 

Assessments  1 assessment £               81.34 £               81.34 £            81.34  

General Support   
1 person 
receiving 

generic support 
£               81.34 £               81.34 £            81.34  

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 1 installation £             121.51 £             121.51 £          121.51  

     
 

     
 

Wellbeing Service Additional Cost       
 

Additional Unit Cost 
Predicted 
Additional 

Volume 
 Unit Cost (£)   Total Costs (£)  

 

 

Assessment (per assessment) 3399 £81.34 £     276,474.66 
 

 

Generic Support (per 1 person receiving generic support) 2821 £81.34 £     229,460.14 
 

 

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 374 £121.51 £       45,444.74 
 

 

TOTAL  
6594  £       551,379.54 

 

 

P
age 286



 

 

APPENDIX B – GAIN SHARING TABLE  
The following table details the manner in which the Gain Share Amount shall be shared between 

the Customer and the Supplier: 

Where the Earned Gain is Supplier’s Gain Share 
Amount (expressed as a % 
of the Gain Share Amount) 

Customer’s Gain Share 
Amount (expressed as a 
percentage of the Gain 
Share Amount) 

Less than or equal to 5% 
saving on costs in the 
Financial Model 

30 70 

More than 5% but less than 

15% saving on costs in the 
Financial Model  

40 60 

15% or more saving on costs 
in the Financial Model  

50 50 

 
 
The Customer's Gain Share Amount shall be calculated by dividing the Gain Share by 100 and 
multiplying it by the relevant Customer's Gain Share Percentage as provided in the table above. 

The Customer's Gain Share Amount shall then be payable to the Customer by the Supplier in 
accordance with this Contract.  

Page 287



 

 

APPENDIX C - SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

The following supporting information should either be accessible by the Customer via a performance 

dashboard or be submitted along with each statement of  account:  

• Evidence of  the volumes of  services delivered in the Payment Period;  

• Evidence to support the reported performance against all performance measures set out in 
Schedule 5 applicable to the Payment Period; 

• Management information as set out in Schedule 1 (Specif ication) and Schedule 5 (Performance) 
relating to the Payment Period; and 

• The Supplier's calculations of  Service Credits.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 288



 

 

ANNEX 1 
 

INITIAL FINANCIAL MODEL 

Page 289



 

 

 

Full Economic Costs of Service Delivery 

(Assumes 100% of Service Delivery)

Annual Budget               

(£)

Budget Year to 

Date             (£) 

Actual 

Expenditure Year 

to Date 

Variance to Year to 

Date Budget (£)                       

Variance from 

Annual Budget (£) - 

Underspend + 

Overspend 

ANNUAL CONTRACT RUNNING COST- 13 January 2025 to 13 January 2026

Premises Costs 

Rent 57,445.25£            

Lease Agreement -£                       

Rates -£                       

Insurance 7,637.50£              

Utilities -£                       

General Maintenance -£                       

Security Contract/Equipment -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 65,082.75£            

Administration and Office Costs 

ICT - Include Licence Fees 101,594.50£           

Communication Costs 28,100.00£            

Office Equipment -£                       

Publicity/Promotions/Campaigns 5,000.00£              

Other (Please specify) Corporate recharges 84,416.38£            

Total 219,110.88£           

Administrative Staff Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 208,288.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 208,288.00£           

Management Staffing Costs 

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 416,328.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 416,328.00£           

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs 

Training Budget 30,000.00£            

Additional Equipment -£                       

Recruitment -£                       

Other (Please specify) Call centre contingency and misc costs 36,300.00£            

Total 66,300.00£            

Other Contract Related Costs

Small aids/minor alterations Installation Costs (Please Specify) Lease Vans15,000.00£            

Fuel Costs -£                       

Sub Contract Costs (Please specify) -£                       

Other (Please specify) NKDC Pension Back Costs 18,900.00£            

Total 33,900.00£            

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs1,009,009.63£        

Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 702,985.50£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 702,985.50£           

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 702,985.50£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 702,985.50£           

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 114,568.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 114,568.00£           

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 769,286.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 769,286.00£           

Total Staffing and Other Contract Related Costs 2,289,825.00£        

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs 3,298,834.63£        

Profit Mark Up 173,188.82£           

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 5%

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service (minus figures) 203,673.00-£           

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs 3,268,350.45£        

Open Book Accountancy - Year 1 Wellbeing Service

Page 290



 

 

 

Full Economic Costs of Service Delivery 

(Assumes 100% of Service Delivery)

Annual Budget               

(£)

Budget Year to 

Date             (£) 

Actual 

Expenditure Year 

to Date up to 30 

September 2026

Variance to Year to 

Date Budget (£)                       

Variance from 

Annual Budget (£) - 

Underspend + 

Overspend 

ANNUAL CONTRACT RUNNING COST-  13 January 2026 to 13 January 2027

Premises Costs 

Rent 59,346.00£            

Lease Agreement -£                       

Rates -£                       

Insurance 8,040.00£              

Utilities -£                       

General Maintenance -£                       

Security Contract/Equipment -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 67,386.00£            

Administration and Office Costs 

ICT - Include Licence Fees 107,580.00£           

Communication Costs 28,100.00£            

Office Equipment -£                       

Publicity/Promotions/Campaigns 5,000.00£              

Other (Please specify) Corporate recharges 86,225.00£            

Total 226,905.00£           

Administrative Staff Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 214,349.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 214,349.00£           

Management Staffing Costs 

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 428,557.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 428,557.00£           

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs 

Training Budget 30,000.00£            

Additional Equipment -£                       

Recruitment -£                       

Other (Please specify) Call centre contingency and misc costs36,300.00£            

Total 66,300.00£            

Other Contract Related Costs

Small aids/minor alterations Installation Costs (Please Specify) Lease Vans15,000.00£            

Fuel Costs -£                       

Sub Contract Costs (Please specify) -£                       

Other (Please specify)NKDC Pension Back Costs 19,700.00£            

Total 34,700.00£            

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs1,038,197.00£        

Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 675,194.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 675,194.00£           

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 723,423.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 723,423.00£           

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 117,893.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 117,893.00£           

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 791,583.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 791,583.00£           

Total Staffing and Other Contract Related Costs 2,308,093.00£        

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs 3,346,290.00£        

Profit Mark Up 128,832.17£           

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 4%

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service (minus figures) 207,746.00-£           

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs 3,267,376.17£        

Open Book Accountancy - Year 2 Wellbeing Service

Page 291



 

 

 

Full Economic Costs of Service Delivery 

(Assumes 100% of Service Delivery)

Annual Budget               

(£)

Budget Year to 

Date             (£) 

Actual 

Expenditure Year 

to Date up to 30 

September 2027

Variance to Year to 

Date Budget (£)                       

Variance from 

Annual Budget (£) - 

Underspend + 

Overspend 

ANNUAL CONTRACT RUNNING COST-  13 January 2027 to 13 January 2028

Premises Costs 

Rent 61,362.00£            

Lease Agreement -£                       

Rates -£                       

Insurance 8,450.00£              

Utilities -£                       

General Maintenance -£                       

Security Contract/Equipment -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 69,812.00£            

Administration and Office Costs 

ICT - Include Licence Fees 113,280.00£           

Communication Costs 28,100.00£            

Office Equipment -£                       

Publicity/Promotions/Campaigns 5,000.00£              

Other (Please specify)Corporate recharges 88,293.00£            

Total 234,673.00£           

Administrative Staff Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 219,552.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 219,552.00£           

Management Staffing Costs 

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 439,053.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 439,053.00£           

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs 

Training Budget 30,000.00£            

Additional Equipment -£                       

Recruitment -£                       

Other (Please specify)Call centre contingency & misc costs 36,300.00£            

Total 66,300.00£            

Other Contract Related Costs

Small aids/minor alterations Installation Costs (Please Specify) Lease Vans15,000.00£            

Fuel Costs -£                       

Sub Contract Costs (Please specify) -£                       

Other (Please specify)NKDC Pension back funding 20,400.00£            

Total 35,400.00£            

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs1,064,790.00£        

Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 691,638.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 691,638.00£           

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 691,638.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 691,638.00£           

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 120,747.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 120,747.00£           

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 810,719.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 810,719.00£           

Total Staffing and Other Contract Related Costs 2,314,742.00£        

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs 3,379,532.00£        

Profit Mark Up 101,385.96£           

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 3%

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service (minus figures) 211,901.00-£           

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs 3,269,016.96£        

Open Book Accountancy - Year 3 Wellbeing Service

Page 292



 

 

 

Full Economic Costs of Service Delivery 

(Assumes 100% of Service Delivery)

Annual Budget               

(£)

Budget Year to 

Date             (£) 

Actual 

Expenditure Year 

to Date up to 30 

September 2028

Variance to Year to 

Date Budget (£)                       

Variance from 

Annual Budget (£) - 

Underspend + 

Overspend 

ANNUAL CONTRACT RUNNING COST- 13 January 2029 to 13 January 2030

Premises Costs 

Rent 63,287.00£            

Lease Agreement -£                       

Rates -£                       

Insurance 8,874.00£              

Utilities -£                       

General Maintenance -£                       

Security Contract/Equipment -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 72,161.00£            

Administration and Office Costs 

ICT - Include Licence Fees 119,446.00£           

Communication Costs 28,100.00£            

Office Equipment -£                       

Publicity/Promotions/Campaigns 5,000.00£              

Other (Please specify)Corporate recharges 90,301.00£            

Total 242,847.00£           

Administrative Staff Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 224,885.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 224,885.00£           

Management Staffing Costs 

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 449,811.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 449,811.00£           

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs 

Training Budget 30,000.00£            

Additional Equipment -£                       

Recruitment -£                       

Other (Please specify)Call centre contingency and misc costs 36,300.00£            

Total 66,300.00£            

Other Contract Related Costs

Small aids/minor alterations Installation Costs (Please Specify)Lease vans15,000.00£            

Fuel Costs -£                       

Sub Contract Costs (Please specify) -£                       

Other (Please specify)NKDC Pension back funding 21,100.00£            

Total 36,100.00£            

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs1,092,104.00£        

Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 657,887.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 657,887.00£           

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 708,494.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 708,494.00£           

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 123,672.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 123,672.00£           

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 830,333.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 830,333.00£           

Total Staffing and Other Contract Related Costs 2,320,386.00£        

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs 3,412,490.00£        

Profit Mark Up 73,368.54£            

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 2%

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service (minus figures) 216,139.00-£           

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs 3,269,719.54£        

Open Book Accountancy - Year 4 Wellbeing Service

Page 293



 

 

 

Full Economic Costs of Service Delivery 

(Assumes 100% of Service Delivery)

Annual Budget               

(£)

Budget Year to 

Date             (£) 

Actual 

Expenditure Year 

to Date up to 30 

September 2029

Variance to Year to 

Date Budget (£)                       

Variance from 

Annual Budget (£) - 

Underspend + 

Overspend 

ANNUAL CONTRACT RUNNING COST-  13 January 2028 to 13 January 2029

Premises Costs 

Rent 65,322.00£            

Lease Agreement -£                       

Rates -£                       

Insurance 9,307.00£              

Utilities -£                       

General Maintenance -£                       

Security Contract/Equipment -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 74,629.00£            

Administration and Office Costs 

ICT - Include Licence Fees 126,223.00£           

Communication Costs 28,100.00£            

Office Equipment -£                       

Publicity/Promotions/Campaigns 5,000.00£              

Other (Please specify)Corporate recharges 92,129.00£            

Total 251,452.00£           

Administrative Staff Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 230,354.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 230,354.00£           

Management Staffing Costs 

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 460,839.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 460,839.00£           

Additional Non Salary Staffing Costs 

Training Budget 30,000.00£            

Additional Equipment -£                       

Recruitment -£                       

Other (Please specify) 36,300.00£            

Total 66,300.00£            

Other Contract Related Costs

Small aids/minor alterations Installation Costs (Please Specify)Lease vans15,000.00£            

Fuel Costs -£                       

Sub Contract Costs (Please specify) -£                       

Other (Please specify)NKDC Pension back funding 21,800.00£            

Total 36,800.00£            

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs1,120,374.00£        

Wellbeing Assessment and Support Planning Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 673,930.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 673,930.00£           

Wellbeing Generic Support Delivery Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 673,930.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 673,930.00£           

Installation - Small Aids and Minor Alterations Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 126,670.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 126,670.00£           

Wellbeing Response Service Staffing Costs

Total Salary (inc. NI and Pensions) 850,435.00£           

Total Travel Allowance -£                       

Total Mobile Phone -£                       

Total Subsistence -£                       

Total Insurance -£                       

Total Management/Back Office & Other Contract Related Costs -£                       

Other (Please specify) -£                       

Total 850,435.00£           

Total Staffing and Other Contract Related Costs 2,324,965.00£        

Sub Total Annual Contract Running Costs 3,445,339.00£        

Profit Mark Up 44,789.41£            

Profit Margin (Please enter your proposed %) 1%

Fee's & Contributions - Wellbeing Response Service (minus figures) 220,462.00-£           

Total Net Annual Contract Running Costs 3,269,666.41£        

Open Book Accountancy - Year 5 Wellbeing Service

Page 294



 

 

SCHEDULE 4 

COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE INFORMATION SCHEDULE 

 

NONE 
  

Page 295



 

 

SCHEDULE 5 

PERFORMANCE MONITORING SYSTEM 

 

PART A – CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

 

1. Contract Management Meetings 

 

1.1 The Customer seeks to ensure that value for money is achieved in all services it commissions. It is 

a requirement that value for money is demonstrated through delivery of  positive outcomes for Service 

Users in receipt of  commissioned services. The Customer and Supplier must ensure that robust 

contract management is taking place in order to achieve, and evidence achievement of , value for 

money and positive outcomes. 

 

1.2 Contract Management Meetings will take place on a Monthly basis initially during the f irst six (6) 

Months of  the Contract Period, moving to a Quarterly f requency thereaf ter or once the Contract is 

ef fectively implemented and established (subject to the Customer's assessment of  contract risk). 

Meeting dates shall be agreed between the Parties. 

 

1.3 Contract Management Meetings shall be designed to share and exchange information that will 

support continuous improvement of Service provision and review the Supplier's performance of  this 

Contract. The contract management process should lead to partnership learning and offer 

opportunities to share good practice across preventative services. 

 

1.4 The Customer may request a Contract Management Meeting with the Supplier at any time or may 

increase the f requency of  Contract Management Meetings if any concerns in the following areas are 

identif ied: 

a) Performance Measures 

b) Contract compliance  

c) Contract value and payments  

d) Quality  

e) Issue of  a Default Notice  

f ) Complaints 

g) Risk to the Customer 

 

1.5  The f requency of  the Contract Management Meetings throughout the Contract Period is subject to 

change and shall be determined by the Customer.  

 

1.6  The Supplier shall be issued with an agenda prior to each Contract Management Meeting, which 

shall include but is not limited to:  

• Service utilisation and demand 

• Service performance against the Performance Measures 

• Financial viability and payments 

• Service operations including feedback, complaints, incidents, safeguarding and staf fing 

resources 

• Service development and market analysis 

• Contract and service risks 

 

1.7 The Supplier shall equally be given the opportunity to contribute to the agenda prior to each Contract 

Management Meeting arranged by the Customer. 

Page 296



 

 

 

1.8 The Parties shall attend an annual contract review meeting af ter the end of  each Contract Year, to 

be arranged by the Customer. These reviews will focus on:  

• Contract compliance 

• Quality assurance 

• Staf f ing 

• Service User involvement 

• Continuous Improvement and engagement 

• Performance targets and measures review 

  

1.9 The Customer retains the right to canvass conf identially the views of the Service Users and/ or their 

representative in relation to the Service. 

 

2. Reporting Requirements 

 

2.1 The Supplier shall provide all the data and reporting, and at such f requency, as set out in Annex A 

of  this Schedule 5.  

 

2.2 All data required to be provided at detailed at Annex A shall be sourced f rom the Customer's case 

management system, Mosaic or any replacement sof tware (unless otherwise stated) and the 

Supplier shall be responsible for including such data within its reports and sharing this information 

with the Customer no later than seven (7) calendar days before each Contract Management Meeting 

or, if  required by the Customer, seven (7) calendar days before any additional management meeting, 

or within such timescales as the Parties may otherwise agree. 

 

2.3 In addition to Open Book Data requirements in Schedule 3, the Supplier shall provide to the 

Customer a report detailing Open Book Data on a Quarterly basis for the relevant Quarter. Such 

report to be provided no later than seven (7) calendar days before each Contract Management 

Meeting or, if  required by the Customer, seven (7) calendar days before any additional management 

meeting, or within such timescales as the Parties may otherwise agree.  The format of  the report shall 

be as agreed between the Parties. 

 

3. Responsibilities of the Customer 

 

The Customer shall ensure that: 

 

• a Customer's Contract Manager is assigned to monitor this contract and work with the Supplier 

to ensure positive outcomes for Service Users. 

• Contract Management Meetings shall be arranged (and determined by the Customer) for each 

Contract Year on a rolling basis. The f requency of  Contract Management Meetings will be 

dependent upon a risk analysis assessment of  the Service by the Customer.  

• Contract Management Meetings and any additional management meetings shall be recorded 

and the Customer's Contract Manager shall discuss and agree areas for improvement and 

action points with reasonable timescales shall be entered onto an Improvement Plan by the 

Customer which will be shared with the Supplier in accordance with Clause H7. 

• the Customer's Contract Manager shall monitor, and challenge where necessary, the 

performance of  the Service and the Supplier's compliance with the Specif ication and the terms 

and conditions of  this Contract. 

Page 297



 

 

• Information made available by the Supplier shall be analysed and challenged by the Customer's 

Contract Manager. 

• the Customer's Contract Manager may, in its absolute discretion, support and provide advice as 

and when required by the Supplier. 

• the Customer's Contract Manager monitors the Supplier's Management Information submitted 

by the Supplier, in line with specif ied reporting requirements and discuss any required actions 

with the Supplier. 

 

4. Responsibilities of the Supplier 

 

The Supplier shall: 

 

• meet or exceed each KPI and Performance Indicators, at all times. 

• submit Management Information, Performance Indicators and Key Performance Indicators 

reports, and all other reports specif ied in this Schedule 4, at the required intervals in accordance 

with this Schedule. 

• where Key Performance Indicators and Performance Indicators are unlikely to be met or where 

the Supplier is experiencing any dif f iculties with the provision of the Service, the Supplier shall 

inform the Customer's Contract Manager at the earliest opportunity.  

• inform the Customer's Contract Manager of  issues with regard to the performance and/or 

conduct of  the Service, the Staf f or any Sub-Contractor to ensure compliance with the Contract 

and Specif ication 

• co-operate with the processes of  the Customer for monitoring, evaluation and quality audit in 

whatever way reasonably requested, and shall provide copies of  any documents that are 

reasonably requested by the Customer, including but not limited to those referenced in Clauses 

E7, E8 and E11. 

• maintain regular communication with the Customer's Contract Manager in whatever way 

reasonably required by the Customer. 

• allow the Customer's Contract Manager or their Customer's representatives reasonable access 

to the Premises, including access to all documents relating to the performance of  the Service 

under this Contract.  

• make available to the Customer relevant information concerning Service Users, on request f rom 

the Customer.  

• provide case studies at each Contract Management Meeting detailing the support that has been 

provided and outcomes achieved by individual Service Users, across a variety of  support 

interventions. 

  

PART B – PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING  

 

1. Subject to paragraph 3 of  this Part B below, this Schedule shall apply in full f rom the Service 

Commencement Date and details the elements of  the Services that shall be measured to monitor 

performance and to monitor and incentivise performance by means of  Improvements Plans and 

Service Credits (as further set out in Part C below). The Services shall be monitored against the 

performance measures detailed in this Schedule which ref lect the requirements of  the Service to be 

provided, as detailed within the Contract.   

 

2. The Supplier's performance of  its obligations under this Contract shall be monitored by the Customer 

against f ive types of measure. These are set out in the table below and with further detail of  specific 

measures contained at Annex A of  this Schedule 5: 

Page 298



 

 

 

Measure Description 

Key Performance 

Indicator (KPI) 

These are of ten but not exclusively quantif iable measures to 

monitor the performance of  an element of  service delivery 

against a target level or pre-determined standard. These 

measures are deemed to be most indicative of high performance 

against the service aims.  

 

Performance Indicator 

(PI)  

These are of ten but not exclusively quantif iable measures to 

enable the Customer to monitor the performance of  an element 

of  service delivery against a target level or pre-determined 

standard. 

 

Management 

Information (MI) 

This is utilised to support quantitative and qualitative intelligence 

to provide oversight of  service delivery and to support the 

Customer’s wider system commissioning insights f rom service 

operations and delivery. 

 

Quarterly Quality 

Measures (QQM) 

These support the Customer’s overall assessment of the quality-

of -service provision at quarterly intervals through oversight of  

Service User feedback, incidents, staf fing analysis and service 

learning. 

 

Annual Quality 

Measures (AQM) 

These support the Customer’s annual overall assessment of  the 

service provision through adherence to established standards, 

audits and planning for and learning f rom Service User 

experience. 

 

 

 

3. The Supplier shall meet or exceed the KPIs and Performance indicators at all times during the 

Contract Period. 

 

4. In addition to the submission of  statutory data, monitoring for protected  groups under the Equality 

Legislation and safeguarding reporting, output monitoring will be needed in respect of  all referrals, 

staf f  training and development, recruitment and retention levels.  

  

5.  The Performance Measures shall be used as tools to assist the management and monitoring of  the 

Supplier's performance of  the Services and its obligations under this Contract. The Supplier shall 

work with the Customer to provide all Performance Measures information as required.  

 

7.  All Performance Measures shall be reviewed by the Parties annually at the annual contract review 

meeting detailed at paragraph 1.8 of  Part A of  this Schedule above and the Parties shall make any 

changes in accordance with the Change Control Procedure. 

 

8.  The Supplier shall be responsible for the monitoring and accurate recording at all times of  its own 

performance of  the Services and of  compliance with, or failure under, the requirements of  this 

Schedule. This is without prejudice to the rights of  the Customer to monitor performance 

independently.  

Page 299



 

 

 

9. The Supplier shall notify the Customer, in reasonable detail, of  any Service Failures against any of  

the KPIs and/or Performance Indicators as part of  the Supplier's reporting obligations set out in 

Clause 5.3. 

 

10. In addition to the Performance Measures, the Customer shall monitor the number of  safeguarding 

referrals and Serious Incidents reported and received. This does not replace the Supplier’s obligation 

to inform the Customer's Customer Service Centre of  any safeguarding issue nor does it negate 

clinical / health suppliers of  the requirement to report serious health related incidents and to follow 

the process below. This does not negate a CQC registered provider's duty to report notif iable 

occurrences and incidents.  

 

11.  The Supplier is required to report all Serious Incidents, near-misses or to highlight areas of  concern 

to the Customer within twenty four (24) hours of  the Supplier becoming aware of  the incident. Such 

notif ication must be sent using the Serious Incident Reporting Form (this form will be made available 

to the Supplier separately), via secure email to Public_Health_Incident_Report@lincolnshire.gov.uk.    

 

PART C - IMPROVEMENT PLANS AND SERVICE CREDITS 

 

1.  Where there is a Service Failure and the Service delivery is below the target (set out at Annex A) for 

any Key Performance Indicator and/or Performance Indicator, the Customer may elect to operate 

the Improvement Plan Process. 

 

2.  Subject to paragraph 3 below of  this Part C, if  the Supplier's delivery of  the Service is below the 

tolerance of  the required target for WBS_KPI-01, WBS_KPI-03 and/or WBS_KPI-04 at Annex A of  

this Schedule 5, the Customer may invoke the Improvement Plan Process and may also apply 

Service Credits without prejudice to any other remedies the Customer may have. Service Credits will 

be calculated following the relevant Contract Management Meeting and application will be 

considered as part of  the contract management process. If  Service Credits are accrued, they will be 

applied in the next invoice following the latest Quarterly report provided by the Supplier in accordance 

with this Schedule.   

 

3.  The Supplier shall not be liable to deductions of Service Credits for its performance against any KPI 

during the f irst six (6) Months of  the Contract Period.   

 

4. The Customer may in its sole and absolute discretion grant relief  f rom the application of  the 

Improvement Plan Process and/or Service Credits (where applicable), if  it is satisfied that the reason 

for the Service Failure was outside the reasonable control of  the Supplier. To claim such relief  

evidence must be provided by the Supplier to the Customer for each event for which relief  is sought. 

Such evidence must show that the Supplier was unable to mitigate the ef fects of the reason for the 

Service Failure. The Customer shall review the application for relief  and determine if  the event 

causing a Service Failure was or was not outside the reasonable control of  the Supplier. The 

conclusion of the Customer shall be f inal. The Supplier must apply reasonable measures to mitigate 

problems/events which af fect the delivery of  the Service to prevent the occurrence or minimise the 

amount of  Service Failures. 

 

5.  The Service Credits are calculated as set out within Annex A of  this Schedule 5 and applied to the 

Service Charges in pursuant to Schedule 3. 

 

Page 300

mailto:Public_Health_Incident_Report@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 

6.  The Customer shall only apply Service Credits to a maximum of  f ive percent (5%) of  the annual 

contract value for each Contract Year, pursuant to Clause G1.3A. 
 
 

Page 301



 

 

 
ANNEX A – PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND SERVICE CREDITS 

 

P
age 302



 

 

 
  

Service Element
Indicator 

Reference
Indicator Type Indicator Name Definition/Description Target

Reporting 

Frequency

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-01 Management Information Total number of service referrals received by pathway

The total number of service referrals received within the reporting period (each calendar month). 

To be reported by referral pathway [CSC telephone, CSC e-referral, Direct Professional/Partner]

This shall exclude referrals for Telecare Response Service.

N/a Monthly

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-02 Management Information The average screening score of service referrals
The total collective screening score of all service referrals received each calendar month divided 

by the total number of service referrals received within the same calendar month.
N/a Monthly

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-03 Management Information Total number of service referrals received by source

The total number of service referrals received within the reporting period (each calendar month). 

This shall exclude referrals for Telecare Response Service.

To be reported by original source [Self referral, friend/family, Professional/Partner]

N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-04 Management Information Referral Analysis Report

The number of new service referrals received within the reporting period, broken down via the 

following elements [definitive list and report format to be confirmed during 

mobilisation/implementation but may be subject to change]

- service user age

- service user gender

- service user ethnicity

- service user location [by Lincolnshire District, by Lincolnshire District age standardised per 

100,000, by Indices of Deprivation per 100,000]

- service user additional needs [number identified; Mental Health Condition, Physical Disability, 

Learning Disability and/or Autism, Sensory Impairment, Substance Misuse]

- service users already accessing adult care long term services

- Distribution of screening scores

- Outcome areas identified at referral

- Professional/Partner source via direct referral (via Mosaic)

- Professional/Partner signposting source

On a quarterly basis the Supplier shall present the Referral Analysis Report in an agreed format 

including key findings and resulting service actions from the intelligence for service engagement, 

promotion and partnership working.

N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-05 Management Information Referrals not progressing to assessment

The number of referrals received within the reporting period that do not progress to assessment 

(closed at referral), reported by reason. Definitive reason list to be developed with Supplier 

during mobilisation; to include but not limited to [declined support, duplicate referral, unable to 

contact]

N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service Referrals and Access WBS_MI-06 Management Information Repeat Referrals

The number of referrals received within the reporting period where the service user has 

completed a service assessment within the previous periods:

(a) less than 6 months from referral date

(b) 6-12 months from referral date

N/a Quarterly  

Service Referrals and Access

P
age 303



 

 

 
 
  

Service Engagement and Universal 

Offer
WBS_MI-07 Management Information Annual Engagement Plan

The Supplier shall co-produce an annual Engagement Plan outlining the activities and strategies 

to be deployed to meet the expectations set out within 3.4 of the service specification. The 

Supplier shall share an initial plan within three months of contract commencement and then 

annually during the month of October covering the contract year ahead. The Supplier shall 

actively involve partners and service users in the development and review of the Engagement 

Plan. 

N/a Annual

Service Engagement and Universal 

Offer
WBS_MI-08 Management Information Universal Offer Update

The Supplier shall produce and share a quarterly report detailing the activities and review of 

content as part of the Universal Offer. The format of the report shall be agreed during service 

mobilisation but shall include a reflective review of the offer and forward plan of activities for the 

coming period.

N/a Quarterly

Assessment Measures WBS_MI-09 Management Information Assessments completed The total number of assessments completed within the reporting period. N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Assessment Measures WBS_MI-10 Management Information Assessment timescales
The average length of time between date of service referral and assessment commencement in 

calendar days for the reporting period. 
N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Assessment Measures WBS_MI-11 Management Information Case closures following assessment

The number of wellbeing service cases that are closed following assessment by reason. Definitive 

list to be devised during mobilisation to include but not limited to; needs/outcomes met, declined 

further service support, unable to contact.

N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Assessment Measures WBS_MI-12 Management Information Assessment method
The number of assessments completed within the reporting period by method of completion i.e. 

telephone, in-person, digital/video call.
N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service Engagement and Universal Offer

Assessment Measures

P
age 304



 

 
 

Generic Support Measures WBS_KPI-04 Key Performance Indicator
Percentage of generic support that commences within 21 

calendar days of service referral
KPI-04 90%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Generic Support Measures WBS_MI-13 Management Information Generic Support interventions commenced
The total number of unique service user generic support interventions commenced within the 

reporting period.
N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Generic Support Measures WBS_MI-14 Management Information Conversion rate of assessment to generic support
The total number of unique service users completing an assessment in the reporting period that 

went on to commence generic support.
n/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Generic Support Measures WBS_MI-15 Management Information Average length of generic support intervention

The average length of time between generic support interventions commencing and the case 

being closed in the reporting period. To be reported by calendar days and distribution of length 

of support. Case closed defined as date of planned exit or if unplanned the last date of active 

support.

n/a Quarterly  

Generic Support Measures WBS_MI-16 Management Information
Generic Support interventions requiring more than 12 

weeks of support

The number of cases closed in the reporting period  that were open for more than 12 weeks. The 

Supplier to provide analysis of these cases to support service development and intelligence.
n/a Quarterly  

Generic Support Measures WBS_MI-17 Management Information Onward Referral Analysis

The Supplier to produce and share an analysis of onward referrals made during or following 

assessment and/or generic support. The format of the report is to be developed during 

mobilisation and shall include but not be limited to capturing referrals made to Adult Social Care, 

LCES, Occupational Therapy and other agreed partners.

n/a Quarterly  

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_KPI-05 Key Performance Indicator

Percentage of small aid installations fitted within 7 days of 

referral
KPI-05 85%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_MI-18 Management Information

The total number of unique service users with small aid 

and minor alterations identified/requested at assessments 

(conversion rate)

The total number of small aid and minor adaptations identified/requested at assessments 

conducted within the reporting period.

To be reported by (a) small aid (b) minor adaptation

For avoidance of doubt this measure is capturing small aids/minor adaptations identified and 

installed through the Wellbeing Service only.

n/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_MI-19 Management Information The total number of small aids provided through the LCES

The total number of small aids provided via the LCES service in the reporting period. 

To be reported by number of service users,  number of items and details of equipment.
n/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_MI-20 Management Information The total number of small aid installations completed

The total number of small aid installations completed in the reporting period. To be reported by:

(a) service user sourced equipment

(b) service sourced equipment

Installations should be counted per service user for this measure rather than per item.

n/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_MI-21 Management Information The total number of minor alternations completed The total number of minor alterations completed in the reporting period. n./a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_PI-01 Performance Indicator

Percentage of minor alterations completed within 14 days 

of referral

Numerators: Of the denominator, the number completed within 14 calendar days of being 

identified through assessment or generic support. (It is the Customers expectation that minor 

alterations are referred to the Small Aids and Minor Alterations element of the service on the 

same working day as they are identified within an assessment or generic support intervention)

Denominator: The total number of service users requiring minor alterations within the reporting 

period.

This measure shall exclude complex alterations as outlined in 3.3.4.15 of the service specification.

80%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Small Aids and Minor Alterations 

Measures
WBS_MI-22 Management Information Small Aids and Minor Alternations Analysis Report

The Supplier shall produce and share a quarterly analysis of activity for this service element. The 

format of the report shall be mutually agreed during the mobilisation period. It shall include but 

not be limited to; [average number of small aid items per customer, the type of equipment 

installed, if supported the sourcing of equipment the average cost of frequently identified items, 

type of minor alterations completed and any instances of refusal to install customer sourced 

equipment].

n/a Quarterly

Generic Support Measures

Small Aids and Minor Alterations Measures

P
age 305



 

 
 

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_KPI-01 Key Performance Indicator

Service users supported to achieve an overall 

improvement across their outcomes 
KPI-01 95%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-02 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to improve their ability to 

maintain their home environment
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-03 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to access equipment or 

alterations to help them get around their home
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-04 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to improve their home 

management and life skills
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-05 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to improve their ability to manage 

their household budget
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-06 Performance Indicator Service users supported to improve their digital skills 80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-07 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to improve their ability to manage 

their long-term condition
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-08 Performance Indicator

Service users supported to improve their ability to find and 

stay in education, training or work
80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-09 Performance Indicator Service users supported to improve their support network 80% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_KPI-02 Key Performance Indicator Delaying and reducing the need for adult care and support KPI-02 5% Annual

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_KPI-06 Key Performance Indicator

Percentage of service users who exit the service in a 

planned way
KPI-06 85%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-10 Performance Indicator

Customer Experience: Service users feel listened to and 

treated with compassion and respect
95% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_PI-11 Performance Indicator

Customer Experience: Service users feel their outcomes 

and wellbeing is prioritised
95% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and 

Experience Measures 
WBS_KPI-07 Key Performance Indicator

Customer Experience: Access to information, advice and 

community resources
KPI-07 95% Quarterly

Service User Outcome and Experience Measures 

These indicators enable further analysis of the Service User Outcomes to determine how 

successfully the individual outcomes are being supported through service interventions including 

which outcomes service users are most seeking support with. This analysis will aid service 

intelligence and drive continuous improvement and development.

A planned exit to the service shall be those where the individual completes their review of their 

outcomes and customer experience outcomes.

Numerators: Of the denominator, the number reporting a higher individual Outcome Score at 

exit than their entry score.

Denominator: The total number of service users (identifying the relevant outcome domain) 

exiting the service in a planned way within the reporting period.

Individuals service experience outcomes responses to be captured at exit from generic support 

interventions

Scale to be used [strongly agree, agree, neither agree nor disagree, disagree, strongly disagree]

Numerator: Of the denominator, the number that strongly agreed or agreed to the customer 

experience statements.

Denominator: The total number of responses to the service experience questions within planned 

service exits within the reporting period. 

P
age 306



 

 

 
 

 
 

Telecare Response Measures WBS_KPI-03 Key Performance Indicator
Percentage of telecare call-outs attended within 1 hour of 

the alarm being notified to the Wellbeing Service
KPI-03 90%

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Telecare Response Measures WBS_MI-23 Management Information Exceptions report
Quarterly summary report detailing the reasons for exceptions to the 60 minute response call -

out target including service user location and resulting service actions or learning as a result.
N/a Quarterly  

Telecare Response Measures WBS_MI-24 Management Information Telecare Response Service Customer Base
The total number of people registered for the Telecare Response Service at the close of the 

calendar month
N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Telecare Response Measures WBS_MI-25 Management Information Number of response call outs by a responder by reason
The total number of response calls outs attended by a responder during the reporting period by 

primary response reason as specified in Appendix B
N/a

Quarterly with 

monthly 

breakdown

Telecare Response Measures WBS_MI-26 Management Information Customer Experience Survey 
The Supplier shall complete an annual customer experience survey of Telecare Response 

Customers with the results and any recommendations shared with the Customer.
N/a Annual

Telecare Response Measures WBS_MI-27 Management Information Response Service Customer Base Intelligence Report

The Supplier to produce and share on an annual basis analysis of their Telecare Service Customer 

base, scope to be mutually agreed during mobilisation but shall include but not limited to 

customer demographics, location distribution, monitoring centre provider, number referred into 

wellbeing service for assessment, analysis of call out times and frequency.

N/a Annual

Telecare Response Measures

Quality Measure WBS_QQM-01 Quarterly Quality Measure Service case studies 

The Supplier to provide case studies at each contract management meeting detailing the support 

provided and outcome achieved by individual service users across a variety of support 

interventions, length of support, demographics and complexities. 

N/a Quarterly  

Quality Measure WBS_QQM-02 Quarterly Quality Measure Complaints/incidents/reporting

Supplier to submit number of incidents/referrals in the reporting period:

(a) Complaints

(b) Safeguarding alerts/referrals made by the Service

(c) Referrals to domestic abuse service/MARAC

(d) Serious Incidents

N/a Quarterly  

Quality Measure WBS_QQM-03 Quarterly Quality Measure Compliments and user feedback 
The Supplier to share compliments and feedback from service users/partners including 

information captured through quality assurance activities within the reporting period.
N/a Quarterly  

Quality Measure WBS_QQM-04 Quarterly Quality Measure Staff Training Matrix
Supplier to share training matrix detailing the compliance with the specification training 

requirements for staff delivering the service on a quarterly basis.
N/a Quarterly  

Quarterly Quality Measures (QQM)

P
age 307



 

 

  

Quality Measure WBS_AQM-01 Annual Quality Measure Stakeholder Mapping

Supplier to produce annual report on stakeholder mapping in relation to inward and outward 

referrals and partnerships and any resulting findings/recommendations. Format of report to be 

mutually agreed.

N/a Annual

Quality Measure WBS_AQM-02 Annual Quality Measure Quality Assurance Feedback Report

Supplier to provide an annual overview report detailing the quality assurance activities and 

resulting findings from their quality assurance processes and measures as detailed in 4.3 of the 

service specification. This shall include but not be limited to lessons learnt and service 

developments as a result of the findings of these processes. This shall be shared with the 

Customer one calendar month after the contract anniversary each calendar year.

N/a Annual

Quality Measure WBS_AQM-03 Annual Quality Measure Skills Audit and Training Plan

Supplier to evidence annual skills audit and report findings to be shared on findings and any 

identified skills gaps and associated training plan for the coming year. Initial training plan to be 

submitted during mobilisation and then on contract anniversary each year.

N/a Annual

Open Book Accounting Management Information Open Book Accounting Submission 

The Supplier shall submit a quarterly report detailing the actual expenditure for the preceding 

quarter against budgeted spend as detailed within the pricing submission during the tender 

process.

For the avoidance of doubt, the last quarterly report of each contract year shall provide the final 

position for the full contract year for actual service delivery expenditure against the annual 

service budget.

N/a Quarterly  

Annual Quality Measures (AQM)

Additional Management Information 

P
age 308



 

 

Service Credits 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Indicator ID Indicator Name
Service Credit 

% weighting

WBS_KPI-01
Service users supported to achieve an overall improvement across their 

outcomes 
40%

WBS_KPI-03
Percentage of telecare call-outs attended within 1 hour of the alarm being 

notified to the Wellbeing Service
30%

WBS_KPI-04
Percentage of generic support sessions that commence within 21 calendar 

days of service referral
30%

100%

£2,451.26

£49,025.10 £12,256.28 £2,451.26

Maximum 

£ of Service Credit per annum

Maximum

£ of Service Credit per Reporting Period

£ of Performance Credit per % 

Application Scale

£65,366.80 £16,341.70 £3,268.34

£49,025.10 £12,256.28

Totals £163,417.00 £40,854.25 N/a

Indicator ID Indicator Name Target 

85.0% 86.0% 87.0% 88.0% 89.0%

£16,342 £13,073 £9,805 £6,537 £3,268

80.0% 81.0% 82.0% 83.0% 84.0%

£12,256 £9,805 £7,354 £4,903 £2,451

80.0% 81.0% 82.0% 83.0% 84.0%

£12,256 £9,805 £7,354 £4,903 £2,451

WBS_KPI-01
Service users supported to achieve an overall improvement across their 

outcomes 
95%

% Application Scale

WBS_KPI-03
Percentage of telecare call-outs attended within 1 hour of the alarm being 

notified to the Wellbeing Service
90%

WBS_KPI-04
Percentage of generic support that commences within 21 calendar days of 

service referral
90%

P
age 309



 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Indicator ID Indicator Name

WBS_KPI-01
Service users supported to achieve an overall improvement across their 

outcomes 

WBS_KPI-03
Percentage of telecare call-outs attended within 1 hour of the alarm being 

notified to the Wellbeing Service

WBS_KPI-04
Percentage of generic support that commences within 21 calendar days of 

service referral

Application Timescale

Q1 2025-26

Q1 2025-26

Q1 2025-26

P
age 310



 

 

Key Performance Indicators 
 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-01 

Indicator Name Service users supported to achieve an overall improvement across their outcomes  

Definition/Description 

This indicator identifies the percentage of individuals exiting service (in a planned way) who self 

reported an overall improvements across the outcomes they identified when entering the service.  
 
 An overall improvement is defined as a higher self reported combined outcome score at service 
exit than identified at service entry. 

 
Individuals who have a planned exit from the service are those that complete a final review of their 
outcomes (including service experience outcomes) on exit of the service.  

Rationale for Indicator 

This indicator is focused on understanding the overall improvement in service users' outcomes that 
can be identified following a period of service support. This measure seeks to ensure the Supplier 
provides outcome focused, personalised support that can demonstrate the impact/improvement 

for individuals through service support. 
 
This KPI requires the Supplier to capture the number of people exiting the service with an 

improvement in their outcome score (e.g. an overall combined Exit Score a minimum of one point 
higher than combined Entry Score at Assessment).  

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number of service users who have exiting the service with a higher Exit 
Score than Entry Score. 

P
age 311



 

 

Denominator 
The total number of service users who have exited the service in a planned way within the 

reporting period. 

Indicator Data Source Customer Mosaic Workflow 

Target 95% 

Service Credit? Yes 

Value Type Percentage   

Target Performance 

Tolerance  
5% 

Monitoring Frequency Monthly 

Reporting Frequency Quarterly  

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-02 

Indicator Name Delaying and reducing the need for adult care and support  

Definition/Description 
The percentage of service users who receive a Wellbeing Service Assessment who go on to receive 
long term support from adult care. 

P
age 312



 

 

Rationale for Indicator 

Percentage of those that received a Wellbeing Service (defined as those receiving an Assessment) 

during the year who had not previously received adult care support where the sequel to any 
subsequent requests for support during the same reporting year was long term support. Lower is 
better to evidence low dependency on intensive long term support following the short term service 

from Wellbeing. 
 
This measure will reflect the proportion of those service users who received a Wellbeing Service 

(Assessment) during the year and, following exit from the Wellbeing Service, made a further 
request to Adult Services which resulted in a referral to long term adult care support.  
 
The aim of short-term services is to promote independence, this measure will provide evidence to 

support the service aim of delaying dependency or reducing the need for long term adult care 
support. 

Numerator 
Of the referrals in the denominator, the number of service users who went on to receive adult care 
long term support (Long Term Support - Nursing,; Long Term Support - Residential; or Long Term 

Support - Community) in the same calendar year as the Wellbeing Service referral.  

Denominator 
The total number of referrals received into the service during each calendar year, minus those 
already in receipt of adult care long term support at the point of referral. 

Indicator Data Source Provider Case Management System and Lincolnshire County Council: SALT Return: STS001 subset 

Target Less than 5% 

 

P
age 313



 

 

Service Credit? No  

Value Type Percentage  

Target Performance 
Tolerance  

2%  

Monitoring Frequency Annually  

Reporting Frequency Annually  

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-03 

Indicator Name 
Percentage of telecare call-outs attended within 60 minutes of the alarm being notified to the 
Wellbeing Service 

Definition/Description 
The percentage of all Telecare Response Service call-outs attended within 60 minutes of being 
notified to the Wellbeing Service by the call monitoring provider. 

Attendance is defined as arrival time at the service users registered home address. 

Rationale for Indicator 

Prompt support to service users requiring assistance is likely to contribute to improved outcomes 

and wellbeing. It is expected that a telecare response will be attended to within a maximum 60 
minutes of being notified to the Wellbeing Service by the call monitoring provider. This measure 
supports monitoring of the timeliness of responses to maximise positive outcomes for individuals 

utilising the Telecare Response Service. 

P
age 314



 

 

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number attended within 60 minutes of the alarm being of being notified to 
the Wellbeing Service by the call monitoring provider 

Denominator 
Number of all response service alarm calls notified to the Wellbeing Service by the call monitoring 

provider during the reporting period. 

Indicator Data Source Provider Case Management System 

Target 90% 
 

Service Credit? Yes  

Value Type Percentage  

Target Performance 
Tolerance  

5%  

Monitoring Frequency Monthly  

Reporting Frequency Quarterly   

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-04 

Indicator Name 
Percentage of generic support sessions that commence within 21 calendar days of service 

referral 

P
age 315



 

 

Definition/Description 

The percentage of generic support sessions that commence within 21 calendar days of the service 
referral being received into the service (or later if explicitly requested by the service user, all 
requested exceptions to this timescale shall be recorded on the service users Support Plan)  
 

Commence is defined as the date of the  first session of generic support with the service user. 

Rationale for Indicator 

Timely support to service users is a key priority of the Customer to ensure support is facilitated to 

positively influence individuals outcomes and service experience. This measure seeks to measure 
and monitor the timeliness of service users commencing generic support interventions following 
their referral being received into the service. 

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number where the date of their first generic support session was 21 
calendar days or less from the date of their service referral being received into the service. 

Denominator 
The total number of unique service user generic support interventions commencing (first session) 
within the reporting period. 

Indicator Data Source Customer Mosaic Workflow 

Target 90% 

Service Credit? Yes 

Value Type Percentage   

Target Performance Tolerance  5% 

Monitoring Frequency Monthly 

P
age 316



 

 

Reporting Frequency Quarterly  

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-05 

Indicator Name Percentage of small aid installations fitted within 7 days of referral 

Definition/Description 

Percentage of small aid installations fitted within 7 calendar days of the need being identified  (or 

later if explicitly requested by the service user, all requested exceptions to this timescale shall be 
recorded on the service users Support Plan). 
 

For the aviodance of doubt, this measure covers installations of small aids by the Wellbeing 
Service only. 
 
It is the Customers expectation that following small aids being identified/agreed with the service 

user, these are referred to the Small Aids and Minor Alterations element of the service on the 
same working day as they are identified within an assessment or generic support intervention.  

Rationale for Indicator 
This measure seeks to monitor the timeliness of installation of small aids following this need 
being identified and agreed the service user. Small aids may support individuals to safely navigate 
their home environment, hence they should be installed as quickly as possible.  

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number that are installed within 7 calendar days of the referral for 
installation (or at a later date as required by the service user) 

Denominator Total number of small aid installations identified within the reporting period. 

P
age 317



 

 

Indicator Data Source Customer Mosaic Workflow 

Target 80% 
 

Service Credit? No  

Value Type Percentage  

Target Performance Tolerance  5%  

Monitoring Frequency Monthly  

Reporting Frequency Quarterly   

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-06 

Indicator Name Percentage of service users who exit the service in a planned way 

Definition/Description 

The percentage of service users who access generic support interventions from the Wellbeing 

Service and exit the service in a planned way.  
 
Individuals who have a planned exit from the service are those that complete a final review of their 

outcomes (including service experience outcomes) on exit of the service.  

P
age 318



 

 

Rationale for Indicator 

This measure is seeking to monitor the proportion of service users who remain engaged with the 
service and exit following their period of intervention in a planned way. Monitoring planned exits 

will support intelligence and learning on the proportion of service users who 'complete' their 
support from the service and utilise learning from those who do not exit in this way to inform 
engagement and retention strategies. 

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number who have recorded exit scores for their identified outcomes and 

have completed the service experience outcomes. 

Denominator 
The total number of unique service users with a generic support case closure date within the 
reporting period 

Indicator Data Source Customer Mosaic Workflow 

Target 85% 

Service Credit? No 

Value Type Percentage    

Target Performance 
Tolerance  

5% 

Monitoring Frequency Quarterly 

Reporting Frequency Quarterly  

 

P
age 319



 

 

Indicator ID WBS_KPI-07 

Indicator Name 
Customer Experience: service users feel they received effective information, advice and access to 
community resources 

Definition/Description 

The percentage of service users who rated their service experience within the reporting  period that 

strongly agreed or agreed to the customer experience statement   "The Service provided me with 
the information and advice I needed and how to access support and community resources going 
forward if I require this." 

 
Service Experience Outcomes responses to be captured at planned exit from the service  
 

Scale to be used [strongly agree, agree, neither agree nor disagree, disagree, strongly disagree]  

Rationale for Indicator 

The Customer is keen to ensure that individuals have a positive experience of services. This 
indicator enables the Customer and Supplier to monitor the experience of service users to drive 
continuous improvement, in particular how effectively individuals feel the service has supported 

information and advice to access resources independently as required. 

Numerator 
Of the denominator, the number that strongly agreed or agreed to the customer experience 
statement  "The Service provided me with the information and advice I needed and how to access 
support and community resources going forward if I require this." 

Denominator 
The total number of responses to the Customer Experience questions completed during planned 
service exits within the reporting period.  

Indicator Data Source Customer Mosaic Workflow 

P
age 320



 

 

Target 95% 

Service Credit? No 

Value Type Percentage    

Target Performance 
Tolerance  

5% 

Monitoring Frequency Quarterly 

Reporting Frequency Quarterly 

 
  

P
age 321



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome area 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0

Maintaining my home environment so that it keeps me safe, warm, and well and reduces my chances 

of accidents.

Help finding and fitting a small aid or piece of equipment or make a small alteration, that helps me to 

get around my home and use the facilities.

Learning home management and life skills, to do for myself, or obtain services to do for me, tasks 

such as cooking, cleaning, laundry, shopping, and gardening.

Managing my household budget better, maximise my income, reduce my expenses and avoid being 

scammed.

Improving my digital skills and be better at using technology to help me to stay independent and 

safe.

Supported to live with a combination of long-term conditions to maintain or improve my quality of 

life.

Find and stay in education, training, or work while I am of working age.

Build a better support network, social life, or volunteer.

I do not have a need to improve this 

outcome

As good as it can be:

Confident in ability to maintain 

improvement in outcome area

I feel like I am improving:

Actively engaged in making changes 

and improvements in this area but still 

needs some support to maintain or 

continue with progress.

I want to improve:

Taking the initiative to improve 

outcome area and intent on taking 

action. Recognises that change would 

be good. Self-belief they can improve.

I know I need to improve:

I am aware of the challenges faced in 

this outcome area, and starting to 

have the necessary conversations to 

address immediate risks or issues.

I don't have a problem:

Does not acknowledge/recognise 

changes are needed, or 

unable/unwilling to access support in 

this outcome area despite identifying 

this at referral.

P
age 322



 

 

SCHEDULE 6 
 

KEY PERSONNEL 
 
PART 1 
 

Customer’s Key Personnel 
 

Name Job Title Responsibilities 
 

Anne-Marie Scott Customer’s Representative Strategic decision making for 
the Customer 
 

Rachel West Customer’s Contract 
Manager 

Day-to-Day decision making 
and contract management 
 

 
 
PART 2 
 
Provider’s Key Personnel 

 
Name 
 

Job Title Responsibilities 

Emily Spicer 
 

Provider’s Representative Contract Lead, East Lindsay 
District Council Strategic 
decision making for the 
Provider 
 

David Postle  Provider’s Contract Manager Day-to-Day decision making 
and contract management 
 

 

Page 323



 

241 
 

SCHEDULE 7 
 

DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN 
 
1. CONTENT OF THE DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN 

 

1.1 The Supplier shall ensure that the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan includes:  
 

(a) details of  how the Supplier shall implement the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity 
Plan; 

 
(b) details of  how the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan inter-operates with any 

other disaster recovery and business continuity plan of  the Customer (as notif ied by the 
Customer f rom time to time); 

 
(c) details as to how the invocation of  any element of  the Disaster Recovery and Business 

Continuity Plan may impact on the operation of  the Services and a full analysis of  the risks 

to the operation of  the Services;  
 
(d) identif ication of  all reasonably possible failures of  or disruptions to the Services;  
 
(e) In respect of  any sof tware used in the Services, the back-up methodology, data verif ication 

procedures, hardware conf iguration details, network planning and invocation rules and 
procedures, data centre site audits, possible areas where system critical elements can be 
''dual sourced'' so as to eliminate or minimise single points of failure and business continuity 
maintenance; 

 
(f ) identif ication of  all potential disaster recovery scenarios;  

 
(g) provision of  appropriate levels of  spares, maintenance equipment and test equipment;  
 
(h) responsibilities of  the Sub-Contractors in the event of  a Disaster; 
 
(i) Service Levels that the Supplier shall have to comply with in the event of  a Disaster; and  
 
(j) Customer obligations and dependencies. 
 
 

1.2  The Supplier shall ensure that the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan identif ies and 
details the processes and activities which it shall implement upon the occurrence of  business -
critical emergency situations. In particular, the Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan 
shall include: 
 
(a) identif ication of  Service priorities in the event of  a Disaster;  

 
(b) risk analysis of  key business risks (including failure scenarios, assessments, identification of 

single points of  failure and ways to manage such failure and business impact analysis). Key 
business risks could include the loss of  Staf f, Key Personnel, Premises, key resources and 
key Sub-Contractors and/or suppliers; 

 
(b)  details of  business processes, procedures (including procedures for activation, escalation 

and recovery) and responsibilities; 
 
(c) a communications strategy for Staff, the media and key internal and external stakeholders;  

 
(d) identif ication of  key internal and external interdependencies;  
 

Page 324



 

242 
 

(e) identif ication of  essential resources and Equipment needed during a Disaster;  
 
(f ) a contact list that contains details of all Staf f, Sub-Contractors and anyone to be relied upon 

by the Supplier to provide the Services; and  
 
(d) procedures for reverting to normal Service delivery.  

 
 

2. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE DISASTER RECOVERY AND BUSINESS 
CONTINUITY PLAN  
 
The Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity Plan shall be reviewed by the Customer and the 
Supplier annually, or at such other times as may be requested by the Customer or the Supplier. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 325



 

243 
 

SCHEDULE 8 
 

MINIMUM INFORMATION SECURITY STANDARDS 
 
The point of  contact for Data Subjects is: 
 

For the Customer: 
Name: Amy Jaines, or their successor 
Job title: Data Protection Off icer 
Email: DPO@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
For the Supplier: 
Name: David Postle 
Job title: Wellbeing Service Manager 
Email: David.postle@e-lindsey.gov.uk 
 
 

A. MINIMUM INFORMATION SECURITY CONTROLS 
 

The minimum security controls detailed within this Schedule are to be in place at all times when 
processing Information for the purpose of  or in connection with the delivery of  the Services. Such 
Information includes Personal Data and other Conf idential Information or data.  

 
1. GENERAL 

  
1.1 The Supplier shall have a security policy in place which sets out management commitment to 

information security, def ines information security responsibilities, and ensures appropriate 
governance. 

 
1.2   All Staf f  shall complete data protection and information security training  commensurate with their 

role. 
 

2. ICT INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Boundary Firewall and Internet Gateways 
 

2.1 Information, applications and devices shall be protected against unauthorised access and 
disclosure f rom the internet, using boundary f irewalls, internet gateways or equivalent network 

devices. 
 
Secure Configuration 
 

2.2 ICT systems and devices shall be conf igured to reduce the level of  inherent vulnerabilities and 
provide only the services required to fulf il their role.  
 
User Access Control 
 

2.3 User accounts shall be assigned to authorised individuals only, managed ef fectively, and they 
shall provide the minimum level of  access to applications, devices, networks, and Personal Data. 

 
2.4 Access control (username & password) shall be in place.  A password policy shall be in place 

which includes provisions to ensure:- 
 
(a) avoidance of  the use of  weak or predictable passwords; 
(b) all default passwords are changed; 
(c) robust measures are in place to protect administrator passwords; and 
(d) account lock out or throttling is in place to defend against automated guessing attacks.  

Page 326



 

244 
 

 
2.5 End user activity shall be auditable and include the identity of  end-users who have accessed 

systems. 
 
Malware Protection 
 

2.6 Mechanisms to identify detect and respond to malware on ICT systems and devices shall be in 
place and shall be fully licensed, supported, and have all available updates applied.  

 
Patch Management and Vulnerability Assessment 
 

2.7 Updates and sof tware patches shall be applied in a controlled and timely manner and shall be 
supported by patch management policies. 
 

2.8 The Supplier shall adopt a method for gaining assurance in its organisation's vulnerability 
assessment and management processes, for example by undertaking regular penetration tests.  
 

2.9 Sof tware which is no longer supported shall be removed f rom ICT systems and devices. 
 
Cloud Services 
 

2.10 The Supplier shall ensure that the controls applied to the use of  cloud services satisfactorily 
supports the relevant security principles set out in the National Cyber Security Centre Cloud 
Security Principles: 
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/implementing -cloud-security-principles 
 

3. PROTECTING INFORMATION 
 

Electronic Information 
 

3.1 Electronic copies of  Information shall be encrypted at rest to protect against unauthorised access. 
 

3.2 When transmitting Information over the internet, over a wireless communication network e.g. Wi-
Fi, or over an untrusted network the Supplier shall use an encrypted communication protocol. 
 

3.3 The Supplier shall only use ICT which is under its governance and subject to the controls set out 
in this Schedule. 
 

Hard Copy Confidential Information 
 

3.4 Hard copy Confidential Information shall be stored securely when not in use and access to it shall 
be controlled. 
 

3.5 Hard copy Conf idential Information shall be transported in a secure manner commensurate with 
the impact a compromise or loss of information would have and which reduces the risk of  loss or 
thef t. 
 
Secure Destruction of Information 
 

3.6 Electronic copies of  Information shall be securely destroyed when no longer required, including 
Information stored on servers, desktops, laptops or other hardware and media.  
 

3.7 Hard copy Information shall be securely destroyed when no longer required. 
 

3.8 Secure destruction means destroying Information so it cannot be recovered or reconstituted. 
 

3.9 A destruction certif icate may be required by the Customer to provide the necessary assurance 

Page 327



 

245 
 

that secure destruction has occurred. 
 

4. SECURITY INCIDENTS/PERSONAL DATA BREACH 
 

4.1 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately of  any fact or event which results in, or has 
the potential to result in, the compromise, misuse, or loss of Customer Information, ICT services 

or assets. 
 

4.2 The Supplier shall notify the Customer immediately of  any Personal Data Breach if  the breach 
relates to Personal Data processed on behalf  of  the Customer.  
 

4.3 The Supplier  shall fully co-operate with any investigation that the Customer requires as a result 
of  such a security incident or Personal Data Breach. 
 

5. COMPLIANCE 
 

5.1 The Supplier  shall inform  the Customer of  any non-compliance with the controls set out in this 

Schedule.  Any def iciencies in controls shall be subject to a documented risk management 
process and where appropriate a Remediation Plan shall to be implemented with the aim of  
reducing, where possible, those def iciencies. 
 

5.2 Independent validation which has been used as evidence of  appropriate security controls by the 
Supplier shall be maintained by the Supplier for the duration of  the Contract. 
 

5.3 The  Supplier shall  inform the Customer of  any expired or revoked evidence used as independent 
validation. 

 
 

Page 328



 

246 
 

SCHEDULE 9 
 

EXIT STRATEGY REQUIREMENTS 

 
1 Without prejudice to the provisions set out in the Contract (including clause B8 and Section H) 

upon notif ication of this Contract terminating, howsoever caused, or twelve (12) months prior to 
the expiry of  this Contract, the parties will meet to discuss a timetable for drawing up and will draw 
up a handover plan covering the performance of  the obligations of  both parties during the 
handover period. In any event, the Supplier will, at no cost to the Customer, provide such 

cooperation, information and assistance to the Customer as may be reasonably required by the 
Customer to transfer and to enable a smooth migration of  the Services being supplied by the 
Supplier including enabling the Customer and/or a future supplier to perform services the same 
as or substantially the same as the Services in a similar manner as required under this Contract 
("Future Supplier"). 

 
2 The Supplier and the Customer shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure all appropriate 

arrangements are put in place to give ef fect to the transition of  the Services to the Customer or a 
Future Supplier. 

 
3 The Supplier agrees that if  it is requested by the Customer it shall use all reasonable endeavours 

to assign or novate any then existing contracts which the Supplier has entered into with third 
parties in connection with the provision of  the Services including the leasing of  any equipment 
used in the delivery of  the Services to the Customer or to any Future Supplier.  

 
4 The Supplier shall not in the twelve (12) month period prior to the expiry of  this Contract (or such 

period remaining where a notice of  termination has been issued) (the "Applicable Period") in 
relation to the Services except with the prior written consent of  the Customer, such consent not 
to be unreasonably withheld or delayed: 

 
4.1 incur any expenditure or enter into any commitments other than in the ordinary course of  

trading; 

 
4.2 dispose of  or agree to dispose of  or grant any option in respect of  any part of  any land, 

buildings, equipment, spare parts, tools books, records, revenues, Intellectual Property 
Rights (excluding those assets which the Authority is the full legal and benef icial owner of) 
other than stock in the ordinary course of  trading; 

 
4.3 materially vary the terms of  any contracts with any provider of  goods and/or services already 

entered into; 
 
4.4 enter into any long-term (being 12 months or longer), unusual or abnormal contract or 

commitment; 
 
4.5 enter into any leasing, hire purchase, contract hire or other agreements or arrangements 

for payment on deferred terms; 
 
4.6 grant or issue or agree to grant or issue any mortgages, charges, debentures or other 

securities for money or redeem or agree to redeem any such securities or give or agree to 
give any guarantees or indemnities or, without prejudice to the foregoing generality, create 
or permit to subsist any other encumbrance over all or any of  its present or future incomes 
or assets af fecting this Contract and/or the provision of  the Services;  

 

4.7 permit any of  its insurances to lapse or do anything which would make any policy of  
insurance void or voidable; 

 
4.8 in any way depart f rom the ordinary course of  its day to day business either as regards the 

nature or scope or the manner of  conducting the same; 

Page 329



 

247 
 

 
4.9 pay any fees or commissions to any persons other than fees payable on arm's length terms 

to third parties who have rendered bona f ide service or advice required in the ordinary 
course of  business; 

 
4.10 release, waive or modify any warranty or guarantee given by any supplier of  goods or 

services; 
 
4.11 cause or permit any item comprised in the records relating to the Services to be removed 

or destroyed or any programs or data held on the computer systems of  the Supplier and 
relating to the Services to be removed or deleted except for the deletion of  Personal Data 
where required to ensure compliance with the DPA or for the ef f icient running of  the 
computer system in question af ter satisfactory back-up copies have been made and 
securely stored of f -site; 

 
4.12 terminate the employment of  any of  the Relevant Employees for any reason whatsoever 

without f irst obtaining the consent of  the Customer to such termination save where, in the 

reasonable opinion of  the Supplier, termination is justif ied for cause due to the actions of  
any such of  the Relevant Employees; 

 
4.13 alter or change in any way any of  the terms and conditions of employment of  any of  the 

Relevant Employees whether with or without the consent of  the Relevant Employees other 
than for wage or salary awards which are in line with those of fered generally for similar 
individuals within the Supplier's workforce or as is required by law (for the avoidance of  
doubt, the Supplier will provide upon request by the Customer evidence that any such wage 
or salary award is in line with those of fered generally for similar individuals); 

 
4.14 relocate or assign to new duties any of  the Relevant Employees, or assign to the provision 

of  the Services any employee not so assigned at the commencement of  the Applicable 
Period, or increase to any signif icant degree the proportion of working time spent  on the 
Services by any such employee, without the prior written consent of  the Customer, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; or 

 
4.15 make any other alterations to the structure or composition of  the Relevant Employees which 

are intended to or which may preclude the application of  the Regulations upon the 
resumption of  service by the Customer or another service provider.  

 
 

 

Page 330



 
LINCOLNSHIRE WELLBEING SERVICE: WELLBEING LINCS 

 

MANAGEMENT BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

13 January 2025 to 12 January 2029 + any contract extension period 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Wellbeing Lincs Management Board (“The Board”) is the mechanism for delivering the 
outcomes required following the award by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) of the re-
commissioned Wellbeing Service Contract (“The Contract”) to East Lindsey District Council 
(ELDC) as Lead Contractor on behalf of Lincolnshire’s seven District Councils.  

 
1.2 Wellbeing Lincs will continue to consist of four delivery partner councils: East Lindsey 

(ELDC), North Kesteven (NKDC) and West Lindsey (WLDC) District Councils, plus City of 
Lincoln Council (“the Delivery Partners”). 

 
2. Purpose 

 
2.1 The Board is established to oversee implementation of the new Lincolnshire Wellbeing 

Service (“The Service”) Wellbeing Lincs, and its ongoing delivery. To achieve this the Board 
will monitor progress and identify and resolve any issues to achieve the aims and objectives 
of the Contract that include:  

 

• The enhancement of wellbeing, and a reduction or delay in the escalation to statutory 
support services. 

• Improving accessibility to support services when they are needed. 

• The delivery of services that are tailored to an individual’s specific needs and fit for 
purpose. 

• Equal opportunity regardless of location within Lincolnshire. 

• The promotion of social inclusion, building stronger communities. 
 

2.2 The Board will ensure that Wellbeing Lincs: 
 

• Uses resources effectively; 

• Develops innovative joint responses to identified need; 

• Provides the best fit to the service specification and contract; 

• Provides the best outcomes for local residents; and  

• The best value for money from the service fee for the public purse.  
 

3. Roles and responsibilities: 
 

3.1 The Board is responsible for: 
 

• Ensuring a continued and extended high degree of collaboration between the Delivery 
Partners. 

• Ensuring service delivery by each Delivery Partner is effective.  

• Ensuring separate elements of the contract are delivered coherently and equitably 
across the county. 

• Overseeing the operational delivery including vacancy management. 

• Developing and implementing improvements and innovations; 

• Providing peer support and challenge. 

• Ensuring through its actions and tasks delegated to the Service Manager that the service 
works for all Lincolnshire residents. 

Page 331



• Ensuring that: plans are appropriate and robust; risks are addressed; risk registers 
updated; staffing arrangements are appropriate; agreed communication plans are 
implemented; and provide information to enable ELDC to assure LCC of the security of 
the contract. 

• Overseeing delivery of all elements of the service, and ensure service performance 
standards are achieved, identifying remedial action as required. 

 
3.2 The Board will strategically manage performance against key outcomes of the Contract. 
 
4. Membership of the Board: 

 
4.1 The Board consists of:  
 

Council Person 

East Lindsey District Council Emily Spicer, Assistant Director – Wellbeing & Community 
Leadership 

North Kesteven District Council Tracy Aldrich, Director of Housing & Property Services 

West Lindsey District Council Sarah Elvin, Homes & Health Team Manager 

City of Lincoln Council Paula Burton, Assistant Director – Housing Management 

Service Representative (Chair) David Postle, Wellbeing Lincs Service Manager 

 
4.2 The quorum for the meeting will be three members of the Board, excluding the Chair.  
 
4.3 Individual Board members may be substituted by another appropriate member of their 

organisation.  
 
5. Frequency of meetings:  

 
5.1 The Board will meet via Teams: -  
 

• Mobilisation stage (September 2024 to January 2025) every two weeks. 
 

• Implementation stage (January 2025 to July 2025) at least monthly to ensure that the 
service is applied consistently across Lincolnshire and meets the needs of residents as 
envisaged in the Contract specification. 
 

• Service Delivery stage (July 2025 onwards) at least quarterly to consolidate service 
delivery, support continuous improvement and ensure sound financial management. 

 
5.2 Meetings will be convened by the Service Manager, with administrative support provided by 

Delivery Partners whenever possible. 
 
5.3 There are no formal rules of debate set down for Board meetings.  
 
5.4 Items to be discussed at any meeting or teleconference of the Board will be set down in an 

agenda and sent to every member of the Board at least 5 working days before the meeting.   
 

5.5 Extraordinary Meetings can be called between scheduled meetings to deal with urgent 
items, including for example: vacancy management decisions, urgent financial items, urgent 
risks, serious incidents. 

 
6. Decision making 

 

Page 332



6.1 In all meetings, decisions will usually be made by consensus whilst recognising the 
constraints on ELDC as the lead contractor and the terms of the Collaboration Agreement.  
All delivery partners will have one vote; however, should a tied situation arise with no 
solution possible, the Chair will cast a deciding vote. 

 
7. Review 

 
7.1 The Board will on a 6 monthly basis review its terms of reference and working 

arrangements.  
 
 
Agreed [Insert date]. 

Page 333



 
 
 
 

CORPORATE, POLICY & 
RESOURCE COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 12 December 
2024 

 

     
Subject: Review of Cultural Events 2024 and Provision for 2025/26 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Planning, Regeneration & 
Communities 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Cara Markham 
Commercial Development Manager 
 
cara.markham@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

 

To set out a review of the cultural events 
programme delivered during 2024 and to seek 
approval for use of the Cultural Reserve to 
support the cultural events programme in line 
with the Cultural Strategy and Action Plan.  

 
  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

1. Members note the delivery of the 2024 cultural events programme.  
 

2. Members approve the draw down of £65,500 from the Cultural Reserve 
as a contribution to the cultural events programme for 2025/26. 

 
 

 

Page 334

Agenda Item 6d



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: N/A 

(N.B.) Where there are legal implications the report MUST be seen by the MO 

 

Financial : FIN/109/25/CPR/SSc 

The Cultural Reserve was established during the process of developing an 
approach to culture in the district.  

This paper seeks approval for use of the Cultural Reserve to fund the events 
programme at a cost of £65.5k. 

 

This would leave a balance on the Cultural Reserve of £48.6k. 

 

 

Staffing : N/A 

HR REF:  

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights : 

Cultural delivery is open and accessible to all. Many of the programmed events 
are free to attend and are promoted to all residents across the district. 

 

Data Protection Implications : N/A 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: N/A 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: 

Cultural activity will support the delivery of community cultural activity, and this 
has the potential to offer diversionary activities. 

 

Description

Scale 

Point 

25/26

Contract extension Start Date End Date 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

250,900

Already approved Cutural Development Manager 9c 37hrs, FT for 2 years 01/11/2024 30/10/2026 13,000    55,600    43,200      111,800 

Already approved Go Festival 25,000        25,000 

Cultural Events and Activities (Excl Go Festival) 65,500        65,500 

Total £     13,000   146,100     43,200   202,300 

48,600

Opening Balance on Cultural Strategy Reserve

Closing Balance on Cultural Strategy Reserve

Page 335



Health Implications: 

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2023-2027 commits to a strategic aim of 
“reducing health inequalities, promoting healthy lifestyles and improving 
wellbeing across the district” which will partially be achieved by the Council 
increasing opportunities for sport, culture and leisure activities across the 
district. A key outcome of delivering this aim is the provision of a “co-ordinated 
cultural events and activity programme that increases participation and meets 
the needs of our people across the district.” 
 
Retention of the existing officers will increase capacity to deliver this strategic 
outcome. 

 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report : 

Cultural Strategy  

Cultural Action Plan  

 

 

Risk Assessment :   

N/A 

 

Call in and Urgency: 

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No   

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes   No   

Page 336



Executive Summary 
 
 
The Cultural Strategy was approved in April 2024, the strategy included a clear 

action plan for delivery with achievable outcomes. 

This paper reviews the cultural programme delivered over the last 12 months 

and the resource required for delivery.  

 

Officers to date have been able to utilise the UK Shared Prosperity Funds to 

deliver activity but the fund ends in March 2025, with a transition year proposed, 

however details of funding allocations remain unclear.  

 

This report requests a draw down from the Cultural Reserve to invest in delivery 

the cultural programme and maintain the current level of cultural programming. 

 

It is imperative that the Council remains consistent to demonstrate strong 

ambition when applying for long term sustainable grant funding from the Arts 

Council England and, to avoid a negative reputational impact of withdrawing 

successful events and activity from the West Lindsey residents, schools, 

community groups and businesses.   

 

The current balance of the Cultural Reserve is £114,100 the proposal sets out 

a need for £65,500 to support the delivery of the Cultural Strategy and Action 

Plan, leaving a balance of £48,600 in the reserve. 

Page 337



 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This paper reviews the cultural events and activities that have taken 

place in the last 12 months and recommends the use of the Cultural 
Reserve to support delivery over the next 12 months. 
 

1.2 The link below directs Members to the website page for the Cultural 
Strategy and provides a video link to a year-round summary of the 
cultural events delivered throughout the term of the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund.  

1.3  
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/transport-visitors-markets-
leisure/culture-arts-heritage/culture 
 

1.4 To date the delivery has been achieved using the roles detailed below. 
 

 Commercial, Cultural and Leisure Development Manager 

 Cultural Events and Marketing Officer – fixed term, March 2025 

 Cultural Support Officer – fixed term, March 2025 

 Mayflower 400 Officer – fixed term, March 2025 

 Towns Manager   
 
1.5 Operational and programming support has also been provided from the 

Trinity Arts Centre Manager and Technical Manager.  
 

1.6 The recruitment of the Cultural Outreach Officer is now complete and 
the new post will commence on 01 January 2025. The Cultural 
Development Manager is currently being undertaken, with interview 
being held on 11 December 2024. 

 
1.7 In the last 12 months the following events have been delivered - 

 
*New Impressions – GPS data, not seen in Gainsborough Market Place since May 2024 
** Mobile GPS data – estimated at 1 adult per family/group attending the event 

 

Event  Location  Workshops/ 
Fringe events 

Participants/Attendance 
main event  

Partners 

Illuminate  Gainsborough 7 2918 7 

Go Festival  Gainsborough 15 Approx. 3050 (adult only**) 12 

WordFest Market Rasen 5 Unknown 8 

WordFest  Gainsborough 7 1938 + (*618 New) 10 

Trinity on Tour Market Rasen - 157 3 

Nature Calling  Wolds/Market 
Rasen 

12+ expected Ends Summer 2025 10 

Live & Local District wide - 664 (14 shows) 4 

Christmas Lights 
Festival  

Gainsborough - TBC 11 

Page 338

https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/transport-visitors-markets-leisure/culture-arts-heritage/culture
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/transport-visitors-markets-leisure/culture-arts-heritage/culture


 

2. Cultural Outcome Review 
 
2.1  Over the past 12 months there has been an increased number of 

cultural, heritage and creative programmes running across the district. 
 
2.2  There has also been an increase in cultural partners and businesses 

that are now engaged with the Council’s cultural delivery. This includes 
over 12 schools, 10 heritage sites, 7 voluntary and community sector 
groups, and 15 business. The ambition is to bring all this enthusiasm 
and collective work together with the development of the West Lindsey 
Cultural Board.  

 
2.3 Feeback surveys from the legacy events show a strong and positive 

engagement with all activities provided and delivered. This has been 
collected through online surveys, social media comments and 
compliments and through the Customer Experience Manager.  

 
2.4  The evaluation data from Go Festival 2024 can be found in Appendix 1. 
 
2.5 There has been an increased footfall into the Market Place, with data 

analysis indicating a spike in visitors on a Farmers’ Market weekend 
regularly reaching over 2000 impressions. 

 
2.6 The Council has worked with numerous organisations and businesses 

to create activity to suit all ages, abilities and interests through place 
based cultural activity.  
This includes. 

 Lincolnshire Co-Op 

 Lincolnshire YMCA  

 Lincolnshire Heritage 

 Everyone Active  

 The Heritage Centre 

 Connexions 
 

Markets in Gainsborough and Market Rasen have stimulated the local 
and visitor economy, this has included a Food and Drink Festival in 
Market Rasen, the Young Trader Market in Gainsborough and 
supporting Caistor Town Council to adopt the same Young Trader 
model to diversify their offer. 
 

2.7  As set out in the strategy, we aim to build on this community 
involvement as we develop our networks and working relationships 
with community cultural organisations.  

 
 
3. Legacy Events Review 
 
3.1 The Illuminate legacy event has been delivered for 8 years, the event 

hosts a parade, fire garden in grounds of the Parish Church and 
projections onto the Gainsborough Old Hall.  

Page 339



 

The event has strong links to schools, with artists and WLDC staff 
holding lantern making workshops during school time and encouraging 
students to join the community lantern parade that starts the festival. 
The total cost for this event was £25,700, with a contribution of £1,000 
from the Town Council. 

 
https://discovergainsborough.com/illuminate2024/ 

 
 
3.2 The GO Festival (Revive) was born out a strong programming 

relationship with the Arts Council funded, SO Festival based in East 
Lindsey. 
The GO Festival showcases local professional artists, community 
groups and international artists. The international artists are 
programmed as part of an East Midlands tour that promotes cultural 
learning, growth and gives East Midland residents free access to 
international cultural talent. 
The GO festival provides numerous community workshops including 
silk painting, choreography lessons, puppet making and the bunting 
blast which developed bespoke bunting that has been used as 
decoration around the Gainsborough Town Centre, Marshall’s Yard 
and the WLDC Lincolnshire Show marquee.  
The total cost for this event was £40,200 with an Arts Council project 
grant of £30,000 and a contribution of £3,000 from the Town Council. 
 
For the GO Festival 2025 event, fringe events in the central and 
eastern areas of the District will be added to the programme and will 
also include a SO/GO Festival school collaboration. 
 
https://discovergainsborough.com/go-festival-photo-gallery/ 

 
 
3.3 The Christmas Lights Festival (Christmas Lights Switch On) The 

annual event was previously ran by the Town Council, then contracted 
to Marshall’s Yard and now is delivered by WLDC Officers with support 
from community groups and the Town Council. 
The two day event has had very positive feedback from businesses, 
residents and visitors. The event showcases school choirs, dance 
groups, local traders and professional artists. 
 
New community groups supporting this event included, RAF Cadets, 
Queen Elizabeth’s High School, Men’s Shed and Bearded Fisherman. 
 
This year the Council’s aim was to entice new traders to the event and 
promote the ongoing general and farmers’ markets, with a low 
pitch/stall cost, to create demand for future years.  
This has proven successful with increased numbers, positive feedback, 
and new contacts to support the year-round market offer.  
Trader feedback is available in Appendix 3.  
The Council can now raise the cost of the pitch/stalls and maintain 
trader numbers. 
 

Page 340

https://discovergainsborough.com/illuminate2024/
https://discovergainsborough.com/go-festival-photo-gallery/


 

The Council faced a challenge on the Friday evening of the event, this 
challenge was created by the Marshall’s Yard switch on at 7pm, this 
created a surge in footfall at the crossing between the two sites. 
Whilst Marshall’s Yard failed to act, the Council officers and Security, 
adapted and quickly made the crossing as safe as possible.  
A follow up report and investigation will be recommended to the Safety 
Advisory Group by the Event Manager, Cara Markham.  
 
This event seeks sponsorship from local businesses to help with the 
costs of the event. The contribution from local businesses in 2024 was 
£1,200 despite over 40 businesses being contacted by the Cultural 
Support Officer by email and telephone.  
  
In 2024 this event charged a small fee of 50p per ride, this generated 
£2000 income, 50% of which will be donated the Chairman’s chosen 
charity, the Brain Tumour Charity.   
The final cost of this event was £31,000 with a contribution of £5,000 
from the Town Council and £1,200 in sponsorship. 
 
https://discovergainsborough.com/christmas-lights-festival-2024-photo-
gallery/ 
 
 

  
3.4  Legacy event budget example  
 

Christmas Lights Festival 2024   

Logistics and Operations  £13,800 Road closure, First aid, 
security, waste management, 
traffic management, 
generators, PRS. 

Entertainment  £11,800 Fairground, walkabout theatre, 
giant snow globe 

Stage line up £2,600 DJ and bands 

Marketing  £2,800 Photography, banners, 
programmes, paid social 

Total  £31,000  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 341

https://discovergainsborough.com/christmas-lights-festival-2024-photo-gallery/
https://discovergainsborough.com/christmas-lights-festival-2024-photo-gallery/


 

 
 
 
4. Gainsborough Farmers’ Market Review 
 
4.1  The Towns Manager programmes the monthly Farmers’ Market with 

themes to support traders and businesses to increase footfall and 
cultural activity in the Gainsborough town centre.  
The budget per market is £500. The market is delivered by the Towns 
Manager and Cultural Support Officer. 

 
4.2   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 The Wordfest in Market Rasen and Gainsborough was new for 2024. 

At both towns a selection of free events and activities were organised 
to support and literature village market. The activities included literature 
talks, theatre, music and craft. The event was delivered with local 
literature groups and residents. The heritage venues, libraries and the 
Old Hall supported the hosting of these activities.  
The total cost for Wordfest 2024 is £4,500.  

 
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/council-news/2024/09/wordfest-set-
bring-literary-delight-gainsborough 

 
 
5.  District Wide Support  
 
5.1  As a part of the Cultural Events and Marketing Officer role, support 

through marketing and promotion is offered to all organisations wishing 
to reach a bigger audience, sell more tickets or grow their engagement. 
The Cultural Events and Marketing Officer also regularly attends 
events hosted by the Voluntary Community Services to assist with 
marketing support and event delivery. 

 
5.2 The Council does this through the West Lindsey social media 

channels, inclusion into the monthly events newsletter which has 4197 
subscribers.  

2024  

February New Year, New You with Everyone Active 

March Illuminate  

April  Rockabilly band – Spring theme or retro theme 

May Dino theme with shop trail  

June Young Traders Market (Go Festival 15 June) 

July  Heritage Skills Festival  

August Olympics - YMCA 

September WordFest – with shop trail 

October  Halloween and Dragons with shop trail 

November 1940s/Remembrance 

December Christmas Market 

February 2025 Pancakes Day/Valentines  

Page 342

https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/council-news/2024/09/wordfest-set-bring-literary-delight-gainsborough
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/council-news/2024/09/wordfest-set-bring-literary-delight-gainsborough


 

The digital boards in both Gainsborough and Market Rasen are 
regularly updated to promote events from across the district. 

 
5.3 The Council also offers a web page that lists events for free. There are 

currently over 25 pages of listings stretching to 2026. 
 The webpage offers a link to an event submission form that can be 

completed by any organisation wishing to promote their event in the 
district.   

  
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/events 

 
 
5.4 The Council has provided £290,762 in financial support across the 

district to a range of cultural groups, community organisation, Parish 
Councils to support the delivery of the cultural strategy. 

 
This financial support has been administered through a range of 
funding tools.  
 
1. Community Facilities Fund 
2. Community Action Fund 
3. Large Village Area Fund 
4. Councillor Initiative Fund 
5. Community Development Fund 
6. COVID Management Fund 

  
 
5.6  A full list of the organisations supported since May 2022 has been 

provided by the Community Engagement Officer and is available in 
Appendix 2. 

 
5.7 An example of the cultural delivery is the award given to Rhubarb 

Theatre that delivered wide reach across the district to 30 schools, 
including Cherry Willingham, Caistor, Tealby and Scotter, plus 
community performances at the Gainsborough Go Festival and the 
Wildlife In Your Backyard event in Market Rasen.  
The total engagement reach was over 6500 over a 6 month period. 

 
5.8 In addition, this year the West Lindsey Churches Festival and the Live 

& Local programme have been core funding through the Council.  
 
5.9 The Council has also committed to the Nature Calling Rural Arts 

project working with Lincolnshire Wolds Countryside Service, East 
Lindsey District Council, Magna Vitae, Arts Council England, Activate 
Performing Arts and Poetry School. The project will host poetry 
workshops and writing classes, youth arts development and an 
exhibition at the GO Festival 2025 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 343

https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/events


 

6.  Cost Of Delivery 
 
6.1  In October 2024, The Commercial, Cultural and Leisure Development 

Manager hosted a Greater Lincolnshire Cultural Network Meeting, this 
meeting was attended by 25 officers and partners from across the 
County. The event was extremely successful with new partnerships 
and strong relationships being formed. As a result, the Lincolnshire 
County Council has gifted WLDC £10,000 towards the community 
engagement delivery element of the Illuminate 2025 event. This money 
will ensure that there will be additional school participations, community 
workshops and a wider reach for the event next year. 

 
6.2 The forecasted amount from Gainsborough Town Council for the 

legacy events for the next 12 months is expected as follows - 
 

Go Festival 2025 - £3,000 
Christmas Lights Festival 2025 - £8,000 
Illuminate 2026 - £1,000 

 
This has been provided by Town Clerk and is an increase of £3,000 
from 2024/2025 financial year. These amounts are yet to be approved 
by the Town Council Committee members.  
Further discussions with Leader of the Council and the Town Council 
are planned to propose what further support the Town Council can 
provide. 
The request from WLDC for Christmas has therefore been reduced to 
reflect the Town Council increase in contribution.  

 
6.3 On 17 October 2024, Members of the Corporate, Policy and Resource 

Committee approved the allocation of £25,000 for the delivery of the 
Go Festival 2025. 

 
 
6.4 The table below now sets out the required funds to maintain the 

cultural programme that has been established.  
 

Event/Market Detail Required budget 
 

Christmas Lights 
Festival 2025 
  

3rd weekend in 
November 

£22,000 

Illuminate 2026 
 

3rd weekend in February £25,000 

Farmers’ Market 11 Markets  
2nd Saturday of the 
month 
 

£5,500 (£500 per 
market) 

Footfall events  
(includes WordFest) 
 

Gainsborough, Market 
Rasen and Caistor  

£6,000 
 

Page 344



 

Marketing and 
Partnership  
 

Promotion across the 
district for all activities  

£6,000 

Budget required  £65,500 
 

 
 
 
 
7.  Risks 
 
7.1  Failure to recruit and/or under resource will impact on the amount of 

activity and quality of the activity which will be delivered.   
To ensure the aims and objectives of the Cultural strategy and the 
Corporate Plan have the maximum impact, it is imperative to recruit the 
correct officers with the relevant experience and skills. 

 
7.2 Should the Council significantly reduce the cultural activity this will 

have a negative impact on future funding applications and Arts Council 
England withdrawing support should the Council fail to demonstrate 
how they are delivering the strategy.  

 
7.3 There is also a risk of withdrawing established and popular events that 

have become a key part of the district’s cultural programme, this will 
have a negative impact on the Council’s reputation in the local 
community and to the town centre businesses and markets that thrive 
during the events. 

 
 
8.  Next Steps 
 
8.1  The Commercial, Cultural and Leisure Development Manager has 

facilitated a discussion with a Senior Relationship Manager at Arts 
Council England to highlight WLDC’s Cultural Strategy and ambitions 
to become a regularly funded organisation through National Portfolio 
Organisation (NPO) status. 

 
8.2 The Manager will continue with these strategic discussions which 

framing and creating the NPO application with a newly appointed 
Cultural Development Manager.  

 
8.3 It has been advised that WLDC look at extending the Cultural Board to 

a Cultural Compact which will encourage businesses and individuals to 
join the Compact to develop a sustainable investment channel into 
culture, allowing businesses to create social value through their 
investment and community work.  

 
8.4 As the UK Shared Prosperity Fund ends on 31 March 2025, 

consideration needs to be given to resourcing the delivery of the legacy 
events, Lincolnshire Show organisation and wider district cultural 
support and promotion as the Cultural Events and Marketing Officer 
and the Support Officer posts will end.  

Page 345



 

 
8.5  The work plan for the Outreach post is now being prepared. Key 

deliverables will include 

 Increase in regular cultural activity. 

 Identify groups and communities to participate in the cultural activity. 

 Develop relationship between groups, communities, schools, town and 
Parish councils.  

 Build a strong database of activity that will become the core 
programming for the annual legacy events.  

 
8.6 The work plan for the Cultural Development Manager will be to lead on 

the delivery of the Cultural Strategy action plan, developing successful 
funding applications, and establishing a Cultural Compact.  

 
 

Page 346



Workshops x 10 – 75 participants, 46 responses:

Participants were asked how strongly they 
agreed(10) or disagreed (1) with statements 
relating to their experience at workshops.* 
The workshops were highly rated across all 
dimensions, with Enthusiasm coming out 
top.
*Distinctiveness: It was different from 

things I've experienced before
Enjoyment: I had a good time
Enthusiasm: I would come to something 
like this again
Local impact: It's important that it's 
happening here
Belonging: It helped me feel part of the 
community
Pride in Place: It made me feel proud of my 
local area
Recommendation: How likely is it that you 
would recommend this event to a friend or 
colleague?

P
age 347



Audience survey – 26 responses; c.2,000 attendees:

Audiences at the final event were asked how strongly they agreed(10) or 
disagreed (1) with statements relating to their experience.* 

The event was positively rated across all dimensions, with Local impact
coming out top – meeting the project aims. The small sample size was 
partly due to poor weather at some points during the day.

* Programme: It was an interesting programme
Variety: It was an interesting mix of work
Distinctiveness: It was different from things I've experienced before
Enjoyment: I had a good time
Enthusiasm: I would come to something like this again
Local impact: It's important that it's happening here
Presentation: It was well presented
Rigour: It was well thought through and put together
Experimentation: The artists/curators were not afraid to try new things
Community: I feel a sense of a community here
Belonging: It helped me feel part of the community
Place: It made me feel proud of my community
Pride in Place: It made me feel proud of my local area
Atmosphere: I enjoy the atmosphere here
Destination: There are activities here that I’m willing to travel for
Recommendation: How likely is it that you would recommend this event 
to a friend or colleague?

P
age 348



Snapshot audience survey – 62 responses:

P
age 349



Selection of feedback comments:

Workshop participants:

- Fantastic! No further recommendations! 

- It was so lovely to find something like this available to attend for free.

- Great experience! 

- Very good, thank you

Festival audience:

- It was a nice day out, I did enjoy it.

- Fab event! Thank you for putting this on and looking forward to attending many more.

- Excellent look forward to many more

- Please put more therapeutic activities on at the Trinity Arts Centre. It's great to be able to go and learn 
something new and relax

- Well done everyone dancing in the rain. True carnival spirit! 

- More theatre and less local dance school

P
age 350



Sample of home postcodes of attendees:

P
age 351



Corporate, Policy & Resource Committee 12 December 2024 
Community Grant Scheme – May 2022 to December 2024 Appendix 2.  
 
 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

St John the Baptist 
Church (Scampton 

Community and 
RAF War Graves 
Heritage Centre) 

LED Lighting Design 
Project 

£8,063.40 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

RAF Ingham 
Heritage Centre 

New Exhibition and 
Underfloor Heating 

£50,000.00 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

Caistor Town 
Cricket Club 

Cricket Club Facility 
refurbishment 

£10,000.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Stepping Stone 
Theatre for Mental 

Health 

Drama drop-in and story-
telling 

£15,000.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

WOW Worthy 
Women CIC 

Wellbeing Day £4,495.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Lea Parish Council Community Festival £1,600.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Taylor Made Arts 
Ltd 

Art project with looked after 
children 

£4,230.60 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 
Grayingham PCC 

Extension to provide toilet, 
servery and meeting area 

£30,000.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Caistor Food Bank 
New refridgeration 

equipment 
£5,455.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Scotter Forward Heritage Trail £6,930.37 

Community 
Action Fund 

GoGro CIC 
Food4Thought 
Gainsborough 

£15,200.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Scotter Parish 
Council 

Community events - PA 
System 

£490.83 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

Scothern Parish 
Council 

Scothern War Memorial  £6,500.00 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 
Slumgothic 

Making x-church more 
accessible 

£31,536.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Buddies Dementia 
Cafe 

Christmas Party £200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Buddies Dementia 
Cafe 

Christmas Party £200.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Nettleham Parish 
Council 

Community Events 
Equipment 

£2,955.91 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham 
Methodist Church 

Creative Craft Club £150.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Steppng Stones 
Theatre 

Writing Workshops £100.00 

Page 352



Corporate, Policy & Resource Committee 12 December 2024 
Community Grant Scheme – May 2022 to December 2024 Appendix 2.  
 
 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Stepping Stones 
Theatre 

Creative writing Book 
Project 

£100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Stepping Stones 
Theatre 

Creative writing Book 
Project 

£100.00 

Community 
Development 

Fund 

St John the Baptist 
(Scampton 

Community & RAF 
War Graves 

Heritage Centre) 

Upgrade of website & 
school info 

£3,694.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Rhubarb Theatre 
The Collection Day Eco-arts 

Project 
£18,000.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
GAPA 50th Celebration £400.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
GAPA 50th Celebration £400.00 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

St Thomas the 
Apostle Market 

Rasen PCC 

Renovation of Church 
Room 

£7,000.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Shooting Fish 
Theatre Company 

West Lindsey Literacy 
Project 

£15,000.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham C of E 
Aided Junior 

School 
Jubilee/Coronation Mosaic £250.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Sudbrooke Parish 
Council 

Christmas light switch on £200.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Keelby Parish 
Council 

Permanent Electricity 
Supply to Village Green 

Events Space 
£4,920.02 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Welton Parish 
Council 

Welton Combined Arts 
Festival  

£3,000.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Welton Parish 
Council 

Welton Large Village Retail 
Area Boost  

£5,830.17 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham & 
District Probus 

Club 
Purchase new flag £50.00 

Community 
Facilities 

Fund 

United Services 
Club 

Outside creation £10,500.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
St Helens PCC Christmas magic £200.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Scotter Parish 
Council 

Retail area enhancements 
and outdoor cinema event 

£7,065.92 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Saxilby Parish 
Council 

Saxilby Retail Area project £9,000.00 

Page 353



Corporate, Policy & Resource Committee 12 December 2024 
Community Grant Scheme – May 2022 to December 2024 Appendix 2.  
 
 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Gainsborough 
Adventure 
Playground 

SEN Christmas Party £200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Disability Social 
Network 

Christmas Meal & 
Christmas Party Event 

£200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Disability Social 
Network 

Christmas Meal & 
Christmas Party Event 

£150.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Disability Social 
Network 

Christmas Meal & 
Christmas Party Event 

£100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Faldingworth 
Parish Council 

Lighting the Night £250.00 

Large Village 
Retail Area 

Fund 

Scotter Parish 
Council 

Scotter Summer Fayre £565.83 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

ROSE Community 
Group 

Christmas Residents Event £200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Caistor In Bloom 
Group 

Beautifying Caistor £612.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Caistor In Bloom 
Group 

Beautifying Caistor £612.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Fiskerton Band Musical Group £140.00 

Community 
Action Fund 

Laybos Fest 
Laybos Legacy Festival - 

Laybo’s Fest. 
£2,500.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham Art 
Group 

Making Nettleham Art 
Group Great Again 

£200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Morton Feastival 
Volunteer Team 

Morton Feastival 2024 £100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Morton Feastival 
Volunteer Team 

Morton Feastival 2024 £100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Morton Feastival 
Volunteer Team 

Morton Feastival 2024 £100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Morton Feastival 
Volunteer Team 

Morton Feastival 2024 £100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Willingham-by-
Stow Parish 

Council 
Replacement Flagpole £200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Willingham-by-
Stow Parish 

Council 
Replacement Flagpole £200.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Willingham-by-
Stow Parish 

Council 
Replacement Flagpole £50.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Willingham-by-
Stow Parish 

Council 
Replacement Flagpole £50.00 

Page 354



Corporate, Policy & Resource Committee 12 December 2024 
Community Grant Scheme – May 2022 to December 2024 Appendix 2.  
 
 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Connexions 
Community Hub 

Connexions Family Fun 
Day 

£400.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Stow Parish 
Council 

Christmas Tree Lights £180.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Carry On Singing Carry On Singing £170.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Carry On Singing Carry On Singing £170.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Carry On Singing Carry On Singing £170.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham Art 
Group 

Making Nettleham Art 
Group Great Again 

£100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Nettleham Art 
Group 

Making Nettleham Art 
Group Great Again 

£100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£170.67 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£34.13 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£34.13 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£34.13 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£34.13 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£17.03 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£34.13 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 
Slumgothic Ltd 

Multicultural Welcome 
Celebration in 
Gainsborough 

£17.03 

COVID 
Management 

Fund 
Go Gro CIC Food project Gainsborough £1,500.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Ingham Tree 
Lighting Ceremony 
(Ceremony Events) 

Ingham Tree Lighting 
Ceremony 

£300.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Gainsborough 
Xmas Day Lunch 

Gainsborough Xmas Day 
Lunch 

£1,000.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

St. Helen's Church 
PCC 

The Magic of Christmas 
Music 

£100.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Blyton Evergreen's 
Club 

30th Anniversary Afternoon 
Tea 

£100.00 

Page 355



Corporate, Policy & Resource Committee 12 December 2024 
Community Grant Scheme – May 2022 to December 2024 Appendix 2.  
 
 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Sturton & Stow 
Agricultural & 
Horticultural 
Association 

Sturton & Stow Annual 
Show 

£150.00 

Councillor 
Initiative 

Fund 

Hemswell Parish 
Council 

Hemswell Maypole 
Refurbishment 

£500.00 

        

    

   £290,762.43 

 

Page 356



Christmas Lights Festival - Trader feedback Appendix 3. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Was the event well organised and 

were you kept informed? 

Would you trade with 

us again 

next year at the 

Christmas lights 

festival?
How did you do in regards to sales? Do you have any other feedback for us?  

Yes very organised, coming from 

Lincoln we had good directions - 

Reassuring Definetly Not amazing, but we still did well

Shame competing with Marshalls Yard, maybe 

more advertisement for town centre

Yes Yes definetly Very well on Friday, steady Saturday Excellent pitch and with electricity 

Yes Yes

Steady not as good as last year, 

In future would like same pitch as last 

year Shame about same dates as Marshalls Yard, 

Yes very, I have throroughly enjoyed 

attending over the last two years Yes, most definetly Good

Happy with everything. 

One of the most organised events we attend

Very good organisation with everything 

including set up and down Already pencilled you in

Very well, even better than last year

 and that was a sell out

I thoroughly enjoy coming to Gainsborough,

its a fantastic event.

Yes organised. Yes Good two days trading

Issues with security - some miscommunications 

with Becky about where to set up and not having 

access to take down. 

Yes. It was brilliant. Yes.

Friday brilliant, Saturday not so good. 

Enjoyed it. Pitch was okay. Team who 

build the stalls were really helpful.  

Very good with communications Yes Better on the Friday but overall good Reduce the time on Saturday, very long day

Yes Yes, would love too. Did well, better than last year

Just keep on at the peddlars, keep them 

out the way

Very good at replying to emails and 

information was clear Yes I did well Supportive team when I wasn't feeling well

Very well organised, one of the best 

events for organisation Definetly We did really well. Couldn't fault this event

Yes Yes

Saturday was a waste of time - half the 

amount taken on Saturday compared to 

Friday night in less time. 

It didn't work having the market finishing later 

than Marshall's Yard event - it was not busy on 

Market Street. No one seemed interested in the 

stalls on the Market Place on Saturday evening - 

just the entertainment. Could not hear music 

down Market Street - possibility of having music 

here?

Yes - Very responsive to emails It would depend on pitch Not very well Pitch needed to be Market St or Market Pl

Yes, the staff kept popping round to 

make sure the traders were ok - Very 

attentive Definetly

Better than I thought I would do.

 More sales on Friday.

Turn the lights on Saturday to bring the footfall 

back.

Page 357



 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 

Thursday 12th December 
2024 

 

     
Subject: Amendments to the approved Committee Timetable: Change of 

Meeting Time – Governance and Audit Committee, January 
2025 

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
Director of Corporate Services 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Emma Foy 
Director of Corporate Services  
 
emma.foy@west-lindsey.gov.uk 
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

  
To approve amendments to the agreed 
Committee Timetable in relation to the meeting 
of the Governance & Audit Committee scheduled 
in January 2025. 

  

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
1. That, for reasons of volume of work programmed for the January 
Governance and Audit Committee, the Committee approve the following 
change to the 2024/25 Committee Timetable:  
 
a) the meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee currently scheduled 
for Tuesday 21st January at 2pm, be brought forward to 1pm. 
 
 
 

 

Page 358

Agenda Item 6e



IMPLICATIONS 
 

Legal: The Local Government Act 1972 requires the Council to agree and 
publish a schedule of meeting dates. The Head of Paid Service’s delegation 
does not extend to amending already approved dates. 

 

Financial: FIN/116/25/VA 

This proposal does not change the total number of meetings and therefore there 
is no additional financial impact. 

 

Staffing: None arising from this report.  

 

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights: None arising from this report 

 

Data Protection Implications: None arising from this report 

 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities: This proposal does not change the 
total number of meetings so has a no greater either positive or negative impact 
on the travel etc. 

 

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations: None arising from this report 

 

Health Implications: None arising from this report 

 

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of 
this report: 

 

Risk Assessment:   

 

 
 
 
 
 

Call in and Urgency: 
Page 359



Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply? 

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to 
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman) Yes   No X  

Key Decision: 

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has 
significant financial implications Yes   No X  

 

Page 360



 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The Council is required under the Local Government Act 1972 to 

produce a schedule of its meetings. The Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee is responsible for approving that timetable 
(schedule) annually, having approved the timetable for 2024/25 at its 
meeting on 8 February 2024.   

 
 
2 Reason for the Requirement of a Committee Decision 
 
2.1 As the schedule of meetings is produced in advance and approved by 

the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee months prior to the 
commencement of the relevant Civic Year, it is not always possible to 
anticipate the volume of business at a particular committee meeting. 

 
2.2 Whilst the Head of Paid Service has a number of delegations in relation 

to the Committee timetable, as set out in Part IV, page 32 of the 
Constitution, namely: 

 
“9.  In the event of extreme inclement weather; or insufficient 

business to warrant calling a meeting or other unforeseen 
circumstance including periods of national mourning/national 
emergencies to cancel or postpone a meeting of the Council, a 
committee, subcommittee etc. or, where business dictates that a 
meeting, not already set out in the timetable, be required to 
be held, that meeting be called, in consultation with the relevant 
Chairman. 

 
This delegation does not extend to changing already approved times, in 
order that the delegation does not compete with the legal requirement to 
produce a schedule of meetings (ref 1.1 above). 

 
2.3  Due to the delay in approval of the statutory accounts we anticipate in 

 excess of 10 items of business at the January meeting of Governance 
 and Audit Committee. In recognition of the detailed discussions that will 
be required for the scheduled business, it is requested that an earlier 
start time be approved. 

  
 
3.  Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Corporate Policy and Resources Committee are therefore asked to 

approve the following change to the previously agreed timetable: 
 

a) the meeting of the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
currently scheduled for Tuesday 21st January at 2pm, be brought 
forward to 1pm.    

 

Page 361



1 

Corporate Policy & Resources Committee Work Plan (as at 4 December 2024) 

 
Purpose: 
This report provides a summary of items of business due at upcoming meetings. 
 
Recommendation: 

1. That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

Date 
 

Title Lead Officer Purpose of the report Date First 
Published 

12 DECEMBER 2024 

12 Dec 2024 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 Angela Matthews, 
Benefits Manager, Alison 
McCulloch, Revenues 
Manager 

To determine new council tax support 
scheme for 2025/26 

15 May 2024 

12 Dec 2024 Wellbeing Lincs Service Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Manager 

Details of the new contract to deliver 
the service and West Lindsey role in 
the new service 

09 October 
2024 

12 Dec 2024 Response to Motion - Increased Street 
Sweeping Capacity 

Robert Gilliot, Operational 
Services Manager 

To respond to the motion submitted to 
Council . Setting out options of 
increasing street sweeping capability 

06 November 
2024 

12 Dec 2024 Review of Cultural Events 2024 Cara Markham, 
Commercial Development 
Manager 

Reflection on the delivery of the legacy 
events, outreach, themed markets and 
community work 

06 November 
2024 

12 Dec 2024 Council Debts for Write Off 2024/25 Alison McCulloch, 
Revenues Manager 

All council debts over £2,500 for write 
off by committee 2024/25 

15 May 2024 

12 Dec 2024 Amendment to Building Control Fees and 
Charges 2024/2025 and 2025/2026 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

Amendment to part of the fees and 
charges schedule for building control. 

 

12 Dec 2024 Scampton update Sally Grindrod-Smith, 
Director Planning, 
Regeneration & 
Communities 

To receive an update on the latest 
matters relating to the former RAF 
Scampton and approve the submission 
of an expression of interest into the 

 

P
age 362

A
genda Item

 6f



2 

'ePIMs' process. 

12 Dec 2024 Thurrock/APSE Litigation Update Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To advise Members of the current 
position 

 

9 JANUARY 2025 

9 Jan 2025 2025/26 Measure and Target Setting for 
Progress and Delivery 

Claire Bailey, Change, 
Projects and Performance 
Officer, Darren Mellors, 
Performance & 
Programme Manager 

2025/26 Measure and Target Setting 
for Progress and Delivery 

11 September 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 Review of Earmarked Reserves Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

To receive the annual review of 
earmarked reserves in advance of the 
formal Section 25 report (Section 151 
Review of Robustness of Reserves) 
being brought to Council March 2025. 

11 September 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 Update on Local Government Settlement Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Update on Local Government 
Settlement 

09 October 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 Options Report: Recruitment Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To consider options available to the 
Council in relation to recruitment 

06 November 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 Mid-Year Treasury Update 2024/25 Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

This report provides the Mid-Year 
update for Treasury Management 
Indicators in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2003 

09 October 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 Banking and Merchant Acquiring Contracts Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

To seek approval to sign a new banking 
contract with Lloyds Bank and approval 
to sign a new Merchant Acquiring 
Service contract with Lloyds Bank. 

 

13 FEBRUARY 2025 

13 Feb 2025 Budget and Treasury Monitoring - Quarter 3 Sue Leversedge, This report sets out the revenue, capital 15 May 2024 

P
age 363



3 

2024/2025 Business Support Team 
Leader 

and treasury management activity from 
1st April 2024 to 31st December 2024. 

13 Feb 2025 Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
Draft Budget 2025/2026 and estimates to 
2029/2030. 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

The report sets out the draft Revenue 
Budget 2025/2026 including that of this 
Committee and those recommended by 
the Prosperous Communities 
Committee for the period 2025/2026. It 
also includes estimates to 2029/2030 to 
be included in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

15 May 2024 

13 Feb 2025 Review of the Whistleblowing Policy Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present the updated Whistleblowing 
Policy 

09 October 
2024 

13 Feb 2025 Review of Civic Transport Katie Storr, Democratic 
Services & Elections 
Team Manager 

To consider options for the future of 
Civic Transport 

09 October 
2024 

13 Feb 2025 Commercial Strategy Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Commercial Strategy 09 October 
2024 

13 MARCH 2025 

13 Mar 2025 Warm Homes Local Grant Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Manager 

CP&R approval to accept Warm Homes 
Local Grant funding 

 

10 APRIL 2025 

10 Apr 2025 ICT Policy Update Cliff Dean, ICT Team 
Manager 

Approval for the Information Systems 
Asset Management Policy and the 
Monitoring Policy 

03 April 2024 

10 Apr 2025 Lea Fields Business Plan Review Cara Markham, 
Commercial Development 
Manager 

Review and update on the Lea Fields 
Plan 

 

 

P
age 364



Document is Restricted

Page 365

Agenda Item 8a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 373

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 428

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 431

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 435

Agenda Item 8b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 441

Agenda Item 8d
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 460

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 461

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 473

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 498

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 523

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Matters Arising Schedule
	6a Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26
	6b Recommendation from Prosperous Communities Committee: Response to Motion - Increased Street Sweeping Capacity
	6c Wellbeing Lincs Service
	Appendix 1 Wellbeing Lincs Structure
	Schedule 2 - Staffing Structure from 13 January 2025 v1.vsdx
	Page-1


	Appendix 2 DRAFT Collaboration agreement
	Appendix 2 Schedule 4
	Appendix 2 Schedule 5

	6d Review of Cultural Events 2024 and Provision for 2025/26
	Appendix 1 GO Festival Evaluation
	Workshops x 10 – 75 participants, 46 responses:
	Audience survey – 26 responses; c.2,000 attendees:
	Snapshot audience survey – 62 responses:
	Selection of feedback comments:
	Sample of home postcodes of attendees:

	Appendix 2 Community Grant Scheme
	Appendix 3 Christmas Lights Festival 24 Trader Feedback

	6e Amendment to Approved Committee Timetable: Change of Time for Governance & Audit Committee 21 January 2025
	6f Committee Work Plan
	8a Council Debts for Write Off 2024/25
	Appendix 1 Council Tax Write Offs
	Appendix 2 NDR Write Offs
	Appendix 3 Housing Benefit Overpayment Write Offs

	8b Amendment to Building Control Fees and Charges 2024/2025 and 2025/2026
	8d Scampton Update
	Appendix 1 Site Plan
	Appendix 2 Draft ePIMS submission
	Appendix 3 Counsel Planning Advice
	Appendix 4 Scampton Master Plan Prospectus
	Appendix 5 Scampton Crichel Downs advice note


